
May 8, 2024 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
TO BE HELD AT 2029 EAST AVENUE Q, PALMDALE 

MONDAY, MAY 13, 2024 

6:00 p.m. 

NOTES: To comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, to participate in any Board 
meeting please contact Danielle Henry at 661-947-4111 x1059 at least 48 hours prior to a Board 
meeting to inform us of your needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible. 

Additionally, an interpreter will be made available to assist the public in making comments 
under Agenda Item No. 4 and any action items where public input is offered during the meeting 
if requested at least 48 hours before the meeting.  Please call Danielle Henry at 661-947-4111 
x1059 with your request. (PWD Rules and Regulations Section 4.03.1 (c))  

Adicionalmente, un intérprete estará disponible para ayudar al público a hacer comentarios 
bajo la sección No. 4 en la agenda y cualquier elemento de acción donde se ofrece 
comentarios al público durante la reunión, siempre y cuando se solicite con 48 horas de 
anticipación de la junta directiva. Por favor de llamar Danielle Henry al 661-947-4111 x1059 
con su solicitud. (PWD reglas y reglamentos sección 4.03.1 (c)) 

Agenda item materials, as well as materials related to agenda items submitted after distribution 
of the agenda packets, are available for public review at the District’s office located at 2029 
East Avenue Q, Palmdale or on the District’s website at 
https://www.palmdalewater.org/governance/board-activity/2023-meeting-agendas-minutes/ 
(Government Code Section 54957.5). Please call Danielle Henry at 661-947-4111 x1059 for 
public review of materials. 

PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES:  The prescribed time limit per speaker is three-
minutes.  Please refrain from public displays or outbursts such as unsolicited applause, 
comments, or cheering.  Any disruptive activities that substantially interfere with the 
ability of the District to conduct its meeting will not be permitted, and offenders will be 
requested to leave the meeting. (PWD Rules and Regulations, Appendix DD, Sec. IV.A.) 

Each item on the agenda shall be deemed to include any appropriate motion, resolution, or 
ordinance to take action on any item. 

1) Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence.

2) Roll Call.

3) Adoption of Agenda.

4) Public comments for non-agenda items.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT                   -2-              May 8, 2024 

 
 
5) Presentations: 

 5.1) Bi-Monthly Legislative Updates. (Public Affairs Director Shay/Representatives 
for Antelope Valley State Legislators) 

6) Action Items - Consent Calendar (The public shall have an opportunity to comment on 
any action item on the Consent Calendar as the Consent Calendar is considered 
collectively by the Board of Directors prior to action being taken.) 

 6.1) Approval of Minutes of Regular Board Meeting held April 22, 2024. 

 6.2) Payment of Bills for May 13, 2024. 

6.3) Approval of California Quitclaim Deed for A.P.N. 3008-011-011, Robert L 
Taylor Trust. (No Budget Impact – Engineering Manager Rogers) 

6.4) Approval of Authorization to Purchase Cisco Firewall Equipment. ($65,515.61 – 
Non-Budgeted – Information Technology Manager Stanton) 

7) Action Items - Action Calendar (The public shall have an opportunity to comment on any 
action item as each item is considered by the Board of Directors prior to action being 
taken.) 

7.1) Consideration and Possible Action on Sergeant Steve Owen Scholarship Donation 
in Appreciation of Local Law Enforcement. ($1,000.00 – Non-Budgeted – 
President Mac Laren-Gomez) 

7.2) Consideration and Possible Action on Resolution No. 24-3 Supporting the Los 
Angeles County Water Plan. (No Budget Impact – General Manager LaMoreaux) 

7.3) Consideration and Possible Action on Resolution No. 24-4 Adopting an 
Amendment to Appendix I, Main Extension Reimbursement Rates, of the 
Palmdale Water District’s Rules and Regulations. (No Budget Impact – 
Engineering Manager Rogers) 

7.4) Consideration and Possible Action on Award of Contract to Caliagua, Inc. for the 
Construction of Well 36 Equipping. ($4,258,230.00 – Budgeted – Project No. 20-
622 – Engineering Manager Rogers) 

7.5) Consideration and Possible Action on Award of Contract to American Pipeline 
Services for the Avenue Q Recycled Water Pipeline. ($2,094,670.00 – Budgeted – 
Project No. 22-605 and 22-656 – Engineering Manager Rogers) 

7.6) Consideration and Possible Action on Approval of Resolution No. 24-5 Being a 
Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Authorizing 
the Execution and Delivery of a WIFIA Master Agreement and Certain Other 
Documents and Authorizing Certain Actions in Connection Therewith. (Finance 
Manager Hoffmeyer) 

7.7) Consideration and Possible Action on Approval of Resolution No. 24-6 Being a 
Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Authorizing 
the Execution and Delivery of a WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, WIFIA 
Loan Agreement, and WIFIA Term Sheet and Certain Other Documents and 
Authorizing Certain Actions in Connection Therewith. (Finance Manager 
Hoffmeyer) 

7.8) Adjourn to Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority Board Meeting. 
(President Mac Laren-Gomez) 



 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT                   -3-            May 8, 2024 

 
 
7.9) Consideration and Possible Action on Authorization of the Following 

Conferences, Seminars, and Training Sessions for Board and Staff Attendance 
Within Budget Amounts Previously Approved in the 2024 Budget: 

a) None at This Time. 

8) Information Items:  

8.1) Reports of Directors: 

a) Standing Committees; Organization Appointments; Agency Liaisons: 

1) Antelope Valley East Kern Water Agency (AVEK) – April 30. 
(Director Dino, Board Liaison/Director Mac Laren-Gomez, Alt.) 

2) Outreach Committee Meeting – May 2. (Director Dino, 
Chair/Director Sanchez/Director Wilson, Alt.) 

b) General Meetings Reports of Directors. 

 8.2) Report of General Manager. 

 8.3) Report of General Counsel. 

9) Board Members' Requests for Future Agenda Items. 

10) Adjournment. 
 
 

 
DENNIS D. LaMOREAUX, 
General Manager 
 
DDL/dh 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
  

DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM:  Mr. Scott Rogers, Engineering Manager 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: APPROVAL OF CALIFORNIA QUITCLAIM DEED FOR A.P.N. 3008-011-011, ROBERT 
L TAYLOR TRUST. (NO BUDGET IMPACT - ENGINEERING MANAGER ROGERS) 

Recommendation:  

Staff recommends that the Board approve the California Quitclaim Deed for APN No. 3008-011-
011, Robert L Taylor Trust, and authorize General Manager LaMoreaux to execute said California 
Quitclaim Deed. 
 
Alternative Options: 

The Board can choose not to approve the California Quitclaim Deed. 
 
Impact of Taking No Action: 

The development of the property affected by the District’s easement cannot move forward. 
 
Background: 

The District maintains easements on properties in the event repairs or replacements to water 
mains are needed. The owner/developer of the subject property is requesting the District 
quitclaim the easement on parcel 3008-011-011 per a written request received on April 10, 2024. 
Staff responded to Mr. Taylor on April 18, 2024, citing the requirements to quitclaim the property 
(copy attached). The easement in question is no longer needed by the District, and it is 
recommended that a California Quitclaim Deed be executed for this request. 
 
Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 6 – Customer Care, Advocacy & Outreach. 
This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 
 
Budget: 

This item has no budget impact. 
 
Supporting Documents: 

 PWD Letter to Mr. Robert Taylor dated April 18, 2024 
 California Quitclaim Deed 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.3 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 





  
RRUULLEESS  AANNDD  RREEGGUULLAATTIIOONNSS  

  



- 79 -

Secured by Deed of Trust, executed by the buyer in favor of the 

District, and shall bear interest at current market rates.

12.05: DISTRICT EASEMENTS

Upon written application to the District and upon approval by the Board, the 

Board shall execute the necessary Quitclaim Deed or Affidavit required to 

confine or eliminate easements owned by the District.  The person requesting 

such action shall pay a processing fee as set forth in Appendix D and must 

record the executed document within 30 days of receipt thereof.

12.06: RELOCATION ASSISTANCE LAW

The District has adopted Rules and Regulations implementing payments and 

administering relocation assistance as mandated by state law and incorporates 

those Rules and Regulations herein.  The District Rules and Regulations 

Implementing the Relocation Assistance Law are attached hereto as Appendix 

J.

12.07: ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT DEEDS AND EASEMENTS

The Manager is authorized and directed by the Board to accept and consent to 

the recording of grant deeds and grants of easements to the District.

12.08: SALE OF DISTRICT PERSONAL PROPERTY (Revised 11-7-05)

A. Surplus Property: Upon the determination by the Board that 

personal property belonging to the District is no longer necessary for District 

purposes, such property shall be designated surplus property.  Surplus 

personal property with insufficient value to warrant sale of such property to 

the public may be disposed of at the General Manager's discretion. The 

District may dispose of surplus personal property which has a residual value 

sufficient to warrant sale of such property to the public by sealed bid as set 

forth in 12.04.B. or by public auction utilizing a commercially available 

auction service.

dmaldonado
Highlight



APPENDIX D 

MISCELLANEOUS CHARGES 

dmaldonado
Highlight



APPENDIX D 

MISCELLANEOUS CHARGES 

1. Shutoff Fee per Article 8.03 C(1) and C(9): 
 - During regular working hours-on shut off list but service not  

yet physically off (8 a.m. to 6 p.m.) . . . . . . $   0.00  

 - During regular working hours-service physically shut off  
(8 a.m. to 6 p.m.) . . . . . . . . $ 30.00  

 - After regular working hours, Fridays-Sundays, and Holidays  
(emergencies only) . . . . . . . . $ 80.00

2. Returned Check Charge per Article 8.03C(2) . . . . . $ 25.00 

3. Meter Test Charge per Article 8.03C(3)-(per test/invoiced)  . . . $ 65.00  

4. Pulled Meter Charge per Article 8.03C(4). . . . . . . $  60.00  

5. Unauthorized Water Use Fine per Article 8.03C(5) and 9.03 . . . $ 1,000.00

6. Walk-thru and Cleaning Water Service per Article 8.03C(8) – 
 maximum of five working days: 
 -5 units or less . . . . .          minimum monthly charge plus  $     55.00 Service Charge 

 -6 units or more . . . . . charged at current District rates plus  $     55.00 Service Charge

         
7. Disconnection Charge for Waste or Misuse of Water per 
 Article 8.05B(2) and Appendix O . . . . . . . $ 1,000.00

8. Late Charge per Article 8.04E and Article 8.04G(2) – 10% of the balance due for the first 30 days and 1-1/2% for 
each 30 days thereafter 

9. Meter and Project Water System Deposit Fee per Article 11.04 – 
 (per project unit) . . . . . . . . . $ 400.00    

10. Fee for Confinement or Quitclaim of Easements per Article 12.05 . . $ 100.00 

11. Non-emergency Service Calls After Regular Working Hours  
       (8 a.m. to 6 p.m.) on Weekdays, Fridays-Sundays, and Holidays per Article 8.03C(9). $ 80.00 

12. Turn-on/off Fee per Article 8.03C(9) . . . . . . $ 15.00  

13. 48-Hour Disconnect Notice Fee per Article 8.03C(10) . . . . $ 20.00 

dmaldonado
Highlight



 

For a valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
(Disclaiming Party(ies)) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

hereby quitclaim(s) to _____________________________________________________________________ 
(Property Owner(s))

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

the following real property  in the City of ___________________________________, County of 

_____________________________________, California: (insert legal description) 

Date: _____________________ _____________________________________________ 
(Signature of declarant) 

_____________________________________________ 
(Typed or written name of declarant) 

Date: _____________________ _____________________________________________ 
(Signature of declarant) 

_____________________________________________ 
(Typed or written name of declarant) 

DOCUMENTARY TRANSFER TAX $___________ 
EXEMPTION (R&T CODE) ___________________ 
EXPLANATION ____________________________ 
_________________________________________ 
_________________________________________ 
Signature of Declarant or Agent determining tax 
 

CALIFORNIA QUITCLAIM DEED 

APN: _____________________________ 

Recording requested by (name): 

________________________________________ 

And when recorded, mail this deed and tax 
statements to (name and address):  

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

This form must be signed in front of a notary. 

www.esign.com
www.esign.com


ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

State of California 
) County of _________________________

before me, On _________________________ __________________________________________  
(insert name and title of the officer) 

who 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the 
within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of 
which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

personally appeared ________________________________________________________________ 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is 
true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

(Seal)  Signature ___________________________________     

A Notary Public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is 
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 

www.esign.com


  
Order Number:   7100741  
Page Number:   6  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 6 of 11 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
  

Real property in the City of Palmdale, County of Los Angeles, State of California, described as follows:  
  
LOT 12 OF TRACT 15949 IN THE CITY OF PALMDALE, IN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN BOOK 361, PAGE 12 IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY.  

APN: 3008-011-011  
  

EXHIBIT 'A'



  
Order Number:   7100741  
Page Number:   7  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 7 of 11 

  
  

EXHIBIT 'B'



 

 
  

DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM:  Mr. Jim Stanton, Information Technology Manager 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: APPROVAL OF AUTHORIZATION TO PURCHASE CISCO FIREWALL EQUIPMENT. 
($65,515.61 – NON-BUDGETED – INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY MANAGER 
STANTON) 

Recommendation:  

Staff recommends returning to Cisco Firewalls after the recently discovered exploit in all Palo 
Alto Firewalls currently used by the District. 
 
Alternative Options: 

The Board can choose for the District to remain at risk and keep the existing Palo Alto Firewalls. 
 
Impact of Taking No Action: 

Additional unknown exploits could place the District network in jeopardy. 
 
Background: 

On April 15, 2024, staff was made aware of a Zero-Day exploit affecting Palo Alto firewalls. On 
April 17th, we observed unusual traffic by our Palo Alto Firewall at the Main Office. Investigation 
revealed the device was vulnerable to the exploit. By working with multiple vendors, we were 
able to remedy the issue. However, during the event, the “support” we received was frustrating 
and limited. We were handed off and ignored by multiple Palo Alto experts and engineers, even 
spending over 5 hours on hold. The devices were patched at 3 a.m. on April 18th and fully 
remediated on April 19th. Staff spent over 40 hours dealing with this event. At no time did we see 
any evidence of data loss nor penetration into our network. The layered defense we have 
protected us and alerted us to the unusual activity. 
 
Staff is requesting to replace the Palo Alto Firewalls with Cisco Firepower Firewalls. The District 
explored this option when we evaluated the Palo Alto Firewalls but the cost at that time was over 
$125,000.00. This cost difference was the primary factor in selecting Palo Alto. The District can 
now purchase the same protection with proven support with the Cisco Firepower Firewalls at a 
reduced cost. 
 
Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 3 – Systems Efficiency. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.4 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager May 13, 2024 
 

Page 2 

 
This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 
 
Budget: 

This item non-budgeted and has a one-time cost of approximately $65,515.61. 
 
Supporting Documents: 

 Cisco Firepower Project Proposal 

 



Cisco Firepower Firewall Project

Qty Product Code Description Price Extended 

1 FPR1140-FTD-HA-BUN NEW Cisco HA Bundle FTD Firewall $36,350.00 $36,350.00
1 FPR1140-NGFW-K9 NEW Cisco FTD Firewall $4,000.00 $4,000.00
1  L-FPR1140T-TMC-3Y Cisco FPR1140 Threat Defense Threat, Malware and URL - 3YR $5,550.00 $5,550.00
1 CON-3SNTP-FR11P40N Smart Net Maintenance and Support 24x7x4 – 3 Year $3,870.00 $3,870.00
1 3 YR L-AC-PLS-3Y-S1 Cisco AnyConnect Plus Lic VPN access (50 Users) - 3YR $775.00 $775.00

1 TDS-PRO Installation / Configuration $8,700.00 $8,700.00

Total> $59,245.00

Tax> $6,072.61

Shipping> $198.00

Total> $65,515.61

05-01-2024

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT
2029 East Avenue Q
Palmdale, CA 93550
d: 661-456-1077• f: 661-947-8604
Attn: Jim Stanton

Sandy Randon
P.O. Box 104
Mattapoisett Ma, 02739 
www.random-access.net
(508) 588-0101



   

 

 
  

DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM:  Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON SERGEANT STEVE OWEN 
SCHOLARSHIP DONATION IN APPRECIATION OF LOCAL LAW ENFORCEMENT. 
($1,000.00 – NON-BUDGETED – PRESIDENT MAC LAREN-GOMEZ) 

 
Recommendation: 

Staff has no recommendation on this item. 
 
Alternative Options: 

The Board can choose not to approve the scholarship donation. 
 
Impact of Taking No Action: 

There is no impact to the District from taking no action. 
 
Background: 

Antelope Valley Law Day is an annual event that celebrates the rule of law and honors 
outstanding law enforcement officers and distinguished members of the Greater Antelope Valley 
legal community. This special day recognizes the dedication and service of law enforcement 
officers who uphold justice and protect the community, including water districts. The law 
enforcement task force was able to shut down many of the illegal grow operations and preserve 
our water supply. This day also pays tribute to legal professionals who play a vital role in ensuring 
justice is served. 
 
Friends of the Antelope Valley Fair hosted the Law Appreciation Day luncheon on May 3, 2024. 
This event also featured a speech contest and art competition by local high school student on the 
subject “Voices of Democracy.” Due to the timing of the received sponsorship request, staff was 
not able to present this item for the Board’s consideration until today’s meeting. Although the 
luncheon has already taken place, there is still an opportunity for the District to provide a 
donation towards the Sergeant Steve Owen Scholarship Fund in appreciation of local law 
enforcement.  
 
Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 5 – Regional Leadership. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.1 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT        May 13, 2024 
 

  Page 2 

This item does not relate to the District’s Mission Statement. 
 
Budget: 

This item is not budgeted. 
 
Supporting Documents: 

 Sponsorship request letter from Friends of the Antelope Valley Fair received on April 22, 
2024. 

 2024 Law Appreciation Day Flyer and Sponsorship Information  

 
 

 



FRIENDS OF THE 
ANTELOPE YAUEY 
FAIR. INC. 

Dear Friends, 

March 28, 2024 

RECEIVED 
APt< 2 2 2024 

Members of our local Antelope Valley community are hosting the 2024 Law 
Appreciation Day luncheon and would like to invite you to attend. This years' event is 
Friday, May 3rd, at 11:30 a.m. in the Van Dan1 Pavilion at the Antelope Valley Fairgrounds. 

The luncheon commemorates outstanding law enforcement officers of the year 
alongside distinguished members of the Antelope Valley legal community. The occasion will 
showcase a speech contest and introduce a fresh art competition open to students from our 
neighboring high schools. With this year's theme "Voices of Democracy," we anticipate 
sparking compelling and reflective conversations. 

We would like you to be a sponsor of the event by hosting a table. Table sponsorships 
are $1000 -Platinum, $750 -Gold and $500 -Silver. As a sponsor, you will receive reserved 
tickets for a table of eight that may be used or donated. All sponsors will be introduced during 
the luncheon and named in the Law Appreciation Day program. Individual tickets can be 
purchased for $25.00. 

Thank you in advance for your support of this worthwhile event. Please contact Sarah 
Parton at661-794-3774 or at avlawday@gmail.com if you plan to be a sponsor or to purchase 
tickets. We look forward to seeing you at the Law Day celebration. 

Friends of the Fair 

Robert A. Parris 
Chairman 



2024 LAW APPRECIATION DAY 

 

 
  

May 3, 2024        Lunch - 11:30am      Program - 12:00pm 

 
 

Van Dam Pavilion, Antelope Valley Fairgrounds 
Lancaster, CA 

 
Make checks payable to “Friends of the Fair” 

Send Check and completed form to: 
 

Friends of the Antelope Valley Fair 
2551 West Avenue H 
Lancaster, CA 93536 

(661) 948-6060  
 

 
Name:______________________________   Organization:______________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________________________________________ 
Telephone Number:_________________________  

 



 

TICKET REQUEST FORM 
PLEASE MARK YOUR SELECTION BELOW. PLEASE MAKE SURE TO INDICATE 

IF YOU ARE DONATING YOUR TICKETS OR USING THEM. IF USING YOUR 

TICKETS, PLEASE INDICATE THE NAMES OF THE ATTENDEES BELOW. 

 

INDIVIDUAL TICKET OPTIONS 

 

_____ Ticket(s) at $25.00 each                     _____ Reserved table of 8 for $200.00 

OR 

TABLE SPONSORSHIP OPTIONS 
Tax ID: 95-4742681 

(please check your selection) 
 
 

______ Platinum Sponsor Table $1000 

______ Gold Sponsor Table $750 

______ Silver Sponsor Table $500 

 

______ Please donate all / ______ of my tickets 

______ I will be using my tickets 

 

Please donate $______ towards the Sgt. Steve Owen Scholarship 

 

Attendees: 

1. _________________________________    2. _________________________________ 

3. _________________________________    4. _________________________________ 

5. _________________________________    6. _________________________________ 

7. _________________________________    8. _________________________________ 



DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON RESOLUTION NO. 24-3 SUPPORTING 
THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY WATER PLAN. (NO BUDGET IMPACT – GENERAL 
MANAGER LaMOREAUX) 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends adopting Resolution No. 24-3 in support of the Los Angeles County Water Plan 
(Plan). 

Alternative Options: 

There is no alternate action for this item. 

Impact of Taking No Action: 

There is no impact to the District for not taking action on this item. 

Background: 

Los Angeles County Department of Public Works started a process several years ago to develop 
a county-wide water plan.  The District participated in the process on two specific workgroups.  
One dealt with Groundwater Management and Quality.  The other focused on Infrastructure 
Resilience and Drinking Water Equity which included discussion about at-risk small water systems. 

The District’s input did help shape some aspects of the Plan.  However, it remains largely focused 
on the County’s area south of the Antelope Valley.  An example of this is in “Appendix B – Targets; 
Section O – Maintain a minimum of 75% Average Available Capacity in Deris Basins and 80% 
Average Capacity in Reservoirs; Table 27 – Reservoir and Dam Capacity” shown below.  The 
information for Littlerock Dam and Reservoir was submitted and disregarded. 

The submitted information for Littlerock Dam and Reservoir is as follows: 

Littlerock Reservoir not listed? 
Owner:  PWD/LCID 
Original Capacity: 6.94 million cubic yards 
Modified Capacity: 9.68 million cubic yards 
Current Capacity: 4.52 million cubic yards 
Capacity Taken by Sediment: 53.3% 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.2 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  May 13, 2024 

Page 2 

Despite the main focus of the Plan, it can provide a good reference for setting the District’s own 
goals and policies.  The Resolution is worded to reflect this use of the Plan for Palmdale Water 
District. 

Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 1 - Water Resource Reliability and Strategic Initiative 
No. 5 - Regional Leadership. 

This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 

Budget: 

The item has no budget impact. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Resolution No. 24-3
 Plan Executive Summary



RESOLUTION NO. 24-3 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  

SUPPORTING THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY WATER PLAN 
 

WHEREAS, Climate change is establishing a “new normal” of more frequent and 
intense droughts, as well as less frequent but stronger torrential rains; and  
 

WHEREAS, Recognizing a new climate reality and the need to be thoughtful 
stewards of future water supplies, a water resilience plan focused on collaborative 
management of the region’s water resources was developed by Los Angeles County 
Public Works in partnership with countless other agencies (including Palmdale Water 
District), stakeholders, and tribes and; 
 
 WHEREAS, Palmdale Water District together with water resource organizations 
and an array of diverse stakeholders, collaborated to secure the region’s water future; and 
 

WHEREAS, this collaborative effort crafted a water resilience plan known as the 
Los Angeles County Water Plan and established the path to realizing a future that enables 
cross-sector collaboration and coalition building; and 
 

WHEREAS, The Los Angeles County Water Plan articulates a regional path 
forward to achieve safe, clean, and reliable water resources sustainably and equitably for 
Los Angeles County; and 
 

WHEREAS, Palmdale Water District has reviewed the Los Angeles County Water 
Plan and acknowledges it outlines an effective approach toward the region’s resilient, 
sustainable, and equitable water resources needed to meet its demand, particularly, 
during times of scarcity or crisis; and 
 
 WHEREAS, The Los Angeles County Water Plan was adopted unanimously by 
the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors on December 5, 2023. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Palmdale 
Water District hereby: 

 
1. Supports the Los Angeles County Water Plan as a consideration to inform 

pertinent and relevant aspects of Palmdale Water District’s water resilience 
strategies. 
 

2. Authorizes the General Manager or designee to continue collaborating and 
pursuing regional water resilience with other local, accountable water 



2 
 

resource organizations, and engaging stakeholders regarding matters 
related to the Los Angeles County Water Plan. 
 

3. Authorizes the General Manager or designee to engage in coalition building 
with locally accountable water agencies, stakeholders, communities, and 
tribes to establish effective relationships and bolster regional collaboration 
related to regional water resilience. 

 
 
The foregoing resolution was adopted on the 13th day of May, 2024 by the Board of 
Directors of Palmdale Water District. 
 
 

 

 
 
 
By______________________________ 

Kathy Mac Laren-Gomez, President 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By________________________________ 

Vincent Dino, Secretary 

 

 



     resilience

su
st

ai
na

bi
li

ty
op

po
rt

un
it

y

relationships
collaboration

regional

local

  e
qu

it
y

water resources

LOS ANGELES COUNTY
WATER PLAN
2023 Edition | Water Supply Resilience



  |  5WATER PLANWATER PLAN4  |  

Climate change is establishing a “new normal” of more 
frequent and intense droughts, as well as less frequent and 
more torrential rains. Recognizing a new climate reality and 
the need to be thoughtful stewards of future water supplies, 
the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors envisioned 
the development of a countywide water plan focused on 
collaborative management of Los Angeles County’s water 
resources. Los Angeles County Public Works (Public Works) 
developed this Los Angeles County Water Plan (CWP), together 
with water resources organizations, and an array of diverse 
stakeholders, to secure Los Angeles County’s water future 
and achieve our collective vision of equitable and sustainable 
water resources for everyone. The CWP builds upon the 
2019 OurCounty Sustainability Plan, establishing the path to 
realizing our vision that is rooted in cross-sector collaboration 
and coalition building.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

OUR ROUTE TO RESILIENCE, TOGETHER

SHARED OPPORTUNITIES
   FOR WATER RESILIENCE

THE CWP FOCUSES ON ACHIEVING REGIONAL WATER RESILIENCE THROUGH COLLABORATIVE 
STRATEGIES. Over 200 agencies in Los Angeles County manage a complex network of water systems to 
meet the needs of our communities and environment. To achieve sustainability, resilience, and equity, 
cross-sector teamwork and a holistic approach to best leverage natural systems and infrastructure are 
essential. This plan is a living document. The targets, strategies, and actions are a starting point in this 
effort.

The CWP is not intended to address every water-related issue in Los Angeles County. Instead, it builds 
upon and complements the many existing local and regional water planning efforts by focusing on 
four key focal areas where new or additional regional collaboration can add value. These four key focal 
areas were established through a gaps analysis, which included a review of local and regional planning 
documents, along with initial stakeholder discussions encompassing a variety of perspectives. For each 
of the four key focal areas, the CWP describes shared desired outcomes, identified by Public Works 
through discussions with numerous groups and individuals. During our gaps analysis, Public Works 
evaluated disparities in water resilience throughout the County and specifically selected a focal area to 
address a pressing need. The CWP provides an approach for achieving these desired outcomes through 
collaboration and a platform for measuring progress.

VISION
The CWP articulates a 
shared, inclusive, regional 
path forward to sustainably 
and equitably achieve safe, 
clean, and reliable water 
resources for Los Angeles 
County.

CWP Four Key Focal Areas

REGIONAL WATER SUPPLY RELIABILITY
Improving regional water supply reliability by better leveraging our 
collective local and imported water resources and infrastructure.

GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY 
Realizing our shared groundwater management opportunities by 
sharing expertise and resources to overcome challenges.

SMALL, AT-RISK SYSTEM RESILIENCE AND
DRINKING WATER EQUITY 

Ensuring a consistently high standard of water service for everyone in 
Los Angeles County by providing regional support for small systems, 
with focused attention to under-resourced communities.

WATERSHED SEDIMENT MANAGEMENT
Mitigating the impacts of wildfire on our water supplies through 
coordinated efforts between land and water managers.



  |  7WATER PLANWATER PLAN6  |  

REGIONAL STRATEGIES,
   REGIONAL BENEFITS

The CWP is organized around a framework of targets and strategies, which are supported by specific actions. 
Targets measure collective progress toward the shared desired outcomes for the key focal areas of the CWP. 
These targets are intended to help Los Angeles County achieve regional water resilience by 2045. See Chapter 
2 for more on targets. Public Works will publish an interactive dashboard to track progress toward these 
targets. Strategies provide the overarching approaches to achieving the targets. Actions support the strategies 
and include specific steps to drive results, along with timing, responsible agencies, and potential participants.

STRATEGY 1

Achieving the most efficient water 
use possible countywide

STRATEGY 8

Protecting coastal groundwater basins 
from seawater intrusion

STRATEGY 2

Collaborating on consistent drought
preparedness and response messaging

STRATEGY 9

Facilitating regional groundwater recharge 
understanding and initiatives

STRATEGY 3

Coupling local supply development 
with regional conveyance

STRATEGY 10

Facilitating natural infiltration of 
precipitation 

STRATEGY 4

Managing salt and concentrate 
regionally

STRATEGY 11

Providing regional support for small, 
at-risk water systems 

STRATEGY 5

Leveraging regional groundwater 
storage potential

STRATEGY 12

Mitigating wildfire effects on water supply 
and quality

STRATEGY 6

Collaborating on water quality 
needs and treatment technologies

STRATEGY 13

Managing invasive species in riparian 
areas

STRATEGY 7
Enhancing cost-effectiveness of pumping 
and treating impaired groundwater

STRATEGY 14

Facilitating sediment management and 
debris removal from flood control facilities

Strategies for a Resilient Water Future

VALUES GUIDING
   FUTURE ACTION

At the onset of CWP development, Public Works proactively reached out to a diverse group of stakeholders 
to understand what matters to them. We identified several broad, overarching values for the CWP through 
these conversations. Some of these values provided core tenets to our overall process for preparing the 
CWP. Others guided us in establishing targets, strategies, and actions. Other values, while not directly 
addressed through the actions in the CWP, will continue to inform how water resource management is 
approached to achieve sustainable and equitable outcomes. Each of these values will guide future iterations 
of the plan, as well as steps taken throughout CWP implementation.

These values are aligned with LA County’s Anti-Racism, Diversity, and Inclusion (ARDI) Initiative, which aims 
to guide the County by offering training and capacity building; technical assistance and planning; policy 
analysis and development; data collection; analysis and reporting; community, tribal, and other stakeholder 
engagement; and equity-infused resourcing and programming to help reach its goals.

The CWP outlines a path to achieve a resilient water future 
for all Los Angeles County residents. Everyone has a role in 
successfully realizing the CWP. By working across County 
departments and with other partners, actively engaging 
Tribes and other stakeholders, seeking funding to support 
CWP implementation, and tracking and reporting on 
progress, we are committed to facilitating the ongoing 
collaboration that is core to making the CWP successful.

CWP VALUES

• Strive for equitable benefits and impacts of water resource management decisions

• Ensure inclusive, diverse, multigenerational, and sustained tribal and community 
engagement

• Use data to inform policies, priorities, and practices

• Encourage multi-benefit projects and green infrastructure

• Promote capacity building of a local, skilled workforce

• Incorporate tribal knowledge into water management

• Integrate the knowledge and experiences of local communities in water planning

• Ensure CWP is actionable and adaptable

• Address climate resiliency

• Establish clear communications (outline priorities, listen, incorporate feedback, maintain 
dialogue)

• Implement vegetated/nature-based solutions



  |  9WATER PLANWATER PLAN8  |  

CENTRAL THEMES
  FOR A PATH AHEAD

A FORWARD-LOOKING
  LIVING DOCUMENT

To lead the way on regional initiatives, the CWP was developed with resilience, equity, 
sustainability, and engagement as central themes. These themes will guide CWP 
implementation and its future iterations to create reliable water resources for all 
communities in Los Angeles County.

THE CWP IS A LIVING DOCUMENT. This inaugural 2023 Edition of the CWP marks the first iteration 
for this regional planning effort and focuses on water supply resilience. As a living document, future 
iterations of the CWP are intended to evolve and adapt to meet Los Angeles County’s changing water 
resources needs.

WHAT IS IT? The CWP is a forward-looking strategic plan that crafts a vision for the region’s water 
resources management. The CWP articulates strategies to align efforts both small and large in order 
to launch Los Angeles County on a successful path towards water supply resilience.

WHO IS IT FOR? Water knows no city or county boundaries. The CWP is a plan for the County region 
as a whole, not a single locality or governing body. The CWP was developed to serve – collaboratively 
with local agencies and stakeholders – the people and communities of Los Angeles County.

THE CWP FILLS CURRENT GAPS TO ENHANCE THE REGION’S WATER RESILIENCE. Recognizing that 
there are so many ambitious efforts already underway in Los Angeles County, the CWP takes a 
bird’s-eye view on what else can be done to optimize, leverage, and align programs and processes. 
While the CWP does not attempt to reinvent the wheel or address every water-related issue, it 
complements existing efforts and fills in the gaps for matters not currently being addressed at 
a regional level. The CWP does not address activities best managed at the Federal, State, or local 
levels, nor does it recommend specific projects subject to environmental analysis or duplicate other 
ongoing efforts. As a strategic plan, the CWP does not supersede land use plans that have been 
adopted by the Board of Supervisors.

RESILIENCE
Water resilience refers to the 
capacity of communities and the 
environment to adapt to changes in 
the availability of water resources 
resulting from extreme and shifting 
weather patterns, as well as other 
stressors.

SUSTAINABILITY
Sustainable water management 
involves using water resources in a 
manner that fulfills current ecological, 
social, and economic needs without 
compromising the ability to meet 
those needs in the future.

EQUITY
Water equity entails ensuring that all 
people and communities can depend 
on water management institutions 
and infrastructure to provide equal 
access to clean, safe, high-quality, 
and affordable water.

ENGAGEMENT
Engagement means actively reaching 
out to and collaborating with a 
diverse and representative range 
of stakeholders to develop and 
implement water management 
policies and programs. WATER PLAN



 
LACountyWaterPlan.org

     resilience

sustainability

relationships
collaboration

regionallo
ca

l
  e

qu
it

y

water resources
opportunity

Prepared by LA County Public Works with support 
from Woodard & Curran  |  December 2023



01184.0001/981149.1

DATE: 

TO: 
FROM: 
VIA: 

RE: 

May 13, 2024 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Mr. Scott Rogers, Engineering Manager 
Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON RESOLUTION NO. 24-4 ADOPTING 
AN AMENDMENT TO APPENDIX I, MAIN EXTENSION REIMBURSEMENT RATES, 
OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT’S RULES AND REGULATIONS. (NO BUDGET 
IMPACT – ENGINEERING MANAGER ROGERS) 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the Board approve Resolution 24-4 Adopting an Amendment to Appendix 
I, Main Extension Reimbursement Rates, of the District’s Rules and Regulations. 

Alternative Options: 

The alternative is to not amend Appendix I. 

Impact of Taking No Action: 

Failure to achieve strategic objectives set by the Board. 

Background: 

The District’s main extension reimbursement rates (Appendix I) were last updated and adopted 
by the Board in 2008.  Based on the current Appendix I, the reimbursement rate is $8 per inch 
diameter per frontage foot of water main where only one side of the street subsequent 
connections can be made and $4 per inch diameter of the frontage foot of the water main for 
both sides where subsequent connections can be made. 

Staff analyzed a possible increase to these rates by using the Construction Cost Index (CCI) from 
the Engineering News Record (ENR) from July 2008 and April 2024, where the indexes were 
9335.69 and 15219.84, respectively.  The percentage difference is roughly a 63-percent increase. 
Based on the difference in the index, the rate should be $13.04 per inch diameter per frontage 
foot of water main and $6.52 for the conditions identified above.   

Additionally, staff looked at the historical development total project costs per inch diameter per 
frontage footage of water main to determine if a 50-percent reimbursement target is achieved 
with the rates from the increase from CCI change. It was determined that the rate should be 
increased to $14.00 per inch diameter and $7.00 per inch diameter to achieve the 50 percent 
overall project cost target. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.3 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager  May 13, 2024 

Page 2 

Staff is proposing an increase to the District’s main extension reimbursement rates based on the 
findings above.  

Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 2 – Operational Excellence and No. 3 – Systems 
Efficiency. 

This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 

Budget: 

This item has no budget impact 

Supporting Documents: 

 Current Appendix I

 Proposed Appendix I (with edits)

 Resolution 24-4



APPENDIX I 

MAIN EXTENSION REIMBURSEMENT RATES 

1. Reimbursement Where District Policy Provides for Subsequent
Connection per Article 11.03B

- $4.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where
District policy provides for subsequent connection from
both sides of street.

- $8.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where
District policy provides for subsequent connection from
only one side of street

2. Charge for Connection to Existing Main per Article 10.09

- $4.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where
District policy provides for subsequent connection from
both sides of street.

- $8.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where
District policy provides for subsequent connection from
only one side of street.

3. Reimbursement Where District Policy Precludes Subsequent
Connection per Article 11.03C

- $8.00 per diameter inch per lineal foot of main.

Effective: July 1, 2008 



APPENDIX I 
 
 

MAIN EXTENSION REIMBURSEMENT RATES 
 
 

1.  Reimbursement Where District Policy Provides for Subsequent  
 Connection per Article 11.03B 
 
  - $4.7.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where 
 District policy provides for subsequent connection from 
 both sides of street. 
  - $8.14.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where  
 District policy provides for subsequent connection from 
 only one side of street 
 
2.  Charge for Connection to Existing Main per Article 10.09 
 
  - $4. 7.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where 
 District policy provides for subsequent connection from 
 both sides of street. 
  - $8.14.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where  
 District policy provides for subsequent connection from 
 only one side of street. 
 
3.  Reimbursement Where District Policy Precludes Subsequent  
 Connection per Article 11.03C 
 
  - $8.14.00 per diameter inch per lineal foot of main. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective: July 1, 2008 AMENDED AND ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT AT A REGULAR 
MEETING HELD MAY 13, 2024 PER RESOLUTION NO. 24-4 
 



01184.0001/981148.1

RESOLUTION NO. 24-4 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

ADOPTING AN AMENDMENT TO APPENDIX I, MAIN EXTENSION 
REIMBURSEMENT RATES, OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT’S 

RULES AND REGULATIONS   

WHEREAS, pursuant to Water Code Division 11, the Palmdale Water District (“District”) 
is authorized to establish rules and regulations governing the District’s operations, accordingly, 
the District adopted the Palmdale Water District’s Rules and Regulations (“Rules and 
Regulations”); and   

WHEREAS, the District has previously adopted main extension reimbursement rates, as 
fully set forth in Appendix I of the District's Rules and Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the District would promote and offer such reimbursement rates based on the 
current dollar value to developers who initially make water system improvements within the 
District’s service area so that future properties adjacent to the water main are connected and pay 
their fair share of the cost of those improvements; and  

WHEREAS, the District's main extension reimbursement rates were last updated in 2008, 
and construction costs have since increased; and  

WHEREAS, the District would like to remain focused on making its service area an 
attractive place to live and work for future generations; and   

WHEREAS, the District would now like to update its main extension reimbursement 
policy and rates to account for inflation and changes in costs in accordance with updated 
construction costs based on the historical Construction Cost Index (CCI) for Los Angeles as 
reported by the Engineering News Record (ENR) by the percentage increase of the index from 
July 2008 to April 2024. 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE 
WATER DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. SECTION 1. The above recitals are all true and correct and hereby adopted as findings.

2. SECTION 2. The Board of Directors hereby amends Appendix I, Main Extension
Reimbursement Rates, of the Palmdale Water District Rules and Regulations to read,
in its entirely as follows:

“1. Reimbursement Where District Policy Provides for Subsequent Connection per
Article 11.03B 

 $7.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where District policy 
provides for subsequent connection from both sides of the street. 

 $14.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where District 
policy provides for subsequent connection from only one side of the 
street. 



01184.0001/981148.1

2. Charge for Connection to Existing Main per Article 10.09
 $7.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where District policy 

provides for subsequent connection from both sides of the street. 
 $14.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where District 

policy provides for subsequent connection from only one side of the 
street. 

3. Reimbursement Where District Policy Precludes Subsequent Connection per
Article 11.03C

 $7.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where District policy 
provides for subsequent connection from both sides of the street. 

 $14.00 per diameter inch frontage foot of main, where, where District 
policy provides for subsequent connection from only one side of the 
street.” 

3. SECTION 3. Upon the effective date of this Resolution, adopted herein, the Resolution
shall supersede any and all prior resolutions adopted that are in conflict with this
Resolution.

4. SECTION 4. If any provision in this Resolution, or the application thereof to any
person or circumstances, is for any reason held invalid, the validity of the remainder of
this Resolution, or the application of such provisions to other persons or circumstances
shall not be affected thereby. The Board of Directors hereby declares that it would have
passed this Resolution, and each provision thereof, irrespective of the fact that one or
more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases or the application thereof to
any person or circumstance be held invalid.

5. SECTION 5. This Resolution shall become effective upon the date of adoption as set
forth herein.

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS:     13th day of May 2024. 

Kathy Mac Laren-Gomez, President  Vincent Dino, Secretary 
Board of Directors      Board of Directors 
Palmdale Water District      Palmdale Water District 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Aleshire & Wynder. LLP 
District Legal Counsel 



DATE: 

TO: 
FROM: 
VIA: 

RE: 

May 13, 2024 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Mr. Scott Rogers, Engineering Manager 
Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON AWARD OF CONTRACT 
TO CALIAGUA, INC. FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF WELL 36 
EQUIPPING. ($4,258,230.00 – BUDGETED – PROJECT NO. 20-622 – 
ENGINEERING MANAGER ROGERS) 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the Board award a contract to Caliagua, Inc. in the amount of 
$4,258,230.00 for the construction of Well 36 Equipping under Project Number 20-622. 

Alternative Options: 

Reject all bids, re-design, and rebid the project later in the year. 

Impact of Taking No Action: 

The potential impact from taking no action would result in not being able to put the newly drilled 
Well 36 into production. 

Background: 

Staff solicited bids from qualified contractors to construct and furnish, but not limited to, all 
materials, equipment, tools, labor, and incidentals to equip a new 600-horsepower motor and 
pump on the recently constructed well. Completion of this project would increase the reliability 
of the District’s water supply and allow flexibility to produce and meet our groundwater rights. 

The total bid price in the bid proposal submitted by Caliagua, Inc. was $4,258,230.00. A bidder’s 
bond of 10 percent of the total bid price was submitted with the bid proposal. Travelers Casualty 
and Surety Company of America is the surety company providing the bid bond. 

The criterion for responsibility pertains to whether the bidder is regularly engaged in this type of 
work and whether they can perform the work satisfactorily as promised. The contractor must 
provide payment and performance bonds to protect the District’s interest. 

Caliagua, Inc., as the lowest responsive, responsible bidder, holds a valid worker’s compensation 
insurance policy (Policy number UB2X358459 with Travelers Property Casualty Company of 
America, effective October 1, 2023, through October 1, 2024). 

The contractor’s past performance record has been utilized to evaluate the general competency 
of the contractor for the work. To demonstrate the bidder’s capability and experience of 
successfully completing similar projects, the bid documents require that the contractor submit a 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.4 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager May 13, 2024 

Page 2 

list of all projects completed by the contractor during the last three years involving work of similar 
type and complexity and comparable value. 

The bid's responsiveness pertaining to compliance with the material terms of the bid documents 
has been reviewed and deemed acceptable. 

Caliagua, Inc. as the lowest responsible bidder, has met the criterion of providing the lowest bid 
price of qualified firms at $4,258,230.00. The difference to the next lowest bidder is $127,870.00, 
or 2.92 percent. 

Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 1 – Water Resource Reliability, and No. 3 – Systems 
Efficiency. 

This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 

Budget: 

This work is budgeted under Project Number 20-622. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Bid Results Summary
 Proposal Package from Lowest Responsible Bidder



Line 
Item Description Quantity

Unit of 
Measure Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

1 Mobilization, Demobilization, Insurance and Bonds 1 Lump Sum $405,000.00 $405,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $205,000.00 103% $302,500.00 $302,500.00
2 Trench and Excavation Safety Measures 1 Lump Sum $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $59,000.00 5900% $30,500.00 $30,500.00
3 Site Work 1 Lump Sum $459,700.00 $459,700.00 $250,000.00 $250,000.00 $209,700.00 84% $354,850.00 $354,850.00
4 Well Building 1 Lump Sum $542,600.00 $542,600.00 $1,640,100.00 $1,640,100.00 ($1,097,500.00) -67% $1,091,350.00 $1,091,350.00
5 Well Pump and Appurtenances 1 Lump Sum $878,000.00 $878,000.00 $850,000.00 $850,000.00 $28,000.00 3% $864,000.00 $864,000.00
6 Piping and Valves 1 Lump Sum $418,900.00 $418,900.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $218,900.00 109% $309,450.00 $309,450.00
7 Electrical and Instrumentation 1 Lump Sum $1,295,130.00 $1,295,130.00 $1,150,000.00 $1,150,000.00 $145,130.00 13% $1,222,565.00 $1,222,565.00
8 Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning (HVAC) 1 Lump Sum $148,900.00 $148,900.00 $80,000.00 $80,000.00 $68,900.00 86% $114,450.00 $114,450.00
9 Startup Testing and Training 1 Lump Sum $40,000.00 $40,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $30,000.00 300% $25,000.00 $25,000.00

10 Preparation of Operations and Maintenance 1 Lump Sum $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 100% $7,500.00 $7,500.00
Total $4,258,230.00 $4,386,100.00 ($127,870.00) -3% $4,322,165.00

Caliagua, Inc. GSE Construction Company Inc. Difference Bid Average











INFORMATION REQUIRED OF BIDDER 

SITE INSPECTION REVIEW -- Describe when, by whom, and in what manner (a) the site 
for this proposed work was inspected on behalf of the bidder (NOTE: Failure to 
demonstrate diligent effort in ascertaining site conditions which may affect the Work will 
render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection):   

COMPARABLE PROJECT EXPERIENCE -- In accordance with the REGISTRATION OF 
CONTRACTORS subsection of the Instructions to Bidders, describe at least five (5) 
comparable projects completed by bidder within past thirty-six (36) month period, 
including dates completed, location of work, size of project in dollars, names, addresses, 
and phone numbers of persons in charge of project construction, and the name and 
address of the public agency or firm for whom the project was constructed (NOTE: Failure 
to include at least five (5) jobs similar in size and scope to that contemplated under the 
Contract Documents will render this Proposal informal or non-responsive and may result 
in its rejection):   



Customer Design Engineer Completed Job # & Description
Contract 
Amount

City of Chino #450
13220 Central Ave, 2nd Floor Dudek & Assoc. Nov-22 Benson Ave. Permanent $1,035,713
Chino, CA 91710 Encinitas, CA Sew er Lift Station 

Hensel Phelps / Herzog JV #451
c/o Los Angeles County Metropolitan Trans. Gruen Assoc. Apr-22 AMC Site Work & Rail Systems Project - $4,293,114
6171 W. Century Blvd, Ste 250 Los Angeles, CA Precast Cisterns & Earth Retention
Los Angeles, CA 90045

Skanska USA Civil West CA #452
c/o San Gabriel Valley Council of Gov. Biggs Cardosa Assoc. est. Fullerton Rd Grade Separation $3,733,300
1995 Agua Mansa Rd Orange, CA Sep-22 Stormw ater & Groundw ater Pump
Riverside, CA Stations

Griffith Company #454
c/o San Diego International Airport Jacobs Engineering est. ADP Airside Improvements $4,284,800
10660 Scripps Ranch Blvd, Ste 100 San Diego, CA Apr-23 Cistern Stormw ater Pump Station &
San Diego, CA 92131 Control Building

Griffith Company #456
c/o Union Pacif ic Railroad Company Arcadis est. UPRR Marne Intermodal Facility $1,528,424
3050 E. Birch St. Coeur D'Alene, ID May-23 Wastew ater Lift Station
Brea, CA 92821



 4930 E. La Palma Ave.
Anaheim, CA  92807

Ph: 866-416-4214
Fx: 866-416-4214
License# 359728

Contractor List of References & Experience (Page 14)

Customer Design Engineer Completed Job # & Description
Contract 
Amount

Volunteer Project: Operation Homefront #428
33422 Dolomite CALIAGUA Frontyard & Backyard Makeover $0.00
Menifee CA  92584 Volunteer Project Oct-12 for US Marine & Family

Security Paving Company #429
c/o City of Bakersfield CA CADOT Contract No. 07-1218W4 $1,604,273
13170 Telfair Ave., Sylmar, CA  & Tetra Tech Sep-17 Subcontract to consturct Empire Ave UC 
PM: Frank Riggins 818-362-9200 Storm  Drain Pumping Plant
Security Paving Company #430
c/o City of Bakersfield CA AECOM Mar-15 Project No. T9WP6C $1,168,310
13170 Telfair Ave., Sylmar, CA  Dan Cronquist WestSide Parkway - Phase 6C
PM: Pedro Santos 661-873-0495 661-325-7253 Ext 3108 Renfro Road SD PS & Replace Sewage LS
Santa Ana Watershed Project Auth. #431
1165 Sterling Avenue SAWPA Install Polymer MH with R&R of $15,470
Riverside, CA 92503 Design Engineer Apr-13 existing 15" Clay Sewer Lateral
Ph: 951-354-4246   Attn: Carlos Quintero City of Corona Water Reclaim. Plant #1
Santa Ana Watershed Project Auth. #432
1165 Sterling Avenue SAWPA Reach IV-B Improvements $6,134
Riverside, CA 92503 Design Engineer Apr-13 Sidewalk Repairs
Ph: 951-354-4246   Attn: Carlos Quintero
Security Paving Company #433
c/o City of Bakersfield CA CADOT SR-58 Widening 208,960$     
13170 Telfair Ave., Sylmar, CA  Design Engineer Dec-14 Mechancial work at SD Pump Plant
PM: Anthony Mattivi (TJ) 661-873-0495
Riverside Construction Co. #434
c/o San Bern. Assoc. Governments Trans-Systems Jun-16 Contract No. C13121 $2,101,962
4225 Garner Road, Riverside CA 92502 Jeff Hemer Laurel Ave Grade Separation
PM: Casey Carpenter 951-682-8308 816-329-8664 Storm  Drain Pumping Plant
GC: USS Cal Builders, Caliagua (Sub) #435
c/o City of Fullerton CM: Hill International Kennedy/Jenks Consultants State College Blvd Grade Separation $1,387,293
331 S. State College Blvd., Fullerton CA Design Engineer Oct-17 State College UC Storm Drain Pump Sta.
CM: Mark Verrengia  714-865-4005 City of Fullerton
Security Paving Company #436
c/o CADOT CADOT Contract No. 07-215954 944,709$     
3075 Towngate Road, Westlake Village, CA Design Engineer Jun-17 Interstate 5/605 Improvments
PM: Hani Alikhwan 562-863-3176 Construct New Storm Drain Pump Plant
Security Paving Company #437
c/o City of Bakersfield CA AECOM Bakersfield Beltway Improvements $892,258
3075 Towngate Road Design Engineer Sep-20 Ming Ave Stormwater Pump Station
Westlake Village, CA  91361

N:\USR\Admin\References\2024\Work History Updated March 2024.xls



 4930 E. La Palma Ave.
Anaheim, CA  92807

Ph: 866-416-4214
Fx: 866-416-4214
License# 359728

Contractor List of References & Experience (Page 15)

Customer Design Engineer Completed Job # & Description
Contract 
Amount

Woodbridge Pacific Homes #438
c/o City of Chino Hills Husaker & Assoc. Canyon Hills Booster Pump Sta.
27271 Las Ramblas, #100 Mission Viejo Design Engineer Mar-16 and Sewer Lft Station Complex $3,419,061
PM: Robert Richards (949) 445-4612 Chino Hills

CA Rasmussen #440
c/o LA Metro HNTB Bob Hope Airport Metro Station
28548 Livingston Ave., Valencia CA 91355 Design Engineer Jun-18 Water & Storm Drain Util. $289,201
PM:  Thomas Tan  805-331-0831 Burbank

County of San Bernardino #441
232 W. Hospitality Ln, 2nd Floor San Bern County Cedar Glen Hydropneumatic 
San Bernardino, CA  92415-0450 Design Engineer Mar-19 Pump Station $436,146
PM:  Gary Martin,  760-962-1521 Lake Arrowhead

Security Paving Company #442
c/o CADOT CADOT Delaware Sand Filter
13170 Telfair Ave., Sylmar, CA  Design Engineer Jan-19 Misc Metals $21,295
PM: Pedro Santos 661-873-0495 South Lake Tahoe

Santa Fe Springs Public Works #443
1170 E. Telegraph Road Santa Fe Springs Imperial Highway Underpass
Santa Fe Springs CA 90670 Engineering Dept. Sep-18 Storm Pump Retrofit $78,879
PM: Daniel Reyes (310)953-5688 Design-Build Santa Fe Springs

Security Paving Company #444
c/o CADOT CADOT Belle Terrace Pumping Plant
13170 Telfair Ave., Sylmar, CA  Parsons Dec-19 Storm Drain Pump Station $1,645,852
PM: Mark Witgraff (661)742-3184 Mechanical, Misc. Metals, Electrical

City of Fullerton #445
1580 W. Commonwealth Ave. Kennedy/Jenks Consultants City of Fullerton
Fullerton CA 92833 Irvine, CA Jan-20 Storm Drain Pump Station $30,000
PM: Dan Diaz (714)738-5344 Daniel J Wright Annual & Monthly Maintenance

Griffith Company and S.J. Amoroso #446
c/oLA Dept. of Parks & Recreation PACE Earvin Magic Sports Park
12200 Bloomfield, Santa Fe Springs CA AHBE Sept-20 Diversion Storm Drain Pump Station $1,675,937
PM: Brad Austin and Nathan Lopez Mechanical, Misc. Metals, Electrical

City of Anaheim #447
200 S. Anaheim Blvd., Anaheim CA AKM Linda Vista Complex Pump Station
CM: Michael Baker Int'l Consulting Engineers Sept-21 Phase II Improvements $9,600,897
CM: Kieler Smith - 949-892-8330 Potable Water Improvements

CADOT 07-OKO214 c/o Ortiz Const. GC #448
Rte 5 & Avery Parkway CADOT Rte 5 Widening in Mission Viejo
Ortiz Const. | 6 Cushing, Ste 200, Apr-22 Communication Hub Bldg. $862,198
Irvine, CA  92618

EMWD #449
2270 Trumble Road Krieger & Stewart Lake Skinner Lift Station No. 1
Perris, CA  92572-8300 Feb-22 $976,570

N:\USR\Admin\References\2024\Work History Updated March 2024.xls



 4930 E. La Palma Ave.
Anaheim, CA  92807

Ph: 866-416-4214
Fx: 866-416-4214
License# 359728

Contractor List of References & Experience (Page 16)

Customer Design Engineer Completed Job # & Description
Contract 
Amount

City of Chino #450
13220 Central Ave, 2nd Floor Dudek & Assoc. Nov-22 Benson Ave. Permanent $1,035,713
Chino, CA 91710 Encinitas, CA Sewer Lift Station 

Hensel Phelps / Herzog JV #451
c/o Los Angeles County Metropolitan Trans. Gruen Assoc. Apr-22 AMC Site Work & Rail Systems Project - $4,293,114
6171 W. Century Blvd, Ste 250 Los Angeles, CA Precast Cisterns & Earth Retention
Los Angeles, CA 90045

Skanska USA Civil West CA #452
c/o San Gabriel Valley Council of Gov. Biggs Cardosa Assoc. est. Fullerton Rd Grade Separation $3,733,300
1995 Agua Mansa Rd Orange, CA Sep-22 Stormwater & Groundwater Pump
Riverside, CA Stations

Griffith Company #454
c/o San Diego International Airport Jacobs Engineering est. ADP Airside Improvements $4,284,800
10660 Scripps Ranch Blvd, Ste 100 San Diego, CA Apr-23 Cistern Stormwater Pump Station &
San Diego, CA 92131 Control Building

Griffith Company #456
c/o Union Pacific Railroad Company Arcadis est. UPRR Marne Intermodal Facility $1,528,424
3050 E. Birch St. Coeur D'Alene, ID May-23 Wastewater Lift Station
Brea, CA 92821

Long Beach Water Dept. #457
1800 E. Wardlow Rd Wood Rodgers est. North Long Beach Wells 13 & 14 $4,316,458
Long Beach, CA 90807-4931 Sacramento, CA Sept-23 Equipping 
PM: Danna Monzon 562-822-2461

OHL USA #458
1920 Main Street, Suite 310 Carollo Engineers Nov-23 LACSD: Valencia Water Reclaim Plant $69,735
Irvine, CA  92614 Advanced Treatement Facility
Attn:  Craig Hulse 949-610-6650 Time & Material Work

Orange County Water District $459
18700 Ward Street Jacobs Engineering est. PFAS Treatement System & $20,577,002
Fountain Valley, CA  92708 Irvine, CA Sep-24 Effluent Conveyance 
PM: Fernando Almario 714-378-8220 City of Tustin

Rudder Development #461
c/o Trabuco Canyon Water District Hunsaker & Associates est. Saddlecrest Booster Pump Station $257,345
20371 Irvine Ave., Suite 150 Irvine, CA May-23 and Reservoir
Newport Beach, CA 92660 Time & Material Work

Griffith Company #462
c/o City of Santa Ana Tetra Tech est. San Lorenzo Sewer Lift Station $84,665
3050 E. Birch St. Irvine, CA May-23
Brea, CA 92821 Time & Material Work

City of Pasadena #463
150 S. Los Robles Ave, Suite 200 Civiltec Engineering est. Garfield Replacement Well $3,254,396
Pasadena, CA 91101 Monrovia, CA Aug-24
Michele Carina, P.E.  (626) 744-7012

N:\USR\Admin\References\2024\Work History Updated March 2024.xls



 4930 E. La Palma Ave.
Anaheim, CA  92807

Ph: 866-416-4214
Fx: 866-416-4214
License# 359728

Contractor List of References & Experience (Page 17)

Customer Design Engineer Completed Job # & Description
Contract 
Amount

Orange County Water District #464
18700 Ward Street Kennedy Jenks est. PFAS Treatement System @ $9,609,600
Fountain Valley, CA  92708 Irvine, CA Sep-24 Well Nos. 20, 21 & 22
PM: Fernando Almario 714-378-8220 City of Orange

Walt Disney / Stanley Living RM, LLC #465
D.L. Meacham California, LLC Kimley-Horn est. Cotino Crystal Lagoon $9,784,763
PO Box 431789, Huston TX 77243 Plantation, Florida Jul-24 72700 Frank Sinatra Drive 
PM: Carrie Wicks,  (850) 776-0649 Rancho Mirage, CA 92270

CADOT #08-1H3904 - I-15 Trk Inspection #466
Sub-Contract w/ Powell Constructors CA Dept. of Trans. est. Water & Wastewater Facilities
8555 Banana Avenue, Fontana CA Mar-24 for Truck Inspection Station $1,451,000
PM Ray Delgadillo, (909) 684-4973

MWD - FE Weymoth - BESS Project #477
Sub-Contract w/ RJ Daum Const. Metropolatin W.D of est. Fire Protection System for
11581 Monarch St., Garden Grove CA Souther California June 24 Batter Energy Storage System $948,000
PM Andy Fife 562-508-5508 with Siemens

N:\USR\Admin\References\2024\Work History Updated March 2024.xls





LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS 

The bidder is required to furnish the following information in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 4100 to 4114, inclusive, of the Public Contract Code of the State of 
California. 

Subcontractors must be listed if they will provide work, labor or service in an amount in 
excess of one-half (1/2) of one percent (1%) of the total bid. 

THAT PORTION OF THE WORK TO BE PERFORMED BY SUBCONTRACTORS 
SHALL, IN THE AGGREGATE, NOT EXCEED 40% OF ALL WORK PERFORMED, 
BASED UPON THE TOTAL DOLLAR VALUE OF THE WORK. 

% of 
Subcontractor License Main Office Address Total Value Description 

No. & Type Dollar of Subcontract 
Work 



Bid Bond in Accordance with Contract Specifications 

Be sure to refer to the actual bond documents referenced in the contract specifications for 
specific terms before completing this form.

PRINCIPAL NAME PRINCIPAL ADDRESS 

SURETY NAME SURETY ADDRESS 

OBLIGEE NAME OBLIGEE ADDRESS 

Bond Information 

BID DATE CONTRACT ID CONTRACT VENDOR ID 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

AMOUNT OF BID SECURITY AMOUNT OF BID SECURITY-SPELLED OUT 

BOND ENTERED AND EXECUTED BY ATTORNEY-IN-FACT SIGNATURE 

Know all men by these presents that _________________________________________________________________, 
a Corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of _______________________, are held and firmly bound unto 
the above owner/obligee by the transmission. The surety agrees to waive the statute of fraud defense and further agrees 
that the owner/obligee is a third party beneficiary of the waiver for the purposes of enforcing this bid bond.

Copyright of Surety2000 

Bond No.:

S2K:649f947cdc:721099

Caliagua Inc.

SCA0403922088

4930 E La Palma Ave, Anaheim, CA 92807

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America 1 Tower Square, Hartford, CT 06183

Palmdale Water District 2029 E. Ave. Q, Palmdale, CA 93550

04/08/2024

10%

Well 36 Equipping, Specification No. 20-622-B

Daniel Huckabay

20-622-B

Ten Percent of the Amount Bid 

95-3258752

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America

Connecticut

04/03/2024



POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, St. Paul 

Fire and Marine Insurance Company, and Farmington Casualty Company are corporations duly organized under the laws of the State of 

Connecticut (herein collectively called the "Companies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint 

of , , their true and lawful Attorney(s)-in-Fact to sign, execute, seal and acknowledge the following bond: 

Surety Bond No.: Principal: 
OR 

Obligee: Project Description: 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed, and their corporate seals to be hereto affixed, this 21st day of April, 

2021. 

State of Connecticut 

City of Hartford ss. 

By: _ 

Robert L. Raney, Senior Vice President 

On this the 21st day of April, 2021, before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowledged himself to be the Senior Vice President of each 
of the Companies, and that he, as such, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing on 

behalf of said Companies by himself as a duly authorized officer. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal. 

My Commission expires the 30th day of June, 2026 _ _ 
Anna P. Nowik, Notary Public 

This Power of Attorney is granted under and by the authority of the following resolutions adopted by the Boards of Directors of each of the Companies, 
which resolutions are now in full force and effect, reading as follows: 

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President, any 
Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secretary may appoint Attorneys-in-Fact and 
Agents to act for and on behalf of the Company and may give such appointee such authority as his or her certificate of authority may prescribe to sign 
with the Company's name and seal with the Company's seal bonds, recognizances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in the nature of 

a bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, and any of said officers or the Board of Directors at any time may remove any such appointee and 
revoke the power given him or her; and it is 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President or any Vice 
President may delegate all or any part of the foregoing authority to one or more officers or employees of this Company, provided that each such delegation 
is in writing and a copy thereof is filed in the office of the Secretary; and it is 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contract of indemnity, or writing obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional 
undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (a) signed by the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any 
Senior Vice President or any Vice President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any 
Assistant Secretary and duly attested and sealed with the Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary; or (b) duly executed (under seal, if 
required) by one or more Attorneys-in-Fact and Agents pursuant to the power prescribed in his or her certificate or their certificates of authority or by one 
or more Company officers pursuant to a written delegation of authority; and it is 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the signature of each of the following officers: President, any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any 
Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any 
Power of Attorney or to any certificate relating thereto appointing Resident Vice Presidents, Resident Assistant Secretaries or Attorneys-in-Fact for 
purposes only of executing and attesting bonds and undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such Power of Attorney or 
certificate bearing such facsimile signature or facsimile seal shall be valid and binding upon the Company and any such power so executed and certified 
by such facsimile signature and facsimile seal shall be valid and binding on the Company in the future with respect to any bond or understanding to 
which it is attached. 

I, Kevin E. Hughes, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of each of the Companies, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of the Power of Attorney executed by said Companies, which remains in full force and effect. 

Dated this . 

_ 

Kevin E. Hughes, Assistant Secretary 

To verify the authenticity of this Power of Attorney, please call us at 1-800-421-3880. 

Please refer to the above-named Attorney(s)-in-Fact and the details of the bond to which this Power of Attorney is attached. 

S2K:d81fb159c5:721099

Daniel Huckabay

Orange California

SCA0403922088 Caliagua Inc.

Palmdale Water District

04/03/2024







INFORMATION REQUIRED OF BIDDER 
EQUIPMENT/MATERIAL SOURCE INFORMATION 

The bidder shall indicate opposite each item of equipment or material listed below, the name of the 
manufacturer or supplier of the equipment or material proposed to be furnished under the bid.  

Failure to comply with this requirement will render the proposal informal and may cause its rejection.  

Awarding of a contract under this bid will not imply approval by the Owner of the manufacturers or 
suppliers listed by the bidder. No substitution will be permitted after award of contract unless 
equipment or material of the listed manufacturer or supplier cannot meet the specifications.  

 

 
Specification 

No. 

 
Equipment/Material 

 
Manufacturer/Supplier 

Delivery 
Time 

(weeks) 
    

    

    

    

    

    

    



LIST OF PROPOSED SUBSTITUTIONS 

The bidder may name a proposed substitute manufacturer and/or equipment/material 
with an add or deduct amount which will be considered after award. The Contract 
award, if any, will be on Base Bid amounts. 

Add
($)

_________

_________

_________

_________

_________ 

Deduct
($)

________

________

________

________

________

Spec Section

___________ 

___________ 

___________ 

___________ 

___________ 

Equipment/Manufacturer

 _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

________________________________



 

 
  

DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO:  BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM:  Mr. Scott Rogers, Engineering Manager 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON AWARD OF CONTRACT TO 
AMERICAN PIPELINE SERVICES FOR THE AVENUE Q RECYCLED WATER PIPELINE. 
($2,094,670.00 – BUDGETED – PROJECT NO. 22-605 AND 22-656 – ENGINEERING 
MANAGER ROGERS) 

 
Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the Board award American Pipeline Services a contract for the Avenue Q 
Recycled Water Pipeline in the amount of $2,094,670.00. 
 
Alternative Options: 

The alternative is to reject all bids and rebid the project. 
 
Impact of Taking No Action: 

The potential impact of taking no action would result in being unable to convey recycled water 
from the existing recycled water pipeline on 30th Street East to the Pure Water AV Demonstration 
Facility and not utilizing the Proposition 1 grant funding awarded by the State. 
 
Background: 

Staff solicited bids from qualified contractors to construct 4,900 linear feet of 12-inch and 110 
feet of 4-inch PVC recycled water pipelines along East Avenue Q from 30th Street East to 20th 
Street East including a new recycled bulk water station with associated site work, plumbing, and 
electrical work. The project also includes water improvements, sanitary sewer work, and street 
improvements associated with the Pure Water AV Demonstration Facility in the amount of 
$617,483.00. 
 
The total bid price in the bid proposal submitted by American Pipeline Services was 
$2,094,670.00. A bidder’s bond in the amount of 10 percent of the total bid price was submitted 
with the bid proposal. The surety company providing the bid bond is American Contractors 
Indemnity Company. 
 
The contractor’s past performance record has been utilized to evaluate the general competency 
of the contractor for the performance of the work. To demonstrate the bidder’s capability and 
experience of having completed similar projects successfully, the bid documents require that the 
contractor submit a list of all projects completed by the contractor during the last three years 
involving work of similar type and complexity and comparable value. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.5 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis LaMoreaux, General Manager May 13, 2024 
 

Page 2 

 
Responsiveness of the bid pertaining to compliance with the material terms of the bid documents 
has been reviewed and deemed acceptable. 
 
American Pipeline Services as the lowest responsible bidder, has met the criterion of providing 
the lowest bid price of qualified firms at $2,094,670.00. The lowest qualified bid price is 
$79,107.00, or 3.6 percent lower than the next lowest bidder. 
 
Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 1 – Water Resource Reliability, and No. 3 – Systems 
Efficiency. 
 
This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 
 
Budget: 

This item is budgeted under Project No. 22-605 in the amount of $1,477,187.00 and under Project 
No. 22-656 in the amount of $617,483.00. 
 
Supporting Documents: 

 Bid Results Summary 
 Proposal Package from Lowest Responsible Bidder 



Line Item Description Quantity Unit of MeasureUnit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

1
Mobilization, demobilization, and 
site cleanup 1 LS $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $215,000.00 $215,000.00 $98,777.00 $98,777.00 $124,592.33

$124,592.33

2 Surveying 1 LS $12,500.00 $12,500.00 $22,736.00 $22,736.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $18,412.00 $18,412.00
3 Traffic Control 1 LS $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $217,642.00 $217,642.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $91,714.00 $91,714.00

4
Pavement Restoration for 
Recycled Water Line Work 1 LS $48,000.00 $48,000.00 $589,695.00 $589,695.00 $300,000.00 $300,000.00 $312,565.00

$312,565.00

5 Potholing 30 EA $425.00 $12,750.00 $2,521.00 $75,630.00 $500.00 $15,000.00 $1,148.67 $34,460.00

6
12-inch C900, DR18, PR235 PVC 
Pipe 4900 LF $205.00 $1,004,500.00 $377.00 $1,847,300.00 $220.00 $1,078,000.00 $267.33

$1,309,933.33

7
4-inch C900 DR 18, PR235 PVC 
Pipe 70 LF $175.00 $12,250.00 $568.00 $39,760.00 $200.00 $14,000.00 $314.33

$22,003.33

8 4-inch Steel, 10GA, CMLC Pipe 70 LF $350.00 $24,500.00 $1,080.00 $75,600.00 $300.00 $21,000.00 $576.67 $40,366.67

9
12-inch Butterfly C150 Valve per 
PWD Detail W-5 9 EA $6,250.00 $56,250.00 $6,122.00 $55,098.00 $5,000.00 $45,000.00 $5,790.67

$52,116.00

10
4-inch Gate C150 Valve per PWD 
Detail W-5 2 EA $3,250.00 $6,500.00 $4,395.00 $8,790.00 $2,000.00 $4,000.00 $3,215.00

$6,430.00

11
2-inch Air Vaccum Assembly per 
PWD Detail W-16 2 EA $7,250.00 $14,500.00 $11,888.00 $23,776.00 $15,000.00 $30,000.00 $11,379.33

$22,758.67

12
4-inch Large Meter Complete 
with Vault per PWD Detail W-18 1 EA $95,250.00 $95,250.00 $90,254.00 $90,254.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00 $75,168.00

$75,168.00

13
2-inch Metered Recycled Service 
per PWD Detail W-1A 1 EA $23,750.00 $23,750.00 $19,824.00 $19,824.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $21,191.33

$21,191.33

14
Flushing, Testing and Disinfection 
of System 1 LS $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $26,260.00 $26,260.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $14,586.67

$14,586.67

Total $1,385,750.00 $3,307,365.00 $1,745,777.00 $2,146,297.3333

Line Item Description Quantity Unit of MeasureUnit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total
15 Site Work 1 LS $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $7,974.00 $7,974.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $14,324.6667 $14,324.67
16 Plumbing 1 LS $8,500.00 $8,500.00 $3,970.00 $3,970.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $10,823.3333 $10,823.33
17 Electrical 1 LS $3,250.00 $3,250.00 $10,584.00 $10,584.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $6,278.00 $6,278.00
18 New Bulk Water Station 1 LS $64,687.00 $64,687.00 $89,217.00 $89,217.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $56,301.3333 $56,301.33

Total $91,437.00 $111,745.00 $60,000.00 $87,727.33

Line Item Description Quantity Unit of MeasureUnit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

19
Pavement Restoration for 
Sanitary Sewer Work 1 LS $23,500.00 $23,500.00 $12,501.00 $12,501.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $15,333.67

$15,333.67

20 8-inch VCP Sewer Pipeline 60 LF $525.00 $31,500.00 $886.00 $53,160.00 $400.00 $24,000.00 $603.67 $36,220.00

21
48-inch Diameter Pre-cast 
Concrete Manhole 2 EA $36,750.00 $73,500.00 $54,037.00 $108,074.00 $15,000.00 $30,000.00 $35,262.33

$70,524.67

22
Testing of System per City of 
Palmdale 1 LS $7,499.00 $7,499.00 $3,094.00 $3,094.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,197.67

$5,197.67

Total $135,999.00 $176,829.00 $69,000.00 $127,276.00

Line Item Description Quantity Unit of MeasureUnit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

23
Pavement Resotoration for 
Potable Water Improvement 1 LS $35,190.00 $35,190.00 $17,310.00 $17,310.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $20,833.33

$20,833.33

24 8-inch Steel Pipe, 10GA, CMLC 30 LF $1,450.00 $43,500.00 $752.00 $22,560.00 $400.00 $12,000.00 $867.33 $26,020.00

25
6-inch Fire Hydrant per PWD 
Detail W-2 2 EA $21,875.00 $43,750.00 $16,773.00 $33,546.00 $25,000.00 $50,000.00 $21,216.00

$42,432.00

26
2-inch water service per PWD 
Detail W-1A 1 EA $14,250.00 $14,250.00 $16,865.00 $16,865.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $13,705.00

$13,705.00

27
16" x 6" KOPPL CN-100 Weld On 
Nozzle with FLG'D Outlet 2 EA $7,800.00 $15,600.00 $24,418.00 $48,836.00 $3,000.00 $6,000.00 $11,739.33

$23,478.67

28
16" x 8" KOPPL CN-100 Weld On 
Nozzle with FLG'D Outlet 1 EA $9,500.00 $9,500.00 $17,016.00 $17,016.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $9,838.67

$9,838.67

29
8" Gate Valve, CL150 per PWD 
Detail W-5 1 EA $9,499.00 $9,499.00 $5,887.00 $5,887.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $6,462.00

$6,462.00

30
6" Gate Valve, CL150 per PWD 
Detail W-5 2 EA $4,950.00 $9,900.00 $4,247.00 $8,494.00 $3,000.00 $6,000.00 $4,065.67

$8,131.33

31

8" USC Approved Reduced 
Pressure Detector Assembly per 
PWD Detail W-24 1 EA $45,000.00 $45,000.00 $34,897.00 $34,897.00 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 $36,632.33

$36,632.33

Total $226,189.00 $205,411.00 $131,000.00 $187,533.33

Line Item Description Quantity Unit of MeasureUnit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total
32 Site Work 1 LS $9,500.00 $9,500.00 $12,499.00 $12,499.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,666.33 $10,666.33
33 Plumbing 1 LS $9,000.00 $9,000.00 $7,838.00 $7,838.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $8,946.00 $8,946.00
34 Electrical 1 LS $6,600.00 $6,600.00 $14,290.00 $14,290.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $8,630.00 $8,630.00

35
Existing Bulk Water Station 
Relocation 1 LS $14,375.00 $14,375.00 $39,044.00 $39,044.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $19,473.00

$19,473.00

Total $39,475.00 $73,671.00 $30,000.00 $47,715.33

Line Item Description Quantity Unit of MeasureUnit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total

36

Demolition of Existing Pavement 
and Base, Driveway, Curb, and 
Gutter 1 LS $38,500.00 $38,500.00 $17,287.00 $17,287.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $21,929.00

$21,929.00

37 Cold Mill and Overlaying 1 LS $78,410.00 $78,410.00 $9,202.00 $9,202.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $34,204.00 $34,204.00
38 4" Thick PCC Concrete Sidewalk 540 LF $31.50 $17,010.00 $15.00 $8,100.00 $150.00 $81,000.00 $65.50 $35,370.00
39 8" Curb and Gutter 40 LF $325.00 $13,000.00 $139.00 $5,560.00 $50.00 $2,000.00 $171.3333 $6,853.33
40 Curb Ramp 4 EA $10,350.00 $41,400.00 $9,825.00 $39,300.00 $5,000.00 $20,000.00 $8,391.6667 $33,566.67
41 Concrete Driveway Approaches 2 EA $13,750.00 $27,500.00 $11,069.00 $22,138.00 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 $9,939.6667 $19,879.33

Total $215,820.00 $101,587.00 $138,000.00 $151,802.33

Average
Bid Total $2,094,670.00 $3,976,608.00 $2,173,777.00 $2,748,351.67

79,107.0000 3.6%

Bid Average

Bid Average

Bid Average

Bid Average

Bid Average

Bid Average

American Pipeline Services #1 Blois Construction, LLC #3 GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC. #2

American Pipeline Services Blois Construction, LLC GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC.

American Pipeline Services Blois Construction, LLC GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC.

Bulk Water Station Relocation

Street Improvements

American Pipeline Services Blois Construction, LLC GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC.

American Pipeline Services Blois Construction, LLC GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC.

Ave Q Sanitary Sewer

Ave Q Potable Water Improvements

American Pipeline Services Blois Construction, LLC GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC.Recycled Bulk Water Station

American Pipeline Services Blois Construction, LLC GOLDEN SUN ENTERPRISE, INC.Ave Q Recycled Water Pipeline









INFORMATION REQUIRED OF BIDDER 

SITE INSPECTION REVIEW -- Describe when, by whom, and in what manner (a) the site 
for this proposed work was inspected on behalf of the bidder (NOTE: Failure to 
demonstrate diligent effort in ascertaining site conditions which may affect the Work will 
render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection):   

COMPARABLE PROJECT EXPERIENCE -- In accordance with the REGISTRATION OF 
CONTRACTORS subsection of the Instructions to Bidders, describe at least five (5) 
comparable projects completed by bidder within past thirty-six (36) month period, 
including dates completed, location of work, size of project in dollars, names, addresses, 
and phone numbers of persons in charge of project construction, and the name and 
address of the public agency or firm for whom the project was constructed (NOTE: Failure 
to include at least five (5) jobs similar in size and scope to that contemplated under the 
Contract Documents will render this Proposal informal or non-responsive and may result 
in its rejection):   



CONTRACTOR'S LICENSING STATEMENT 

The undersigned is licensed in accordance with the laws of the State of California 
providing for the registration of Contractors. 

Contractor's License Number(s), Type(s) and Expiration Date(s):  

Expiration Date:   

Name of Individual Contractor (print or type): 

Signature of Owner:    
Business Address:    

or 
Name of Partnership or Firm:   

Business Address:    

Signature, name, title and address of partners signing on behalf of the partnership: 

Signed:          Name:   

Title:       Address:    

Signed:          Name:   

Title:       Address:    

Signed:          Name:   
Title:       Address:    

or 
Name of Corporation:    
Business Address:    
Corporation organized under the laws of the State of  

SEAL 

Signature of Secretary of Corporation 

NOTE: CURRENT COPIES OF ALL APPLICABLE LICENSES MUST BE 
DOWNLOADED TO THE PROCUREMENT WEBSITE. 

987779, Class A

10/31/2025

American Pipeline Services
PO Box 1931, Monrovia CA 91017

California

Richard Craig Secretary



LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS

The bidder is required to furnish the following information in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 4100 to 4114, inclusive, of the Public Contract Code of the State of 
California.

Subcontractors must be listed if they will provide work, labor or service in an amount in 
excess of one-half (1/2) of one percent (1%) of the total bid.

THAT PORTION OF THE WORK TO BE PERFORMED BY SUBCONTRACTORS 
SHALL, IN THE AGGREGATE, NOT EXCEED 40% OF ALL WORK PERFORMED, 
BASED UPON THE TOTAL DOLLAR VALUE OF THE WORK.

% of
Subcontractor License Main Office Address Total Value Description

No. & Type Dollar of Subcontract
Work











Richard Craig

President American Pipeline Services

Ave Q Recycled Water Main Project

22-605





P.O. Box 1931         Phone: (877) 358-8412 
Monrovia, California 91017      Fax: (866) 857-1883 

 

 

 
 
May 1, 2024 
 
 
 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  
2029 EAST AVENUE Q  
PALMDALE, CA 93550 
 
 
 
Material Source Letter  
 
 
This letter represents that American Pipeline Services will provide the items listed on the material 
source sheets submitted May 1, 2024. 
 
The reason APS submitted (2) sets of material source provider sheets was that the suppliers quotes, and 
certain line items were not timely or consistent at the time of bid submission. APS has clarified these 
errors and corrected the material source sheets to reflect the changes. 
 
 
 
 
Thank You 
 
 
 
Richard Craig, President 
American Pipeline Services 
 
 



INFORMATION REQUIRED OF BIDDER 
EQUIPMENT/MATERIAL SOURCE INFORMATION 

The bidder shall indicate opposite each item of equipment or material listed below, the name of the 
manufacturer or supplier of the equipment or material proposed to be furnished under the bid.  

Failure to comply with this requirement will render the proposal informal and may cause its rejection. 

Awarding of a contract under this bid will not imply approval by the Owner of the manufacturers or 
suppliers listed by the bidder. No substitution will be permitted after award of contract unless 
equipment or material of the listed manufacturer or supplier cannot meet the specifications.  

Specification 
No. 

Equipment/Material Manufacturer/Supplier 
Delivery 

Time 
(weeks) 

 

 

2-03 CMLC Steel Pipe Southland/Ferguson 2 Weeks

2-05 C900 PVC Pipe JM/Diamond/Ferguson 2 Weeks

3-01 Gate Valve CL150 Mueller/Clow/Ferguson In Stock

3-09 2" Meter Box Armorcast 3 Months

3-11 Reduced Pressure Detector Assembly Wilkins/Ferguson In Stock

4-19 Fire Hydrant Clow/Ferguson In Stock

4-21 Weld On Nozzle 1 MonthKoppl Tapping Service



INFORMATION REQUIRED OF BIDDER 
EQUIPMENT/MATERIAL SOURCE INFORMATION 

The bidder shall indicate opposite each item of equipment or material listed below, the name of the 
manufacturer or supplier of the equipment or material proposed to be furnished under the bid.  

Failure to comply with this requirement will render the proposal informal and may cause its rejection.  

Awarding of a contract under this bid will not imply approval by the Owner of the manufacturers or 
suppliers listed by the bidder. No substitution will be permitted after award of contract unless 
equipment or material of the listed manufacturer or supplier cannot meet the specifications.  

 

 
Specification 

No. 

 
Equipment/Material 

 
Manufacturer/Supplier 

Delivery 
Time 

(weeks) 
    

    

    

    

    

    

    

2-05 C900 PVC Pipe JM/Diamond/Ferguson 2 Weeks

3-01 Gate Valve CL150 Mueller/Clow/Ferguson In Stock

3-04 Butterfly Valve CL150 Mueller/Clow/Ferguson 8-12 Weeks

3-05 2" Combination Air and Vacuum Assembly ARI/Ferguson In Stock

3-05 4" Meter Vault J&R Concrete/Ferguson 3 Months

3-09 2" Meter Box Armorcast 3 Months

DWG Sheet 9 Bulk Water Dispensing Unit Johlin Measurement 12-16 Weeks



INFORMATION REQUIRED OF BIDDER 
EQUIPMENT/MATERIAL SOURCE INFORMATION 

The bidder shall indicate opposite each item of equipment or material listed below, the name of the 
manufacturer or supplier of the equipment or material proposed to be furnished under the bid.  

Failure to comply with this requirement will render the proposal informal and may cause its rejection.  

Awarding of a contract under this bid will not imply approval by the Owner of the manufacturers or 
suppliers listed by the bidder. No substitution will be permitted after award of contract unless 
equipment or material of the listed manufacturer or supplier cannot meet the specifications.  

 

 
Specification 

No. 

 
Equipment/Material 

 
Manufacturer/Supplier 

Delivery 
Time 

(weeks) 
    

    

    

    

    

    

    



LIST OF PROPOSED SUBSTITUTIONS 

The bidder may name a proposed substitute manufacturer and/or equipment/material 
with an add or deduct amount which will be considered after award. The Contract 
award, if any, will be on Base Bid amounts. 

Add
($)

_________

_________

_________

_________

_________ 

Deduct
($)

________

________

________

________

________

Spec Section

___________ 

___________ 

___________ 

___________ 

___________ 

Equipment/Manufacturer

 _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

________________________________

N/A



 

 
  

DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM:  Mr. Dennis Hoffmeyer, Finance Manager/CFO 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION NO. 24-
5 BEING A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A WIFIA MASTER 
AGREEMENT AND CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN 
ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. (FINANCE MANAGER HOFFMEYER) 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the Board adopt Resolution No. 24-5 being a Resolution of the Board of 
Directors of the Palmdale Water District Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of a WIFIA 
Master Agreement, and Certain Other Documents, and Authorizing Certain Actions in Connection 
Therewith. 
 
Alternative Options: 

The Board can choose not to adopt these Resolutions and instruct staff to seek alternative 
financing methods to pay for the capital projects it would like to complete. 
 
Impact of Taking No Action: 

The impact from no action would result in the District’s inability to enter into the WIFIA loans for 
financing the construction of the capital projects it intends to complete. 

Background: 

Currently the total Pure Water Antelope Valley (“AV”) capital, financing, and debt service reserve 
fund costs are estimated at $297 million (including construction contingency). The District is 
pursuing multiple financing sources for the Pure Water AV project, including cash, grants, bond 
financing, and loans through the Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (“WIFIA”) 
program.  
 
The District plans to enter into a WIFIA Master Agreement with the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency (“EPA”) to provide funding for up to 49% of the current estimates for the total 
project costs. Accordingly, the District staff are requesting authorization to enter into a WIFIA 
Master Agreement for up to $145,555,000. Entering into the WIFIA Master Agreement sets up a 
framework for future WIFIA loans but does not obligate the District to enter into any subsequent 
WIFIA loans.  

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.6 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Dennis D. LaMoreaux. General Manager    May 13, 2024 
 

Page 2 

Once the WIFIA Master Agreement is adopted, the District can enter into multiple WIFIA loans 
over the next five years under the WIFIA Master Agreement, so long as the combined total of the 
loans does not exceed the $145,555,000 maximum. Each WIFIA Loan under the WIFIA Master 
Agreement will have its own WIFIA Loan Agreement and will have its own interest rate, dates, 
and repayment structure set when the District enters into each respective WIFIA Loan. 
 
Following Board approval of the WIFIA Master Agreement, District staff will seek approval to 
enter into a 2024 WIFIA Loan to provide up to $14,805,000 in funding for the Pure Water AV 
Project (to be considered as a separate Board agenda item from this WIFIA Master Agreement). 
Staff also plan to enter into a second, larger WIFIA loan in 2026 to secure the remaining capacity 
under the WIFIA Master Agreement to fund the construction of the Advanced Water Purification 
Facility. 
 
Each loan under the WIFIA Master Agreement will comply with the terms and conditions outlined 
in the master (e.g., security, lien status, rate covenant, additional bonds test, etc.). The District 
has closed its senior lien which means all debt (with the exception of refunding senior debt) will 
be issued on a subordinate lien basis and debt service on all subordinate obligations will be paid 
after the senior lien debt service is paid. Similar to the District’s other outstanding debt, the WIFIA 
Master Agreement requires that the District maintain net revenues equal to 110% of debt service 
in any given year. Additionally, in order for the District to enter into future debt, the District must 
comply with the subordinate lien additional bonds test (which is the same as the additional bonds 
test on the 2024A Bonds). 
 
By adopting the attached Resolution, in combination, the District and Authority are taking the 
following steps: 
 

1. Approval of the WIFIA Master Agreement, wherein the District enters into a broad 
agreement with the EPA regarding the structure of all WIFIA Loans issued under the 
WIFIA Master Agreement. The WIFIA Master Agreement builds out the structure of 
all subsequent WIFIA Loans. 

2. Authorizing and directing the specified District staff to do any and all things and 
deliver any and all documents which they may deem necessary in order to carry out 
the terms of the resolutions. 

 
Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 1 – Water Resource Reliability and Strategic Initiative 
No. 4 – Financial Health and Stability. 

This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 
 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Dennis D. LaMoreaux. General Manager    May 13, 2024 
 

Page 3 

Supporting Documents: 

 Resolution No. 24-5 of the Palmdale Water District 
 WIFIA Master Agreement 

 



 

4888-7988-4733/022741-0015 

RESOLUTION NO. 24-5 
  

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A WIFIA MASTER 
AGREEMENT AND CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND 
AUTHORIZING CERTAIN ACTS IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH 
 

WHEREAS, the Palmdale Water District (the “District”), an irrigation district duly organized 
and existing under and pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of California, is a member of 
the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority (the “Authority”) and proposes to undertake 
the acquisition of certain improvements to the District’s water system (as more particularly described 
in the WIFIA Master Agreement referred to below, the “WIFIA Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it would be in the best interests of the District 
and citizens of the community to authorize the entry into one or more installment purchase agreements 
(each such installment purchase agreement a “WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement”) with the 
Authority and the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “WIFIA Lender”) to acquire 
the WIFIA Project; and 

WHEREAS, in order to fulfill its obligation to the District under the WIFIA Installment 
Purchase Agreements, the Authority proposes to obtain one or more loans under the authority of the 
Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (the “WIFIA Loans”) from the WIFIA Lender 
pursuant to a master agreement among the Authority, the WIFIA Lender and the District (the “WIFIA 
Master Agreement”), and one or more loan agreements (each a “WIFIA Loan Agreement”) among the 
Authority, the WIFIA Lender and the District pursuant to one or more term sheets (each a “WIFIA 
Term Sheet”); and 

WHEREAS, the terms of the initial WIFIA Loan (the “2024 WIFIA Loan“) are set forth in a 
term sheet (the “2024 WIFIA Term Sheet”) and a WIFIA Loan Agreement (the “2024 WIFIA Loan 
Agreement”), all of which were approved separately on the date hereof by this Board of Directors, in 
an amount not to exceed $14,805,000; and 

WHEREAS, this Board of Directors now desires to approve the WIFIA Master Agreement; 
and 

WHEREAS, the District has completed its environmental review for and approved the projects 
to be funded by the 2024 WIFIA Loan in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District does hereby 
resolve as follows: 

SECTION 1. The WIFIA Master Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A, is hereby accepted and approved, subject to such changes, insertions and omissions as may 
be approved by the President or Vice President of the Board, the General Manager or the designee 
thereof (each an “Authorized Officer” and together the “Authorized Officers”) who are hereby 
individually authorized and directed to execute and deliver the WIFIA Master Agreement, said 
execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Resolution and the 
WIFIA Master Agreement, the District is not a borrower with respect to the WIFIA Master Agreement, 
and the District has no obligation to make any payment or provision for payment under the WIFIA 



 

 

4888-7988-4733/022741-0015 

Master Agreement.  The WIFIA Master Agreement shall not constitute a contract between the District 
and the WIFIA Lender by which the District incurs an indebtedness.    

SECTION 3. Each Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to execute future WIFIA Loan 
Agreements, WIFIA Term Sheets and WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreements in accordance with 
the WIFIA Master Agreement (including any amendments or supplements to the WIFIA Master 
Agreement and documents and certifications necessary or advisable to effectuate WIFIA Loans under 
such agreements) so long as the total principal amount of all WIFIA Loans does not exceed 
$145,555,000. 

SECTION 4. The Authorized Officers, District general counsel and bond counsel and such 
other officers and staff of the District are authorized and directed, acting singly, to do any and all things 
and to execute, deliver and implement any and all documents which such officers may deem necessary 
or advisable in order to consummate the execution and delivery of the WIFIA Master Agreement, and 
otherwise effectuate the purposes of this Resolution and the WIFIA Master Agreement, and such 
actions in connection therewith previously taken by such officers and staff are hereby ratified and 
confirmed.   

SECTION 5. The Authorized Officers, District general counsel and bond counsel and such 
other officers and staff of the District are authorized and directed, acting singly, to do any and all things 
and to execute, deliver and implement any and all documents which such officers may deem necessary 
or advisable in order to consummate the execution and delivery of future WIFIA Loan Agreements, 
WIFIA Term Sheets, and WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreements and otherwise effectuate the 
purposes of this Resolution, and such actions in connection therewith previously taken by such officers 
and staff are hereby ratified and confirmed.   

SECTION 6. Unless otherwise defined herein, all terms used herein and not otherwise 
defined shall have the meanings given to such terms in the WIFIA Master Agreement, unless the 
context otherwise clearly requires. 

SECTION 7. This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 

ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District, 
this ___ day of May, 2024. 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

  
Kathy Mac Laren-Gomez, President 

ATTEST: 

       
Vincent Dino, Secretary 

.



 

 

4888-7988-4733/022741-0015 

EXHIBIT A 
 

2024 WIFIA MASTER AGREEMENT 
 
 

  



  Norton Rose Fulbright 
Draft of April 30, 2024 

 

UNITED STATES 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

WIFIA MASTER AGREEMENT 

With 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY and 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

For the 

PURE WATER ANTELOPE VALLEY MASTER PROGRAM 

Dated as of [__], 2024 

 



 

 i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION .............................................................. 2 

Section 1. Definitions.................................................................................................. 2  
Section 2. Interpretation ............................................................................................ 22  

ARTICLE II THE WIFIA LOAN................................................................................................ 23  

Section 3. WIFIA Loans Under the Master Program ............................................... 23 
Section 4. Disbursement Conditions ......................................................................... 24 
Section 5. Term ......................................................................................................... 25 
Section 6. Interest Rate ............................................................................................. 25  
Section 7. Security and Priority; Flow of Funds ....................................................... 26 
Section 8. Payment of Principal and Interest ............................................................ 27  
Section 9. Prepayment .............................................................................................. 31  
Section 10. Fees and Expenses ................................................................................... 32  

ARTICLE III CONDITIONS PRECEDENT .............................................................................. 34 

Section 11. Conditions Precedent ............................................................................... 34  

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .................................................... 41 

Section 12. Representations and Warranties of the Borrower .................................... 42 
Section 13. Representations and Warranties of the District ....................................... 46 
Section 14. Representations and Warranties of WIFIA Lender ................................. 51 

ARTICLE V COVENANTS........................................................................................................ 52  

Section 15. Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower .................................................. 52 
Section 16. Negative Covenants of the Borrower ....................................................... 54 
Section 17. Affirmative Covenants of the District ...................................................... 55 
Section 18. Negative Covenants of the District .......................................................... 61 
Section 19. Reporting Requirements of the Borrower ................................................ 64 
Section 20. Reporting Requirements of the District ................................................... 66 

ARTICLE VI EVENTS OF DEFAULT ...................................................................................... 71 

Section 21. Events of Default and Remedies .............................................................. 71 

ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................................ 76 

Section 22. Disclaimer of Warranty............................................................................ 76 
Section 23. No Personal Recourse .............................................................................. 76 
Section 24. No Third Party Rights .............................................................................. 76  
Section 25. Borrower’s Authorized Representative.................................................... 77 
Section 26. District’s Authorized Representative ....................................................... 77 
Section 27. WIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative ........................................... 77 
Section 28. Servicer .................................................................................................... 77 
Section 29. Amendments and Waivers ....................................................................... 77 
Section 30. Governing Law ........................................................................................ 78  
Section 31. Severability .............................................................................................. 78  



 

 ii 

Section 32. Successors and Assigns............................................................................ 78  
Section 33. Remedies Not Exclusive .......................................................................... 78 
Section 34. Delay or Omission Not Waiver................................................................ 78 
Section 35. Counterparts ............................................................................................. 78 
Section 36. Notices ..................................................................................................... 79 
Section 37. Indemnification ........................................................................................ 79 
Section 38. Sale of WIFIA Loan................................................................................. 80 
Section 39. Effectiveness ............................................................................................ 81 
Section 40. Survival .................................................................................................... 81  
Section 41. Integration ................................................................................................ 81 

 



 

 iii 

SCHEDULE I – Master Program 

SCHEDULE II – Master Program Budget 

SCHEDULE 7(d) – Flow of Funds 

SCHEDULE 12(f) – Litigation 

SCHEDULE 12(u) – Existing Water System Indebtedness 

EXHIBIT A – Form of WIFIA Note 

EXHIBIT B – Requisition Procedures 

EXHIBIT C – Form of Certification of Eligible Project Costs Documentation 

EXHIBIT D – Form of WIFIA Loan Request 

EXHIBIT E-1 – Form of Opinion of Borrower’s General Counsel 

EXHIBIT E-2 – Form of Opinion of Borrower’s Bond Counsel 

EXHIBIT E-3 – Form of Opinion of District’s General Counsel 

EXHIBIT E-4 – Form of Opinion of District’s Bond Counsel 

EXHIBIT F-1 – Form of Closing Certificate of Borrower 

EXHIBIT F-2 – Form of Closing Certificate of District 

EXHIBIT F-3 – Form of Project Closing Certificate of Borrower 

EXHIBIT F-4 – Form of Project Closing Certificate of District 

EXHIBIT G – Form of Certificate of Substantial Completion 

EXHIBIT H – Form of Construction Monitoring Report 

EXHIBIT I – Form of Public Benefits Report 

EXHIBIT J – Form of WIFIA Project Term Sheet 

EXHIBIT K – Form of WIFIA Loan Agreement 

EXHIBIT L – Form of WIFIA IPA 

 



 

 1 

WIFIA MASTER AGREEMENT 

THIS WIFIA MASTER AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of [__], 2024, is 
by and among PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY, a 
joint exercise of powers agency duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
California (the “State”), with an address at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale, California 93550 (the 
“Borrower”), PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, an irrigation district duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State, with an address at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale, California 
93550 (the “District”), and the UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY, an agency of the United States of America, acting by and through the Administrator 
of the Environmental Protection Agency (the “Administrator”), with an address at 1200 
Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20460 (the “WIFIA Lender”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Congress of the United States of America enacted the Water Infrastructure 
Finance and Innovation Act (“WIFIA”), § 5021 et seq. of Public Law 113-121 (as amended, and 
as may be further amended from time to time, the “Act”), which is codified as 33 U.S.C. §§ 3901-
3915; 

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the WIFIA Lender to enter into agreements to provide 
financial assistance with one or more eligible entities to make secured loans with appropriate 
security features to finance a portion of the eligible costs of projects eligible for assistance; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower was formed for the purpose of providing for the financing of 
public capital improvements for the District; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Application (as defined herein), the Borrower and the District 
have proposed the design/planning, development, completion and/or construction of multiple 
Projects (as defined herein) with respect to the Water System (as defined herein), and desire to 
obtain WIFIA financial assistance for each Project; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower and the WIFIA Lender are entering into this Agreement to set 
forth certain common terms and conditions applicable to each prospective WIFIA financing; 

WHEREAS, the District will request, from time to time, that the WIFIA Lender make a 
WIFIA Loan (as defined herein) to the Borrower to be used to pay a portion of the Eligible Project 
Costs (as defined herein) for each Project; 

WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in each WIFIA Loan 
Agreement (as defined herein) and the Act, the WIFIA Lender proposes to make funding available 
to the Borrower for a portion of the Eligible Project Costs of Projects through the purchase of a 
WIFIA Note (as defined herein) to be issued by the Borrower for each Project; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower will enter into a WIFIA IPA (as defined herein) with the District 
for each WIFIA Loan, pursuant to which (i) the Borrower will agree to purchase the relevant 
Project from the District in exchange for the provision of funds, in the amount of such WIFIA 
Loan, and (ii) the District will agree to purchase the relevant Project from the Borrower in 



 

 2 

exchange for the payment of WIFIA Installment Payments (as defined herein) by the District to 
the Borrower, such payments being secured by the Pledged Collateral (as defined herein); 

WHEREAS, the Borrower has agreed to pledge and assign to the WIFIA Lender and grant 
to the WIFIA Lender Liens for its benefit on (i) all of its right, title and interest to receive the 
Borrower Revenues (as defined herein), (ii) all of its rights to receive amounts from the District 
from the WIFIA Debt Service Account (as defined herein) and (iii) all of its rights and remedies 
to enforce each WIFIA IPA upon an event of default under such WIFIA IPA, in each case for the 
purpose of securing (y) the payment of all sums due and owing by the Borrower to the WIFIA 
Lender under the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and (z) the observance, performance and 
discharge of each agreement, condition, covenant and term of the Borrower and the District under 
this Agreement and the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and of the District under such WIFIA 
IPA; and 

WHEREAS, the WIFIA Lender has entered into this Agreement in reliance upon, among 
other things, the information and representations of the District set forth in the Application and the 
supporting information provided by the Borrower and the District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the premises being as stated above, and for good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged to be adequate, and intending 
to be legally bound hereby, it is hereby mutually agreed by and among the Borrower, the District 
and the WIFIA Lender as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

Section 1. Definitions.   

Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have 
the meanings set forth below in this Section 1 or as otherwise defined in this Agreement.  Any 
term used in this Agreement that is defined by reference to any other agreement shall continue to 
have the meaning specified in such agreement, whether or not such agreement remains in effect. 

“2018 Bonds” means the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority Water 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of June 1, 2018, 
by and between the District and the Trustee. 

“2018 IPA” the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2018, by and between 
the District and the Borrower. 

 “2020 Bonds” means the Palmdale Water District 2020 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(Federally Taxable) issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of November 1, 2020, by 
and between the District and the Trustee. 

 “2020 IPA” means the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2020, by and 
between the District and Western Alliance Business Trust. 



 

 3 

 “2020 ISA” means the Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of [__], 2020, by and between 
the District and the Borrower.1 

 “2021 Bonds” means the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority Water 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of July 1, 2021, 
by and between the District and the Trustee. 

 “2021 IPA” means the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2021, by 
and between the District and the Borrower. 

 “2021A IPA” means the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2021, by and 
between the District and the Borrower. 

 “2022 ISA” means the Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of October 10, 2022, by and 
between the District and the Municipal Finance Corporation. 

 “2023 Bonds” means the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority Water 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2023A issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of September 1, 
2021, by and between the District and the Trustee. 

 “2023 IPA” the Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2023, by and 
between the District and the Borrower. 

“Act” means the Act as defined in the recitals hereto. 

“Acquisition Fund” means an acquisition fund established and maintained by the District, 
as agent of the Borrower, pursuant to each WIFIA IPA. 

“Additional Construction Contract” means, with respect to each Project, each 
Construction Contract entered into after the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date. 

“Additional Obligations” means Additional Parity Obligations and Additional Senior 
Obligations. 

“Additional Parity Obligations” means any Parity Obligations permitted under Section 
18(b) (Negative Covenants of the District – Additional Parity Obligations), which Parity 
Obligations are issued or incurred on or after the Effective Date.  

“Additional Senior Obligations” means any Senior Obligations permitted under Section 
18(a) (Negative Covenants of the District – Indebtedness), which Senior Obligations are issued or 
incurred on or after the Effective Date; provided that the only permitted Additional Senior 
Obligations are Refunding Senior Obligations.  

“Administrator” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

 
1 Note to Borrower: Page 72 of the 2023 OS indicates there is a 2020 ISA. Could you please provide a copy? 



 

 4 

“Aggregate Master Program Amount” means one hundred forty-five million seven 
hundred eighty thousand Dollars ($145,780,000). 

“Agreement” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Application” means the Borrower’s application for WIFIA financial assistance received 
by the WIFIA Lender on October 18, 2023. 

“Bankruptcy Related Event” means, with respect to either the Borrower or the District, 
(a) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking 
(i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of either the Borrower or the District or any 
of its debts, or of a substantial part of the assets thereof, under any Insolvency Laws, or (ii) the 
appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar 
official for either the Borrower or the District or for a substantial part of the assets thereof and, in 
any case referred to in the foregoing subclauses (i) and (ii), such proceeding or petition shall 
continue undismissed for sixty (60) days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the 
foregoing shall be entered; (b) either the Borrower or the District (other than with respect to clause 
(iii) below, which applies to the Borrower only) shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment 
of a receiver, trustee, liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official therefor or 
for a substantial part of the assets thereof, (ii) generally not be paying its debts as they become due 
unless such debts are the subject of a bona fide dispute, or become unable to pay its debts generally 
as they become due, (iii) fail to make a payment of WIFIA Debt Service in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 8 (Payment of Principal and Interest) and such failure is not cured within 
thirty (30) days following notification by the WIFIA Lender of failure to make such payment, (iv) 
make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (v) consent to the institution of, or fail to 
contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or petition with respect to it described 
in clause (a) of this definition, (vi) commence a voluntary proceeding under any Insolvency Law, 
or file a voluntary petition seeking liquidation, reorganization, an arrangement with creditors or an 
order for relief, in each case under any Insolvency Law, (vii) file an answer admitting the material 
allegations of a petition filed against it in any proceeding referred to in the foregoing subclauses 
(i) through (v), inclusive, of this clause (b), or (viii) take any action for the purpose of effecting 
any of the foregoing; (c) (i) any Person shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a 
substantial part of the Pledged Collateral or Borrower Revenues may be sold or otherwise disposed 
of in a public or private sale or disposition pursuant to a foreclosure of the Liens thereon securing 
the Obligations, or (ii) any Person shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a substantial 
part of the Pledged Collateral or Borrower Revenues may be sold or otherwise disposed of pursuant 
to a sale or disposition of such Pledged Collateral or Borrower Revenues in lieu of foreclosure; or 
(d) any receiver, trustee, liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official shall 
transfer, pursuant to directions issued by the holders of Obligations, funds on deposit in any of the 
Water System (including the Master Program) funds or accounts upon the occurrence and during 
the continuation of an Event of Default under this Agreement or an event of default under any 
Obligation Document for application to the prepayment or repayment of any principal amount of 
the Obligations other than in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

“Base Case Financial Model” means the financial model, prepared by the District and 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender as part of the Application, forecasting the capital costs of the Water 
System (including the Master Program) and the estimated debt service coverage, rates, revenues, 



 

 5 

operating expenses and major maintenance requirements of the Water System for the Forecast 
Period, and based upon assumptions and methodology provided by the District and acceptable to 
the WIFIA Lender as of the Effective Date, which model shall be provided to the WIFIA Lender 
as a fully functional Microsoft Excel-based financial model or such other format requested by the 
WIFIA Lender. 

“Board of Directors” means the governing board of the Borrower or District (as 
applicable). 

“Bonds” means all revenue bonds or notes of the District authorized, executed, issued and 
delivered by the District, the payments of which are on a senior or parity basis with the WIFIA 
Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge of and lien on the Water Revenues, 
including but not limited to, the Senior Bonds.  As used herein, the term “Bonds” does not include 
bonds heretofore or hereafter issued that are required by law to be paid by the District from taxes 
or assessments that are excluded from Water Revenues.   

“Borrower” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Borrower Closing Certificate” has the meaning provided in Section 11(a)(vi) 
(Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Agreement). 

“Borrower Event of Default” has the meaning provided in Section 21(a) (Events of 
Default). 

“Borrower Financial Statements” means the audited income statement and balance sheet 
of the Borrower as of the end of the Borrower Fiscal Year and the related audited statements of 
operations and of cash flow of the Borrower for such Borrower Fiscal Year; provided that, so long 
as the Borrower is a component unit of the District, all references to “Borrower Financial 
Statements” shall be deemed to refer to “District Financial Statements.” 

“Borrower Fiscal Year” means (a) as of the Effective Date, a fiscal year of the Borrower 
commencing on January 1 of any calendar year and ending on December 31 of the immediately 
succeeding calendar year or (b) such other fiscal year as the Borrower may hereafter adopt after 
giving thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Section 16(c) 
(Negative Covenants of the Borrower – Borrower Fiscal Year). 

“Borrower Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the Borrower 
Revenues, (b) the business, operations, properties, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects 
of the Borrower with respect to the Water System, (c) the legality, validity or enforceability of any 
material provision of any WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party, (d) the ability 
of the Borrower to enter into, perform or comply with any of its material obligations under any 
WIFIA Loan Document to which it is a party, (e) the validity, enforceability or priority of the Liens 
provided under the WIFIA Loan Documents on the Borrower Revenues or (f) the WIFIA Lender’s 
rights or remedies available under any WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party. 

“Borrower Payment Default” has the meaning provided in Section 21(a)(i) (Events of 
Default and Remedies – Borrower Payment Default). 



 

 6 

“Borrower Project Closing Certificate” has the meaning provided in Section 11(b)(vii) 
(Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement). 

“Borrower Revenues” means (a) the WIFIA Installment Payments received by the 
Borrower pursuant to or with respect to a WIFIA IPA and (b) all interest or gain derived from the 
investment of amounts in any of the funds or accounts established under any WIFIA IPA or this 
Agreement. 

“Borrower’s Authorized Representative” means any Person who shall be designated as 
such pursuant to Section 25 (Borrower’s Authorized Representative). 

“Budgeted Transfers” means, for any District Fiscal Year, lawfully available amounts, 
including in the Rate Stabilization Fund, as of the last day of such District Fiscal Year, in each 
case, (a) which may be lawfully used to pay the WIFIA Installment Payments and (b) that have 
been transferred to the Water Revenue Fund, pursuant to a budget process where such amounts 
have been budgeted and approved by the Board of Directors of the District (and which removal 
from the Water Revenue Fund would require a separate budget and approval process by the Board 
of Directors of the District prior to any such removal), for application solely to the Water System. 

“Burns-Porter Assessments” means those assessments levied for the benefit of the 
District in connection with the State Water Supply Contract and pursuant to the Burns-Porter Act 
of 1959, also known as the California Water Resources Development Bond Act. 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which offices 
of the Government or the State are authorized to be closed or on which commercial banks are 
authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to be closed in New York, New York 
or Palmdale, California. 

“Capitalized Interest Period” means, with respect to each applicable WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the period from (and including) the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date 
to (but excluding) the date that is six (6) months prior to the applicable Debt Service Payment 
Commencement Date, subject to earlier termination as set forth in Section 8(b) (Payment of 
Principal and Interest – Capitalized Interest). 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or any successor tax code, as amended 
from time to time, and the applicable regulations proposed or promulgated thereunder. 

“Congress” means the Congress of the United States of America. 

“Construction Contract” means, with respect to any Project, any prime contract entered 
into by the District with respect to such Project that involves any construction activity (such as 
demolition, site preparation, civil works construction, installation, remediation, refurbishment, 
rehabilitation, or removal and replacement services).  For the avoidance of doubt, “Construction 
Contract” shall include each Existing Construction Contract for the relevant Project and, upon the 
effectiveness thereof, each Additional Construction Contract for such Project. 

“Construction Contractor” means any Person (other than the Borrower or the District) 
party to a Construction Contract. 



 

 7 

“Construction Monitoring Report” means, with respect to each Project, a report on the 
status of such Project, substantially in the form of Exhibit H (Form of Construction Monitoring 
Report), unless otherwise agreed to be in a different form by the WIFIA Lender. 

“Construction Period” means, with respect to each WIFIA Loan Agreement, the period 
from the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date through the applicable Substantial 
Completion Date. 

“Construction Period Servicing Fee” has the meaning provided in Section 10(a)(ii) (Fees 
and Expenses – Fees) and, for each WIFIA Loan, shall be in the amount specified in Section 10(b) 
(Fees and Expenses) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement and paid in accordance with 
Section 10(a)(ii) and Section 10(c) (Fees and Expenses) hereof. 

“Construction Schedule” has, for each applicable Project, the meaning provided in 
Section 1 (Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Contracts” means each WIFIA IPA and any amendments and supplements thereto, and 
all contracts of the District authorized and executed by the District, the installment payments or 
the payments under which are on a senior or parity basis with the WIFIA Installment Payments 
and which are secured by a pledge and lien on the Water Revenues, including but not limited to, 
the Installment Purchase Agreements.  As used herein, the term “Contracts” does not include the 
contracts with the State of California for the State Water Project, including the State Water Supply 
Contract.   

“CPI” means the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for the U.S. 
City Average for All Items, 1982-84=100 (not seasonally adjusted) or its successor, published by 
the Bureau of Labor Statistics and located at https://www.bls.gov/news.release/cpi.t01.htm. 

“Debt Service” means, for any period of calculation: 

(a) the interest required to be paid during such period on all outstanding Bonds, 
assuming that all outstanding serial Bonds are retired as scheduled and that all outstanding term 
Bonds are redeemed or paid from sinking fund payments as scheduled (except to the extent that 
such interest is capitalized or is reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the 
United States of America pursuant to Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of 
Division B of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 
115 (2009), enacted February 17, 2009)), or any future similar program); 

(b) those portion of the principal amount of all outstanding serial Bonds required to be 
paid in such period, but excluding Excluded Principal; 

(c) those portion of the principal amounts of all outstanding term Bonds required to be 
paid in such period, but excluding Excluded Principal; and 

(d) those portions of the Contracts that are required to be paid during such period, 
except to the extent the interest that is evidenced and represented thereby is capitalized or is 
reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United States of America pursuant 
to Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the American Recovery and 



 

 8 

Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted February 17, 2009)), 
or any future similar program and excluding Excluded Principal); 

but less the earnings to be derived from the investment of moneys on deposit in debt service reserve 
funds established for Bonds or Contracts; 

provided that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts bearing or comprising interest at other than a 
fixed rate, the rate of interest used to calculate Debt Service shall, for all purposes, be assumed to 
be a fixed rate equal to the higher of: (i) the then-current variable interest rate borne by such Bonds 
or Contracts plus one percent (1%), and (ii) the highest variable rate borne over the preceding three 
(3) months by outstanding variable rate debt issued by the District or, if no such variable rate debt 
is at the time outstanding, by variable rate debt of which the interest rate is computed by reference 
to an index that is comparable to that to be utilized in determining the interest rate for the debt then 
proposed to be issued;  

provided, further, that, if any series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts have twenty-five percent 
(25%) or more of the aggregate principal amount of such series or issue due in any one year (and 
such principal is not Excluded Principal), then Debt Service shall be determined for the period of 
determination as if the principal of and interest on such series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts 
were being paid from the date of incurrence thereof in substantially equal annual amounts over a 
period of twenty-five (25) years from the date of calculation; and 

provided, further, that as to any such Bonds or Contracts or portions thereof which bear no interest 
but which are sold at a discount and which discount accretes with respect to such Bonds or 
Contracts or portions thereof, such accreted discount shall be treated as interest in the calculation 
of Debt Service; and 

provided, further, that the amount on deposit in a debt service reserve fund on any date of 
calculation of Debt Service shall be deducted from the amount of principal due at the final maturity 
of the Bonds and Contracts for which such debt service reserve fund is in excess of such amount 
of principal, such excess shall be applied to the full amount of principal due, in each preceding 
year, in descending order, until such amount is exhausted. 

“Debt Service Payment Commencement Date” has, for each WIFIA Loan, the meaning 
provided in Section 1 (Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Default” means any event or condition that, with the giving of any notice, the passage of 
time, or both, would be an Event of Default. 

“Default Rate” means, with respect to each WIFIA Loan, an interest rate equal to the lesser 
of (a) the sum of (i) the applicable WIFIA Interest Rate plus (ii) two hundred (200) basis points 
and (b) the maximum interest rate permitted by law.  

“Development Default” has, for each applicable Project, the meaning provided in Section 
1 (Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“District” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 



 

 9 

“District Closing Certificate” has the meaning provided in Section 11(a)(vii) (Conditions 
Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Agreement). 

“District Event of Default” has the meaning provided in Section 21(b) (Events of Default 
and Remedies). 

“District Financial Statements” means the audited income statement and balance sheet 
of the District as of the end of the District Fiscal Year and the related audited statements of 
operations and of cash flow of the District for such District Fiscal Year. 

“District Fiscal Year” means (a) as of the Effective Date, a fiscal year of the District 
commencing on January 1 of any calendar year and ending on December 31 of the immediately 
succeeding calendar year or (b) such other fiscal year as the District may hereafter adopt after 
giving thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Section 18(e) 
(Negative Covenants of the District – District Fiscal Year). 

“District Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the Water 
System (including the Master Program), the Projects or the Pledged Collateral, (b) the business, 
operations, properties, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the District with respect 
to the Water System, (c) the legality, validity or enforceability of any material provision of any 
WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party, (d) the ability of the District to enter into, 
perform or comply with any of its material obligations under any WIFIA Loan Document to which 
it is a party, (e) the validity, enforceability or priority of the Liens provided under the WIFIA Loan 
Documents on the Pledged Collateral or (f) the WIFIA Lender’s rights or remedies available under 
any WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party. 

“District Payment Default” has the meaning provided in Section 21(b)(i) (Events of 
Default and Remedies – District Payment Default). 

“District Project Closing Certificate” has the meaning provided in Section 11(b)(viii) 
(Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement). 

“District’s Authorized Representative” means any Person who shall be designated as 
such pursuant to Section 26 (District’s Authorized Representative). 

“Dollars” and “$” means the lawful currency of the United States of America. 

“Effective Date” means the date of this Agreement. 

“Eligible Project Costs” means, with respect to each Project, amounts in the Project 
Budget relating to such Project that have been approved by the WIFIA Lender and which are paid 
by or for the account of the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA 
IPA, in connection with such Project (including, as applicable, Project expenditures incurred prior 
to the receipt of WIFIA credit assistance, or the repayment of amounts borrowed to make such 
expenditures prior to the receipt of WIFIA credit assistance), which shall arise from the following: 



 

 10 

(a) development-phase activities, including planning, feasibility analysis (including 
any related analysis necessary to carry out an eligible project), revenue forecasting, environmental 
review, permitting, preliminary engineering and design work and other preconstruction activities; 

(b) construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, and replacement activities; 

(c) the acquisition of real property or an interest in real property (including water 
rights, land relating to such Project and improvements to land), environmental mitigation 
(including acquisitions pursuant to Section 3905(8) of Title 33 of the United States Code), 
construction contingencies, and acquisition of equipment; or 

(d) capitalized interest (with respect to Obligations other than the WIFIA Loans) 
necessary to meet market requirements, reasonably required reserve funds, capital issuance 
expenses, and other carrying costs during construction; 

provided that Eligible Project Costs must be consistent with all other applicable federal law, 
including the Act. 

“Eligible Project Costs Documentation” means, with respect to each Project, all 
supporting documentation with respect to the Eligible Project Costs for such Project, including 
copies of invoices and records evidencing incurred or previously paid Eligible Project Costs for 
such Project, which documentation should contain sufficient detail satisfactory to the WIFIA 
Lender (e.g. if the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA IPA, intends 
to utilize WIFIA Loan proceeds to make construction progress payments for Eligible Project Costs 
for such Project, the documentation should demonstrate that such progress payments are 
commensurate with the cost of the work that has been completed). 

“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system as described in 1934 Act 
Release No. 59062 and maintained by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established 
pursuant to Section 15B(b)1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and its 
successors. 

“Environmental Laws” has the meaning provided in Section 13(j)(iii) (Representations 
and Warranties of the District – Compliance with Laws). 

“EPA” means the United States Environmental Protection Agency. 

“Event of Default” means any District Event of Default or any Borrower Event of Default. 

“Excluded Principal” means each payment of principal of any Bond or Contract for which 
there is on file with the WIFIA Lender (a) a certificate of an Independent Municipal Consultant to 
the effect that such Bond or Contract is commercial paper or otherwise of a short term or revolving 
nature and has a maturity of less than sixty (60) months and (b) a certificate of the Manager to the 
effect that the District intends to pay such principal from the proceeds of the Bonds or Contracts, 
Parity Obligations or other bonds, notes or other obligations of the District.  No such determination 
shall affect the security for such Bonds or Contracts or the obligation of the District to pay such 
Bonds or Contracts from Net Water Revenues. 



 

 11 

“Existing Construction Contract” means, with respect to any Project, each Construction 
Contract of the District existing as of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, as 
set forth in Schedule 13(m) (Existing Construction Contracts) to the applicable WIFIA Loan 
Agreement. 

“Federal Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Government, which is the twelve (12) 
month period that ends on September 30 of the specified calendar year and begins on October 1 of 
the preceding calendar year. 

“Final Disbursement Date” means, with respect to each WIFIA Loan, the earliest of (a) 
the date on which such WIFIA Loan has been disbursed in full; (b) the last anticipated date of 
disbursement set forth in the then-current WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule for such WIFIA 
Loan; (c) the date on which the Borrower has certified to the WIFIA Lender that it will not request 
any further disbursements under such WIFIA Loan; (d) the date on which the WIFIA Lender 
terminates its obligations relating to disbursements of any undisbursed amounts of such WIFIA 
Loan in accordance with Section 21 (Events of Default and Remedies); and (e) the date that is one 
(1) year after the Substantial Completion Date of the Project relating to such WIFIA Loan. 

“Final Maturity Date” has, for each WIFIA Loan, the meaning provided in Section 1 
(Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Flow of Funds” means the requirements specified in Section 5.2 (Allocation of Water 
Revenues) of each WIFIA IPA, a copy of such section, as of the Effective Date, is attached hereto 
as Schedule 7(d) (Flow of Funds) (all capitalized terms used in Schedule 7(d) shall have the 
meanings provided in such WIFIA IPA). 

“Flow of Funds Following Acceleration” means the requirements specified in Section 8.2 
(Application of Funds Upon Acceleration) of each WIFIA IPA. 

“Forecast Period” means, as of any date, the time period from and including the then-
current District Fiscal Year until the later ending date of either (a) the four (4) immediately 
succeeding District Fiscal Years or (b) the end of the District Fiscal Year in which the District’s 
then-currently effective capital improvement plan for the Water System concludes. 

“GAAP” means the uniform accounting and reporting procedures set forth in publications 
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants or its successor, or of any other generally 
accepted authority on such procedures, and includes, as applicable, the standards set forth by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board or its successor. 

“Manager” means the general manager of the District, or any other person that is 
designated by the general manager to act on behalf of the general manager. 

“Government” means the United States of America and its departments and agencies. 

“Governmental Approvals” means all authorizations, consents, approvals, waivers, 
exceptions, variances, filings, permits, orders, licenses, exemptions and declarations of or with any 
Governmental Authority. 



 

 12 

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, provincial, county, city, town, 
village, municipal or other government or governmental department, commission, council, court, 
board, bureau, agency, authority or instrumentality (whether executive, legislative, judicial, 
administrative or regulatory), of or within the United States of America or its territories or 
possessions, including the State and its counties and municipalities, and their respective courts, 
agencies, instrumentalities and regulatory bodies, or any entity that acts “on behalf of” any of the 
foregoing, whether as an agency or authority of such body. 

“Indemnitee” has the meaning provided in Section 37 (Indemnification). 

“Independent Certified Public Accountant” means any firm of certified public 
accountants appointed by the District, and each of whom is independent pursuant to the Statement 
on Auditing Standards No. 1 of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  

“Independent Municipal Consultant” means a municipal advisor or firm of such advisors 
appointed by the District, and who, or each of whom: (a) is in fact independent and not under 
domination of the District; (b) does not have any substantial interest, direct or indirect, with the 
District; (c) is not connected with the District as an officer or employee thereof, but who may be 
regularly retained to make reports thereto; and (d) is registered as a “municipal advisor”, as defined 
in Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

“Insolvency Laws” means the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., as 
from time to time amended and in effect, and any state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, 
conservatorship or similar law now or hereafter in effect. 

“Installment Payment Date” means the tenth (10th) Business Day prior to each Interest 
Payment Date occurring on or after the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date. 

“Interest Only Period” has, for each WIFIA Loan where applicable, the meaning provided 
in Section 1 (Definitions) of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Interest Payment Date” has, for each WIFIA Loan, the meaning provided in Section 1 
(Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Interim Financing” means interim bond anticipation notes, commercial paper or other 
short-term temporary financing, in each case with a maturity occurring on or before the Projected 
Substantial Completion Date under the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement in effect on the date 
on which such short-term temporary financing is issued or incurred. 

“Investment Grade Rating” means a public rating no lower than ‘BBB-’, ‘Baa3’, ‘bbb ‘, 
‘BBB (low)’, or higher, from a Nationally Recognized Rating Agency. 

“Investment Policy” means that certain Resolution No. 23-14 of the District, adopted 
October 23, 2023, as may be amended by the District from time to time. 

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, mandatory deposit 
arrangement, encumbrance, attachment, lien (statutory or other), charge or other security interest, 
or preference, priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature 



 

 13 

whatsoever, including any sale-leaseback arrangement, any conditional sale or other title retention 
agreement, any financing lease having substantially the same effect as any of the foregoing, and 
the filing of any financing statement or similar instrument under the UCC or any other applicable 
law. 

“Master Availability Period” means the period from the Effective Date until the date that 
is five (5) years following the Effective Date. 

“Master Program” means the District’s anticipated improvements to the Water System 
through the design and planning, development, completion and/or construction of each Project 
component as set forth on Schedule I (Master Program), as may be amended from time to time 
with approval of the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion. 

“Master Program Budget” means the total estimated aggregate budget for the Project 
components attached to this Agreement as Schedule II (Master Program Budget), as updated from 
time to time to reflect updated Project Budgets as provided in Section 11(b)(vi) (Conditions 
Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement), or as 
otherwise amended from time to time with approval of the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion. 

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the Water System 
(including the Master Program), the Projects, the Pledged Collateral or the Borrower Revenues, 
(b) the business, operations, properties, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of either (i) 
the Borrower or (ii) the District with respect to the Water System, (c) the legality, validity or 
enforceability of any material provision of any WIFIA Loan Document, (d) the ability of either 
the Borrower or the District to enter into, perform or comply with any of its material obligations 
under any WIFIA Loan Document to which it is a party, (e) the validity, enforceability or priority 
of the Liens provided under the WIFIA Loan Documents on the Pledged Collateral or the Borrower 
Revenues or (f) the WIFIA Lender’s rights or remedies available under any WIFIA Loan 
Document. 

“Nationally Recognized Rating Agency” means any nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization identified as such by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“NEPA” means the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, as amended, and any 
successor statute of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time 
to time. 

“NEPA Determination” means, with respect to each Project, the final NEPA decision 
issued for such Project by EPA in accordance with NEPA. 

“Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award, 
the gross proceeds from such insurance or condemnation award, paid with respect to the Water 
System, remaining after payment therefrom of all expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred in 
the collection of such gross proceeds. 

“Net Water Revenues” means, for any District Fiscal Year, the Water Revenues for such 
District Fiscal Year less the Operation and Maintenance Costs for such District Fiscal Year. 



 

 14 

“Obligation Document” means any indenture, installment purchase agreement, bond, 
credit agreement, note, reimbursement agreement, letter of credit, guarantee or any other 
agreement, contract, instrument or document pursuant to which any Obligation is incurred by the 
District. 

“Obligations” means, collectively, the Senior Obligations and the Parity Obligations. 

“Operating Period Servicing Fee” has the meaning provided in Section 10(a)(iii) (Fees 
and Expenses – Fees) and, for each WIFIA Loan, shall be in the amount specified in Section 10(c) 
(Fees and Expenses) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement and paid in accordance with 
Section 10(a)(iii) and Section 10(c) (Fees and Expenses) hereof. 

“Operation and Maintenance Costs” means the reasonable and necessary costs paid or 
incurred by the District for maintenance and operation of the Water System, determined in 
accordance with GAAP, including any water purchase costs (exclusive of any recovered amount 
from the State of California’s Department of Water Resources in accordance with the State Water 
Supply Contract) and all reasonable expenses of management and repair and other expenses 
necessary to maintain and preserve the Water System in good repair and working order, and 
including all administrative costs of the District that are charged directly or apportioned to the 
maintenance and operation of the Water System, such as salaries and wages of employees, 
overhead, insurance, taxes (if any) and insurance premiums, and including all other reasonable and 
necessary costs of the District or charges required to be paid by it to comply with the terms of each 
WIFIA IPA and other Bonds and Contracts, such as compensation, reimbursement and 
indemnification of the trustee with respect to any Bonds and Contracts; excluding in all cases 
depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor and amortization of 
intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, all capital charges, and any contract 
payments due under the State Water Supply Contract paid from the proceeds of any Burns-Porter 
Assessments. 

[“Organizational Documents” means (a) with respect to the District, the Division 11 of 
the Water Code of the State of California, including, but not limited to Sections 22228 through 
22231, 22425 and 22426, as amended and supplemented from time to time, and (b) with respect 
to the Borrower, (i) the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement creating the Borrower, dated April 
10, 2013, as authorized under the provisions of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the 
Government Code of the State, and (ii) the Bylaws of the Borrower, dated as of April 10, 2013.]2 

“Outstanding” means, with respect to Obligations, Obligations that have not been 
cancelled or legally defeased or discharged. 

“Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance” means, with respect to each WIFIA Loan, (a) the 
aggregate principal amount of such WIFIA Loan drawn by the Borrower plus (b) any capitalized 
interest added to the principal balance of such WIFIA Loan minus (c) the aggregate principal 
amount of such WIFIA Loan repaid by the Borrower, as determined in accordance with Section 
8(f) (Payment of Principal and Interest – Adjustments to WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule). 

 
2 Note to Borrower: Please review and confirm this is a comprehensive list of the organizational documents of the 
Borrower and the District. 



 

 15 

“Parity Obligations” means the WIFIA Installment Payments and all other obligations of 
the District that (a) are secured by a pledge of and lien on the Pledged Collateral and rank pari 
passu in right of payment and right of security with the WIFIA Installment Payments, including 
any Additional Parity Obligations, and (b) constitute “Bonds” or “Contracts” under each WIFIA 
IPA[, including [to insert any existing parity obligations]].3  

“Patriot Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate 
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, as amended, and all regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 

“Payment Date” means each Interest Payment Date and each Principal Payment Date. 

“Payment Default” means any Borrower Payment Default or any District Payment 
Default. 

“Permitted Investment” means any investment permitted by both State law and the 
Investment Policy. 

“Permitted Liens” means: 

(a) Liens imposed pursuant to the WIFIA Loan Documents and the other 
Obligation Documents; 

(b) Liens imposed by law, including Liens for taxes that are not yet due or are 
being contested in compliance with Section 15(g) (Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower 
– Material Obligations; Payment of Claims) and Section 17(k) (Affirmative Covenants of 
the District – Material Obligations; Payment of Claims); 

(c) carriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen’s, repairmen’s and 
other like Liens imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing 
obligations that are not overdue by more than thirty (30) days or are being contested in 
compliance with Section 15(g) (Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower – Material 
Obligations; Payment of Claims) and Section 17(k) (Affirmative Covenants of the District 
– Material Obligations; Payment of Claims); 

(d) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance 
with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, and other social security laws or 
regulations; 

(e) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory 
obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like 
nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business; 

(f) judgment Liens in respect of judgments that do not constitute an Event of 
Default under Section 21(a)(iv) (Events of Default and Remedies – Borrower Material 

 
3 Note to Borrower: Please advise whether the 2024 Matching Bonds will be issued prior to, concurrently with, or 
after execution of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 



 

 16 

Adverse Judgment) or Section 21(b)(vi) (Events of Default and Remedies – District 
Material Adverse Judgment); and 

(g) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way and similar encumbrances on 
real property imposed by law or arising in the ordinary course of business that, in any case, 
do not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially detract from the value of the 
affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of either the Borrower 
or the District. 

“Person” means and includes an individual, a general or limited partnership, a joint 
venture, a corporation, a limited liability company, a trust, an unincorporated organization and any 
Governmental Authority. 

“Pledged Collateral” has the meaning provided in Section 7(a) (Security and Priority; 
Flow of Funds). 

“Policy Costs” means the annual amount due with respect to any policy or surety bond, 
including the Reserve Policy, in lieu of depositing cash in the WIFIA Reserve Fund or any reserve 
fund established for any Bonds or Contracts. 

“Principal Payment Date” has, for each WIFIA Loan, the meaning provided in Section 1 
(Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Project” has, for each WIFIA Loan Agreement, the meaning provided in Section 1 
(Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Project Budget” has, for each Project, the meaning provided in Section 1 (Definitions) 
of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Project Term Sheet” means a term sheet substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit J (Form of WIFIA Project Term Sheet) entered into by the Borrower and the WIFIA 
Lender in respect of each WIFIA Loan. 

“Projected Substantial Completion Date” has, for each WIFIA Loan, the meaning 
provided in Section 1 (Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Public Benefits Report” has the meaning provided in Section 20(d) (Reporting 
Requirements of the District – Public Benefits Report). 

“Rate Covenant” has the meaning provided in Section 17(a)(i) (Affirmative Covenants of 
the District – Rate Covenant). 

“Rate Stabilization Fund” means the rate stabilization fund maintained by the District in 
accordance with each WIFIA IPA. 

“Refunding Senior Obligations” means Additional Senior Obligations issued for the 
purpose of refunding any Outstanding Senior Obligations; provided that the issuance of such 
Refunding Senior Obligations shall not result in (a) an extension of the final maturity date of the 



 

 17 

Senior Obligations to be refunded or (b) an increase in annual Debt Service in any year by more 
than five percent (5%). 

“Related Documents” means the WIFIA Loan Documents and each other Obligation 
Document. 

“Requisition” has the meaning provided in Section 4(a) (Disbursement Conditions). 

“Reserve Insurer” means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., a New York stock 
insurance company, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof. 

“Reserve Policy” means the municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy issued 
by the Reserve Insurer and deposited in the WIFIA Reserve Fund to satisfy the Reserve 
Requirement (as defined in the WIFIA IPAs). 

“Sanctions Laws” means, collectively, any applicable anti-drug trafficking, anti-terrorism, 
anti-money laundering, anti-bribery, or anti-corruption laws or regulations, as applicable, 
including those contained in the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970 (as amended) and the U.S. Patriot Act. 

“Senior Bonds” means, collectively, the 2018 Bonds, 2020 Bonds, 2021 Bonds, and 2023 
Bonds.4 

“Senior IPAs” means, collectively, the 2018 IPA, 2020 IPA, 2021 IPA, 2021A IPA and 
2023 IPA.5 

“Senior ISAs” means, collectively, the 2020 ISA and 2022 ISA.6 

“Senior Obligations” means all obligations of the District that (a) are secured by a pledge 
of and lien on the Pledged Collateral and rank senior in right of payment and right of security to 
the WIFIA Installment Payments and any other Parity Obligations, and (b) constitute “Bonds” or 
“Contracts” under each WIFIA IPA, which includes each of the Senior Bonds, Senior IPAs, and 
Senior ISAs.  

“Senior Project Obligations” means any Senior Obligations or any other obligations on 
parity with the Senior Obligations, in each case all or a portion of the proceeds of which are or will 
be applied at any time to fund all or any portion of Total Project Costs with respect to any Project. 

“Servicer” means such entity or entities as the WIFIA Lender shall designate from time to 
time to perform, or assist the WIFIA Lender in performing, certain duties hereunder. 

“Servicing Fee” means any Servicing Set-Up Fee, Construction Period Servicing Fee or 
Operating Period Servicing Fee. 

“Servicing Set-Up Fee” has the meaning provided in Section 10(a)(i) (Fees and Expenses 
– Fees) and, for each WIFIA Loan, shall be in the amount provided in Section 10(a) (Fees and 

 
4 Note to Borrower: Please review and advise whether this is a comprehensive list of outstanding senior bonds. 
5 Note to Borrower: Please review and advise whether this is a comprehensive list of outstanding senior IPAs. 
6 Note to Borrower: Please review and advise whether this is a comprehensive list of outstanding senior ISAs. 



 

 18 

Expenses – Fees) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement and paid in accordance with Section 
10(a)(i) and Section 10(c) (Fees and Expenses – Fees) hereof. 

“State” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“State Water Project” a project owned by the State and operated by the California 
Department of Water Resources. The State Water Project transports Feather River water stored in 
and released from Oroville Dam and unregulated flows diverted directly from the Bay-Delta south 
via the California Aqueduct to delivery points near the boundaries of the District’s service area.  

“State Water Supply Contract” means that certain contract between the State and the 
District by which the District obtains water from the State Water Project, as well as any other 
contract or agreement by which the District obtains water from the State Water Project and 
pursuant to which the District is entitled to levy assessments for the purpose of paying costs in 
connection therewith, including the Burns-Porter Assessments. 

“Substantial Completion” means, with respect to each Project, the stage at which such 
Project is able to perform the functions for which such Project is designed. 

“Substantial Completion Date” means, with respect to each Project, the date on which 
the District certifies to the WIFIA Lender, with evidence satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender, that 
Substantial Completion for such Project has occurred. 

“Total Project Costs” means, with respect to each Project, (a) the costs paid or incurred 
or to be paid or incurred by the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the relevant WIFIA 
IPA, in connection with or incidental to the acquisition, design, construction, or installation of such 
Project (as applicable), including legal, administrative, engineering, planning, design, insurance 
and financing (including costs of issuance); (b) amounts, if any, required by the WIFIA Loan 
Documents to be paid into any fund or account upon the incurrence of the applicable WIFIA Loan 
or any other Obligation, in each case in respect of such Project; (c) payments when due (whether 
at the maturity of principal, the due date of interest, or upon optional or mandatory prepayment) 
during the Construction Period of such Project in respect of any obligations of the District in 
connection with such Project (other than the WIFIA Loan in respect of such Project); and (d) costs 
of equipment and supplies and initial working capital and reserves required by the District for the 
commencement of operation of such Project, including general administrative expenses and 
overhead of the District. 

“Trustee” The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 

“Uncontrollable Force” means any cause beyond the control of the Borrower and the 
District, including:  (a) a hurricane, tornado, flood or similar occurrence, landslide, earthquake, 
fire or other casualty, strike or labor disturbance, freight embargo, act of a public enemy, explosion, 
war, blockade, terrorist act, insurrection, riot, general arrest or restraint of government and people, 
civil disturbance or similar occurrence, sabotage, global pandemic or act of God (provided that 
neither the Borrower nor the District shall be required to settle any strike or labor disturbance in 
which it may be involved) or (b) the order or judgment of any federal, state or local court, 
administrative agency or governmental officer or body, if it is not also the result of willful or 
negligent action or a lack of reasonable diligence of the Borrower or the District and neither the 



 

 19 

Borrower nor the District controls the administrative agency or governmental officer or body; 
provided that the diligent contest in good faith of any such order or judgment shall not constitute 
or be construed as a willful or negligent action or a lack of reasonable diligence of the Borrower 
or the District. 

“Uniform Commercial Code” or “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code, as in 
effect from time to time in the State. 

“Unique Entity Identifier” means, with respect to any Person, the unique entity identifier 
issued by the Government through SAM.gov for such Person. 

“Updated Financial Model/Plan” means (a) an updated Base Case Financial Model or (b) 
a financial plan in a format agreed with the WIFIA Lender, in each case reflecting the then-current 
and projected conditions for the Forecast Period, in accordance with Section 20(a) (Reporting 
Requirements of the District – Updated Financial Model/Plan). 

“Variable Interest Rate” means a variable interest rate to be borne by any Obligations.  
The method of computing such variable interest rate shall be specified in the Obligation Document 
pursuant to which such Obligations are incurred.  Such Obligation Document shall also specify 
either (a) the particular period or periods of time for which each value of such variable interest rate 
shall remain in effect or (b) the time or times upon which any change in such variable interest rate 
shall become effective. 

“Variable Interest Rate Obligations” means Obligations which bear a Variable Interest 
Rate but does not include any Obligations for which the interest rate has been fixed during the 
remainder of the term thereof to maturity. 

“Water Revenue Fund” means the revenue fund maintained by the District in accordance 
with each WIFIA IPA. 

“Water Revenues” means, for any District Fiscal Year, all income, rents, rates, fees, 
charges and other moneys derived from the ownership or operation of the Water System, including, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 

(a) interruption insurance proceeds or other moneys derived by the District from the 
sale, furnishing and supplying of the water or other services, facilities, and commodities sold, 
furnished or supplied through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the 
Water System; 

(b) proceeds of the District’s share of the county’s 1% property tax received by the 
District, if any; 

(c) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of such income, rents, 
rates, fees, charges, or other moneys, including District reserves and any reserve funds; and 

(d) the proceeds of any stand by or water availability charges collected by the District, 
but excluding in all cases customer deposits or any other deposits or advances subject to refund 
until such deposits or advances have become the property of the District, and excluding any 



 

 20 

proceeds of any taxes or assessments required by law to be used by the District to pay bonds 
heretofore or hereafter issued and any Burns-Porter Assessments; and money withdrawn from the 
Rate Stabilization Fund in such District Fiscal Year. 

“Water Service” means the water distribution service made available or provided by the 
Water System.  

“Water System” means the entire water supply, treatment, storage and distribution system 
of the District, including but not limited to all facilities, properties and improvements at any time 
owned, controlled or operated by the District for the supply, treatment and storage of water to 
residents of the District and adjacent areas, and any necessary lands, rights, entitlements and other 
property useful in connection therewith, together with all extensions thereof and improvements 
thereto at any time acquired, constructed or installed by the District. 

“WIFIA” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 

“WIFIA Borrower Resolution” means Resolution No. [__], adopted by the Borrower on 
[__], 2024, authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement, each WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, each WIFIA IPA and each WIFIA Note and certain related actions by the Borrower 
in connection therewith. 

“WIFIA CUSIP Number” has the meaning provided in Section 11(b)(vii)(B) (Conditions 
Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement). 

“WIFIA Debt Service” means, with respect to each WIFIA Loan, for any Payment Date 
occurring on or after the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date for such WIFIA Loan, the 
principal portion of the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance and any interest payable thereon 
(including interest accruing after the date of any filing by the Borrower of any petition in 
bankruptcy or the commencement of any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding with 
respect to the Borrower), in each case, (a) as set forth on Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization 
Schedule) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement and (b) due and payable on such Payment 
Date in accordance with the provisions of Section 8(a) (Payment of Principal and Interest – 
Payment of WIFIA Debt Service). 

“WIFIA Debt Service Account” means the debt service account established and 
maintained by the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, pursuant to 
Section 17(i) (Affirmative Covenants of the District – WIFIA Debt Service Account). 

“WIFIA District Resolution” means Resolution No. [__], adopted by the District on [__], 
2024, authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement, each WIFIA Loan Agreement and 
each WIFIA IPA and certain related actions by the District in connection therewith. 

“WIFIA Installment Payments” means, for each WIFIA IPA, the installment payments 
of interest and principal scheduled to be paid by the District to the Borrower under and pursuant 
to such WIFIA IPA. 



 

 21 

“WIFIA Interest Rate” means, for each WIFIA Loan, the rate specified in Section 6 
(Interest Rate) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement, which shall be computed in accordance 
with Section 6 (Interest Rate) hereof. 

“WIFIA IPA” means, for each WIFIA Loan, an Installment Purchase Agreement 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit L (Form of WIFIA IPA) entered into by and 
between the District and the Borrower with respect to the Project corresponding to such WIFIA 
Loan.  

“WIFIA Lender” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“WIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative” means the Administrator and any other 
Person who shall be designated as such pursuant to Section 27 (WIFIA Lender’s Authorized 
Representative). 

“WIFIA Loan” has, for each WIFIA Loan Agreement, the meaning provided in Section 1 
(Definitions) thereof. 

“WIFIA Loan Agreement” means, for each WIFIA Loan, a loan agreement substantially 
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit K (Form of WIFIA Loan Agreement) entered into by the 
Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender in respect of the relevant Project. 

“WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date” has, for each WIFIA Loan Agreement, the 
meaning provided in Section 1 (Definitions) thereof. 

“WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule” has, for each WIFIA Loan, the meaning provided 
in Section 1 (Definitions) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“WIFIA Loan Commitment Amount” has the meaning provided in Section 3(a) (WIFIA 
Loans Under the Master Program). 

“WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule” means, for each WIFIA Loan, the disbursement 
schedule set forth in the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule for such WIFIA Loan, reflecting the 
anticipated disbursement of proceeds of such WIFIA Loan, as such schedule may be amended 
from time to time pursuant to Section 4(c) (Disbursement Conditions). 

“WIFIA Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the WIFIA Notes, the WIFIA IPAs, 
the WIFIA Loan Agreements and the WIFIA Resolutions. 

“WIFIA Loan Request” has the meaning provided in Section 3(c) (WIFIA Loans Under 
the Master Program). 

“WIFIA Note” means, collectively, each “WIFIA Note” as defined in Section 1 
(Definitions) of each WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“WIFIA Reserve Fund” means that fund established by the District in accordance with 
each WIFIA IPA. 



 

 22 

“WIFIA Resolutions” means, collectively, the WIFIA District Resolution and the WIFIA 
Borrower Resolution. 

Section 2. Interpretation.   

(a) Unless the context shall otherwise require, the words “hereto,” “herein,” “hereof” 
and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole. 

(b) Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include 
correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa. 

(c) Words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice 
versa unless the context shall otherwise require. 

(d) The words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed 
by the phrase “without limitation.” 

(e) Whenever the Borrower’s knowledge or the District’s knowledge is implicated in 
this Agreement or the phrase “to the Borrower’s knowledge” or the phrase “to the District’s 
knowledge” or a similar phrase is used in this Agreement, the Borrower’s knowledge or the 
District’s knowledge or such phrase(s) shall be interpreted to mean to the best of the Borrower’s 
knowledge or the best of the District’s knowledge, as applicable, after reasonable and diligent 
inquiry.  Unless the context shall otherwise require, references to any Person shall be deemed to 
include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns. 

(f) Unless the context shall otherwise require, references to the preamble, recitals, 
sections, subsections, clauses, schedules, exhibits, appendices and provisions are to the preamble 
to, or the applicable recitals, sections, subsections, clauses, schedules, exhibits, appendices and 
provisions of, this Agreement. 

(g) The schedules and exhibits to this Agreement, and the appendices and schedules to 
such exhibits, are hereby incorporated by reference and made an integral part of this Agreement. 

(h) The headings or titles of this Agreement and its sections, schedules or exhibits, as 
well as any table of contents, are for convenience of reference only and shall not define or limit its 
provisions. 

(i) Unless the context shall otherwise require, all references to any resolution, contract, 
agreement, lease or other document shall be deemed to include any amendments or supplements 
to, or modifications or restatements or replacements of, such documents that are approved from 
time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof. 

(j) Every request, order, demand, application, appointment, notice, statement, 
certificate, consent or similar communication or action hereunder by any party shall, unless 
otherwise specifically provided, be delivered in writing in accordance with Section 36 (Notices) 
and signed by a duly authorized representative of such party. 



 

 23 

(k) References to “disbursements of WIFIA Loan proceeds” or similar phrasing shall 
be construed as meaning the same thing as “paying a portion of the purchase price of the WIFIA 
Notes.” 

(l) Whenever this Agreement requires a change in principal amount, interest rate or 
amortization schedule of any WIFIA Loan, it is intended that such change be reflected in the 
corresponding WIFIA Note.  Whenever there is a mandatory or optional prepayment of any WIFIA 
Loan, it is intended that such prepayment be implemented through a prepayment of the 
corresponding WIFIA Note. 

(m) If any provision of this Agreement (or any other WIFIA Loan Document) conflicts 
with any provision of a WIFIA Loan Agreement, the provisions of such WIFIA Loan Agreement 
shall prevail. 

ARTICLE II 
THE WIFIA LOAN 

Section 3. WIFIA Loans Under the Master Program.   

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and, with respect to 
each WIFIA Loan requested pursuant to the terms hereof, the terms and conditions set forth in the 
relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement (and Project Term Sheet related thereto), the Borrower may 
request WIFIA Loans for the Projects under the Master Program from time to time during the 
Master Availability Period in an aggregate principal amount for (i) the Master Program, not to 
exceed the Aggregate Master Program Amount and (ii) each Project component, not to exceed the 
principal amount set forth in Schedule II (Master Program Budget) for such Project component 
(such principal amount, the “WIFIA Loan Commitment Amount”); provided that (x) the 
aggregate WIFIA Loan Commitment Amount at any time shall not exceed the Aggregate Master 
Program Amount and (y) the availability of the WIFIA Loan for each Project shall be subject to 
the availability of budgetary authority at the time the WIFIA Loan Request for such WIFIA Loan 
is made.  Such availability of budgetary authority shall be determined by the WIFIA Lender in 
accordance with the Act and applicable law.  WIFIA Loan proceeds to be drawn shall be disbursed 
from time to time to pay for Eligible Project Costs for the applicable Project in accordance with 
Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions), Section 11(c) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions 
Precedent to Disbursements), and the terms of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement related 
thereto. 

(b) Prior to the execution of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement, (i) any Project 
component included in Schedule I (Master Program) and Schedule II (Master Program Budget) 
may be replaced with one or more other Project components and (ii) any WIFIA Loan 
Commitment Amount included in Schedule II (Master Program Budget) may be adjusted as 
necessary, so long as, following such adjustment, (x) the maximum principal amount of the 
relevant WIFIA Loan, together with the amount of any other credit assistance provided under the 
Act to the Borrower, would not exceed forty-nine percent (49%) of reasonably anticipated Eligible 
Project Costs for such Project and (y) the aggregate WIFIA Loan Commitment Amount does not 
exceed the Aggregate Master Program Amount.  In connection with any such modification, the 
Borrower shall amend Schedule I (Master Program) and Schedule II (Master Program Budget) 



 

 24 

by submitting a revised version thereof to the WIFIA Lender no later than thirty (30) days prior to 
the proposed effective date of such modification, together with a detailed explanation of the 
reasons therefor.  Each such revised schedule shall become effective upon the WIFIA Lender’s 
approval thereof, which approval shall be granted in the WIFIA Lender’s sole discretion. 

(c) From time to time after the Effective Date but in any event (x) not more than once 
every sixty (60) days and (y) no later than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the end of the 
Master Availability Period, the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA 
IPA, may, with respect to each relevant Project, request that the WIFIA Lender enter into a WIFIA 
Loan Agreement and related WIFIA Loan Documents in respect of such Project by delivering to 
the WIFIA Lender a written notice in the form of Exhibit D (Form of WIFIA Loan Request) (a 
“WIFIA Loan Request”), which shall specify the Project components to which such WIFIA Loan 
Request relates, together with (i) a description of such Project components, (ii) the most recent 
Updated Financial Model/Plan delivered to the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Section 20(a) 
(Reporting Requirements of the District – Updated Financial Model/Plan), and (iii) such 
additional information relating to such Project as may be requested by the WIFIA Lender; provided 
that a WIFIA Loan Request shall not be required in connection with the initial WIFIA Loan 
Agreement; provided further that no more than five (5) WIFIA Loan Requests shall be delivered 
during the Master Availability Period.  For each WIFIA Loan, the WIFIA Lender and the District, 
as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA IPA, shall, subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth herein and the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement, promptly and in good faith, 
negotiate, finalize and enter into the Project Term Sheet, WIFIA Loan Agreement and the other 
WIFIA Loan Documents related to such Project. 

Section 4. Disbursement Conditions.   

(a) Pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, the Borrower shall appoint the District as its agent to 
request funds from time to time under this Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreements, and the 
District shall accept such appointment and assume all rights, liabilities, duties and responsibilities 
of the Borrower under this Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreements regarding the requisition 
of funds from time to time hereunder and thereunder.  WIFIA Loan proceeds shall be disbursed 
solely in respect of Eligible Project Costs paid or incurred and approved for payment by or on 
behalf of the Borrower in connection with the applicable Project, including for the purpose of 
paying or redeeming, in whole or in part, amounts owed by the District under an Interim Financing 
the proceeds of which were applied to pay Eligible Project Costs.  If the Borrower intends to utilize 
the WIFIA Loan proceeds to make progress payments for construction work performed under the 
Construction Contracts with respect to such Project, the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant 
to the applicable WIFIA IPA, shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the WIFIA Lender that such 
progress payments are commensurate with the cost of the work that has been completed.  Each 
disbursement of the applicable WIFIA Loan shall be made pursuant to a requisition and 
certification (a “Requisition”) in the form set forth in Appendix One (Form of Requisition) to 
Exhibit B (Requisition Procedures), along with all documentation and other information required 
thereby, submitted by the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA IPA, 
to, and approved by, the WIFIA Lender, all in accordance with the procedures of Exhibit B 
(Requisition Procedures) and subject to the requirements of this Section 4 and the conditions set 
forth in Section 11(c) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Disbursements) and 
Section 11(b) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Disbursements) of the applicable 



 

 25 

WIFIA Loan Agreement; provided that no disbursements of WIFIA Loan proceeds shall be made 
after the Final Disbursement Date with respect to such WIFIA Loan. 

(b) Each Requisition shall include a certification by the District, as agent of the 
Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA IPA, certifying as to the following:  (i) whether 
reimbursement or payment is being requested with respect to (A) Eligible Project Costs that have 
been submitted by it pursuant to Section 20(c)(iii) (Reporting Requirements of the District – 
Construction Reporting – Quarterly Certification of Eligible Project Costs) and approved by the 
WIFIA Lender pursuant to Section 20(c)(iii) or (B) other Eligible Project Costs incurred by the 
District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to such WIFIA IPA; (ii) the amount for which 
reimbursement or payment is being requested has not been reimbursed or paid by any previous 
disbursement of WIFIA Loan proceeds; and (iii) to the extent any Eligible Project Costs described 
in clause (i)(B) above are included in the Requisition, that such Eligible Project Costs have not 
and will not be submitted by the District for approval pursuant to Section 20(c)(iii). 

(c) Subject to this Section 4, with respect to any WIFIA Loan, any scheduled 
disbursement (as reflected in the applicable WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule) of such WIFIA 
Loan that remains undrawn as of its scheduled date shall automatically be available for the next 
scheduled disbursement date, up to the Final Disbursement Date, with the effect of automatically 
updating such WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule (and the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule 
for such WIFIA Loan) without need for the WIFIA Lender’s approval.  The District may also 
amend such WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule by submitting a revised version thereof to the 
WIFIA Lender no later than thirty (30) days prior to the proposed effective date of such 
amendment, together with a detailed explanation of the reasons for such revisions.  Such revised 
WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule shall become effective upon the WIFIA Lender’s approval 
thereof, which approval shall be deemed granted if the WIFIA Lender has not objected within 
thirty (30) days from receipt of the revised schedule, and which approval shall have the effect of 
updating the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule for such WIFIA Loan to reflect the updated 
WIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the date of the first 
disbursement of any WIFIA Loan shall not be earlier than the initial date of disbursement for such 
WIFIA Loan set out in the applicable WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule as of the applicable 
WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date. 

Section 5. Term.  The term of each WIFIA Loan shall extend from the applicable WIFIA Loan 
Agreement Effective Date to the Final Maturity Date of such WIFIA Loan or to such earlier date 
as all amounts due or to become due to the WIFIA Lender under such WIFIA Loan Agreement 
have been irrevocably paid in full in immediately available funds. 

Section 6. Interest Rate.  With respect to each WIFIA Loan, interest will accrue and be 
computed on each Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance (as well as on any past due interest) from 
time to time at the relevant WIFIA Interest Rate on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day 
year of twelve (12) thirty (30)-day months; provided that, upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default, the Borrower shall pay interest on the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance at the Default 
Rate, (a) in the case of any Payment Default, from (and including) its due date to (but excluding) 
the date of actual payment and (b) in the case of any other Event of Default, from (and including) 
the date of such occurrence to (but excluding) the earlier of the date on which (i) such Event of 
Default has been cured or waived (if applicable) in accordance with the terms of this Agreement 



 

 26 

and the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and (ii) the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance has been 
irrevocably paid in full by the Borrower in immediately available funds.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, interest on each WIFIA Loan and each WIFIA Note shall accrue and be payable only on 
those amounts for which a Requisition has been submitted and funds (or such portion of funds as 
have been approved by the WIFIA Lender) have been disbursed to the Borrower for use on the 
relevant Project in accordance with Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions). 

Section 7. Security and Priority; Flow of Funds.   

(a) Pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, as security for the WIFIA Installment Payments 
under such WIFIA IPA and concurrently with the issuance and delivery of the applicable WIFIA 
Loan Agreement and corresponding WIFIA Note, the District shall pledge, assign and grant to the 
Borrower for its benefit Liens on (i) the Water Revenues and all associated amounts on deposit in 
the Water Revenue Fund (subject to payment of Operation and Maintenance Costs and Senior 
Obligations as they become due and payable), (ii) the Acquisition Fund and all amounts on deposit 
in the Acquisition Fund, (iii) the WIFIA Debt Service Account and all amounts on deposit in the 
WIFIA Debt Service Account and (iv) the WIFIA Reserve Fund and all amounts on deposit in the 
WIFIA Reserve Fund (collectively, the “Pledged Collateral”).  The obligation of the District to 
make the WIFIA Installment Payments under each WIFIA IPA shall (i) be secured by the Liens 
on the Pledged Collateral, (ii) be subordinate in right of payment and in right of security to the 
Lien on the Pledged Collateral for the benefit of the Senior Obligations and (iii) be pari passu in 
right of payment and right of security to the Lien on the Pledged Collateral for the benefit of the 
Parity Obligations, in each case, without the need for any notice to or from any Person, physical 
delivery, recordation, filing or further act.  The obligation of the District to make the WIFIA 
Installment Payments under each WIFIA IPA constitutes Parity Obligations under this Agreement 
and “Contracts” under each WIFIA IPA, and each WIFIA IPA constitutes a “Contract” under such 
WIFIA IPA and a “Subordinate Obligation” under each Senior IPA. 

(b) Except (i) for Permitted Liens, or (ii) to the extent otherwise provided in Section 
7(a), the Pledged Collateral shall be free and clear of any pledge, Lien, charge or encumbrance 
thereon or with respect thereto, that is of equal rank with or senior to the pledge of the Borrower 
created under the WIFIA Loan Documents for the benefit of the WIFIA Lender, and all 
organizational, regulatory or other necessary action on the part of the District with respect to the 
foregoing has been duly and validly taken. 

(c) The Borrower hereby unconditionally pledges and assigns to the WIFIA Lender 
and grants to the WIFIA Lender Liens for its benefit on (i) all of the Borrower’s right, title and 
interest to receive the Borrower Revenues and (ii) all of the Borrower’s rights to receive amounts 
from the District from the WIFIA Debt Service Account, the Acquisition Fund and the WIFIA 
Reserve Fund (including any Reserve Policy, as defined in each WIFIA IPA) and the proceeds 
thereof, and assigns to the WIFIA Lender all of the Borrower’s rights and remedies to enforce each 
WIFIA IPA upon an event of default under each such WIFIA IPA, in each case for the purpose of 
securing (x) the payment of all sums due and owing to the WIFIA Lender under this Agreement 
and the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and (y) the observance, performance and discharge of 
each agreement, condition, covenant and term of the Borrower and the District under this 
Agreement and the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and of the District under such WIFIA IPA.  
The District hereby consents to such pledge, assignment and grant.  Notwithstanding anything in 



 

 27 

this Agreement or any other WIFIA Loan Document to the contrary, the Borrower does not and 
shall not assign, and the WIFIA Lender does not and shall not assume, any obligation, duty or 
liability of the Borrower under each WIFIA IPA.  Each WIFIA Loan is and shall be secured by 
the Liens on the Borrower Revenues.  The Borrower Revenues shall be free and clear of any 
pledge, Lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto other than the Liens with 
respect to each WIFIA Loan.  The WIFIA Debt Service Account shall be free and clear of any 
pledge, Lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto other than the Liens with 
respect to the WIFIA Installment Payments under each WIFIA IPA. 

(d) The District shall not use any Pledged Collateral to make any payments or satisfy 
any obligations other than in accordance with the Flow of Funds, the provisions of this Section 7 
and the Related Documents and shall not apply any portion of the Pledged Collateral in 
contravention of this Agreement or the other Related Documents.  The District shall not use any 
amounts on deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service Account to make any payments or satisfy any 
obligations other than the payment of WIFIA Debt Service on the Borrower’s behalf; provided 
that, the last Business Day of each District Fiscal Year, the District may transfer to the Water 
Revenue Fund any amounts on deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service Account that are not needed for 
such purpose; provided further that any amounts that are transferred from the WIFIA Debt Service 
Account to the Water Revenue Fund pursuant to this Section 7(d) shall not be double-counted for 
purposes of calculating any coverage requirement. 

(e) The Borrower shall not use any Borrower Revenues to make any payments or 
satisfy any obligations other than the payment of WIFIA Debt Service and other amounts payable 
to the WIFIA Lender under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and the relevant 
WIFIA Note. 

(f) All Water Revenues shall, immediately upon receipt thereof, be deposited by the 
District into the Water Revenue Fund.  Amounts deposited in the Water Revenue Fund shall be 
applied in the order of priority described in, and in accordance with, the Flow of Funds, which 
includes payment of WIFIA Debt Service in accordance with Section 5.2 (Allocation of Water 
Revenues) of the relevant WIFIA IPA. 

(g) Following the acceleration of amounts payable by the Borrower under this 
Agreement and the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement or payable by the District under the relevant 
WIFIA IPA pursuant to Section 21(c) (Events of Default and Remedies) or Section 21(d)(vii) 
(Events of Default and Remedies) hereof or Section 21(c) (Events of Default and Remedies) of 
such WIFIA Loan Agreement, amounts deposited in the Water Revenue Fund shall be applied in 
the order of priority described in, and in accordance with, the Flow of Funds Following 
Acceleration. 

Section 8. Payment of Principal and Interest.   

(a) Payment of WIFIA Debt Service.   

(i) Pursuant to the applicable WIFIA IPA, not later than each Installment 
Payment Date occurring on or after the applicable Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, 
the District shall, from moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, transfer to the WIFIA Debt Service 



 

 28 

Account for the benefit of the WIFIA Lender the WIFIA Installment Payment under such WIFIA 
IPA due and payable on the relevant Payment Date.  All WIFIA Installment Payments under the 
applicable WIFIA IPA and any other amounts deposited into the WIFIA Debt Service Account 
shall be held by the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to such WIFIA IPA, in trust for the 
benefit of the WIFIA Lender until the immediately succeeding Payment Date, whereupon such 
money shall be applied to the payment of WIFIA Debt Service. 

(ii) No WIFIA Debt Service under the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement shall 
be due or payable prior to the applicable Debt Service Payment Commencement Date.  The 
Borrower shall pay, or the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the applicable WIFIA 
IPA, shall transfer from the WIFIA Debt Service Account on the Borrower’s behalf, (A) WIFIA 
Debt Service in the amounts and manner and on the Payment Dates as set forth in the applicable 
WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule, as the same may be revised pursuant to Section 8(f) 
(Payment of Principal and Interest – Adjustments to WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) and (B) 
payments of any other amounts on each other date on which payment thereof is required to be 
made hereunder or under the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement (including the applicable Final 
Maturity Date and any date on which payment is due hereunder or thereunder or under the 
applicable WIFIA Note by reason of the mandatory redemption or prepayment or the acceleration 
of the maturity of the applicable WIFIA Loan or otherwise); provided that, if any such date is not 
a Business Day, then payment shall be made on the next Business Day following such date.  WIFIA 
Loan proceeds borrowed and repaid may not be reborrowed. 

(iii) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, each Outstanding WIFIA 
Loan Balance and any accrued interest thereon shall be due and payable in full on the Final 
Maturity Date of the related WIFIA Loan (or on any earlier date on which the related WIFIA Loan 
and WIFIA Note are subject to mandatory redemption or prepayment prior to the maturity thereof). 

(iv) Any defeasance of the applicable WIFIA Loan in accordance with 
applicable law shall not be deemed a repayment or prepayment of such WIFIA Loan in full, and 
each of the Borrower and the District shall comply with all of its respective obligations hereunder 
and under the other WIFIA Loan Documents (other than with respect to payments of WIFIA Debt 
Service, which payments shall continue to be made in accordance with the applicable WIFIA Loan 
Amortization Schedule by the succeeding entity assuming the Borrower’s payment obligations), 
unless otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender, until the irrevocable payment in full in immediately 
available funds by the Borrower of the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance with respect to such 
WIFIA Loan, together with all accrued interest, fees and expenses with respect thereto. 

(b) Capitalized Interest.  No payment of the principal of or interest on any WIFIA Loan 
is required to be made during an applicable Capitalized Interest Period.  On each applicable 
Payment Date occurring during an applicable Capitalized Interest Period, and on the day 
immediately following the end of such Capitalized Interest Period, interest accrued on the 
applicable WIFIA Loan in the six (6) month period ending immediately prior to such date (or such 
shorter period if such Capitalized Interest Period ends on a date other than the date immediately 
prior to an Interest Payment Date) shall be capitalized and added to the relevant Outstanding 
WIFIA Loan Balance.  The accrual of interest on amounts capitalized during an applicable 
Capitalized Interest Period pursuant to this Section 8(b) shall commence on the date such amounts 
are added to the relevant Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance.  Within thirty (30) days after the end 



 

 29 

of an applicable Capitalized Interest Period, the WIFIA Lender shall give written notice to the 
Borrower and the District stating the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance of the related WIFIA Loan 
as of the close of business on the last day of such Capitalized Interest Period, which statement 
thereof shall be deemed conclusive absent manifest error; provided that no failure to give or delay 
in giving such notice shall affect any payment obligation or other obligation of the Borrower 
hereunder or under any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party, or any 
payment obligation of the District under the applicable WIFIA IPA or any other obligation of the 
District under this Agreement or under any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is 
a party.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, an applicable Capitalized Interest Period shall end 
immediately upon written notification to the Borrower or the District by the WIFIA Lender that 
an Event of Default under the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement has occurred, in which case the 
provisions of this Section 8(b) shall no longer apply and payments of principal and interest shall 
be currently due and payable in accordance with the terms hereof and of such WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and interest shall no longer be capitalized.  For purposes of this Section 8(b), an Event 
of Default under Section 21(b)(v) (Events of Default and Remedies – Cross Default with 
Obligation Documents) shall be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of any nonpayment 
of principal of, interest on or redemption price of any Parity Obligations (other than the WIFIA 
Loan) or Senior Obligations (as applicable) when due, regardless of whether any holder of the 
applicable Parity Obligations or Senior Obligations (as applicable), or any legal order, has waived 
or permitted deferral of any such payment.  To the extent that any prepayment of any WIFIA Loan 
is made during an applicable Capitalized Interest Period, such prepayment shall be applied to the 
relevant Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance as provided in Section 9(d) (Prepayment – General 
Prepayment Instructions) and reflected in a revised Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization 
Schedule) to the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

(c) Interest Payments and Interest Only Period. 

(i) Interest shall accrue on each WIFIA Loan commencing on the date 
of the first disbursement of such WIFIA Loan and shall be payable commencing on the 
applicable Debt Service Payment Commencement Date. 

(ii) During an applicable Interest Only Period, the WIFIA Debt Service 
payable by the Borrower shall consist of one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of 
interest then due and payable on the relevant Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance, and no 
payment of principal will be due and payable. 

(d) WIFIA Notes.  As evidence of the Borrower’s obligation to repay each WIFIA 
Loan, the Borrower shall issue and deliver to the WIFIA Lender, on or prior to the applicable 
WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, a WIFIA Note substantially in the form of Exhibit A 
(Form of WIFIA Note), having the maximum principal amount (excluding any interest to be 
capitalized in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof) specified in the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement for such WIFIA Loan, bearing interest at the applicable WIFIA Interest Rate and 
having principal and interest payable on the same dates as those set forth in such WIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  Any payment in respect of any WIFIA Note shall be treated as a payment in respect 
of the corresponding WIFIA Loan and any prepayment of principal in respect of any WIFIA Loan 
shall be treated as a redemption in respect of the corresponding WIFIA Note. 



 

 30 

(e) Manner of Payment.  The Borrower hereby assigns all its right and interest in and 
to the WIFIA Installment Payments under each WIFIA IPA to the WIFIA Lender and directs the 
District to transfer, on the Borrower’s behalf, all amounts on deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service 
Account to the WIFIA Lender by wire transfer on or before each applicable Payment Date in 
Dollars and in immediately available funds (without counterclaim, offset or deduction) in 
accordance with the payment instructions provided by the WIFIA Lender prior to the relevant 
payment, as may be modified in writing from time to time by the WIFIA Lender; provided that 
neither the assignment of such rights by the Borrower nor such direction by the Borrower to the 
District with respect to payments hereunder or under the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement shall 
affect in any manner any payment obligation or other obligation of the Borrower hereunder or 
under any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party, or any payment 
obligation of the District under such WIFIA IPA or other obligation of the District hereunder or 
under any WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party. 

(f) Adjustments to WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule.   

(i) Each Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance will be (A) increased on each 
occasion on which the WIFIA Lender disburses proceeds of the applicable WIFIA Loan under the 
applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement by the amount of such disbursement of loan proceeds; (B) 
increased on each occasion on which interest on a WIFIA Loan is capitalized pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 8(b) (Payment of Principal and Interest – Capitalized Interest), by the 
amount of interest so capitalized; and (C) decreased upon each payment or prepayment of the 
Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance for the applicable WIFIA Loan by the amount of principal so 
paid.  The WIFIA Lender may in its discretion at any time and from time to time, or when so 
requested by the Borrower or the District, advise the Borrower or the District by written notice of 
the amount of such Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance as of the date of such notice, and its 
determination of such amount in any such notice shall be deemed conclusive absent manifest error. 

(ii) The WIFIA Lender is hereby authorized to modify any WIFIA Loan 
Amortization Schedule from time to time, in accordance with the principles set forth below in this 
Section 8(f), to reflect (A) any change to the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance for the applicable 
WIFIA Loan, (B) any change to the date and amount of any principal or interest due and payable 
or to become due and payable by the Borrower under this Agreement or the corresponding WIFIA 
Loan Agreement, (C) any mathematical corrections as the WIFIA Lender may determine are 
necessary and (D) with the consent of the Borrower (not to be unreasonably withheld), such other 
information as the WIFIA Lender may determine is necessary for administering such WIFIA Loan 
or such WIFIA Loan Agreement.  Any calculations described above shall be rounded up to the 
nearest whole cent.  Any adjustments or revisions to such WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule as 
a result of changes in such Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance shall be applied to reduce future 
payments due with respect to such WIFIA Loan in inverse order of maturity, other than 
prepayments which shall be applied in accordance with Section 9(d) (Prepayment – General 
Prepayment Instructions).  Absent manifest error, the WIFIA Lender’s determination of such 
matters as set forth on Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) attached to each WIFIA 
Loan Agreement shall be conclusive evidence thereof; provided that neither the failure to make 
any such recordation nor any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner any payment 
obligation or other obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under any other WIFIA Loan 
Document to which the Borrower is a party, or any payment obligation of the District under each 



 

 31 

WIFIA IPA or other obligation of the District hereunder or under any WIFIA Loan Document to 
which the District is a party.  The WIFIA Lender shall provide the Borrower and the District with 
a copy of such Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) as revised pursuant to this Section 
8(f)(ii), but no failure to provide or delay in providing the Borrower or the District with such copy 
shall affect any of the obligations of the Borrower or the District under this Agreement or the other 
WIFIA Loan Documents. 

(g) WIFIA Loan Not District Indebtedness.  Each WIFIA Loan and each WIFIA Note 
are limited obligations of the Borrower, payable solely from the Borrower Revenues, and do not 
constitute a debt of the State or any of its political subdivisions (including the District), except the 
Borrower.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the District is not 
a borrower with respect to each WIFIA Loan, each WIFIA Note, or this Agreement and the District 
has no obligation to make any payment or provision for payment of such WIFIA Loan or such 
WIFIA Note.  This Agreement does not constitute a contract between the District and the WIFIA 
Lender by which the District has incurred an indebtedness. 

Section 9. Prepayment.   

(a) Mandatory Prepayment from Insurance Proceeds or Eminent Domain Proceeds.   

(i) The Borrower, or the District as agent of the Borrower, shall prepay each 
WIFIA Loan, without prepayment premium, from and in the amount of any prepayments of the 
WIFIA Installment Payments received from the District pursuant to Section 6.8 (Insurance) and 
Section 6.14 (Eminent Domain Proceeds) of the WIFIA IPA for such WIFIA Loan and Section 
17(f) (Affirmative Covenants of the District – Insurance; Eminent Domain; Net Proceeds).  The 
amount of any such prepayment shall be equal to the portion of the Outstanding WIFIA Loan 
Balance for such WIFIA Loan required to be prepaid hereunder plus accrued interest thereon to 
the date of prepayment.  All such prepayments shall be paid to the WIFIA Lender by the District 
as agent of the Borrower substantially concurrently with the receipt of such amount by the 
Borrower and applied against such Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance in accordance with Section 
9(d) (Prepayment – General Prepayment Instructions). 

(ii) Mandatory Prepayment Upon or Prior to Issuance or Existence of Senior 
Project Obligations.  The Borrower shall prepay one hundred percent (100%) of any Outstanding 
WIFIA Loan Balance in full in immediately available funds upon the incurrence or existence of 
any Senior Project Obligations.  Such prepayment shall be made prior to or concurrently with the 
incurrence, application or existence of such Senior Project Obligations and shall include all 
accrued and unpaid interest on the amount to be prepaid to the date of prepayment, without 
prepayment premium, and shall further include payment of all other Obligations in respect of the 
related WIFIA Loan, including fees and expenses, then due and payable.  The Borrower shall 
provide written notice to the WIFIA Lender not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date on which 
the Borrower expects to issue any such Senior Project Obligations, and the anticipated date of the 
proposed mandatory prepayment; provided that the Borrower’s failure to deliver such notice shall 
not diminish, impair or otherwise affect the Borrower’s obligation to make such mandatory 
prepayment as and when the circumstances requiring such mandatory prepayment have occurred. 



 

 32 

(b) Optional Prepayments.  After the Final Disbursement Date for a WIFIA Loan, the 
Borrower (or the District as agent of the Borrower) may prepay such WIFIA Loan in whole or in 
part (and, if in part, the amounts thereof to be prepaid shall be determined by the Borrower; 
provided that such prepayments shall be in principal amounts of two hundred fifty thousand 
Dollars $(250,000) or any integral multiple of one Dollar ($1.00) in excess thereof), from time to 
time, but not more than annually, without penalty or premium, by paying to the WIFIA Lender 
such principal amount of such WIFIA Loan to be prepaid, together with the unpaid interest accrued 
on the amount of principal so prepaid to the date of such prepayment, which shall be a Payment 
Date under the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement unless otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender.  
Each prepayment of a WIFIA Loan pursuant to this Section 9(b) shall be made on such Payment 
Date and in such principal amount as shall be specified by the Borrower in a written notice 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender not less than ten (10) days or more than thirty (30) days prior to 
the date set for prepayment, unless otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender.  At any time between 
delivery of such written notice and the applicable optional prepayment, the Borrower may, without 
penalty or premium, rescind its announced optional prepayment by further written notice to the 
WIFIA Lender.  Anything in this Section 9(b) to the contrary notwithstanding, the failure by the 
Borrower to make any optional prepayment shall not constitute a breach or default under this 
Agreement or the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

(c) Borrower’s Certificate.  Each prepayment pursuant to this Section 9 shall be 
accompanied by a certificate signed by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative identifying the 
provision of this Agreement pursuant to which such prepayment is being made and containing a 
calculation in reasonable detail of the amount of such prepayment. 

(d) General Prepayment Instructions.  Upon the WIFIA Lender’s receipt of 
confirmation that payment in full in immediately available funds of the entire Outstanding WIFIA 
Loan Balance with respect to any WIFIA Loan and any unpaid interest, fees and expenses with 
respect thereto has occurred as a result of a mandatory or optional prepayment, the WIFIA Lender 
shall surrender the corresponding WIFIA Note to the Borrower or its representative by mail in 
accordance with Section 36 (Notices) or as otherwise agreed between the parties hereto.  If the 
Borrower prepays only part of the unpaid balance of principal of any WIFIA Loan, the WIFIA 
Lender may make a notation on Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) attached to the 
applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement, indicating the amount of principal of and interest on such 
WIFIA Loan then being prepaid.  Absent manifest error, the WIFIA Lender’s determination of 
such matters as set forth on such Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) shall be 
conclusive evidence thereof; provided that neither the failure to make any such recordation nor 
any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner any payment obligation or other obligation 
of the Borrower hereunder or under any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a 
party, or any payment obligation of the District under the WIFIA IPA with respect to such WIFIA 
Loan or any other obligation of the District hereunder or under any WIFIA Loan Document to 
which the District is a party.  All partial prepayments of principal shall be applied to reduce future 
payments due on the applicable WIFIA Loan on a pro rata basis.  If such funds have not been so 
paid on the prepayment date, such principal amount of such WIFIA Loan shall continue to bear 
interest until payment thereof at the rate provided in the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Section 10. Fees and Expenses.   



 

 33 

(a) Fees.  The District shall pay, on behalf of the Borrower, to the WIFIA Lender for 
each WIFIA Loan: 

(i) a servicing set-up fee equal to the amount specified in clause (a) of Section 
10 (Fees and Expenses) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement (the “Servicing Set-Up Fee”), 
which shall be due and payable within thirty (30) days after receipt of an invoice from the WIFIA 
Lender with respect thereto (or, if earlier, the first disbursement date of the related WIFIA Loan); 

(ii) an annual construction period servicing fee equal to the amount specified in 
clause (b) of Section 10 (Fees and Expenses) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement (the 
“Construction Period Servicing Fee”), which shall accrue on the first Business Day of the then-
current Federal Fiscal Year and shall be due and payable on or prior to each November 15 during 
the Construction Period under the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement (including the Federal Fiscal 
Year during which the applicable Substantial Completion Date occurs); provided that the initial 
Construction Period Servicing Fee shall be due and payable within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
an invoice from the WIFIA Lender with respect thereto (or, if earlier, on the first disbursement 
date of the WIFIA Loan), in an amount pro-rated from the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement 
Effective Date through the last day of the then-applicable Federal Fiscal Year; and 

(iii) an annual operating period servicing fee equal to the amount specified in 
clause (c) of Section 10 (Fees and Expenses) of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement (the 
“Operating Period Servicing Fee”), which shall accrue on the first Business Day of the then-
current Federal Fiscal Year and shall be due and payable on or prior to each November 15, 
beginning with the first November 15 following the end of the Federal Fiscal Year during which 
the applicable Substantial Completion Date occurs, until (and including) the applicable Final 
Maturity Date; provided that any Operating Period Servicing Fee due and payable with respect to 
any Federal Fiscal Year during which such Final Maturity Date occurs shall be equal to the pro-
rata monthly portion of the then applicable Operating Period Servicing Fee multiplied by the 
number of partial or whole months remaining between October 1 and such Final Maturity Date. 

(b) The amount of each Servicing Fee (other than any initial pro-rated Servicing Fee, 
as applicable) shall be adjusted in proportion to the percentage change in CPI for the calendar year 
immediately preceding the calendar year during which such fee is due.  The WIFIA Lender shall 
notify the District of the amount of each such fee at least thirty (30) days before payment is due, 
which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 

(c) Expenses.  The District, on behalf of the Borrower, agrees, whether or not the 
transactions hereby contemplated shall be consummated, to reimburse the WIFIA Lender on 
demand from time to time, within thirty (30) days after receipt of any invoice from the WIFIA 
Lender, for any and all fees, costs, charges, and expenses incurred by it (including the fees, costs, 
and expenses of its legal counsel, financial advisors, auditors and other consultants and advisors) 
in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery, and performance of this 
Agreement and the other WIFIA Loan Documents and the transactions hereby and thereby 
contemplated, including attorneys’ and engineers’ fees and professional costs, including all such 
fees, costs, and expenses incurred as a result of or in connection with: 



 

 34 

(i) the review of each WIFIA Loan Request and the negotiation, preparation, 
execution, delivery, and performance of each Project Term Sheet, WIFIA Loan Agreement, and 
the other WIFIA Loan Documents related to the relevant Project; 

(ii) the enforcement of or attempt to enforce, or the protection or preservation 
of any right or claim under, the Liens on the Pledged Collateral or any provision of this Agreement 
or any other WIFIA Loan Document or the rights of the WIFIA Lender thereunder; 

(iii) any amendment, modification, waiver, or consent with respect to this 
Agreement or any other Related Document; and 

(iv) any work-out, restructuring, or similar arrangement of the obligations of the 
Borrower or the District under this Agreement or the other WIFIA Loan Documents, including 
during the pendency of any Event of Default; provided that nothing in this Section 10(c) shall 
obligate the District to pay principal or interest on any WIFIA Loan or WIFIA Note. 

(d) The obligations of the District under this Section 10 shall survive the payment or 
prepayment in full in accordance with Section 8 or Section 9, respectively, of any WIFIA Note, 
the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement or the other WIFIA Loan Documents, any 
such amendments, waivers or consents, any Event of Default, and any such workout, restructuring, 
or similar arrangement. 

ARTICLE III 
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

Section 11. Conditions Precedent.   

(a) Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding 
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not become effective until each 
of the following conditions precedent has been satisfied or waived in writing by the WIFIA Lender 
in its sole discretion: 

(i) The Borrower and the District shall each have duly executed and delivered 
to the WIFIA Lender this Agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender. 

(ii) The Borrower and the District shall each have delivered to the WIFIA 
Lender a copy of its Organizational Documents, as in effect on the Effective Date, along with a 
certification in the Borrower Closing Certificate or District Closing Certificate, as applicable, that 
such Organizational Documents are in full force and effect. 

(iii) The District shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the WIFIA 
District Resolution, along with a certification that the WIFIA District Resolution is in full force 
and effect, all conditions contained in the WIFIA District Resolution that are necessary to the 
closing of the WIFIA transactions contemplated hereby have been fulfilled, and no further 
instruments or documents (including any resolutions, ordinances, and supplements) are necessary 
for the District to execute and deliver, and to perform its obligations under, this Agreement and 
each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party and to consummate and 



 

 35 

implement the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and each other WIFIA Loan 
Document to which the District is a party. 

(iv) The Borrower shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the 
WIFIA Borrower Resolution, along with a certification that the WIFIA Borrower Resolution is in 
full force and effect, all conditions contained in the WIFIA Borrower Resolution that are necessary 
to the closing of the WIFIA transactions contemplated hereby have been fulfilled, and no further 
instruments or documents (including any resolutions, ordinances, and supplements) are necessary 
for the Borrower to execute and deliver, and to perform its obligations under, this Agreement and 
each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party and to consummate and 
implement the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and each other WIFIA Loan 
Document to which the Borrower is a party. 

(v) (A) Counsel to the Borrower shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender legal 
opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion (including those opinions set forth 
on Exhibit E-1 (Opinions Required from Counsel to Borrower)), (B) bond counsel to the Borrower 
shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender in its 
sole discretion (including those opinions set forth on Exhibit E-2 (Opinions Required from 
Borrower Bond Counsel)), (C) counsel to the District shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender 
legal opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion (including those opinions set 
forth on Exhibit E-3 (Opinions Required from Counsel to District)), and (D) bond counsel to the 
District shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender 
in its sole discretion (including those opinions set forth on Exhibit E-4 (Opinions Required from 
District Bond Counsel)). 

(vi) The Borrower shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a certificate, signed 
by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
F-1 (Form of Closing Certificate of Borrower) (the “Borrower Closing Certificate”), designating 
the Borrower’s Authorized Representative, confirming such person’s position and incumbency, 
and certifying as to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent (and, if requested by the 
WIFIA Lender, shall have provided evidence satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender of such 
satisfaction): 

(A) the representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this 
Agreement and in each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party are true and 
correct on and as of the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties 
expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties were true and 
correct as of such earlier date; and 

(B) no Borrower Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition 
that could reasonably be expected to have a Borrower Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or 
arisen since the date of the Application. 

(vii) The District shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a certificate, signed 
by the District’s Authorized Representative, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
F-2 (Form of Closing Certificate of District) (the “District Closing Certificate”), designating the 
District’s Authorized Representative, confirming such person’s position and incumbency, and 



 

 36 

certifying as to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent (and, if requested by the 
WIFIA Lender, shall have provided evidence satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender of such 
satisfaction): 

(A) the District has (x) obtained a Federal Employer Identification 
Number, (y) obtained a Unique Entity Identifier, and (z) registered with, and obtained confirmation 
of active registration status from, the federal System for Award Management (www.SAM.gov); 

(B) the representations and warranties of the District set forth in this 
Agreement and in each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party are true and 
correct on and as of the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties 
expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties were true and 
correct as of such earlier date; and 

(C) no District Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that 
could reasonably be expected to have a District Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen 
since the date of the Application. 

(viii) The District shall have paid in full all invoices delivered by the WIFIA 
Lender to the District as of the Effective Date for the fees and expenses of the WIFIA Lender’s 
counsel and financial advisors and any auditors or other consultants retained by the WIFIA Lender 
for the purposes hereof. 

(ix) The District shall have provided evidence to the WIFIA Lender’s 
satisfaction of the (A) establishment by the District of the WIFIA Debt Service Account and (B) 
the pledge of such account by the District for the sole benefit of the Borrower. 

(x) The District shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the 
Investment Policy. 

(b) Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement.  
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no WIFIA Loan Agreement shall 
become effective until each of the following conditions precedent has been satisfied or waived in 
writing by the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion: 

(i) The District shall have duly executed and delivered to the WIFIA Lender, 
except with respect to the initial WIFIA Loan Agreement, a WIFIA Loan Request that complies 
with the provisions of Section 3(c) (WIFIA Loans Under the Master Program). 

(ii) The Borrower and the District shall each have duly executed and delivered 
to the WIFIA Lender, (A) a Project Term Sheet with respect to the applicable Project, (B) the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement with respect to such Project and (C) the WIFIA IPA with respect to such 
Project, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender. 

(iii) The Borrower shall have duly executed and delivered to the WIFIA Lender 
the WIFIA Note with respect to the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement in form and substance 
satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender. 



 

 37 

(iv) The Borrower and the District shall each have delivered to the WIFIA 
Lender complete and fully executed copies of each Related Document (to the extent not previously 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender) and Existing Construction Contract to which it is a party with 
respect to the applicable Project, together with any amendments, supplements, waivers or 
modifications thereto, that has been entered into on or prior to the applicable WIFIA Loan 
Agreement Effective Date, along with a certification in the applicable Borrower Project Closing 
Certificate and District Project Closing Certificate, respectively, that each such document is 
complete, fully executed and in full force and effect. 

(v) (A) Counsel to the Borrower shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender legal 
opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion (including those opinions set forth 
on Exhibit E-1 (Opinions Required from Counsel to Borrower)), (B) bond counsel to the Borrower 
shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender in its 
sole discretion (including those opinions set forth on Exhibit E-2 (Opinions Required from 
Borrower Bond Counsel)), (C) counsel to the District shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender 
legal opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender in its sole discretion (including those opinions set 
forth on Exhibit E-3 (Opinions Required from Counsel to District)), and (D) bond counsel to the 
District shall have rendered to the WIFIA Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender 
in its sole discretion (including those opinions set forth on Exhibit E-4 (Opinions Required from 
District Bond Counsel)), in each case for the relevant Project. 

(vi) The Borrower and the District shall each have delivered to the WIFIA 
Lender (A) each Project Budget for the relevant Project (to be included as Schedule I (Project 
Budget) to the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement) and (B) except with respect to the initial 
WIFIA Loan Agreement, a revised Master Program Budget reflecting such Project Budget. 

(vii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a certificate with 
respect to the relevant Project, signed by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative, substantially 
in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F-3 (Form of Project Closing Certificate of Borrower) (the 
“Borrower Project Closing Certificate”), confirming the Borrower’s Authorized Representative 
previously designated and such person’s position and incumbency as previously provided to the 
WIFIA Lender remain unchanged and in full force and effect (or if changed, designating such new 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative and confirming such person’s position and incumbency, in 
form and substance satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender) and certifying as to the satisfaction of the 
following conditions precedent (and, if requested by the WIFIA Lender, shall have provided 
evidence satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender of such satisfaction): 

(A) as of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, (x) the 
maximum principal amount of the relevant WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized 
in accordance with the terms hereof and of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement), together with 
the amount of any other credit assistance provided under the Act to the Borrower, does not exceed 
forty-nine percent (49%) of the reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs for the applicable 
Project and (y) the total federal assistance provided to the applicable Project, including the 
maximum principal amount of the relevant WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized 
in accordance with the terms hereof and of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement), does not exceed 
eighty percent (80%) of Total Project Costs for such Project; 



 

 38 

(B) (1) with respect to the initial WIFIA Loan Agreement, the Borrower 
has obtained a CUSIP number for the initial WIFIA Loan (the “WIFIA CUSIP Number”) for 
purposes of monitoring through EMMA, and (2) with respect to each other WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the Borrower (x) has maintained such WIFIA CUSIP Number and (y) confirmed that 
the expiration date of such WIFIA CUSIP Number is no earlier than the Final Maturity Date of 
the relevant WIFIA Loan or has extended the expiration date of the WIFIA CUSIP Number to be 
no earlier than the Final Maturity Date of the relevant WIFIA Loan; 

(C) the representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the 
relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and in each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower 
is a party are true and correct on and as of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, 
except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in 
which case such representations and warranties were true and correct as of such earlier date; and 

(D) no Borrower Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that 
could reasonably be expected to have a Borrower Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen 
since the Effective Date. 

(viii) The District shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a certificate with 
respect to the relevant Project, signed by the District’s Authorized Representative, substantially in 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit F-4 (Form of Project Closing Certificate of District) (the 
“District Project Closing Certificate”), confirming the District’s Authorized Representative 
previously designated and such person’s position and incumbency as previously provided to the 
WIFIA Lender remain unchanged and in full force and effect (or if changed, designating such new 
District’s Authorized Representative and confirming such person’s position and incumbency, in 
form and substance satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender) and certifying as to the satisfaction of the 
following conditions precedent (and, if requested by the WIFIA Lender, shall have provided 
evidence satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender of such satisfaction): 

(A) as of the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, (x) the 
maximum principal amount of the relevant WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized 
in accordance with the terms hereof and of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement), together with 
the amount of any other credit assistance provided under the Act to the Borrower, does not exceed 
forty-nine percent (49%) of the reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs for the applicable 
Project and (y) the total federal assistance provided to the applicable Project, including the 
maximum principal amount of the relevant WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized 
in accordance with the terms hereof and of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement), does not exceed 
eighty percent (80%) of Total Project Costs for such Project; 

(B) the District is in compliance with NEPA and any applicable federal, 
state or local environmental review and approval requirements with respect to the applicable 
Project; 

(C) the District has maintained (x) the Federal Employer Identification 
Number provided to the WIFIA Lender as a condition precedent to the Effective Date, (y) the 
Unique Entity Identifier provided to the WIFIA Lender as a condition precedent to the Effective 



 

 39 

Date, and (z) an active registration status with the federal System for Award Management 
(www.SAM.gov); 

(D) the representations and warranties of the District set forth in the 
relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and in each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District 
is a party are true and correct on and as of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, 
except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in 
which case such representations and warranties were true and correct as of such earlier date; and 

(E) no District Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that 
could reasonably be expected to have a District Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen 
since the Effective Date. 

(ix) The Borrower shall have provided evidence to the WIFIA Lender’s 
satisfaction of the assignment by at least one (1) Nationally Recognized Rating Agency of a public 
Investment Grade Rating to the applicable WIFIA Loan, along with a certification in the Borrower 
Project Closing Certificate that no such rating has been reduced, withdrawn or suspended as of 
such WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date. 

(x) The District shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender the most recent 
Updated Financial Model/Plan in compliance with the requirements of Section 20(a) (Reporting 
Requirements of the District – Updated Financial Model/Plan). 

(xi) The District shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a Public Benefits 
Report for the relevant Project. 

(xii) To the extent not previously paid, the District shall have paid in full (A) any 
outstanding Servicing Fees due and payable under Section 10 (Fees and Expenses) and (B) all 
invoices delivered by the WIFIA Lender to the District as of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement 
Effective Date for the fees and expenses of the WIFIA Lender’s counsel and financial advisors 
and any auditors or other consultants retained by the WIFIA Lender for the purposes of the WIFIA 
Loan Documents. 

(c) Conditions Precedent to Disbursements.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, the WIFIA Lender shall have no obligation to make any disbursement 
of any proceeds with respect to any WIFIA Loan to the Borrower until each of the following 
conditions precedent has been satisfied or waived in writing by the WIFIA Lender in its sole 
discretion: 

(i) The District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the relevant WIFIA IPA, 
shall have delivered to the WIFIA Lender a Requisition that complies with the provisions of 
Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) (including satisfactory Eligible Project Costs Documentation 
relating to such Requisition), and the WIFIA Lender shall have approved (or be deemed to have 
approved in accordance with Section 20(c)(iii) (Reporting Requirements of the District – 
Construction Reporting – Quarterly Certification of Eligible Project Costs)) such Requisition.  
The District’s Authorized Representative shall also certify in such Requisition that: 



 

 40 

(A) at the time of, and immediately after giving effect to, any 
disbursement of WIFIA Loan proceeds then currently requested, (1) no Default or Event of Default 
hereunder and no event of default under any other Related Document to which the District is a 
party shall have occurred and be continuing and (2) no event that, with the giving of notice or the 
passage of time or both, would constitute an event of default under any other Related Document 
to which the District is a party shall have occurred and be continuing; 

(B) no District Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that 
could reasonably be expected to result in a District Material Adverse Effect, shall have occurred 
since the Effective Date; 

(C) the aggregate amount of all disbursements of such WIFIA Loan 
(including the requested disbursement but excluding any interest that is capitalized in accordance 
with the terms hereof and of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement) will not exceed (1) the 
maximum principal amount of such WIFIA Loan, (2) the aggregate amount of the Eligible Project 
Costs with respect to the applicable Project paid or incurred by the District, as agent of the 
Borrower pursuant to the relevant WIFIA IPA; 

(D) the Eligible Project Costs with respect to the applicable Project for 
which reimbursement or payment is being requested has not been reimbursed or paid by any 
previous disbursement of such WIFIA Loan or any other source of funding for such Project as 
identified in the Project Budget for such Project; 

(E) (1) the District and each of the contractors and subcontractors at all 
tiers with respect to the relevant Project have complied with all applicable laws, rules, regulations 
and requirements, including 40 U.S.C. §§3141-3144, 3146, and 3147 (relating to Davis-Bacon Act 
requirements) (and regulations relating thereto) and 33 U.S.C. §3914 (relating to American iron 
and steel products); and (2) supporting documentation, such as certified payroll records and 
certifications for all iron and steel products used for the relevant Project, are being maintained and 
are available for review upon request by the WIFIA Lender; 

(F) the representations and warranties of the District set forth in this 
Agreement (including Section 13 (Representations and Warranties of the District)) and in each 
other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party shall be true and correct as of each 
date on which any disbursement of the applicable WIFIA Loan is made, except to the extent such 
representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such 
representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date); 

(G) the District has delivered all required deliverables under and in 
compliance with the requirements of Section 20 (Reporting Requirements of the District), except 
as has been otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender; and 

(H) Eligible Project Costs Documentation evidencing Eligible Project 
Costs in an amount equal to the amount requested for such disbursement, either (1) has been 
previously submitted to and approved by the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Exhibit B 
(Requisition Procedures) and Section 20 (Reporting Requirements of the District) of this 
Agreement or (2) has been submitted to the WIFIA Lender, together with a summary of such 



 

 41 

Eligible Project Costs in the Requisition (or attached separately to the Requisition), for approval 
by the WIFIA Lender. 

(ii) To the extent necessary to make the corresponding representations and 
warranties true, correct and complete as of the date of the applicable disbursement, the District 
shall have delivered a schedule, in form and substance satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender, listing 
any exceptions with respect to the representations and warranties set forth in Section 12(f) 
(Representations and Warranties of the Borrower – Litigation), Section 13(f) (Representations 
and Warranties of the District – Litigation) and Section 13(j)(iii) (Representations and Warranties 
of the District – Compliance with Laws). 

(iii) The Borrower’s Authorized Representative shall have delivered to the 
WIFIA Lender a certificate in the form of Appendix Two (Form of Borrower Disbursement 
Certificate) to Exhibit B (Requisition Procedures) certifying that: 

(A) at the time of, and immediately after giving effect to, any 
disbursement of any proceeds with respect to the applicable WIFIA Loan then currently requested, 
(1) no Default or Event of Default hereunder and no event of default under any other Related 
Document to which the Borrower is a party shall have occurred and be continuing and (2) no event 
that, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute an event of default 
under any other Related Document to which the Borrower is a party shall have occurred and be 
continuing; 

(B) no Borrower Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that 
could reasonably be expected to result in a Borrower Material Adverse Effect, shall have occurred 
since the Effective Date; 

(C) the representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this 
Agreement (including Section 12 (Representations and Warranties of the Borrower)) and in each 
other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party shall be true and correct as of each 
date on which any disbursement of such WIFIA Loan is made, except to the extent such 
representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such 
representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date); and 

(D) the Borrower has delivered all required deliverables under and in 
compliance with the requirements of Section 19 (Reporting Requirements of the Borrower), except 
as has been otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender. 

(iv) The District shall have paid in full (A) any outstanding Servicing Fees due 
and payable under Section 10 (Fees and Expenses) and (B) all invoices received from the WIFIA 
Lender as of the date of disbursement of the relevant WIFIA Loan and delivered by the WIFIA 
Lender to the District, for the fees and expenses of the WIFIA Lender’s counsel and financial 
advisors and any auditors or other consultants retained by the WIFIA Lender for the purposes of 
the WIFIA Loan Documents. 

ARTICLE IV 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 



 

 42 

Section 12. Representations and Warranties of the Borrower.  The Borrower hereby represents 
and warrants that, as of the Effective Date (other than with respect to the representations and 
warranties contained in Section 12(k) (Representations and Warranties of the Borrower – Credit 
Rating)) and as of each WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date (other than with respect to the 
representations and warranties contained in Section 12(u) (Representations and Warranties of the 
Borrower – Existing Water System Indebtedness)) and, as to each of the representations and 
warranties other than those (x) contained in Section 12(b) (Representations and Warranties of the 
Borrower – Officers’ Authorization), Section 12(k) (Representations and Warranties of the 
Borrower – Credit Rating), the first sentence of Section 12(f) (Representations and Warranties of 
the Borrower – Litigation) and Section 12(u) (Representations and Warranties of the Borrower – 
Existing Water System Indebtedness), or (y) which expressly relate only to the District, as of each 
date on which any disbursement of a WIFIA Loan is requested or made: 

(a) Organization; Power and Authority.  The Borrower is a joint exercise of powers 
agency duly organized and validly existing under its Organizational Documents and the relevant 
laws of the State, has full legal right, power and authority to do business in the State and to enter 
into the Related Documents then in existence to which it is a party, to execute and deliver this 
Agreement and the other Related Documents to which it is a party, and to carry out and 
consummate all transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and has duly authorized the 
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Related Documents to which 
it is a party. 

(b) Officers’ Authorization.  As of the Effective Date and as of each WIFIA Loan 
Agreement Effective Date, the officers of the Borrower executing (or that previously executed) 
the Related Documents (and any certifications or instruments related thereto) to which the 
Borrower is a party are (or were at the time of such execution) duly and properly in office and fully 
authorized to execute the same. 

(c) Due Execution; Enforceability.  Each of the Related Documents in effect as of any 
date on which this representation and warranty is made, and to which the Borrower is a party has 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and constitutes the legal, valid and 
binding agreement of the Borrower enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as 
such enforceability (i) may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors 
generally and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity, the exercise of judicial discretion and 
the limitation on legal remedies against governmental entities imposed by the laws of the State 
(regardless of whether enforceability is considered in equity or at law). 

(d) Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery of the Related Documents to 
which the Borrower is a party, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Related 
Documents to which the Borrower is a party, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms 
and conditions of the Related Documents to which the Borrower is a party, will not (i) conflict 
with the Borrower’s Organizational Documents, (ii) conflict in any material respect with, or 
constitute a violation, breach or default (whether immediately or after notice or the passage of time 
or both) by the Borrower of or under, any applicable law, administrative rule or regulation, any 
applicable court or administrative decree or order, or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan 
agreement, lease, contract or other agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by 



 

 43 

which it or its properties or assets are otherwise subject or bound, or (iii) result in the creation or 
imposition of any Lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property 
or assets of the Borrower, other than Permitted Liens. 

(e) Consents and Approvals.  No consent or approval of any trustee, holder of any 
indebtedness of the Borrower, or of any other Person, and no consent, permission, authorization, 
order or license of, or filing or registration with, any Governmental Authority is necessary in 
connection with (i) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Related Documents to which 
it is a party, except as have been obtained or made and as are in full force and effect, or (ii) (A) the 
consummation of any transaction contemplated by any of the Related Documents to which the 
Borrower is a party, or (B) the fulfillment of or compliance by the Borrower with the terms and 
conditions of any of the Related Documents to which the Borrower is a party, except as have been 
obtained or made and as are in full force and effect or as are ministerial in nature and can 
reasonably be expected to be obtained or made in the ordinary course on commercially reasonable 
terms and conditions when needed. 

(f) Litigation.  Except as set forth in Schedule 12(f) (Litigation), there is no action, 
suit, proceeding or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any inquiry or investigation, in any case 
before or by any court or other Governmental Authority pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Borrower, threatened against or affecting (i) the Water System or the ability of the Borrower to 
execute, deliver and perform its obligations under the Related Documents to which the Borrower 
is a party or (ii) the Borrower or the assets, properties or operations of the Borrower, that in any 
case could reasonably be expected to result in a Borrower Material Adverse Effect. 

(g) Security Interests.  (i) This Agreement and Section 5451 of the California 
Government Code establish, and (ii) the Borrower has taken all necessary action to pledge, assign, 
and grant, in each case in favor of the WIFIA Lender, legal, valid, binding and enforceable Liens 
on the Borrower Revenues and the Borrower’s rights with respect to the WIFIA Debt Service 
Account purported to be created, pledged, assigned, and granted pursuant to and in accordance 
with this Agreement, irrespective of whether any Person has notice of the pledge and without the 
need for any physical delivery, recordation, filing, or further act.  Such Liens are in full force and 
effect and are the only Liens in respect of the Borrower Revenues or the Borrower’s rights with 
respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account.  The Borrower has taken all necessary action to assign 
to the WIFIA Lender all of its rights (A) to receive the Borrower Revenues, (B) with respect to the 
WIFIA Debt Service Account and (C) to enforce each WIFIA IPA upon an event of default under 
such WIFIA IPA without the need for any further act.  The Borrower is not in breach of any 
covenant set forth in Section 15(a) (Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower – Securing Liens) or 
in any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party with respect to the matters 
described in Section 15(a) (Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower – Securing Liens).  All 
documents and instruments have been recorded or filed for record in such manner and in such 
places as are required and all other action as is necessary or desirable has been taken to establish 
a legal, valid, binding, and enforceable Lien on the Borrower Revenues for the benefit of the 
WIFIA Lender, and all taxes and filing fees that are due and payable in connection with the 
execution, delivery or recordation of any WIFIA Loan Document or any instruments, certificates 
or financing statements in connection with the foregoing, have been paid.  Neither the attachment, 
validity, enforceability, priority or perfection of the security interest in the Borrower Revenues or 



 

 44 

the Borrower’s rights with respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account is governed by Article 9 
of the UCC. 

(h) No Debarment.  The Borrower has fully complied with its verification obligations 
under 2 C.F.R. § 180.320 and confirms, based on such verification, that, to its knowledge, neither 
the Borrower nor any of its principals (as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 180.995 and supplemented by 2 
C.F.R. § 1532.995) (i) is debarred, suspended or voluntarily excluded from participation in 
Government contracts, procurement or non-procurement matters; (ii) is presently indicted for or 
otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Governmental Authority with commission of any of 
the offenses listed in 2 C.F.R. § 180 or 2 C.F.R. § 1532; or (iii) has, within the three (3) year period 
preceding the Effective Date, (x) been convicted for or had a civil judgment rendered against the 
Borrower for any of the offenses within such period or (y) had any public transactions (federal, 
state or local) terminated for cause or default. 

(i) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.  The representations, warranties and 
certifications of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement and the other Related Documents to 
which the Borrower is a party are true, correct, and complete, except to the extent such 
representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such 
representations and warranties shall be true, correct, and complete as of such earlier date). 

(j) Compliance with Laws.  The Borrower has complied with all applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and requirements. 

(k) Credit Rating.  As of any WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, the 
corresponding WIFIA Loan has received a public Investment Grade Rating from at least one (1) 
Nationally Recognized Rating Agency, written evidence of such rating has been provided to the 
WIFIA Lender, and no such rating has been reduced, withdrawn or suspended. 

(l) No Defaults.  No Default or Event of Default, and no default or event of default by 
the Borrower under any other Related Document to which the Borrower is a party, has occurred 
and is continuing. 

(m) Information.  Neither the WIFIA Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a party, 
nor any documents, certificates or statements provided to the WIFIA Lender by representatives of 
the Borrower in connection with the transactions contemplated thereby, which for purposes of this 
Section 12(m) shall consist of all documents or statements related to the Application or the Master 
Program, cash flow schematics, responses to due diligence interrogatories or requests from the 
WIFIA Lender or its advisors, and documents uploaded to the online WIFIA SharePoint data room 
made accessible to the Borrower by the WIFIA Lender, to the extent such documents, certificates, 
statements or other materials relate to the Borrower (including its finances or operations) or the 
Master Program, contains any untrue statement of any material fact or omits to state any material 
fact necessary so as to make such WIFIA Loan Documents, documents, certificates, statements or 
other materials so provided to the WIFIA Lender, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading. 

(n) Insurance.  The Borrower is in compliance with all insurance obligations applicable 
to the Borrower required under each Related Document to which the Borrower is a party as of the 



 

 45 

date on which this representation and warranty is made.  To the extent the Borrower self-insures, 
the Borrower’s self-insurance program is actuarially sound. 

(o) No Prohibited Liens.  Except for Permitted Liens, the Borrower has not created, 
and is not under any obligation to create, and has not entered into any transaction or agreement 
that would result in the imposition of, any Lien on the Borrower Revenues or its rights with respect 
to the WIFIA Debt Service Account.  The Borrower Revenues and the Borrower’s rights with 
respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account are free and clear of any pledge, Lien, charge or 
encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto other than the pledge and Lien thereon for the benefit 
of the WIFIA Lender. 

(p) Borrower Financial Statements.  Commencing with the Borrower Financial 
Statements for the Borrower Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2023, each Borrower Financial 
Statement delivered to the WIFIA Lender by the Borrower pursuant to Section 19(a) (Reporting 
Requirements of the Borrower – Annual Financial Statements) has been, as of such delivery date, 
prepared in accordance with GAAP and presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
condition of the Borrower as of the respective dates of the balance sheets included therein and the 
results of operations of the Borrower for the respective periods covered by the statements of 
income included therein.  Except as reflected in such Borrower Financial Statements, there are no 
liabilities or obligations of the Borrower of any nature whatsoever for the periods to which such 
Borrower Financial Statements relate that are required to be disclosed in accordance with GAAP. 

(q) Securities Laws.  Under existing law, each WIFIA Note may be issued and sold 
without registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any State blue sky laws. 

(r) Sovereign Immunity.  The Borrower either has no immunity from the jurisdiction 
of any court of competent jurisdiction or from any legal process therein which could be asserted 
in any action to enforce the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Related Documents to 
which the Borrower is a party or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including the 
obligations of the Borrower hereunder and thereunder, or, to the extent that the Borrower has such 
immunity, the Borrower has waived such immunity pursuant to Section 15(h) (Affirmative 
Covenants of the Borrower – Immunity). 

(s) Taxes; No Federal Debt.  The Borrower has paid all applicable taxes and other 
material taxes and assessments payable by it that have become due (other than those taxes or 
assessments that it is contesting in good faith and by appropriate proceedings, for which adequate 
reserves have been established to the extent required by GAAP).  The Borrower has no delinquent 
federal debt (including tax liabilities but excluding any delinquencies that have been resolved with 
the appropriate federal agency in accordance with the standards of the Debt Collection 
Improvement Act of 1996). 

(t) No Lobbying.  Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 1352, to the best of the Borrower’s 
knowledge and belief, (i) no Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on 
behalf of the Borrower, to any Person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a member (or employee of a member), officer, or employee of the 
Congress, in connection with the making of any WIFIA Loan, execution (including amendments 
or modifications) of any WIFIA Loan Document, or any other federal action under 31 U.S.C. § 



 

 46 

1352(a)(2); and (ii) if any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 
paid to any Person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, 
a member (or employee of a member), officer, or employee of the Congress in connection with 
any WIFIA Loan, the Borrower has completed and submitted to the WIFIA Lender Standard Form-
LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

(u) Existing Water System Indebtedness.  As of the Effective Date, except as set forth 
in Schedule 12(u) (Existing Water System Indebtedness), no indebtedness of the Borrower with 
respect to the Water System is outstanding. 

(v) Senior Obligations.  (i) The only Outstanding Obligations that are senior to the 
WIFIA Loan are the Senior Obligations and no other Obligations senior to the WIFIA Loan are 
permitted or will be incurred (except for Refunding Senior Obligations issued in accordance 
herewith) and (ii) no Senior Project Obligations exist and no proceeds from the Senior Obligations 
have been used to pay any Total Project Costs. 

Section 13. Representations and Warranties of the District.  The District hereby represents and 
warrants that, as of the Effective Date (other than with respect to the representations and warranties 
contained in the first sentence of Section 13(m) (Representations and Warranties of the District – 
Construction Contracts) and Section 13(o) (Representations and Warranties of the District – 
Credit Rating)) and as of each WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date (other than with respect to 
the representations and warranties contained in the first sentence of Section 13(w) 
(Representations and Warranties of the District – Existing Obligations)) and, as to each of the 
representations and warranties other than those (x) contained in Section 13(b) (Representations 
and Warranties of the District – Officers’ Authorization), the first sentence of Section 13(f) 
(Representations and Warranties of the District – Litigation), the first sentence of Section 13(m) 
(Representations and Warranties of the District – Construction Contracts), Section 13(o) 
(Representations and Warranties of the District – Credit Rating) and the first sentence of Section 
13(w) (Representations and Warranties of the District – Existing Obligations) or (y) which 
expressly relate only to the Borrower, as of each date on which any disbursement of a WIFIA Loan 
is requested or made: 

(a) Organization; Power and Authority.  The District (i) is an irrigation district duly 
organized and validly existing under the laws of the State, (ii) has full legal right, power and 
authority (A) to do business in the State and to enter into the Related Documents then in existence 
to which it is a party, (B) to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Related Documents 
to which it is a party, and (C) to carry out and consummate all transactions contemplated hereby 
and thereby, and (iii) has duly authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement and the other Related Documents to which it is a party. 

(b) Officers’ Authorization.  As of the Effective Date and as of each WIFIA Loan 
Agreement Effective Date, the officers of the District executing (or that previously executed) the 
Related Documents (and any certifications or instruments related thereto) to which the District is 
a party are (or were at the time of such execution) duly and properly in office and fully authorized 
to execute the same. 



 

 47 

(c) Due Execution; Enforceability.  Each of the Related Documents in effect as of any 
date on which this representation and warranty is made, and to which the District is a party has 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District and constitutes the legal, valid and 
binding agreement of the District enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as 
such enforceability (i) may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors 
generally and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity, the exercise of judicial discretion and 
the limitation on legal remedies against governmental entities imposed by the laws of the State 
(regardless of whether enforceability is considered in equity or at law). 

(d) Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery of the Related Documents to 
which the District is a party, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Related 
Documents to which the District is a party, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 
conditions of the Related Documents to which the District is a party, will not (i) conflict with the 
District’s Organizational Documents, (ii) conflict in any material respect with, or constitute a 
violation, breach or default (whether immediately or after notice or the passage of time or both) 
by the District of or under, any applicable law, administrative rule or regulation, any applicable 
court or administrative decree or order, or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement, 
lease, contract or other agreement or instrument to which the District is a party or by which it or 
its properties or assets are otherwise subject or bound, or (iii) result in the creation or imposition 
of any Lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets 
of the District, other than Permitted Liens. 

(e) Consents and Approvals.  No consent or approval of any trustee, holder of any 
indebtedness of the District or of any other Person, and no consent, permission, authorization, 
order or license of, or filing or registration with, any Governmental Authority is necessary in 
connection with (i) the execution and delivery by the District of the Related Documents to which 
it is a party, except as have been obtained or made and as are in full force and effect, or (ii) (A) the 
consummation of any transaction contemplated by any of the Related Documents to which the 
District is a party, or (B) the fulfillment of or compliance by the District with the terms and 
conditions of any of the Related Documents to which the District is a party, except as have been 
obtained or made and as are in full force and effect or as are ministerial in nature and can 
reasonably be expected to be obtained or made in the ordinary course on commercially reasonable 
terms and conditions when needed. 

(f) Litigation.  Except as set forth in Schedule 12(f) (Litigation), there is no action, 
suit, proceeding or, to the knowledge of the District, any inquiry or investigation, in any case 
before or by any court or other Governmental Authority pending or, to the knowledge of the 
District, threatened against or affecting (i) the Water System (including the Master Program) or 
the ability of the District to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under the Related 
Documents to which the District is a party or (ii) the District or the assets, properties or operations 
of the District, that in any case could reasonably be expected to result in a District Material Adverse 
Effect. 

(g) Security Interests.  (i) Each WIFIA IPA and Section 5451 of the California 
Government Code establish, and (ii) the District has taken all necessary action to pledge, assign, 
and grant, in each case in favor of the Borrower, legal, valid, binding and enforceable Liens on the 



 

 48 

Pledged Collateral purported to be created, pledged, assigned, and granted pursuant to and in 
accordance with such WIFIA IPA, irrespective of whether any Person has notice of the pledge and 
without the need for any physical delivery, recordation, filing, or further act.  The Liens on the 
Pledged Collateral in favor of the Borrower are in full force and effect and are (A) not senior to 
any other Liens in respect of the Pledged Collateral for the benefit of the Senior Obligations and 
(B) not pari passu with any Liens in respect of the Pledged Collateral other than the Liens on the 
Pledged Collateral for the benefit of the Parity Obligations.  The Lien on the WIFIA Debt Service 
Account in favor of the Borrower is the only Lien with respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account.  
The District is not in breach of any covenant set forth in Section 17(b) (Affirmative Covenants of 
the District – Securing Liens) or in any WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party 
with respect to the matters described in Section 17(b) (Affirmative Covenants of the District – 
Securing Liens).  All documents and instruments have been recorded or filed for record in such 
manner and in such places as are required and all other action as is necessary or desirable has been 
taken to establish a legal, valid, binding, and enforceable Lien on the Pledged Collateral for the 
benefit of the Borrower, and all taxes and filing fees that are due and payable in connection with 
the execution, delivery or recordation of any WIFIA Loan Document or any instruments, 
certificates or financing statements in connection with the foregoing, have been paid.  Neither the 
attachment, validity, enforceability, priority or perfection of the security interest in the Pledged 
Collateral granted pursuant to any WIFIA IPA is governed by Article 9 of the UCC. 

(h) No Debarment.  The District has fully complied with its verification obligations 
under 2 C.F.R. § 180.320 and confirms, based on such verification, that, to its knowledge, neither 
the District nor any of its principals (as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 180.995 and supplemented by 2 
C.F.R. § 1532.995) is (i) debarred, suspended or voluntarily excluded from participation in 
Government contracts, procurement or non-procurement matters, (ii) is presently indicted for or 
otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Governmental Authority with commission of any of 
the offenses listed in 2 C.F.R. § 180 or 2 C.F.R. § 1532; or (iii) has, within the three (3) year period 
preceding the Effective Date, (x) been convicted for or had a civil judgment rendered against the 
District for any of the offenses within such period or (y) had any public transactions (federal, state 
or local) terminated for cause or default. 

(i) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.  The representations, warranties and 
certifications of the District set forth in this Agreement and the other Related Documents to which 
the District is a party are true, correct, and complete, except to the extent such representations and 
warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such representations and warranties 
shall be true, correct, and complete as of such earlier date). 

(j) Compliance with Laws.   

(i) The District has complied, and has required its contractors and 
subcontractors at all tiers with respect to the Master Program to comply, with all applicable laws, 
rules, regulations and requirements, including 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144, 3146, and 3147 (relating 
to Davis-Bacon Act requirements) (and regulations relating thereto), 33 U.S.C. § 3914 (relating to 
American iron and steel products), 20 C.F.R. § 180.320 and 20 C.F.R. §1532 (relating to non-
debarment), 31 U.S.C. §1352 (relating to non-lobbying), and any applicable Sanctions Laws. 



 

 49 

(ii) To ensure such compliance, the District has included in all contracts with 
respect to the Master Program (A) the contract clauses relating to the Davis-Bacon Act 
requirements that are set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29 Part 5.5 and (B) 
requirements that its contractors shall (1) comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and 
requirements set forth in this Section 13(j) and follow applicable federal guidance and (2) 
incorporate in all subcontracts (and cause all subcontractors to include in lower tier subcontracts) 
such terms and conditions as are required to be incorporated therein by any applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and requirements set forth in this Section 13(j) (including with respect to the Davis-
Bacon Act requirements). 

(iii) The District is in compliance with all laws applicable to the Water System 
(including the Master Program) relating to environmental, health or safety matters (collectively, 
the “Environmental Laws”). 

(k) No Defaults.  No Default or Event of Default, and no default or event of default by 
the District under any other Related Document to which the District is a party, has occurred and is 
continuing. 

(l) Governmental Approvals.  All Governmental Approvals required as of the 
Effective Date and required as of any subsequent date on which this representation is made (or 
deemed made) for the undertaking and completion by the District, as agent of the Borrower 
pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, of the Master Program, and for the operation and management 
thereof, have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect and there is no basis for, 
nor proceeding that is pending or threatened that could reasonably be expected to result in, the 
revocation of or a default under any such Governmental Approval. 

(m) Construction Contracts.  As of any WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, 
attached as Schedule 13(m) (Existing Construction Contracts) to the applicable WIFIA Loan 
Agreement is a list of the Existing Construction Contracts.  With respect to each Construction 
Contract executed as of any date on which this representation and warranty is made, such 
Construction Contract is in full force and effect. 

(n) Information.  Neither the WIFIA Loan Documents to which the District is a party, 
nor any documents, certificates or statements provided to the WIFIA Lender by representatives of 
the District in connection with the transactions contemplated thereby, which for purposes of this 
Section 13(n) shall consist of all financial models, project budgets, documents or statements related 
to the Application or the Master Program, cash flow schematics, responses to due diligence 
interrogatories or requests from the WIFIA Lender or its advisors, and documents uploaded to any 
data room made accessible to the District by the WIFIA Lender (or its advisors) or provided to the 
WIFIA Lender in an electronic written communication, to the extent such documents, certificates, 
statements or other materials relate to the District (including its finances or operations) or the 
Master Program, contains any untrue statement of any material fact or omits to state any material 
fact necessary so as to make such WIFIA Loan Documents, documents, certificates, statements or 
other materials so provided to the WIFIA Lender, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading. 



 

 50 

(o) Credit Rating.  As of any WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, the 
corresponding WIFIA Loan has received a public Investment Grade Rating from at least one (1) 
Nationally Recognized Rating Agency, written evidence of such rating has been provided to the 
WIFIA Lender, and no such rating has been reduced, withdrawn or suspended. 

(p) Insurance.  The District is in compliance with all insurance obligations required 
under each Related Document to which the District is a party as of the date on which this 
representation and warranty is made.  To the extent the District self-insures, the District’s self-
insurance program is actuarially sound. 

(q) No Prohibited Liens.  Except for Permitted Liens, the District has not created, and 
is not under any obligation to create, and has not entered into any transaction or agreement that 
would result in the imposition of, any Lien on the Pledged Collateral, the Water System, the Master 
Program or the properties or assets in relation to the Master Program. 

(r) District Financial Statements.  Each District Financial Statement delivered to the 
WIFIA Lender by the District pursuant to Section 20(b) (Reporting Requirements of the District – 
Annual Financial Statements) has been prepared in accordance with GAAP and presents fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial condition of the District as of the respective dates of the balance 
sheets included therein and the results of operations of the District for the respective periods 
covered by the statements of income included therein.  Except as reflected in such District 
Financial Statements, there are no liabilities or obligations of the District of any nature whatsoever 
for the periods to which such District Financial Statements relate that are required to be disclosed 
in accordance with GAAP. 

(s) Sufficient Funds.  The amount of the WIFIA Loans, when combined with all other 
funds committed for the design/planning, development, completion and construction of the 
Projects as set forth under the various sources of funds in the Project Budgets and identified in the 
Base Case Financial Model, will be sufficient to carry out the Master Program, pay all Total Project 
Costs anticipated for the design/planning, development, completion and construction of the 
Projects and achieve Substantial Completion with respect to each Project by the Projected 
Substantial Completion Date with respect to such Project.  The total federal assistance provided to 
each Project, including the maximum principal amount of the WIFIA Loan for such Project 
(excluding any interest that is capitalized in accordance with the terms hereof), does not exceed 
eighty percent (80%) of Total Project Costs for such Project.  The Updated Financial Model/Plan 
most recently delivered to the WIFIA Lender pursuant to Section 20(a) (Reporting Requirements 
of the District – Updated Financial Model/Plan) demonstrates that the projected Water Revenues 
and Borrower Revenues are sufficient to meet the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule for each 
Project.  The District has developed, and identified adequate revenues to implement, a plan for 
operating, maintaining, and repairing each Project over the useful life of such Project. 

(t) Sovereign Immunity.  The District either has no immunity from the jurisdiction of 
any court of competent jurisdiction or from any legal process therein which could be asserted in 
any action to enforce the obligations of the District under any of the Related Documents to which 
the District is a party or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including the obligations 
of the District hereunder and thereunder, or, to the extent that the District has such immunity, the 



 

 51 

District has waived such immunity pursuant to Section 17(n) (Affirmative Covenants of the District 
– Immunity). 

(u) Taxes; No Federal Debt.  The District has paid all applicable taxes and other 
material taxes and assessments payable by it that have become due (other than those taxes or 
assessments that it is contesting in good faith and by appropriate proceedings, for which adequate 
reserves have been established to the extent required by GAAP).  The District has no delinquent 
federal debt (including tax liabilities but excluding any delinquencies that have been resolved with 
the appropriate federal agency in accordance with the standards of the Debt Collection 
Improvement Act of 1996). 

(v) No Lobbying.  Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 1352, to the best of the District’s knowledge 
and belief, (i) no Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
District, to any Person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an 
agency, a member (or employee of a member), officer, or employee of the Congress, in connection 
with the making of any WIFIA Loan, execution (including amendments or modifications) of any 
WIFIA Loan Document, or any other federal action under 31 U.S.C. § 1352(a)(2); and (ii) if any 
funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any Person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member (or 
employee of a member), officer, or employee of the Congress in connection with any WIFIA Loan, 
the District has completed and submitted to the WIFIA Lender Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure 
Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

(w) Existing Obligations.  As of the Effective Date, except as set forth in Schedule 
12(u) (Existing Water System Indebtedness), no Obligations of the District are Outstanding. 

(x) Senior Obligations.  (i) The only Outstanding Obligations that are senior to the 
WIFIA Loan are the Senior Obligations and no other Obligations senior to the WIFIA Loan are 
permitted or will be incurred (except for Refunding Senior Obligations issued in accordance 
herewith) and (ii) no Senior Project Obligations exist and no proceeds from the Senior Obligations 
have been used to pay any Total Project Costs. 

Section 14. Representations and Warranties of WIFIA Lender.   

The WIFIA Lender represents and warrants that: 

(a) Power and Authority.  The WIFIA Lender has all requisite power and authority to 
make each WIFIA Loan and to perform all transactions contemplated by the Related Documents 
to which it is a party. 

(b) Due Execution; Enforceability.  The Related Documents to which it is a party have 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the WIFIA Lender, and are legally valid and 
binding agreements of the WIFIA Lender, enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(c) Officers’ Authorization.  The officers of the WIFIA Lender executing each of the 
Related Documents to which the WIFIA Lender is a party are duly and properly in office and fully 
authorized to execute the same on behalf of the WIFIA Lender. 



 

 52 

ARTICLE V 
COVENANTS 

Section 15. Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower.  The Borrower covenants and agrees as 
follows until the date each WIFIA Note and all of the obligations of the Borrower under this 
Agreement and each WIFIA Loan Agreement (other than contingent indemnity obligations to the 
extent applicable) are irrevocably paid in full by the Borrower in immediately available funds and 
the WIFIA Lender no longer has any commitment to make disbursements to the Borrower, unless 
the WIFIA Lender waives compliance in writing: 

(a) Securing Liens.  The Borrower shall at any and all times, to the extent permitted by 
law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, all and every such further resolutions, acts, 
deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable in 
connection with assuring, conveying, granting, assigning, securing and confirming the Liens on 
the Borrower Revenues (whether now existing or hereafter arising) and the Borrower’s rights with 
respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account granted to the WIFIA Lender for its benefit pursuant 
to the WIFIA Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a party, or intended so to be granted 
pursuant to the WIFIA Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a party, or which the Borrower 
may become bound to grant, and the Borrower shall at all times maintain the Borrower Revenues 
and its rights with respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account free and clear of any pledge, Lien, 
charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto other than the Liens with respect to the 
WIFIA Loans, and all organizational, regulatory or other necessary action on the part of the 
Borrower to that end shall be duly and validly taken at all times.  The Borrower shall at all times, 
to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the Liens on the Borrower Revenues 
granted pursuant to the WIFIA Loan Documents and for the benefit of the WIFIA Lender under 
the WIFIA Loan Documents against all claims and demands of all Persons whomsoever. 

(b) Use of Proceeds.  The Borrower shall use, and shall cause the District pursuant to 
the relevant WIFIA IPA to use, the proceeds of each WIFIA Loan solely for purposes permitted 
by this Agreement and the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

(c) Verification Requirements.  The Borrower shall comply with Subpart C of 2 C.F.R. 
Part 180, as supplemented by Subpart C of 2 C.F.R. Part 1532 (relating to debarment), including 
the verification requirements set forth in 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.300 and 180.320, and shall include in its 
contracts with respect to each Project similar terms or requirements for compliance. 

(d) Operation of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall at all times do or cause to be done 
all things necessary to obtain, preserve, renew, extend and keep in full force and effect the 
Governmental Approvals and any other rights, licenses, franchises, and authorizations material to 
the conduct of its business. 

(e) Maintain Legal Structure.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as a joint 
exercise of powers agency organized and existing under its Organizational Documents and the 
relevant laws of the State. 

(f) Compliance with Laws.  The Borrower shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and requirements. 



 

 53 

(g) Material Obligations; Payment of Claims.   

(i) The Borrower shall pay its material obligations with respect to the Water 
System promptly and in accordance with their terms. 

(ii) The Borrower shall pay and discharge promptly all taxes, assessments and 
governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon the Borrower Revenues, before the same 
shall become delinquent or in default; provided that such payment and discharge shall not be 
required with respect to any such tax, assessment, charge, levy,  claim or Lien so long as the 
validity or amount thereof shall be contested by the Borrower in good faith by appropriate 
proceedings and so long as the Borrower shall have set aside adequate reserves with respect thereto 
in accordance with and to the extent required by GAAP, applied on a consistent basis. 

(iii) The Borrower shall pay and discharge any and all lawful claims for labor, 
materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a Lien on the Borrower Revenues. 

(h) Immunity.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower agrees 
that it shall not assert any immunity (and hereby waives any such immunity) it may have as a 
governmental entity from lawsuits, other actions and claims, and any judgments with respect to 
the enforcement of any of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or any other 
WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party. 

(i) Accounting and Audit Procedures.   

(i) The Borrower shall establish fiscal controls and accounting procedures 
sufficient to assure proper accounting for Borrower Revenues, debt issued and outstanding and 
debt payments.  The Borrower shall use accounting, audit and fiscal procedures conforming to 
GAAP, including, with respect to the WIFIA Loans, accounting of principal and interest payments, 
disbursements, prepayments and calculation of interest and principal amounts Outstanding. 

(ii) The Borrower (or the District on behalf of the Borrower) shall have a single 
or program-specific audit conducted in accordance with 2 C.F.R. Part 200 Subpart F and 31 U.S.C. 
§ 7502 from (and including) the first Borrower Fiscal Year in which a disbursement is made under 
the initial WIFIA Loan Agreement and annually thereafter to the extent required by applicable 
law, except to the extent biennial audits are permitted for the Borrower pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 
200.504 and 31 U.S.C. § 7502(b).  Upon reasonable notice, the Borrower (or the District on behalf 
of the Borrower) shall cooperate fully in the conduct of any periodic or compliance audits 
conducted by the WIFIA Lender, or designees thereof, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 35, 31 U.S.C. § 
7503(b), or 31 U.S.C. § 6503(h) and shall provide full access to any books, documents, papers or 
other records that are pertinent to the WIFIA Loans, to the WIFIA Lender, or the designee thereof, 
for any such project or programmatic audit. 

(j) Access; Records.   

(i) So long as any WIFIA Loan or any portion thereof shall remain outstanding 
and until five (5) years after such WIFIA Loan shall have been paid in full, the WIFIA Lender 
shall have the right, upon reasonable prior notice, to examine books of account and records of the 
Borrower relating to the relevant Project, to make copies and extracts therefrom at the District’s 



 

 54 

expense, and to discuss the Borrower’s affairs, finances and accounts relating to such WIFIA Loan 
with, and to be advised as to the same by, its officers and employees and its independent public 
accountants (and by this provision the Borrower irrevocably authorizes its independent public 
accountants to discuss with the WIFIA Lender the affairs, finances and accounts of the Borrower, 
whether or not any representative of the Borrower is present, it being understood that nothing 
contained in this Section 15(j) is intended to confer any right to exclude any such representative 
from such discussions), all at such reasonable times and intervals as the WIFIA Lender may 
request. 

(ii) The Borrower shall maintain and retain all pertinent files relating to the 
WIFIA Loans, as may be necessary for the WIFIA Lender to facilitate an effective and accurate 
audit and performance evaluation of the Master Program, until five (5) years after the later of the 
date on which (A) all rights and duties under this Agreement and under the WIFIA Loan 
Agreements and the corresponding WIFIA Notes (including payments) have been fulfilled and 
any required audits have been performed and (B) any litigation relating to the Master Program, the 
WIFIA Loans, this Agreement or the WIFIA Loan Agreements is finally resolved or, if the WIFIA 
Lender has reasonable cause to extend such date, a date to be mutually agreed upon by the WIFIA 
Lender and the Borrower. 

(k) Compliance with Contracts.  The Borrower shall comply with, keep, observe and 
perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, required to be 
performed by it contained in all contracts affecting or involving the Water System (including the 
Master Program), to the extent that the Borrower is a party thereto. 

(l) Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall adopt, deliver, execute and make any and 
all further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper to 
carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance hereof and of the WIFIA Loan Agreements 
and for the better assuring and confirming unto the WIFIA Lender the rights and benefits provided 
to it herein and in the WIFIA Loan Agreements. 

Section 16. Negative Covenants of the Borrower.  The Borrower covenants and agrees as 
follows until the date each WIFIA Note and all of the obligations of the Borrower under this 
Agreement and each WIFIA Loan Agreement (other than contingent indemnity obligations to the 
extent applicable) are irrevocably paid in full by the Borrower in immediately available funds and 
the WIFIA Lender no longer has any commitment to make disbursements to the Borrower, unless 
the WIFIA Lender waives compliance in writing: 

(a) No Lien Extinguishment or Adverse Amendments.  The Borrower shall not, and 
shall not permit any Person to, without the prior written consent of the WIFIA Lender, (i) 
extinguish or impair the Liens on the Borrower Revenues or the Borrower’s rights with respect to 
the WIFIA Debt Service Account granted pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) amend, modify, 
terminate, assign, replace or supplement, or permit a waiver of any provision of, any WIFIA IPA, 
(iii) amend, modify, replace or supplement any Related Document to which the Borrower is a party 
(other than any WIFIA IPA) or permit a waiver of any provision thereof in a manner that could 
adversely affect the WIFIA Lender or could reasonably be expected to result in a Borrower 
Material Adverse Effect, or (iv) terminate or assign any Related Document to which the Borrower 
is a party (other than any WIFIA IPA) in a manner that could adversely affect the WIFIA Lender 



 

 55 

or could reasonably be expected to have a Borrower Material Adverse Effect.  The Borrower shall 
not take or omit to take any action under any contract if the effect of such act or failure to act 
would in any manner impair or adversely affect the ability of the District to secure adequate Water 
Revenues to meet the requirements of the WIFIA Loan Documents. 

(b) No Prohibited Liens.  Except for the Liens with respect to the WIFIA Loans for the 
benefit of the WIFIA Lender, the Borrower shall not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any 
Lien on the Borrower Revenues or its rights with respect to the WIFIA Debt Service Account. 

(c) Borrower Fiscal Year.  The Borrower shall not at any time adopt any fiscal year 
other than the Borrower Fiscal Year, except with thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the WIFIA 
Lender. 

(d) Hedging.  The Borrower shall not enter into any swap or hedging transaction that 
is speculative or creates extraordinary leverage or risk, without the prior written consent of the 
WIFIA Lender. 

Section 17. Affirmative Covenants of the District.  The District covenants and agrees as follows 
until the date each WIFIA Note and all of the obligations of the Borrower and the District under 
this Agreement and each WIFIA Loan Agreement (other than contingent indemnity obligations to 
the extent applicable) are irrevocably paid in full by the Borrower and the District in immediately 
available funds and the WIFIA Lender no longer has any commitment to make disbursements to 
the Borrower or the District, unless the WIFIA Lender waives compliance in writing: 

(a) Rate Covenant.   

(i) The District, to the fullest extent permitted by law, shall, at all times, fix, 
prescribe and collect Water Revenues for Water Service which shall be at least sufficient to yield 
during each District Fiscal Year Net Water Revenues equal to one hundred ten percent (110%) of 
Debt Service and one hundred percent (100%) of Policy Costs (the “Rate Covenant”).   

(ii) For the purpose of computing the amount of Net Water Revenues for any 
District Fiscal Year under the Rate Covenant described above, (i) amounts transferred from the 
Water Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund during such District Fiscal Year shall be 
included and (ii) amounts transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Water Revenue Fund 
shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of Debt Service payable in the applicable District Fiscal Year; 
provided that no amounts transferred to or from the Rate Stabilization Funding during such District 
Fiscal Year shall be double-counted for purposes of such computation. 

(iii) In accordance with Section 6.13 (Collection of Rates and Charges) of each 
WIFIA IPA, the District will have in effect at all times by-laws, rules and regulations requiring 
each customer to pay the rates and charges applicable to the Water Service and providing for the 
billing thereof and for a due date and a delinquency date for each bill. 

(b) Securing Liens.  The District shall at any and all times, to the extent permitted by 
law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, all and every such further resolutions, acts, 
deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable in 
connection with assuring, conveying, granting, assigning, securing and confirming the Liens on 



 

 56 

the Pledged Collateral (whether now existing or hereafter arising) granted to the Borrower for its 
benefit pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, or intended so to be granted pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, or 
which the District may become bound to grant, and the District shall at all times maintain the 
Pledged Collateral free and clear of any pledge, Lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with 
respect thereto that has priority over, or equal rank with, the Liens created by such WIFIA IPA, 
other than as permitted by this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and such WIFIA 
IPA, and all organizational, regulatory or other necessary action on the part of the District to that 
end shall be duly and validly taken at all times.  The District shall at all times, to the extent 
permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the Liens on the Pledged Collateral granted for the 
benefit of the Borrower pursuant to each WIFIA IPA against all claims and demands of all Persons 
whomsoever, subject to Permitted Liens. 

(c) Use of Proceeds.  The District shall use the proceeds of each WIFIA Loan solely 
for purposes permitted by applicable law, the relevant WIFIA IPA and the other Related 
Documents to which the District is a party. 

(d) Prosecution of Work; Verification Requirements.   

(i) The District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, shall 
diligently prosecute the work relating to, and complete, each Project in accordance with the 
Construction Schedule for such Project, the Governmental Approvals in connection with such 
Project, and the highest standards of the District’s industry. 

(ii) The District shall comply with Subpart C of 2 C.F.R. Part 180, as 
supplemented by Subpart C of 2 C.F.R. Part 1532 (relating to debarment), including the 
verification requirements set forth in 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.300 and 180.320, and shall include in its 
contracts with respect to each Project similar terms or requirements for compliance. 

(e) Maintenance and Operation of the Water System.  The District shall maintain and 
preserve the Projects and the Water System in good repair and working order at all times, operate 
the Project and the Water System in an efficient and economical manner and substantially in 
accordance with its maintenance and operation plan (that incorporates the Master Program) and 
pay all Operation and Maintenance Costs as they become due and payable.  The District shall at 
all times do or cause to be done all things necessary to obtain, preserve, renew, extend and keep in 
full force and effect the Governmental Approvals and any other rights, licenses, franchises, and 
authorizations material to the conduct of its business. 

(f) Insurance; Eminent Domain; Net Proceeds.   

(i) Insurance; Net Proceeds. 

(A) The District shall procure and maintain or cause to be procured and 
maintained insurance on the Water System with responsible insurers in such amounts and against 
such risks (including accident to or destruction of the Water System) as are usually covered in 
connection with facilities that are similar to the Water System so long as such insurance is available 
from reputable insurance companies at reasonable rates. 



 

 57 

(B) The District shall procure and maintain such other insurance which 
it shall deem advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the Borrower, which 
insurance shall afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are usually covered in 
connection with municipal facilities similar to the Water System. 

(C) Any insurance required to be maintained by Section 17(f)(i)(A) and 
Section 17(f)(i)(B) above may be maintained under a self-insurance program so long as such self-
insurance is maintained in the amounts and manner usually maintained in connection with 
facilities, properties, structures and works similar to the Water System and is, in the opinion of an 
accredited actuary, actuarially sound. 

(D) Except for any self-insurance, the District shall cause (1) all 
liability insurance policies that it maintains (excluding property damage, automobile or workers’ 
compensation insurance), to reflect the WIFIA Lender as an additional insured to the extent of its 
insurable interest and (2) all required insurance policies to provide that the Borrower shall be given 
thirty (30) days’ written notice of any intended cancellation thereof or reduction of coverage 
provided thereby (and promptly upon receipt of such notice, the Borrower shall deliver to the 
WIFIA Lender a copy of such notice). 

(E) Promptly upon request by the WIFIA Lender, the District shall 
deliver to the WIFIA Lender certificates of insurance and copies of any underlying insurance 
policies obtained by or on behalf of the Borrower or the District in respect of Master Program or, 
as applicable, a letter of self-insurance.  All such insurance policies shall be available at all 
reasonable times for inspection by the WIFIA Lender, its agents and representatives. 

(F) In the event of any damage to or destruction of the Water System 
caused by the perils covered by any insurance on the Water System, the Net Proceeds thereof shall 
be applied to the reconstruction, repair or replacement of the damaged or destroyed portion of the 
Water System.  The District shall begin such reconstruction, repair or replacement promptly after 
such damage or destruction shall occur, and shall continue and properly complete such 
reconstruction, repair or replacement as expeditiously as possible, and shall pay out of such Net 
Proceeds all costs and expenses in connection with such reconstruction, repair or replacement so 
that the same shall be completed and the Water System shall be free and clear of all claims and 
Liens. 

(G) If such Net Proceeds exceed the costs of such reconstruction, repair 
or replacement portion of the Water System, and/or the cost of the construction of additions, 
betterments, extensions or improvements to the Water System, then the excess Net Proceeds shall 
be applied in part to the prepayment of each WIFIA Loan as provided in Section 9(a) (Prepayment 
– Mandatory Prepayment from Insurance Proceeds or Eminent Domain Proceeds) and in part to 
such other funds or accounts as may be appropriate and used for the retirement of the Obligations 
(other than the WIFIA Loans) in the same proportion which the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance 
for such WIFIA Loan then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Obligations (other 
than the WIFIA Loans).  If such Net Proceeds are sufficient to enable the District to retire the 
entire Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance (and all interest accrued thereon) for each WIFIA Loan 
prior to the Final Maturity Date of such WIFIA Loan as well as all Obligations then remaining 
unpaid prior to their final respective due dates, the District may elect not to reconstruct, repair or 



 

 58 

replace the damaged or destroyed portion of the Water System, and thereupon such Net Proceeds 
shall be applied to the prepayment in full of such WIFIA Loan as provided in Section 9(a) 
(Prepayment – Mandatory Prepayment from Insurance Proceeds or Eminent Domain Proceeds) 
and to the retirement in full of all Obligations. 

(ii) Eminent Domain; Net Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Water System shall 
be taken by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows:  

(A) If (1) the District files with the Borrower and the WIFIA Lender a 
certificate showing (x) the estimated loss of annual Net Water Revenues, if any, suffered or to be 
suffered by the District by reason of such eminent domain proceedings, (y) a general description 
of the additions, betterments, extensions or improvements to the Water System proposed to be 
acquired and constructed by the District from such Net Proceeds, and (z) an estimate of the 
additional annual Net Water Revenues to be derived from such additions, betterments, extensions 
or improvements, and (2) the District, on the basis of such certificate filed with the Borrower and 
the WIFIA Lender, determines that the estimated additional annual Net Water Revenues will 
sufficiently offset the estimated loss of annual Net Water Revenues resulting from such eminent 
domain proceedings so that the ability of the District to meet its obligations hereunder will not be 
substantially impaired (which determination shall be final and conclusive), then the District shall 
promptly proceed with the acquisition and construction of such additions, betterments, extensions 
or improvements substantially in accordance with such certificate and such Net Proceeds shall be 
applied for the payment of the costs of such acquisition and construction, and any balance of such 
Net Proceeds not required by the District for such purpose shall be deposited in the Water Revenue 
Fund. 

(B) If any of the conditions set forth in Section 17(s)(i) above are not 
met, then such Net Proceeds shall be applied by the District in part to the prepayment of the WIFIA 
Loan as provided in Section 9(a) (Prepayment – Mandatory Prepayment from Insurance Proceeds 
or Eminent Domain Proceeds) and in part to such other funds or accounts as may be appropriate 
and used for the retirement of the Obligations (other than the WIFIA Loan) in the same proportion 
which the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal amount 
of the Obligations (other than the WIFIA Loan). 

(g) Maintain Legal Structure.  The District shall maintain its existence as an irrigation 
district organized and existing under its Organizational Documents and the laws of the State. 

(h) Water Revenue Fund; Permitted Investments.   

(i) The District shall maintain the Water Revenue Fund in accordance with the 
terms hereof and the other WIFIA Loan Documents.  All Water Revenues received shall be 
deposited in the Water Revenue Fund when and as received in trust for the benefit of the holders 
of the Obligations, subject to the application of Water Revenues in accordance with Section 5.2 
(Allocation of Water Revenues) of each WIFIA IPA.  The District shall maintain and hold separate 
and apart from other funds the Water Revenue Fund so long as any Obligations remain unpaid. 
Moneys in the Water Revenue Fund shall be used and applied by the District as provided in the 
Flow of Funds. 



 

 59 

(ii) All moneys held by the District in the Water Revenue Fund shall be invested 
in Permitted Investments and the investment earnings thereon shall remain on deposit in such fund, 
except as otherwise provided herein. 

(i) WIFIA Debt Service Account.  The District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to 
each WIFIA IPA, shall (i) establish the “WIFIA Debt Service Account” on or prior to the Effective 
Date and (ii) maintain the WIFIA Debt Service Account in accordance with such WIFIA IPA for 
the benefit of the Borrower.  The WIFIA Debt Service Account shall be subject to a Lien and has 
been pledged by the District under such WIFIA IPA to the Borrower as security solely for the 
benefit of the Borrower and shall not be subject to any security interest in favor of any Person 
other than the Borrower.  Amounts on deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service Account shall be applied 
by the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to such WIFIA IPA, solely to pay WIFIA Debt 
Service and other amounts due with respect to the applicable WIFIA Loan or WIFIA Note. 

(j) Compliance with Laws.   

(i) The District shall, and shall require the contractors and subcontractors at all 
tiers with respect to the Master Program to, comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
requirements, including 40 U.S.C. §§3141-3144, 3146, and 3147 (relating to Davis-Bacon Act 
requirements) (and regulations relating thereto), 33 U.S.C. §3914 (relating to American iron and 
steel products), 20 C.F.R. § 180.320 and 20 C.F.R. §1532 (relating to non-debarment), 31 U.S.C. 
§1352 (relating to non-lobbying), and any applicable Sanctions Laws. 

(ii) To ensure such compliance, the District shall include in all contracts with 
respect to the Master Program (A) the contract clauses relating to the Davis-Bacon Act 
requirements that are set forth in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 29 Part 5.5 and (B) 
requirements that its contractors (1) shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and 
requirements set forth in this Section 17(j) and follow applicable federal guidance and (2) 
incorporate in all subcontracts (and cause all subcontractors to include in lower tier subcontracts) 
such terms and conditions as are required to be incorporated therein by any applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and requirements set forth in this Section 17(j) (including with respect to the Davis-
Bacon Act requirements). 

(k) Material Obligations; Payment of Claims.   

(i) The District shall pay its material obligations with respect to the Water 
System promptly and in accordance with their terms. 

(ii) The District shall pay and discharge promptly all taxes, assessments and 
governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon the Pledged Collateral or other assets of 
the Water System (including the Master Program), before the same shall become delinquent or in 
default; provided that such payment and discharge shall not be required with respect to any such 
tax, assessment, charge, levy, claim or Lien so long as the validity or amount thereof shall be 
contested by the District in good faith by appropriate proceedings and so long as the District shall 
have set aside adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with and to the extent required 
by GAAP, applied on a consistent basis. 



 

 60 

(iii) The District shall pay and discharge any and all lawful claims for labor, 
materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a Lien on the Water System (or any part 
thereof), the WIFIA Debt Service Account, the Master Program, the Pledged Collateral or any 
fund or account of the District pledged to pay the Obligations. 

(l) SAM Registration.  The District shall obtain prior to the Effective Date (and 
provide such registration information to the WIFIA Lender) and maintain through each Final 
Disbursement Date an active registration status with the federal System for Award Management 
(www.SAM.gov) (or any successor system or registry). 

(m) Unique Entity Identifier.  The District shall obtain prior to the Effective Date (and 
provide to the WIFIA Lender) and maintain through each Final Maturity Date a Unique Entity 
Identifier. 

(n) Immunity.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the District agrees 
that it shall not assert any immunity (and hereby waives any such immunity) it may have as a 
governmental entity from lawsuits, other actions and claims, and any judgments with respect to 
the enforcement of any of the obligations of the District under this Agreement or any other WIFIA 
Loan Document to which the District is a party. 

(o) Accounting and Audit Procedures.   

(i) The District shall establish fiscal controls and accounting procedures 
sufficient to assure proper accounting for all of the following:  (A) Water Revenues, and Operation 
and Maintenance Costs, and, with respect to the Water System, capital expenses, depreciation, 
reserves, debt issued and outstanding and debt payments; and (B) Project-related costs, WIFIA 
Loan requisitions submitted, WIFIA Loan proceeds received, payments made by the District, as 
an agent of the Borrower pursuant to each WIFIA IPA, with regard to the Projects, and other 
sources of funding for the Projects (including amounts paid from such sources for Project costs so 
that audits may be performed to ensure compliance with and enforcement of this Agreement and 
the WIFIA Loan Agreements).  The District shall use accounting, audit and fiscal procedures 
conforming to GAAP, including, with respect to the WIFIA Installment Payments, accounting of 
principal and interest payments, disbursements, prepayments and calculation of interest and 
principal amounts Outstanding. 

(ii) The District shall have a single or program-specific audit conducted in 
accordance with 2 C.F.R. Part 200 Subpart F and 31 U.S.C. § 7502 from (and including) the first 
District Fiscal Year in which a disbursement is made under the initial WIFIA Loan Agreement and 
annually thereafter to the extent required by applicable law, except to the extent biennial audits are 
permitted for the District pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.504 and 31 U.S.C. § 7502(b).  Upon 
reasonable notice, the District shall cooperate fully in the conduct of any periodic or compliance 
audits conducted by the WIFIA Lender, or designees thereof, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 35, 31 
U.S.C. § 7503(b), or 31 U.S.C. § 6503(h) and shall provide full access to any books, documents, 
papers or other records that are pertinent to the Master Program or the WIFIA Loans, to the WIFIA 
Lender, or the designee thereof, for any such project or programmatic audit. 

(p) Access; Records.   



 

 61 

(i) So long as any WIFIA Loan or any portion thereof shall remain outstanding 
and until five (5) years after such WIFIA Loan shall have been paid in full by the Borrower, the 
WIFIA Lender shall have the right, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect any portion 
of the relevant Project, to examine books of account and records of the District relating to such 
Project, to make copies and extracts therefrom at the District’s expense, and to discuss the 
District’s affairs, finances and accounts relating to such Project with, and to be advised as to the 
same by, its officers and employees and its independent public accountants (and by this provision 
the District irrevocably authorizes its independent public accountants to discuss with the WIFIA 
Lender the affairs, finances and accounts of the District, whether or not any representative of the 
District is present, it being understood that nothing contained in this Section 17(p) is intended to 
confer any right to exclude any such representative from such discussions), all at such reasonable 
times and intervals as the WIFIA Lender may request.  The District agrees to pay all out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred by the WIFIA Lender in connection with the WIFIA Lender’s exercise of its 
rights under this Section 17(p) at any time when an Event of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing. 

(ii) The District shall maintain and retain all pertinent files relating to the 
Master Program and the WIFIA Loans, as may be necessary for the WIFIA Lender to facilitate an 
effective and accurate audit and performance evaluation of the Master Program, until five (5) years 
after the later of the date on which (A) all rights and duties of the District or the Borrower under 
this Agreement and under the WIFIA Loan Agreements and corresponding WIFIA Notes 
(including payments) have been fulfilled and any required audits have been performed and (B) any 
litigation relating to the Master Program, the WIFIA Loans, this Agreement or the WIFIA Loan 
Agreements is finally resolved or, if the WIFIA Lender has reasonable cause to extend such date, 
a date to be mutually agreed upon by the WIFIA Lender and the District.  The District shall provide 
to the WIFIA Lender in a timely manner all records and documentation relating to the Master 
Program that the WIFIA Lender may reasonably request from time to time. 

(q) Compliance with Contracts.  The District shall comply with, keep, observe and 
perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, required to be 
performed by it contained in all contracts affecting or involving the Water System (including the 
Master Program), to the extent that the District is a party thereto. 

(r) Protection of Security and Rights of the Borrower.  The District shall preserve and 
protect the security and the rights of the Borrower and the WIFIA Lender to the WIFIA Installment 
Payments and the WIFIA Debt Service Account under each WIFIA IPA and shall warrant and 
defend such rights against all claims and demands of all persons. 

(s) Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any and all 
further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry 
out the intention or to facilitate the performance hereof and of the WIFIA Loan Agreements and 
WIFIA IPAs and for the better assuring and confirming unto the WIFIA Lender the rights and 
benefits provided to it herein and in the WIFIA Loan Agreements and WIFIA IPAs. 

Section 18. Negative Covenants of the District.  The District covenants and agrees as follows 
until the date each WIFIA Note and all of the obligations of the Borrower and the District under 
this Agreement and each WIFIA Loan Agreement (other than contingent indemnity obligations to 



 

 62 

the extent applicable) are irrevocably paid in full by the Borrower and the District in immediately 
available funds and the WIFIA Lender no longer has any commitment to make disbursements to 
the Borrower or the District, unless the WIFIA Lender waives compliance in writing: 

(a) Indebtedness.   

(i) The District shall not create, incur or suffer to exist (A) any Additional 
Senior Obligations (provided that Refunding Senior Obligations may be issued for the purpose of 
refunding any Senior Obligations then Outstanding so long as the issuance of such Refunding 
Senior Obligations shall not result in (1) an extension of the final maturity date of the Senior 
Obligations to be refunded or (2) an increase in annual debt service in any year by more than five 
percent (5%)); (B) any Obligations, all or a portion of the proceeds of which are or will be applied 
at any time to fund all or any portion of Total Project Costs of any Project, that are secured by a 
Lien on any assets or property of the District other than the Pledged Collateral; (C) any 
Obligations, all or a portion of the proceeds of which are or will be applied at any time to fund any 
purchase, construction, condemnation, acquisition or expansion of the Water System, that are 
secured by a Lien on the Pledged Collateral or payable from the Pledged Collateral except in either 
case, Parity Obligations, or obligations so secured on a basis subordinate to the Parity Obligations; 
or (D) any Senior Project Obligations.  While an Event of Default relating to a Payment Default 
or a Bankruptcy Related Event has occurred and is continuing, the District shall not incur any 
indebtedness of any kind payable from, secured or supported by the Pledged Collateral without 
the prior written consent of the WIFIA Lender. 

(b) Additional Parity Obligations.  The District may incur Additional Parity 
Obligations in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; provided that:  

(i) the Net Water Revenues for the last audited District Fiscal Year, or for any 
consecutive twelve (12) calendar month-period during the eighteen (18) calendar month-period 
preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution 
authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such Contract, as the case 
may be, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant 
or Independent Municipal Consultant on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to 
at least one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Debt Service and one hundred percent (100%) of 
any Policy Costs for such District Fiscal Year or other twelve (12) month-period; 

(ii) the Net Water Revenues for the last audited District Fiscal Year, or for any 
consecutive twelve (12) calendar month-period during the eighteen (18) calendar-month period 
preceding the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution 
authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such Contract, as the case 
may be, including adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such District Fiscal Year or other 
twelve (12) month-period, to increases or decreases in rates and charges with respect, or applicable, 
to the Water System approved and in effect as of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special 
report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal 
Consultant on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred ten 
percent (110%) of the Debt Service and one hundred percent (100%) of any Policy Costs for such 
District Fiscal Year or other twelve (12) month-period, plus the Debt Service which would have 
accrued on any Contracts executed or Bonds issued since the end of such District Fiscal Year or 



 

 63 

other twelve (12) month-period, assuming that such Contracts had been executed or Bonds had 
been issued at the beginning of such District Fiscal Year or other twelve (12) month-period, plus 
the Debt Service which would have accrued had such proposed additional Contract been executed 
or proposed additional Bonds been issued at the beginning of such District Fiscal Year or other 
twelve (12) month-period; and 

(iii) the estimated Net Water Revenues for the then current District Fiscal Year 
and for each District Fiscal Year thereafter, including (after giving effect to the completion of all 
such uncompleted improvements to the Water System) an allowance for estimated Net Water 
Revenues for each of such District Fiscal Years arising from any increase in the income, rents, 
fees, rates and charges estimated to be fixed and prescribed or received for the Water Service and 
which are economically feasible and reasonably considered necessary based on projected 
operations for a period of not to exceed five (5) years, as evidenced by a certificate of the Manager 
on file with the District, shall produce a sum equal to at least one hundred ten percent (110%) of 
the estimated Debt Service and one hundred percent (100%) of any Policy Costs for each of such 
District Fiscal Years, after giving effect to the execution of all Contracts and the issuance of all 
Bonds estimated to be required to be executed or issued to pay the costs of completing all 
uncompleted improvements to the Water System within such District Fiscal Years. 

For the purpose of computing the amount of Net Water Revenues for any District Fiscal 
Year under the Additional Parity Obligations test described in Section 18(b) above, the amount of 
Water Revenues yielding Net Water Revenues may be increased by Budgeted Transfers (excluding 
amounts transferred from the Water Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund) (measured as 
of the last day of the immediately preceding District Fiscal Year), such amount to be no greater 
than ten percent (10%) of Debt Service payable in the applicable District Fiscal Year. 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds issued or Contracts executed, on a parity 
basis with the WIFIA Installment Payments due under each WIFIA IPA, to refund Bonds or prepay 
Contracts may be delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service in 
each District Fiscal Year after the District Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued or Contracts 
are executed is not greater than one hundred ten (110%) of the Debt Service which would have 
been payable in each such District Fiscal Year prior to the issuance of such Bonds or execution of 
such Contracts.  

(d) No Lien Extinguishment or Adverse Amendments.  The District shall not, and shall 
not permit any Person to, without the prior written consent of the WIFIA Lender, (i) extinguish 
the Rate Covenant, (ii) extinguish or impair the Liens on the Pledged Collateral granted pursuant 
to any WIFIA IPA, (iii) amend, modify, terminate, assign, replace or supplement, or permit a 
waiver of any provision of, any WIFIA IPA, (iv) amend, modify, replace or supplement any 
Related Document to which the District is a party (other than any WIFIA IPA) or permit a waiver 
of any provision thereof in a manner that could adversely affect the WIFIA Lender or could 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or (v) terminate or assign any 
Related Document to which the District is a party in a manner that could adversely affect the 
WIFIA Lender or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  The District 
shall not take or omit to take any action under any contract if the effect of such act or failure to act 
would in any manner impair or adversely affect the ability of the District to secure adequate Water 
Revenues to meet the requirements of the WIFIA IPAs. 



 

 64 

(e) No Prohibited Liens.  Except for Permitted Liens, the District shall not create, incur, 
assume or permit to exist any Lien on the Water System, the Projects, the Pledged Collateral, or 
the District’s respective rights therein. 

(f) Restricted Payments and Transfers.  The District shall not permit Water Revenues 
or any funds in any other fund or account held by or on behalf of the District with respect to the 
Water System, to be paid or transferred or otherwise applied for purposes that would violate the 
terms of Section 5.2 (Allocation of Water Revenues) of the WIFIA IPAs. 

(g) District Fiscal Year.  The District shall not at any time adopt any fiscal year other 
than the District Fiscal Year, except with thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the WIFIA 
Lender. 

(h) Hedging.  The District shall not enter into any swap or hedging transaction that is 
speculative or creates extraordinary leverage or risk, without the prior written consent of the 
WIFIA Lender. 

(i) Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District shall not sell, lease or 
otherwise dispose of the Water System or any part thereof essential to the proper operation of the 
Water System or to the maintenance of the Water Revenues, and shall not enter into any agreement 
or lease which impairs the operation of the Water System or any part thereof necessary to secure 
adequate Water Revenues to meet the requirements of each WIFIA IPA, or which would otherwise 
impair the rights of the Borrower under each WIFIA IPA or the operation of the Water System.  
Any real or personal property which has become nonoperative or which is not needed for the 
efficient and proper operation of the Water System, or any material or equipment which has 
become worn out, may be sold if (i) such sale will not reduce the Net Water Revenues below the 
requirements to be maintained under Section 17(a) (Affirmative Covenants of the District – Rate 
Covenant), (ii) such sale will not impair the ability of the District to pay the WIFIA Installment 
Payments, and (iii) if the proceeds of such sale are deposited in the Water Revenue Fund.  Nothing 
herein shall restrict the ability of the District to sell any portion of the Water System if such portion 
is immediately repurchased by the District and if such arrangement cannot by its terms result in 
the purchaser of such portion of the Water System exercising any remedy which would deprive 
the District of or otherwise interfere with its right to own and operate such portion of the Water 
System. 

(j) Against Competitive Facilities.  The District shall not, to the extent permitted by 
law, acquire, construct, complete, maintain or operate and shall not, to the extent permitted by law 
and within the scope of its powers, permit any other public or private agency, corporation, district 
or political subdivision or any person whomsoever to acquire, construct, complete, maintain or 
operate within the District any facilities competitive with the Water System. 

Section 19. Reporting Requirements of the Borrower.   

(a) Annual Financial Statements.  The Borrower shall deliver to the WIFIA Lender, as 
soon as available, and within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each Borrower Fiscal 
Year (provided that the failure of the Borrower to furnish the documents required by this Section 
19(a) within such one hundred eighty (180)-day period shall not constitute a Default or an Event 



 

 65 

of Default hereunder or under the WIFIA Loan Agreements so long as the Borrower furnishes to 
the WIFIA Lender such documents within ninety (90) days after the end of such period; provided 
further that the parties agree that delivering the documents required by this Section 19(a) within 
such additional ninety (90)-day period shall not, in and of itself, constitute a default under this 
Agreement or the WIFIA Loan Agreements, an event of acceleration under this Agreement, the 
WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Loans, or the WIFIA Notes, a termination event under this 
Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Loans, or the WIFIA Notes, a modification 
of terms with respect to this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Loans, or the 
WIFIA Notes, or other similar event under this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the 
WIFIA Loans, or the WIFIA Notes reflecting financial difficulties), a copy of the audited Borrower 
Financial Statements as of the end of such Borrower Fiscal Year, (i) setting forth in each case in 
comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, (ii) certified without qualification or 
exception, or qualification as to the scope of the audit, by an independent public accounting firm 
selected by the Borrower and (iii) which shall be complete and correct in all material respects and 
shall be prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with GAAP applied consistently 
throughout the periods reflected therein (except for changes approved or required by the 
independent public accountants certifying such statements and disclosed therein); provided that 
the delivery of such audited Borrower Financial Statements can be accomplished through the 
posting of such document on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number. 

(b) Notices.   

(i) The Borrower shall, within fifteen (15) days after it learns of the occurrence, 
give the WIFIA Lender notice of any of the following events or receipt of any of the following 
notices, as applicable, setting forth details of such event (provided that the Borrower shall not be 
obligated to provide such notice to the WIFIA Lender if notice of such event has already been 
provided to the WIFIA Lender by the District): 

(A) Defaults; Events of Default:  any Default or Event of Default; 

(B) Litigation:  (1) the filing of any litigation, suit or action, or the 
commencement of any proceeding, against the Borrower before any arbitrator, Governmental 
Authority, alternative dispute resolution body, or other neutral third-party, or the receipt by the 
Borrower in writing of any threat of litigation, suit, action, or proceeding, or of any written claim 
against the Borrower that, in each case, could reasonably be expected to have a Borrower Material 
Adverse Effect, and any material changes in the status of such litigation, suit, action or claim, and 
(2) any judgments against the Borrower that could reasonably be expected to have a Borrower 
Material Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate; 

(C) Amendments:  except as otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender in 
writing, copies of fully executed amendments, modifications, replacements or supplements to any 
Related Document to which the Borrower is a party within ten (10) days following execution 
thereof; provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the relevant 
documents on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(D) Related Document Defaults:  any material breach or default or event 
of default on the part of the Borrower or any other party under any Related Document to which 



 

 66 

the Borrower is a party; provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the 
relevant documents on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(E) 2 C.F.R. § 180.350 Notices:  any notification required pursuant to 2 
C.F.R. § 180.350, whether attributable to a failure by the Borrower to disclose information 
previously required to have been disclosed or due to the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s 
principals meeting any of the criteria set forth in 2 C.F.R. § 180.335; 

(F) Issuance of Indebtedness:  copies of any final issuing instrument 
(together with any continuing disclosure documents, ordinances, official statement, certifications 
or cash flow projections in connection therewith), prepared in connection with the incurrence of 
any indebtedness; provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the 
relevant documents on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(G) Postings on EMMA:  the posting of any document of the Borrower 
on EMMA in accordance with the requirements of any continuing disclosure agreement or similar 
document relating to annual financial information and operating data and the reporting of 
significant events; provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the 
relevant document on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; and 

(H) Other Adverse Events:  the occurrence of any other event or 
condition that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(ii) Within thirty (30) calendar days after the Borrower learns of the occurrence 
of an event specified in clause (i) above (other than sub-clauses (C) (Amendments), (F) (Issuance 
of Indebtedness) or (G) (Postings on EMMA)), the Borrower’s Authorized Representative shall 
provide a statement to the WIFIA Lender setting forth the actions the Borrower proposes to take 
with respect thereto; provided that the Borrower shall not be required to provide such information 
if and to the extent such information has been provided by the District.  The Borrower shall also 
provide the WIFIA Lender with any further information reasonably requested by the WIFIA 
Lender from time to time concerning the matters described in clause (i) above. 

(c) Requested Information.  The Borrower shall, at any time while any WIFIA Loan 
remains outstanding, promptly deliver to the WIFIA Lender such additional information regarding 
the business, financial, legal or organizational affairs of the Borrower or the Borrower Revenues 
as the WIFIA Lender may from time to time reasonably request.  The Borrower agrees that the 
delivery of any documents or information under and pursuant to this Agreement shall not be 
construed as compliance with, or affect in any manner, any obligations of the Borrower under any 
other contracts, agreements, decrees, Governmental Approvals, or other documents with EPA 
(other than the WIFIA Loan Documents) or the Government. 

Section 20. Reporting Requirements of the District.   

(a) Updated Financial Model/Plan.  The District shall provide to the WIFIA Lender not 
later than one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each District Fiscal Year, an Updated 
Financial Model/Plan.  The Updated Financial Model/Plan shall reflect the District’s reasonable 
expectations, using assumptions that the District believes to be reasonable, and include: (i) the 
District’s capital improvement plan, major maintenance plan, projected rates and charges, 



 

 67 

projected debt outstanding and annual debt service, projected Water Revenues, projected Borrower 
Revenues, and projected Operation and Maintenance Costs for a reasonable projection period 
consistent with the District’s operating and financial planning and demonstrating that the District 
has developed and identified adequate revenues to implement a plan for operating, maintaining, 
and repairing the Water System (including the Master Program); (ii) evidence of compliance with 
the Rate Covenant for the most recent District Fiscal Year for which the District Financial 
Statements are available and the projected debt service coverage ratios (including projected Rate 
Covenant coverages) through the Forecast Period; and (iii) a written narrative identifying any 
material changes to the underlying assumptions from the previous Updated Financial Model/Plan. 

(b) Annual Financial Statements.  The District shall deliver to the WIFIA Lender, as 
soon as available, and within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each District Fiscal 
Year (provided that the failure of the District to furnish the documents required by this Section 
20(b) within such one hundred eighty (180)-day period shall not constitute a Default or an Event 
of Default hereunder or under the WIFIA Loan Agreements so long as the District furnishes to the 
WIFIA Lender such documents within ninety (90) days after the end of such period; provided 
further that the parties agree that delivering the documents required by this Section 20(b) within 
such additional ninety (90)-day period shall not, in and of itself, constitute a default under this 
Agreement or the WIFIA Loan Agreements, an event of acceleration under this Agreement, the 
WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Loans, or the WIFIA Notes, a termination event under this 
Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Loans, or the WIFIA Notes, a modification 
of terms with respect to this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Loans, or the 
WIFIA Notes, or other similar event under this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the 
WIFIA Loans, or the WIFIA Notes reflecting financial difficulties), a copy of the audited District 
Financial Statements as of the end of such District Fiscal Year, (i) setting forth in each case in 
comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, (ii) certified without qualification or 
exception, or qualification as to the scope of the audit, by an independent public accounting firm 
selected by the District and (iii) which shall be complete and correct in all material respects and 
shall be prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with GAAP applied consistently 
throughout the periods reflected therein (except for changes approved or required by the 
independent public accountants certifying such statements and disclosed therein); provided that 
the delivery of such audited District Financial Statements can be accomplished through the posting 
of such document on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number. 

(c) Construction Reporting.   

(i) Construction Monitoring.  The WIFIA Lender shall have the right in its sole 
discretion to monitor (or direct its agents to monitor) the development of the Master Program, 
including environmental compliance, design/planning, completion and construction of the 
Projects.  The District shall be responsible for administering design/planning and construction 
oversight of each Project in accordance with applicable federal, state and local governmental 
requirements.  The District agrees to cooperate in good faith with the WIFIA Lender in the conduct 
of such monitoring by promptly providing the WIFIA Lender with any Construction Contracts 
(together with any related contracts, side letters or other understandings) and such reports, 
documentation or other information as shall be requested by the WIFIA Lender or its agents, 
including any independent engineer reports, documentation or information. 



 

 68 

(ii) Construction Monitoring Report.  During the period beginning from the first 
quarter following bid advertisement of the first Construction Contract entered into for each Project, 
through and until Substantial Completion of such Project, the District shall furnish to the WIFIA 
Lender, on a quarterly basis, a Construction Monitoring Report for such Project in substantially 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (Form of Construction Monitoring Report).  Each 
Construction Monitoring Report shall be delivered to the WIFIA Lender within thirty (30) days of 
the end of each such quarter (or if such day is not a Business Day, on the next following Business 
Day).  If the then-current projection for the Substantial Completion Date of any Project is a date 
later than the Projected Substantial Completion Date of such Project, the District shall provide in 
such Construction Monitoring Report a description in reasonable detail to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the WIFIA Lender of the reasons for such projected delay or difference.  The 
Projected Substantial Completion Date for such Project shall automatically be adjusted to the new 
date specified by the District in such Construction Monitoring Report unless the WIFIA Lender 
objects to the adjustment in writing to the District within sixty (60) days following receipt of such 
Construction Monitoring Report on the basis that such report does not demonstrate the matters 
specified in this paragraph. 

(iii) Quarterly Certification of Eligible Project Costs.  With respect to any 
Project, if requested by the WIFIA Lender (on a basis not more frequently than quarterly), the 
District shall submit to the WIFIA Lender,  concurrently with the delivery of the relevant 
Construction Monitoring Report, a certificate in the form of Exhibit C (Form of Certification of 
Eligible Project Costs Documentation), signed by the District’s Authorized Representative and 
attaching Eligible Project Costs Documentation as applicable.  If there are no applicable Eligible 
Project Costs for such quarter for such Project, the District may notify the WIFIA Lender by 
written confirmation of the same by email in accordance with Section 36 (Notices).  Within sixty 
(60) days following the receipt of such certificate and accompanying Eligible Project Costs 
Documentation (if applicable), the WIFIA Lender shall notify the District confirming (A) which 
Eligible Project Costs set forth in the certification have been approved or denied (and, if denied, 
the reasons therefor) and (B) the cumulative amount of Eligible Project Costs that have been 
approved as of the date of such notice.  Any such approved amounts of Eligible Project Costs shall 
then be deemed to be available for disbursement at such time as the District submits a Requisition 
in respect of such approved amounts in accordance with Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions). 

(iv) Final Specifications.  The District shall deliver to the WIFIA Lender, prior 
to bid advertisement for each Project (including each sub-project or component, if applicable), a 
copy of the final specifications relating to the development and construction of such Project (or 
such sub-project or component, as the case may be), demonstrating compliance with all applicable 
federal requirements, and including a summary of the scope of work thereunder.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, no prior consent or approval by the WIFIA Lender shall be required for the District to 
proceed with such bid advertisement and the relevant procurement for the development and 
construction of such Project. 

(d) Public Benefits Report.  With respect to each Project, the District shall deliver to 
the WIFIA Lender a report, in the form of Exhibit I (Form of Public Benefits Report) (the “Public 
Benefits Report”), (i) prior to the applicable WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, (ii) within 
ninety (90) days following the applicable Substantial Completion Date and (iii) within ninety (90) 
days following the fifth (5th) anniversary of such Substantial Completion Date.  The District agrees 



 

 69 

that information described under this Section 20(d) may be made publicly available by the WIFIA 
Lender at its discretion. 

(e) Operations and Maintenance.  The WIFIA Lender shall have the right, in its sole 
discretion, to monitor (or direct its agents to monitor) each Project’s operations and, as the WIFIA 
Lender may request from time to time, to receive reporting on the operation and management of 
each Project, and copies of any contracts relating to the operation and maintenance of each Project.  
The District agrees to cooperate in good faith with the WIFIA Lender in the conduct of such 
monitoring by promptly providing the WIFIA Lender with such reports, documentation, or other 
information requested by the WIFIA Lender.  The WIFIA Lender has the right, in its sole 
discretion, to retain such consultants or advisors, to carry out the provisions of this Section 20(e). 

(f) Notices.   

(i) The District shall, within fifteen (15) days after it learns of the occurrence, 
give the WIFIA Lender notice of any of the following events or receipt of any of the following 
notices, as applicable, setting forth details of such event (provided that the District shall not be 
obligated to provide such notice to the WIFIA Lender if notice of such event has already been 
provided to the WIFIA Lender by the Borrower): 

(A) Substantial Completion:  the occurrence of Substantial Completion 
of each Project, such notice to be provided in the form set forth in Exhibit G (Form of Certificate 
of Substantial Completion); 

(B) Defaults; Events of Default:  any Default or Event of Default; 

(C) Litigation:  (1) the filing of any litigation, suit or action, or the 
commencement of any proceeding, against the District before any arbitrator, Governmental 
Authority, alternative dispute resolution body, or other neutral third-party, or the receipt by the 
District in writing of any threat of litigation, suit, action, or proceeding, or of any written claim 
against the District that, in each case, could reasonably be expected to have a District Material 
Adverse Effect, and any material changes in the status of such litigation, suit, action or claim, and 
(2) any judgments against the District that could reasonably be expected to have a District Material 
Adverse Effect, either individually or in the aggregate; 

(D) Delayed Governmental Approvals:  any failure to receive or delay 
in receiving any Governmental Approval or making any required filing, notice, recordation or 
other demonstration to or with a Governmental Authority, in each case to the extent such failure 
or delay will or could reasonably be expected to result in a delay to any major milestone date 
(including any Projected Substantial Completion Date) set forth in any Construction Schedule, 
together with a written explanation of the reasons for such failure or delay and the District’s plans 
to remedy or mitigate the effects of such failure or delay; 

(E) Environmental Notices:  any material notice of violation or material 
change in finding under any Environmental Law related to the Master Program or any material 
changes to the NEPA Determination; 



 

 70 

(F) Amendments:  except as otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender in 
writing, copies of fully executed amendments, modifications, replacements or supplements to any 
Related Document to which the District is a party within ten (10) days following execution thereof; 
provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the relevant documents on 
EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(G) Related Document Defaults:  any material breach or default or event 
of default on the part of the District or any other party under any Related Document to which the 
District is a party; provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the 
relevant documents on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(H) Uncontrollable Force:  the occurrence of any Uncontrollable Force 
that could reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the Master Program; 

(I) Rating Changes:  any change in the rating assigned to any WIFIA 
Loan or any other Obligations by any Nationally Recognized Rating Agency that has provided a 
public rating on such WIFIA Loan or such Obligations, and any notices, reports or other written 
materials (other than those that are ministerial in nature) received from any such rating agencies; 
provided that such notice can be accomplished through the posting of the relevant documents on 
EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(J) 2 C.F.R. § 180.350 Notices:  any notification required pursuant to 2 
C.F.R. § 180.350, whether attributable to a failure by the District to disclose information 
previously required to have been disclosed or due to the District or any of the District’s principals 
meeting any of the criteria set forth in 2 C.F.R. § 180.335; 

(K) SAM; Unique Entity Identifier:  any change in the District’s SAM 
registration status (including any exclusions, expiration or inactive registration) or Unique Entity 
Identifier (including any expiration or change in effectiveness); provided that such notice can be 
accomplished through the posting of the relevant document on EMMA under the WIFIA CUSIP 
Number; 

(L) Issuance of Obligations:  copies of any final issuing instrument 
(together with any continuing disclosure documents, ordinances, official statement, certifications 
or cash flow projections in connection therewith), prepared in connection with the incurrence of 
any Additional Obligations (including any Variable Interest Rate Obligations); provided that such 
notice can be accomplished through the posting of the relevant documents on EMMA under the 
WIFIA CUSIP Number; 

(M) Amendments to Policies:  any material amendment or modification 
to the Investment Policy, along with a copy of such amendment or modification; and 

(N) Other Adverse Events:  the occurrence of any other event or 
condition, including any notice of breach from a contract counterparty or any holder of any 
Obligations, that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or have a 
material and adverse effect on the Master Program. 



 

 71 

(ii) Within thirty (30) calendar days after the District learns of the occurrence 
of an event specified in clause (i) above (other than sub-clauses (A) (Substantial Completion), (F) 
(Amendments), (I) (Rating Changes) (in the case of a rating upgrade), (L) (Issuance of Obligations) 
or (M) (Amendments to Policies)), the District’s Authorized Representative shall provide a 
statement to the WIFIA Lender setting forth the actions the District proposes to take with respect 
thereto.  The District shall also provide the WIFIA Lender with any further information reasonably 
requested by the WIFIA Lender from time to time concerning the matters described in clause (i) 
above. 

(g) Requested Information.  The District shall, at any time while the WIFIA Loan 
remains outstanding, promptly deliver to the WIFIA Lender such additional information regarding 
the business, financial, legal or organizational affairs of the District or regarding the Water System 
(including the Master Program) or the Pledged Collateral as the WIFIA Lender may from time to 
time reasonably request.  The District agrees that the delivery of any documents or information 
under and pursuant to this Agreement shall not be construed as compliance with, or affect in any 
manner, any obligations of the District under any other contracts, agreements, decrees, 
Governmental Approvals, or other documents with EPA (other than the WIFIA Loan Documents) 
or the Government. 

ARTICLE VI 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

Section 21. Events of Default and Remedies.   

(a) A “Borrower Event of Default” shall exist under this Agreement and each WIFIA 
Loan Agreement if any of the following occurs; provided that any event described in Section 
21(a)(vii) (Events of Default and Remedies – Additional Borrower Events of Default) shall be a 
Borrower Event of Default solely under the WIFIA Loan Agreement for the relevant Project to 
which such event relates and not under this Agreement or any other WIFIA Loan Agreement: 

(i) Borrower Payment Default.  The Borrower shall fail to (A) pay when due 
any part of the principal amount of or interest on any WIFIA Loan (including WIFIA Debt Service 
required to have been paid pursuant to the provisions of Section 8 (Payment of Principal and 
Interest)) or (B) make any mandatory prepayment required pursuant to the provisions of Section 
9 (Prepayment), in each case, when and as the payment thereof shall be required under this 
Agreement, any WIFIA Loan Agreement or any WIFIA Note or on any Final Maturity Date (each 
such failure, a “Borrower Payment Default”). 

(ii) Borrower Covenant Default.  The Borrower shall fail to observe or perform 
any covenant, agreement or obligation of the Borrower under this Agreement, any WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, any WIFIA Note or any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a 
party (other than in the case of any Borrower Payment Default), and such failure shall not be cured 
within thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (A) receipt by the Borrower from the WIFIA 
Lender of written notice thereof or (B) the Borrower’s knowledge of such failure; provided that if 
such failure is capable of cure but cannot reasonably be cured within such thirty (30)-day cure 
period, then no Borrower Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred or be continuing 
under this Section 21(a)(ii), and such thirty (30)-day cure period shall be extended by up to one 



 

 72 

hundred fifty (150) additional days, if and so long as (x) within such thirty (30)-day cure period 
the Borrower shall commence actions reasonably designed to cure such failure and shall diligently 
pursue such actions until such failure is cured and (y) such failure is cured within one hundred 
eighty (180) days of the date specified in either (A) or (B) above, as applicable. 

(iii) Borrower Misrepresentation Default.  Any of the representations, 
warranties or certifications of the Borrower made in or delivered pursuant to any WIFIA Loan 
Document to which the Borrower is a party (or in any certificates delivered by the Borrower in 
connection with any WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party) shall prove to have 
been false or misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made (or any representation 
and warranty or certification that is subject to a materiality qualifier shall prove to have been false 
or misleading in any respect); provided that no Borrower Event of Default shall be deemed to have 
occurred under this Section 21(a)(iii) if and so long as (A) such misrepresentation is not intentional, 
(B) such misrepresentation is not a misrepresentation in respect of Section 12(h) (Representations 
and Warranties of the Borrower – No Debarment), or Section 12(j) (Representations and 
Warranties of the Borrower – Compliance with Laws), (C) in the reasonable determination of the 
WIFIA Lender, such misrepresentation has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result 
in, a Borrower Material Adverse Effect, (D) in the reasonable determination of the WIFIA Lender, 
the underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is capable of being cured and (E) the 
underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is cured by the Borrower within thirty (30) 
days after the date on which the Borrower first became aware (or reasonably should have become 
aware) of such misrepresentation. 

(iv) Borrower Material Adverse Judgment.  Any final, non-appealable judgment 
related to the Borrower Revenues shall be entered against the Borrower which has a Material 
Adverse Effect. 

(v) Occurrence of Borrower Bankruptcy Related Event.  A Bankruptcy Related 
Event shall occur with respect to the Borrower. 

(vi) Invalidity of WIFIA Loan Documents.  (A) Any WIFIA Loan Document to 
which the Borrower is a party ceases to be in full force and effect (other than as a result of the 
termination thereof in accordance with its terms) or becomes void, voidable, illegal or 
unenforceable, or the Borrower contests in any manner the validity or enforceability of any WIFIA 
Loan Document to which it is a party or denies it has any further liability under any WIFIA Loan 
Document to which it is a party, or purports to revoke, terminate or rescind any WIFIA Loan 
Document to which it is a party; (B) this Agreement ceases to grant a valid and binding security 
interest on any material portion of the Borrower Revenues, other than as a result of actions or a 
failure to act by, and within the control of, the WIFIA Lender; or (C) any event occurs that results 
in the material impairment in the priority of (1) the Borrower’s security interest in the Pledged 
Collateral or in the value of the Pledged Collateral, (2) the WIFIA Lender’s security interest in the 
Borrower Revenues or in the value of the Borrower Revenues or (3) the Borrower’s security 
interest in the WIFIA Debt Service Account or the assignment to the WIFIA Lender of the 
Borrower’s rights thereto. 

(vii) Additional Borrower Events of Default.  Any additional Borrower Event of 
Default specified in a WIFIA Loan Agreement occurs. 



 

 73 

(b) A “District Event of Default” shall exist under this Agreement and each WIFIA 
Loan Agreement if any of the following occurs; provided that any event described in Section 
21(b)(ix) (Events of Default and Remedies – Development Default) or Section 21(b)(x) (Events of 
Default and Remedies – Additional District Events of Default) shall be a District Event of Default 
solely under the WIFIA Loan Agreement for the relevant Project to which such event relates and 
not under this Agreement or any other WIFIA Loan Agreement: 

(i) District Payment Default.  (A) The District shall fail to pay when due any 
part of any WIFIA Installment Payment required to have been paid pursuant to the provisions of 
any WIFIA IPA or (B) the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to any WIFIA IPA, shall 
fail to make any mandatory prepayment required pursuant to the provisions of Section 9 
(Prepayment) (each such failure, an “District Payment Default”). 

(ii) District Covenant Default.  The District shall fail to observe or perform any 
covenant, agreement or obligation of the District under this Agreement, any WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, any WIFIA IPA or any other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party 
(other than in the case of any District Payment Default or any Development Default), and such 
failure shall not be cured within thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (A) receipt by the 
District from the WIFIA Lender of written notice thereof or (B) the District’s knowledge of such 
failure; provided that if such failure is capable of cure but cannot reasonably be cured within such 
thirty (30)-day cure period, then no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred or be 
continuing under this Section 21(b)(ii), and such thirty (30)-day cure period shall be extended by 
up to one hundred fifty (150) additional days, if and so long as (x) within such thirty (30)-day cure 
period the District shall commence actions reasonably designed to cure such failure and shall 
diligently pursue such actions until such failure is cured and (y) such failure is cured within one 
hundred eighty (180) days of the date specified in either (A) or (B) above, as applicable. 

(iii) District Misrepresentation Default.  Any of the representations, warranties 
or certifications of the District made in or delivered pursuant to any WIFIA Loan Document to 
which the District is a party (or in any certificates delivered by the District in connection with any 
WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party) shall prove to have been false or 
misleading in any material respect when made or deemed made (or any representation and 
warranty or certification that is subject to a materiality qualifier shall prove to have been false or 
misleading in any respect); provided that no District Event of Default shall be deemed to have 
occurred under this Section 21(b)(iii) if and so long as (A) such misrepresentation is not 
intentional, (B) such misrepresentation is not a misrepresentation in respect of Section 13(h) 
(Representations and Warranties of the District – No Debarment), or Section 13(j) 
(Representations and Warranties of the District – Compliance with Laws), (C) in the reasonable 
determination of the WIFIA Lender, such misrepresentation has not had, and would not reasonably 
be expected to result in, a District Material Adverse Effect, (D) in the reasonable determination of 
the WIFIA Lender, the underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is capable of being 
cured and (E) the underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is cured by the District 
within thirty (30) days after the date on which the District first became aware (or reasonably should 
have become aware) of such misrepresentation. 



 

 74 

(iv) Acceleration of Obligations.  Any acceleration shall occur of the maturity 
of any Obligation, or any such Obligation shall not be paid by the District in full upon the final 
maturity thereof. 

(v) Cross Default with Obligation Documents.  Any default shall occur in 
respect of the performance of any covenant, agreement or obligation of the District under any 
Obligation Document relating to any Obligation (other than the WIFIA Loan Documents), and 
such default shall be continuing after the giving of any applicable notice and the expiration of any 
applicable grace period specified in such Obligation Document relating to any Obligations with 
respect to such default, and the District shall have failed to cure such default or to obtain an 
effective written waiver thereof in accordance with the terms thereof. 

(vi) District Material Adverse Judgment.  Any final, non-appealable judgment 
related to the Pledged Collateral, the Water System (including the Master Program) or any Project 
shall be entered against the District which has a Material Adverse Effect. 

(vii) Occurrence of District Bankruptcy Related Event.  A Bankruptcy Related 
Event shall occur with respect to the District. 

(viii) Invalidity of WIFIA Loan Documents.  (A) Any WIFIA Loan Document to 
which the District is a party ceases to be in full force and effect (other than as a result of the 
termination thereof in accordance with its terms) or becomes void, voidable, illegal or 
unenforceable, or the District contests in any manner the validity or enforceability of any WIFIA 
Loan Document to which it is a party or denies it has any further liability under any WIFIA Loan 
Document to which it is a party, or purports to revoke, terminate or rescind any WIFIA Loan 
Document to which it is a party; or (B) any WIFIA IPA ceases (other than as expressly permitted 
thereunder) to be effective or to grant a valid and binding security interest on any material portion 
of the Pledged Collateral, and with the priority purported to be created thereby, or on the WIFIA 
Debt Service Account. 

(ix) Development Default.  A Development Default shall occur. 

(x) Additional District Events of Default.  Any additional District Event of 
Default specified in a WIFIA Loan Agreement occurs. 

(c) Upon (i) the occurrence of any Bankruptcy Related Event (other than a Bankruptcy 
Related Event under clause (b)(iii) of the definition thereof) or (ii) the acceleration of any amounts 
under any WIFIA IPA or under any Obligation Document, all obligations of the WIFIA Lender 
hereunder and under the WIFIA Loan Agreements with respect to the disbursement of any 
undisbursed amounts of any WIFIA Loan shall automatically be deemed terminated, and the 
Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance of such WIFIA Loan, together with all interest accrued thereon 
and all fees, costs, expenses, indemnities and other amounts payable to the WIFIA Lender under 
this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements, the WIFIA Notes and the other WIFIA Loan 
Documents, shall automatically become immediately due and payable, without presentment, 
demand, notice, declaration, protest or other requirements of any kind, all of which are hereby 
expressly waived. 



 

 75 

(d) Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default hereunder or under any WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the WIFIA Lender, by written notice to the Borrower and the District, may exercise 
any or all of the following remedies: 

(i) the WIFIA Lender may suspend or terminate all of its obligations hereunder 
or under the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement with respect to the disbursement of any undisbursed 
amounts of the relevant WIFIA Loan; 

(ii) the WIFIA Lender may cease permitting interest on the relevant WIFIA 
Loan to be capitalized (if applicable); 

(iii) the WIFIA Lender may apply the Default Rate provisions of Section 6 
(Interest Rate) hereunder with respect to the relevant WIFIA Loan; 

(iv) the WIFIA Lender may suspend or debar the Borrower or the District (or 
both) from further participation in any Government program administered by the WIFIA Lender 
and notify other departments and agencies of such default; 

(v) the WIFIA Lender shall be entitled and empowered to institute any actions 
or proceedings at law or in equity against the Borrower for the collection of any sums due from 
the Borrower and unpaid under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and 
corresponding WIFIA Note or the other applicable WIFIA Loan Documents, and may prosecute 
any such judgment or final decree against the Borrower and collect in the manner provided by law 
out of the property of the Borrower the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable, and the WIFIA 
Lender shall have all of the rights and remedies of a creditor and may take such other actions at 
law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to collect all amounts payable by the 
Borrower under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and corresponding WIFIA 
Note or the other applicable WIFIA Loan Documents then due and thereafter to become due, or to 
enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the Borrower 
under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement and corresponding WIFIA Note or 
the other applicable WIFIA Loan Documents, including directing the Borrower to exercise any 
rights or remedies under the relevant WIFIA IPA pursuant to Article VIII (Events of Default and 
Remedies of the Authority) thereto; 

(vi) the WIFIA Lender shall be entitled and empowered to institute any actions 
or proceedings at law or in equity against the District for the collection of any sums due from the 
District and unpaid under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement or the relevant 
WIFIA IPA, and may prosecute any such judgment or final decree against the District and collect 
in the manner provided by law out of the property of the District the moneys adjudged or decreed 
to be payable, and the WIFIA Lender shall have all of the rights and remedies of a creditor and 
may take such other actions at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to collect all 
amounts payable by the District under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement or the 
relevant WIFIA IPA then due and thereafter to become due, or to enforce performance and 
observance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the District under this Agreement, the 
relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement or the relevant WIFIA IPA; and 



 

 76 

(vii) the WIFIA Lender may declare the unpaid principal amount of the relevant 
WIFIA Note to be, and the same shall thereupon forthwith become, immediately due and payable, 
together with the interest accrued thereon and all fees, costs, expenses, indemnities and other 
amounts payable to the WIFIA Lender under this Agreement, the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement 
and corresponding WIFIA Note and the other WIFIA Loan Documents, all without presentment, 
demand, notice, protest or other requirements of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly 
waived. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any WIFIA Loan Document, 
the Borrower shall not have the right to (i) accelerate any WIFIA Installment Payments or (ii) 
exercise any other rights or remedies under any WIFIA IPA following the occurrence of an “Event 
of Default” under and as defined in such WIFIA IPA without the prior written direction of the 
WIFIA Lender. 

(f) No action taken pursuant to this Section 21 shall relieve either the Borrower or the 
District from its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements and 
corresponding WIFIA Notes or the other WIFIA Loan Documents, all of which shall survive any 
such action. 

ARTICLE VII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 22. Disclaimer of Warranty.  The WIFIA Lender makes no warranty or representation, 
either express or implied, as to the value, design, condition, merchantability or fitness for a 
particular purpose or fitness for use of any Project or any portion thereof or any other warranty 
with respect thereto.  In no event shall the WIFIA Lender be liable for any incidental, indirect, 
special or consequential damages incidental to or arising out of this Agreement, the Water System 
(including the Master Program) or any Project or the existence, furnishing, functioning or use of 
any Project or any item or products or services provided for in this Agreement or any WIFIA Loan 
Agreement. 

Section 23. No Personal Recourse.  No official, employee or agent of the WIFIA Lender or 
either the Borrower or the District or any Person executing this Agreement or any of the other 
WIFIA Loan Documents shall be personally liable under this Agreement or such other WIFIA 
Loan Documents by reason of the issuance, delivery or execution hereof or thereof. 

Section 24. No Third Party Rights.  The parties hereby agree that this Agreement creates no 
third party rights against the Borrower, the District, the Government, or the WIFIA Lender, solely 
by virtue of the WIFIA Loans, and the Borrower and the District each agree to indemnify on a 
joint and several basis and hold the WIFIA Lender, the Servicer (if any), the Administrator, and 
the Government harmless, to the extent permitted by law and in accordance with Section 37 
(Indemnification), from any lawsuit or claim arising in law or equity solely by reason of any 
WIFIA Loan, and that no third party creditor of either the Borrower or the District shall have any 
right against the WIFIA Lender with respect to any WIFIA Loan made pursuant to this Agreement 
or any WIFIA Loan Agreement. 



 

 77 

Section 25. Borrower’s Authorized Representative.  The Borrower shall at all times have 
appointed a Borrower’s Authorized Representative by designating such Person or Persons from 
time to time to act on the Borrower’s behalf pursuant to a written certificate furnished to the WIFIA 
Lender and the Servicer, if any, containing the specimen signature or signatures of such Person or 
Persons and signed by the Borrower. 

Section 26. District’s Authorized Representative.  The District shall at all times have appointed 
a District’s Authorized Representative by designating such Person or Persons from time to time to 
act on the District’s behalf pursuant to a written certificate furnished to the WIFIA Lender and the 
Servicer, if any, containing the specimen signature or signatures of such Person or Persons and 
signed by the District. 

Section 27. WIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative.  The WIFIA Lender hereby appoints 
the Director of the WIFIA Program, whose notice details are set forth below in Section 36 
(Notices), to serve as the WIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative under this Agreement until 
such time as a successor or successors shall have been appointed.  Thereafter, the successor in 
office shall serve as the WIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative.  The WIFIA Lender shall 
provide notice to the Borrower and the District within a reasonable time period following the 
succession. 

Section 28. Servicer.  The WIFIA Lender may from time to time designate another entity or 
entities to perform, or assist the WIFIA Lender in performing, the duties of the Servicer or 
specified duties of the WIFIA Lender under this Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreements and 
corresponding WIFIA Notes.  The WIFIA Lender shall give the Borrower and the District written 
notice of the appointment of any successor or additional Servicer and shall enumerate the duties 
or any change in duties to be performed by any Servicer.  Any references in this Agreement to the 
WIFIA Lender shall be deemed to be a reference to the Servicer with respect to any duties which 
the WIFIA Lender shall have delegated to such Servicer.  The WIFIA Lender may at any time 
assume the duties of any Servicer under this Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreements and 
corresponding WIFIA Notes.  The Borrower and the District shall cooperate and respond to any 
reasonable request of the Servicer for information, documentation or other items reasonably 
necessary for the performance by the Servicer of its duties hereunder and under the WIFIA Loan 
Agreements; provided that (a) neither the Borrower nor the District shall be required to provide 
any public disclosure, representation, warranty, estoppel, certification or indemnity to the Servicer 
in connection with the proposed appointment thereof and (b) no fees or costs of the Borrower or 
the District payable to the WIFIA Lender hereunder shall significantly increase solely as a result 
of any appointment of a Servicer and such increase in fees or costs shall not in any event be more 
than the amount of the Construction Period Servicing Fee or the Operating Period Servicing Fee 
applicable at the time the Servicer is appointed as set forth in the applicable WIFIA Loan 
Agreement. 

Section 29. Amendments and Waivers.  No amendment, modification, termination, or waiver 
of any provision of this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements or the corresponding WIFIA 
Notes shall in any event be effective without the prior written consent of each of the parties hereto 
and thereto. 



 

 78 

Section 30. Governing Law.  This Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreements shall be 
governed by the federal laws of the United States of America if and to the extent such federal laws 
are applicable and the internal laws of the State, if and to the extent such federal laws are not 
applicable. 

Section 31. Severability.  In case any provision in or obligation under this Agreement shall be 
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, 
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

Section 32. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto 
and their respective permitted successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.  Neither the rights nor obligations of the 
Borrower under this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements or the corresponding WIFIA Notes 
nor any interest herein or therein may be assigned or delegated by the Borrower without the prior 
written consent of the WIFIA Lender.  Neither the rights nor obligations of the District under this 
Agreement or the WIFIA Loan Agreements nor any interest herein or therein may be assigned or 
delegated by the District without the prior written consent of the WIFIA Lender. 

Section 33. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy conferred or reserved to the WIFIA Lender 
under this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements or the corresponding WIFIA Notes is intended 
to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall 
be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or thereunder or now 
or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 34. Delay or Omission Not Waiver.  No delay or omission of the WIFIA Lender to 
exercise any right or remedy provided under this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements or the 
corresponding WIFIA Notes upon a default of either the Borrower or the District (except a delay 
or omission pursuant to a written waiver) shall impair any such right or remedy or constitute a 
waiver of any such default or acquiescence herein or therein.  Every right and remedy given by 
this Agreement, the WIFIA Loan Agreements or the corresponding WIFIA Notes or by law to the 
WIFIA Lender may be exercised from time to time, and as often as may be deemed expedient by 
the WIFIA Lender. 

Section 35. Counterparts.  This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or 
supplements hereto or in connection herewith may be executed in any number of counterparts and 
by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and 
delivered shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument; signature pages may be detached from multiple separate counterparts and 
attached to a single counterpart so that all signature pages are physically attached to the same 
document.  Electronic delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement 
or of any document or instrument delivered in connection herewith in accordance with Section 36 
(Notices) shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement or 
such other document or instrument, as applicable. 



 

 79 

Section 36. Notices.  Notices hereunder shall be (a) in writing, (b) effective as provided below 
and (c) given by (i) nationally recognized courier service, (ii) hand delivery, or (iii) email, in each 
case to: 

If to WIFIA Lender: United States Environmental Protection Agency 
WJC-E 7334A 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 
Email:  WIFIA_Portfolio@epa.gov 

If to Borrower: Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority 
2029 E. Avenue Q  
Palmdale, California 93550 
Attention:  [__]  
Email:  [__] 

If to District: Palmdale Water District 
2029 E. Avenue Q  
Palmdale, California 93550 
Attention:  [__]  
Email:  [__]7 

 
Unless otherwise instructed by the WIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative, all notices to the 
WIFIA Lender should be made by email to the email address noted above for the WIFIA Lender.  
Notices required to be provided herein shall be provided to such different addresses or to such 
further parties as may be designated from time to time by the Borrower’s Authorized 
Representative, with respect to notices to the Borrower, or by the District’s Authorized 
Representative, with respect to notices to the District, or by the WIFIA Lender’s Authorized 
Representative, with respect to notices to the WIFIA Lender or the Servicer.  Each such notice, 
request or communication shall be effective (x) if delivered by hand or by nationally recognized 
courier service, when delivered at the address specified in this Section 36 (or in accordance with 
the latest unrevoked written direction from the receiving party) and (y) if given by email, when 
such email is delivered to the address specified in this Section 36 (or in accordance with the latest 
unrevoked written direction from the receiving party); provided that notices received on a day that 
is not a Business Day or after 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on a Business Day will be deemed to be 
effective on the next Business Day. 

Section 37. Indemnification.  The Borrower and the District shall, to the extent permitted by 
law, indemnify on a joint and several basis the WIFIA Lender and any official, employee, agent, 
advisor or representative of the WIFIA Lender (each such Person being herein referred to as an 
“Indemnitee”) against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, 
damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including the fees, charges and 
disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee and the costs of environmental remediation), 

 
7 Note to Borrower: Please provide preferred email address for the Borrower and District. 



 

 80 

whether known, unknown, contingent or otherwise, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee 
arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (a) the execution, delivery and performance of 
this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents, (b) the WIFIA Loans or the use of the 
proceeds thereof, or (c) the violation of any law, rule, regulation, order, decree, judgment or 
administrative decision relating to the environment, the preservation or reclamation of natural 
resources, the management, release or threatened release of any hazardous material or to health 
and safety matters; in each case arising out of or in direct relation to the Master Program; provided 
that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, 
claims, damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, costs or related expenses are determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee.  In case any action or proceeding is brought 
against an Indemnitee by reason of any claim with respect to which such Indemnitee is entitled to 
indemnification hereunder, the Borrower and the District shall each be entitled, at its expense, to 
participate in the defense thereof; provided that such Indemnitee has the right to retain its own 
counsel, at the expense of the Borrower or the District, as applicable, and such participation by the 
Borrower and/or the District in the defense thereof shall not release the Borrower or the District of 
any liability that it may have to such Indemnitee.  Any Indemnitee against whom any indemnity 
claim contemplated in this Section 37 is made shall be entitled, after consultation with the 
Borrower and the District and upon consultation with legal counsel wherein such Indemnitee is 
advised that such indemnity claim is meritorious, to compromise or settle any such indemnity 
claim.  Any such compromise or settlement shall be binding upon the Borrower and the District 
for purposes of this Section 37.  Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of any legal 
immunity that may be available to any Indemnitee.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, 
none of the Borrower, the District, or the WIFIA Lender shall assert, and the Borrower, the District, 
and the WIFIA Lender each hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, the Borrower, or 
the District, respectively, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive 
damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result 
of, this Agreement, any of the other Related Documents, the other transactions contemplated 
hereby and thereby, the WIFIA Loans or the use of the proceeds thereof; provided that nothing in 
this sentence shall limit the Borrower’s or the District’s indemnity obligations to the extent such 
damages are included in any third party claim in connection with which an Indemnitee is entitled 
to indemnification hereunder.  All amounts due to any Indemnitee under this Section 37 shall be 
payable promptly upon demand therefor.  The obligations of the Borrower and the District under 
this Section 37 shall survive the payment or prepayment in full of any WIFIA Note pursuant to 
Section 8 (Payment of Principal and Interest) or Section 9 (Prepayment), the enforcement of any 
provision of this Agreement or the other Related Documents, any amendments, waivers (other than 
amendments or waivers in writing with respect to this Section 37) or consents in respect hereof or 
thereof, any Event of Default, and any workout, restructuring or similar arrangement of the 
obligations of the Borrower or the District hereunder or thereunder. 

Section 38. Sale of WIFIA Loan.  The WIFIA Lender shall not sell any WIFIA Loan at any 
time prior to the Substantial Completion Date of the Project relating to such WIFIA Loan.  After 
such date, the WIFIA Lender may sell such WIFIA Loan to another entity or reoffer such WIFIA 
Loan into the capital markets only in accordance with the provisions of this Section 38.  Such sale 
or reoffering shall be on such terms as the WIFIA Lender shall deem advisable.  However, in 
making such sale or reoffering the WIFIA Lender shall not change the terms and conditions of 
such WIFIA Loan without the prior written consent of the Borrower and the District in accordance 



 

 81 

with Section 29 (Amendments and Waivers).  The WIFIA Lender shall provide, at least sixty (60) 
days prior to any sale or reoffering of such WIFIA Loan, written notice to the Borrower and the 
District of the WIFIA Lender’s intention to consummate such a sale or reoffering; provided that 
no such notice shall be required during the continuation of any Event of Default.  The provision 
of any notice pursuant to this Section 38 shall neither (x) obligate the WIFIA Lender to sell nor 
(y) provide either of the Borrower or the District with any rights or remedies in the event the 
WIFIA Lender, for any reason, does not sell such WIFIA Loan.  Neither the Borrower nor the 
District shall have any obligation to provide any disclosure, representation, warranty, estoppel, 
certificate, consent, agreement, approval, or other assistance to the WIFIA Lender or any proposed 
purchaser or assignee of any WIFIA Loan in connection with any proposed sale or assignment of 
such WIFIA Loan. 

Section 39. Effectiveness.  This Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date. 

Section 40. Survival.  The indemnification requirements of Section 37 (Indemnification), the 
reporting and record keeping requirements of Section 15(j) (Affirmative Covenants of the 
Borrower – Access; Records) and Section 17(p) (Affirmative Covenants of the District – Access; 
Records), and the payment requirements of Section 10 (Fees and Expenses) shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement as provided in such sections. 

Section 41. Integration.  This Agreement, together with the other WIFIA Loan Documents, 
constitutes the entire contract between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the 
subject matter hereof. 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank; signature pages immediately follow.] 

 



 

[Signature page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Palmdale Water District – WIFIA Master 
Agreement] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first 
written above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY, by its authorized 
representative 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

  



 

[Signature page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Palmdale Water District – WIFIA Master 
Agreement] 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, 
by its authorized representative 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

  



 

[Signature page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Palmdale Water District – WIFIA Master 
Agreement] 

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY, acting by and through 
the Administrator of the Environmental Protection 
Agency 

By:   
Name:  Michael S. Regan 
Title:    Administrator 

 



 

I-1 

SCHEDULE I 

MASTER PROGRAM8 

The Master Program consists of the District’s anticipated improvements to the Water System for 
the purpose of providing a reliable, drought-proof water supply to a large, disadvantaged 
community of over 120,00 people. The Project addresses (i) uncertainty of future supplies from 
the State Water Project (SWP), (ii) resolves near-term water shortages and (iii) alleviates 
additional subsidence in the over drafted Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin (AV Basin). 
 
Projected Substantial Completion Date for Project 1: July 15, 2025 
 
Projected Substantial Completion Date for Project 2: September 30, 2028 
 
 

 [Description of the Project components of the Master Program to be inserted.] 

 
8 Note to Draft:  To be provided by the WIFIA Lender in coordination with the District. 



 

II-1 

SCHEDULE II 

MASTER PROGRAM BUDGET9 

 

Project Component Name 
Total Project 

Component Cost 

WIFIA Loan 
Commitment 

Amount (49%) 

Percentage of 
Aggregate Master 
Program Amount 

    
    
    
    
    
    

TOTAL $[●] $[●] 100% 

 

 
 

 
9 Note to Draft:  To be provided by the WIFIA Lender in coordination with the District. 



 

7(d)-1 

SCHEDULE 7(d) 

FLOW OF FUNDS 

Reference is made to Section 5.2 (Allocation of Water Revenues) of each WIFIA IPA, and the 
requirements and conditions contained therein as of the Effective Date, which are set forth 
verbatim below.  Capitalized terms used in this Schedule 7(d) shall have the respective meanings 
assigned to such terms in the WIFIA IPAs. 

“Section 5.2. Allocation of Water Revenues.  In order to carry out and effectuate the 
pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and covenants that all Water Revenues shall 
be received by the District in trust and shall be deposited when and as received in the “Water 
Revenue Fund” which fund the District has previously established and agrees and covenants to 
maintain and to hold separate and apart from other funds so long as any Installment Payments, 
Contracts or Bonds remain unpaid.  Moneys in the Water Revenue Fund shall be used and applied 
by the District as provided in this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. 

The District shall, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs (including amounts reasonably required to be set aside in contingency reserves 
for Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not then immediately required) as 
such Operation and Maintenance Costs become due and payable.  All remaining moneys in the 
Water Revenue Fund shall be set aside by the District at the following times in the following 
respective special funds in the following order of priority and all moneys in each of such funds 
shall be held in trust and shall be applied, used and withdrawn only for the purposes hereinafter 
authorized in this Section: 

(a) Senior Obligations.  On or before the payment of principal or interest is due 
with respect to any Senior Obligations, the District shall from moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, 
transfer to the applicable trustee or payee for deposit in the applicable payment fund, without 
preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without 
discrimination or preference, payment on such Senior Obligations, in accordance with the 
provisions of such Senior Obligations. 

(b) Senior Obligation Reserve Fund.  On or before each payment date required 
pursuant to the provisions of any Contract or Bond that constitutes a Senior Obligation, or any 
resolution or indenture related thereto, the District shall, from the remaining moneys in the Water 
Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference of priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, transfer to the applicable trustee 
for deposit to any reserve fund or account for such Bonds or Contracts the amount, if any, needed 
to increase the balance in such fund or account to the amount required to be deposited therein and 
to pay any Policy Costs then due. 

(c) Subordinate Obligations.  On or before each WIFIA Installment Payment 
Date, the District shall, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, transfer to the WIFIA Debt 
Service Account a sum equal to the WIFIA Installment Payment coming due on such WIFIA 
Installment Payment Date.  The District shall also, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, 
transfer to the applicable trustee or payee for deposit in the applicable payment fund, without 



 

7(d)-2 

preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any 
discrimination or preference, any other Debt Service or payments in accordance with the 
provisions of any Contract or Bond constituting a Subordinate Obligation, or any resolution or 
indenture relating thereto. 

No deposit need be made in the WIFIA Debt Service Account as WIFIA Installment 
Payments if the amount in the WIFIA Debt Service Account is at least equal to the amount of the 
WIFIA Installment Payment due and payable on the next succeeding WIFIA Installment Payment 
Date. 

(d) Subordinate Obligation Reserve Fund.  On or before each payment date 
required pursuant to the provisions of any Contract or Bond constituting a Subordinate Obligation, 
or any resolution or indenture related thereto, the District shall, from the remaining moneys in the 
Water Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference of priority, and in the event of any 
insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, transfer to the 
applicable trustee or appropriate party for deposit to any reserve fund or account for such Bonds 
or Contracts, including the WIFIA Reserve Fund, the amount, if any, needed to increase the 
balance in such fund or account to the amount required to be deposited therein and to pay any 
Policy Costs then due. 

(e)   Surplus.  On the last day of each month, moneys on deposit in the Water 
Revenue Fund not required to make any of the payments required above may be expended by the 
District at any time for any purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to the deposit of 
amounts in the Rate Stabilization Fund in accordance with Section 5.5.”



 

12(f)-1 

SCHEDULE 12(f) 

LITIGATION 

[None.]10 
 

 

 
10 Note to Borrower:  Please confirm or advise. 



 

12(u)-1 

SCHEDULE 12(u) 

EXISTING SYSTEM INDEBTEDNESS11 

A. Existing Senior Obligations 

 Agreement/Series Outstanding Principal12 
1.  2018 Bonds $[__] 
2.  2020 Bonds $[__] 
3.  2021 Bonds $[__] 
4.  2023 Bonds $[__] 
5.  2018 IPA  $[__] 
6.  2020 IPA $[__] 
7.  2021 IPA $[__] 
8.  2021A IPA $[__] 
9.  2023 IPA $[__] 
10.  2020 ISA  $[__] 
11.  2022 ISA $[__] 

 

B. Existing Parity Obligations 

 
 Agreement/Series Outstanding Principal13 

1.   $[__] 
2.   $[__] 
3.   $[__] 

 
 

 

 
11 Note to Borrower:  Please review and confirm that this schedule is a complete list of all existing indebtedness of 
the Borrower and the District with respect to the Water System. 
12 Note to Draft:  As of the Effective Date. 
13 Note to Draft:  As of the Effective Date. 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF WIFIA NOTE 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY 

PURE WATER ANTELOPE VALLEY MASTER PROGRAM – PROJECT [__] 

(WIFIA ID – [__]) 
WIFIA NOTE 

Maximum Principal Amount:  $[__] ([__] Dollars) (excluding capitalized interest (if applicable)) 

Effective Date:  [__] 

Interest Rate Per Annum:  [__]% 

Due:  [__] 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint 
exercise of powers agency duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California 
(the “Borrower”), for value received, hereby promises to pay to the order of the UNITED 
STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, acting by and through the 
Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency, or its assigns (the “WIFIA 
Lender”), the lesser of (x) the Maximum Principal Amount set forth above and (y) the aggregate 
unpaid principal amount of all disbursements (the “Disbursements”) made by the WIFIA Lender 
(such lesser amount, together with any interest that is capitalized and added to principal in 
accordance with the provisions of the WIFIA Loan Agreement (as defined below), being 
hereinafter referred to as the “Outstanding Principal Sum”), together with accrued and unpaid 
interest (including, if applicable, interest at the Default Rate, as defined in the WIFIA Master 
Agreement) on the Outstanding Principal Sum and all fees, costs and other amounts payable in 
connection therewith, all as more fully described in the WIFIA Loan Agreement.  The principal 
hereof shall be payable in the manner and at the place provided in the WIFIA Loan Agreement in 
accordance with Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) to the WIFIA Loan Agreement, 
as revised from time to time in accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement and that certain 
WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024, by and among the Borrower, the District and 
the WIFIA Lender (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), until paid in full (which Exhibit A, as 
modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of the WIFIA Loan Agreement and the 
WIFIA Master Agreement, is incorporated in and is a part of this WIFIA Note).  The WIFIA 
Lender is hereby authorized to modify the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule included in Exhibit 
A to the WIFIA Loan Agreement from time to time in accordance with the terms of the WIFIA 
Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement to reflect the amount of each disbursement 
made thereunder and the date and amount of principal or interest paid by the Borrower thereunder.  
Absent manifest error, the WIFIA Lender’s determination of such matters as set forth on Exhibit 
A to the WIFIA Loan Agreement shall be conclusive evidence thereof; provided that neither the 
failure to make any such recordation nor any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner 
the Borrower’s obligations hereunder or under any other WIFIA Loan Document (as defined in 
the WIFIA Master Agreement). 



 

A-2 

Payments hereon are to be made in accordance with Section 8(e) (Payment of Principal 
and Interest – Manner of Payment) and Section 36 (Notices) of the WIFIA Master Agreement as 
the same become due.  Principal of and interest on this WIFIA Note shall be paid in funds available 
on or before the due date and in any lawful coin or currency of the United States of America that 
at the date of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  If the Substantial 
Completion Date occurs on any date prior to [__], the due date of this WIFIA Note shall be deemed 
to be amended to the Principal Payment Date immediately preceding the date that is thirty-five 
(35) years following such Substantial Completion Date without any further action required on the 
part of the Borrower or the WIFIA Lender and such amendment shall in no way amend, modify 
or affect the other provisions of this WIFIA Note without the prior written agreement of the WIFIA 
Lender.  Any such amendment shall be reflected in a revised WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule. 

This WIFIA Note has been executed under and pursuant to that certain WIFIA Loan 
Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of the date hereof, among the WIFIA Lender, the Borrower 
and the District (the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”) and is issued to evidence the obligation of the 
Borrower under the WIFIA Loan Agreement to repay the loan made by the WIFIA Lender and 
any other payments of any kind required to be paid by the Borrower under the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement or the other WIFIA Loan Documents referred to therein.  Reference is made to the 
WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement for all details relating to the 
Borrower’s obligations hereunder.  All capitalized terms used in this WIFIA Note and not defined 
herein shall have the meanings set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, 
the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

This WIFIA Note may be prepaid at the option of the Borrower in whole or in part (and, if 
in part, the principal installments and amounts thereof to be prepaid are to be determined in 
accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement; provided such prepayments shall be in principal 
amounts of at least two hundred fifty thousand Dollars ($250,000) or any integral multiple of one 
Dollar ($1.00) in excess thereof), from time to time, but not more than annually, without penalty 
or premium, by paying to the WIFIA Lender all or part of the principal amount of the WIFIA Note 
in accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

This WIFIA Note shall be subject to mandatory prepayment on the terms and conditions 
set forth in the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Payment of the obligations of the Borrower under this WIFIA Note is secured pursuant to 
the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

This WIFIA Note is a limited obligation of the Borrower, payable solely from the Borrower 
Revenues, and does not constitute a debt of the State or any of its political subdivisions (including 
the District), except the Borrower.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this 
WIFIA Note, the District is not a borrower with respect to this WIFIA Note and the District has 
no obligation to make any payment or provision for payment of this WIFIA Note.  This WIFIA 
Note does not constitute a contract between the District and the WIFIA Lender by which the 
District has incurred an indebtedness. 



 

A-3 

Any delay on the part of the WIFIA Lender in exercising any right hereunder shall not 
operate as a waiver of any such right, and any waiver granted with respect to one default shall not 
operate as a waiver in the event of any subsequent default. 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and laws of the State to happen, 
exist, and be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this WIFIA Note have happened, exist 
and have been performed as so required.  This WIFIA Note is issued with the intent that the federal 
laws of the United States of America shall govern its construction to the extent such federal laws 
are applicable and the internal laws of the State shall govern its construction to the extent such 
federal laws are not applicable. 

  



 

A-4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING 
AUTHORITY has caused this WIFIA Note to be executed in its name and its seal to be affixed 
hereto and attested by its duly authorized officer, all as of the Effective Date set forth above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY, 
by its authorized representative 

(SEAL) 

By   

Name:____________________________ 
Title:_____________________________ 

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 
Secretary 

 



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

REQUISITION PROCEDURES 

This Exhibit B sets out the procedures which the Borrower and the District agree to follow 
in submitting Requisitions for the disbursement of WIFIA Loan proceeds in respect of the Eligible 
Project Costs incurred in connection with each Project.  The Borrower and the District expressly 
agree to the terms hereof, and further agree that (i) the rights of the WIFIA Lender contained herein 
are in addition to (and not in lieu of) any other rights or remedies available to the WIFIA Lender 
under (x) that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024, by and among the 
Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”) and (y) the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender with 
respect to the applicable Project (the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”), and (ii) nothing contained 
herein shall be construed to limit the rights of the WIFIA Lender to take actions including 
administrative enforcement action and actions for breach of contract against the Borrower or the 
District if it fails to carry out its obligations under the WIFIA Loan Agreement during the term 
thereof.  All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

PART A. General Requirements.   

(a) Manner of Request:  All requests by the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant 
to the WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement by and between the Borrower and the District with 
respect to the applicable Project (the “WIFIA IPA”), for a disbursement of a WIFIA Loan shall 
be made in writing by electronic submission to the WIFIA Lender, in accordance with Section 36 
(Notices) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

(b) Required Documentation:  Any request by the District, as agent of the Borrower 
pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, should include the submission of: 

(i) a Requisition, in the form attached as Appendix One (Form of Requisition), 
completed and executed by the District’s Authorized Representative, and otherwise in form and 
substance satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender; and 

(ii) all Eligible Project Costs Documentation that has not otherwise been 
provided to the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Section 20(c)(iii) (Reporting Requirements of 
the District – Construction Reporting – Quarterly Certification of Eligible Project Costs) of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement. 

(c) Timing:  Any request for a disbursement of a WIFIA Loan must be received by the 
WIFIA Lender and the Servicer (if any) at or before 5:00 P.M. (Eastern Time) by either: 

(i) the first (1st) Business Day of a calendar month in order to obtain the 
requested disbursement of such WIFIA Loan by the fifteenth (15th) day of such calendar month; 

(ii) the fifteenth (15th) day of a calendar month, in order to obtain the requested 
disbursement of such WIFIA Loan by the first (1st) day of the immediately following calendar 
month; 



 

B-2 

provided that (x) if any such day is not a Business Day, the Requisition or payment (as the 
case may be) shall be made by the next succeeding Business Day; (y) the District, as agent of the 
Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, shall not request to receive more than one (1) disbursement 
of such WIFIA Loan per month or every thirty (30) days (whichever is longer); and (z) no 
disbursements of such WIFIA Loan shall be made after the Final Disbursement Date of such 
WIFIA Loan. 

PART B. WIFIA Lender Review Process.   

(a) The WIFIA Lender shall review the Requisition and the Eligible Project Costs 
Documentation for compliance with WIFIA Loan disbursement requirements. 

(b) If a Requisition is approved by the WIFIA Lender, the WIFIA Lender will notify 
the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, of such approval and of the 
amount so approved.  A Requisition containing an apparent mathematical error will be corrected 
by the WIFIA Lender, after telephonic or email notification to the District, and will thereafter be 
treated as if submitted in the corrected amount.  If the amount requested for disbursement in the 
Requisition exceeds the available balance of the WIFIA Loan proceeds remaining to be disbursed, 
the Requisition will be treated as if submitted in the amount of the balance so remaining, and the 
WIFIA Lender will so notify the District. 

(c) The WIFIA Lender shall be entitled to withhold approval (in whole or in part) of 
any pending or subsequent requests for the disbursement of WIFIA Loan proceeds if: (i) a Default 
or an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or (ii) the Borrower or the District 
(1) knowingly takes any action, or omits to take any action, amounting to fraud or violation of any 
applicable law, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby; (2) prevents or materially 
impairs the ability of the WIFIA Lender to monitor compliance by the Borrower and the District 
with applicable law pertaining to the relevant Project or with the terms and conditions of the 
relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement; (3) fails to observe or comply with any applicable law, or any 
term or condition of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement; (4) fails to satisfy the conditions set 
forth in Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) and Section 11(b) (Conditions Precedent to 
Disbursements) of the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement; or (5) fails to deliver Eligible Project 
Costs Documentation satisfactory to the WIFIA Lender at the times and in the manner specified 
by the relevant WIFIA Loan Agreement; provided that in such case of sub-clause (5) above, the 
WIFIA Lender may, in its sole discretion, partially approve a Requisition in respect of any amounts 
for which adequate Eligible Project Costs Documentation has been provided and may, in its sole 
discretion, disburse in respect of such properly documented amounts.  The WIFIA Lender will 
notify the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, of any withholding, and 
the reasons therefor. 

(d) A Requisition may be rejected in whole or in part by the WIFIA Lender if it is: (i) 
submitted without signature; (ii) submitted under signature of a Person other than a District’s 
Authorized Representative; (iii) submitted after prior disbursement of all proceeds of the relevant 
WIFIA Loan; or (iv) submitted without adequate Eligible Project Costs Documentation.  The 
WIFIA Lender will notify the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, of 
any Requisition so rejected, and the reasons therefor.  Any Requisition rejected for the reasons 



 

B-3 

specified under this paragraph (d) must be resubmitted in proper form in order to be considered 
for approval. 

  



 

B-4 

APPENDIX ONE TO EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

VIA EMAIL 
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
WJC-E 7334A 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 
Email: WIFIA_Portfolio@epa.gov 

Re: Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] (WIFIA ID – [__]) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Pursuant to Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) of (i) that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, 
dated as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT (the “District”) and the UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY, acting by and through the Administrator (the “WIFIA Lender”) and (ii) that certain 
WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of [__], 20[__] (the “WIFIA Loan 
Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender, the District, as 
agent of the Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, hereby requests disbursement in the amount set 
forth below in respect of Eligible Project Costs paid or incurred by the District, as agent of the 
Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the 
meaning set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master 
Agreement. 

In connection with this Requisition the undersigned, as the District’s Authorized Representative, 
hereby represents and certifies the following: 

1. Project name Pure Water Antelope Valley 
Master Program – Project [__] 

2. Borrower name Palmdale Water District Public 
Financing Authority 

3. District name Palmdale Water District 

4. WIFIA Loan ID [__] 

5. District Unique Entity Identifier [__] 

6. District FEIN number [__] 

7. Requisition number [__] 

8. Requested Disbursement amount $[__] 



 

B-5 

9. Requested date of Disbursement (the 
“Disbursement Date”)14 

[__] 

10. Total amounts previously disbursed under the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement 

$[__] 

11. Wire or ACH transfer instructions (please 
specify method) 

[__] 

 
12. As of the date hereof, and immediately after giving effect to the disbursement of WIFIA 

Loan proceeds requested under this Requisition, (a) no Default or Event of Default and no 
event of default under any other Related Document shall have occurred and be continuing 
and (b) no event that, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would 
constitute an event of default under any other Related Document, shall have occurred and 
be continuing. 

13. No District Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be 
expected to have a District Material Adverse Effect, has occurred since the Effective Date. 

14. The aggregate amount of all disbursements of the WIFIA Loan (including the requested 
disbursement amount under this Requisition but excluding any interest that is capitalized 
in accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement) does not exceed (a) the maximum 
principal amount of the WIFIA Loan or (b) the aggregate amount of Eligible Project Costs 
with respect to the Project paid or incurred by the District, as agent of the Borrower 
pursuant to the WIFIA IPA. 

15. The Eligible Project Costs with respect to the Project for which reimbursement or payment 
is being requested has not been reimbursed or paid by any previous disbursement of (a) 
any WIFIA Loan proceeds or (b) any other source of funding for the Project as identified 
in the Project Budget for the Project. 

16. The District, and each of its contractors and subcontractors at all tiers with respect to the 
relevant Project, have complied with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
requirements, including 40 U.S.C. §§3141-3144, 3146, and 3147 (relating to Davis-Bacon 
Act requirements) (and regulations relating thereto) and 33 U.S.C. §3914 (relating to 
American iron and steel products).  Supporting documentation, such as certified payroll 
records and certifications for all iron and steel products used for the Project, are being 
maintained and are available for review upon request by the WIFIA Lender. 

17. The representations and warranties of the District set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement 
and in each other WIFIA Loan Document are true and correct as of the date hereof and as 
of the date of the requested disbursement of the WIFIA Loan proceeds, except to the extent 
such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such 
representations and warranties are true and correct as of such earlier date). 

 
14 Note this should be the actual disbursement date on which the Borrower requests to receive the funds, not the date 
that this Requisition form is submitted to the WIFIA Lender. 



 

B-6 

18. The District has delivered all required deliverables under and in compliance with the 
requirements of Section 20 (Reporting Requirements of the District) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement, except as has been otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender. 

19. Eligible Project Costs Documentation evidencing Eligible Project Costs in an amount equal 
to the amount requested for such disbursement either (a) has been previously submitted to 
and approved by the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Exhibit B (Requisition Procedures) 
and Section 20 (Reporting Requirements of the District) of the WIFIA Master Agreement 
or (b) has been submitted to the WIFIA Lender, together with (i) a brief description of the 
type15 and nature of the activity covered by such Eligible Project Costs and (ii) a summary 
of such Eligible Project Costs in the format set out below, in each case for approval by the 
WIFIA Lender: 

        WIFIA USE ONLY 

Vendor or 
Contractor 
Name16 

Invoice 
Number
17 

Invoice 
Date 

Payment 
Date 

Invoice 
Amount 

WIFIA 
Requested 
Amount18 

Account 
Number  

Account 
Description  

Approved 
Amount 

Notes 

          

 
The undersigned acknowledges that if the District makes a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, 
statement, submission, or certification to the Government in connection with the Project, the 
Government reserves the right to impose on the District the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, to the 
extent the Government deems appropriate. 

Date: ______________________ PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, 
by its authorized representative 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: 
Title: ___________________________ 

 
  

 
15 Specify whether activity is: (a) Development phase activity, which includes planning, preliminary engineering, 
design, environmental review, revenue forecasting and other pre-construction activities; (b) Construction, which 
includes construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation and replacement activities; (c) Acquisition of real property, 
which includes acquiring an interest in real property, environmental mitigation, construction contingencies and 
acquisition of equipment; (d) Carrying costs, including capitalized interest, as necessary to meet market requirements, 
reasonably required reserve funds, capital issuance expenses and other carrying costs during construction; (e) WIFIA 
fees, including for application and credit processing; or (f) Other, with an explanation of such activity. 
16 If seeking reimbursement for internal costs, enter “Internally financed activities.” 
17 Vendor’s number indicated on the invoice sent to the Borrower. 
18 If the amount requested for reimbursement by the WIFIA Lender is less than the total amount of the invoice, include 
an explanation for the difference. 



 

B-7 

APPENDIX TWO TO EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF BORROWER’S DISBURSEMENT CERTIFICATE 

United States Environmental Protection Agency 
WJC-E 7334A 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 

Re: Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] (WIFIA ID – [__]) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Reference is made to (i) that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the 
“WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District Public Financing 
Authority (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”) and the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator (the “WIFIA 
Lender”) and (ii) that certain WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of [__], 20[__] 
(the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA 
Lender.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meaning set forth in the WIFIA 
Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

Pursuant to Section 11(b)(iii) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to 
Disbursements) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the undersigned, as the Borrower’s Authorized 
Representative, hereby represents and certifies the following: 

1. As of the date hereof and on the requested disbursement date (immediately after giving 
effect to the requested disbursement of WIFIA Loan proceeds), (a) no Default or Event of 
Default, and no event of default under any other Related Document to which the Borrower 
is a party and (b) no event that, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, 
would constitute an event of default under any Related Document to which the Borrower 
is a party, in each case, has occurred and is continuing. 

2. No Borrower Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be 
expected to have a Borrower Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen since the 
Effective Date. 

3. The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the WIFIA Master 
Agreement (including Section 12 (Representations and Warranties of the Borrower)) and 
in each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party are true and correct 
as of the date hereof and as of the requested disbursement date, except to the extent such 
representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such 
representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date). 

4. The Borrower has delivered all required deliverables under and in compliance with the 
requirements of Section 19 (Reporting Requirements of the Borrower) of the WIFIA 
Master Agreement, except as has been otherwise agreed by the WIFIA Lender. 



 

B-8 

The undersigned acknowledges that if the Borrower makes a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, 
statement, submission, or certification to the Government in connection with the Project, the 
Government reserves the right to impose on the Borrower the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, to the 
extent the Government deems appropriate. 

Date: ______________________ PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY 
by its authorized representative 

By:  _______________________________ 
Name:__________________________ 
Title: __________________________ 

 

 



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF CERTIFICATION OF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS DOCUMENTATION 

VIA EMAIL 
United States Environmental Protection Agency19 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
WJC-E 7334A 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
Attention: WIFIA Director 
Email: WIFIA_Portfolio@epa.gov 

Re: Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] (WIFIA ID – [__]) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Pursuant to Section 20 (Reporting Requirements of the District) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, 
dated as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District 
Public Financing Authority (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”) and the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator (the 
“WIFIA Lender”), the District, as agent of the Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA, hereby 
presents this certificate in connection with the District’s delivery of Eligible Project Costs 
Documentation to the WIFIA Lender.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the 
meaning set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of [__], 20[__] (the 
“WIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender or, 
if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

The undersigned does hereby represent and certify the following: 

1. This certificate is being delivered to the WIFIA Lender in connection with the Eligible 
Project Costs during the period between [___] and [___] (the “Quarterly Period”). 

2. A summary of the Eligible Project Costs incurred, invoiced and/or paid (as the case may 
be) is set out in the [attached excel sheet][table on the following page:] 

       WIFIA USE ONLY 

Vendor or 
Contractor 
Name20 

Invoice 
Number21 

Invoice 
Date 

Payment 
Date 

Invoice 
Amount 

Account 
Number  

Account 
Description  

Approved 
Amount 

Notes 

         

 

 
19 If there is a Servicer for the WIFIA Loan, provide a copy to the Servicer as well and include its notice details here. 
20 If the expectation is to seek reimbursement for internal costs, enter “Internally financed activities.” 
21 Vendor’s number indicated on the invoice sent to the Borrower. 



 

C-2 

3. The following is a brief description of the type22 and nature of the activity covered by such 
Eligible Project Costs: [insert description]. 

4. The anticipated sources of funding for such Eligible Project Costs are [listed below][set 
forth in the attached excel sheet]. 

5. Supporting Eligible Project Costs Documentation for the above Eligible Project Costs for 
the Quarterly Period are also attached hereto. 

6. The most recently delivered Construction Monitoring Report delivered in accordance with 
Section 20 (Reporting Requirements of the District) of the WIFIA Master Agreement sets 
out a summary of the progress of construction of the Project, no change has occurred since 
the date of such Construction Monitoring Report that could reasonably be expected to cause 
a Material Adverse Effect, and the District is otherwise in compliance with Section 20(c) 
(Reporting Requirements of the District –Construction Reporting) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement. 

Dated:  [__] 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, by its 
authorized representative 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 

 
22 Specify whether activity is: (a) Development phase activity, which includes planning, preliminary engineering, 
design, environmental review, revenue forecasting and other pre-construction activities; (b) Construction, which 
includes construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation and replacement activities; (c) Acquisition of real property, 
which includes acquiring an interest in real property, environmental mitigation, construction contingencies and 
acquisition of equipment; (d) Carrying costs, including capitalized interest, as necessary to meet market requirements, 
reasonably required reserve funds, capital issuance expenses and other carrying costs during construction; (e) WIFIA 
fees, including for application and credit processing; or (f) Other, with an explanation of such activity. 



 

D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF WIFIA LOAN REQUEST 

[Letterhead of Borrower] 

[Date]23 

United States Environmental Protection Agency 
WJC-E 7334A 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 
Email:  WIFIA_Portfolio@epa.gov 

Project:  Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] (WIFIA ID – [__]) 

Dear WIFIA Director: 

This loan request is provided pursuant to Section 3(c) (WIFIA Loans Under the Master Program) 
of that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA Master 
Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority (the 
“Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”) and the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the Environmental Protection 
Agency (the “WIFIA Lender”).  Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms in this 
loan request have the meanings assigned to those terms in the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

I, the undersigned, in my capacity as the District’s Authorized Representative and not in my 
individual capacity, do hereby request that the WIFIA Lender, in accordance with, and subject to 
the terms and conditions of, the WIFIA Master Agreement, enter into a WIFIA Loan Agreement 
and related WIFIA Loan Documents with respect to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program 
– Palmdale Water District – Project [__] (the “Project”). 

(a) The Project consists of [describe the Project]. 

(b) Attached hereto as Annex A is the most recent Updated Financial Model/Plan delivered to 
the WIFIA Lender. 

(c) [Such additional information relating to the Project as may be requested by the WIFIA 
Lender.] 

  

 
23 To be dated no later than 180 days prior to the end of the Master Availability Period. 



 

D-2 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, by its 
authorized representative 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

  



 

D-3 

ANNEX A TO EXHIBIT D 

UPDATED FINANCIAL MODEL/PLAN 

 



 

E-1-1 

EXHIBIT E-124 

FORM OF OPINION OF BORROWER’S GENERAL COUNSEL 

[To be attached].  

 

 
24 Note to Draft:  The forms of opinions in Exhibits E-1 through E-4 remain subject to EPA team’s review and 
comment in all respects. 



 

E-2-1 

EXHIBIT E-2 

FORM OF OPINION OF BORROWER’S BOND COUNSEL 

[To be attached]. 



 

E-3-1 

EXHIBIT E-3 

FORM OF OPINION OF DISTRICT’S GENERAL COUNSEL 

[To be attached]. 



 

E-4-1 

EXHIBIT E-4 

FORM OF OPINION OF DISTRICT’S BOND COUNSEL 

[To be attached].



 

F-1-1 

EXHIBIT F-1 

FORM OF CLOSING CERTIFICATE OF BORROWER 

[__], 2024 

Reference is made to that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the 
“WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District Public Financing 
Authority, as Borrower (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District, and the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the Environmental 
Protection Agency (the “WIFIA Lender”).  Capitalized terms used in this certificate and not 
defined shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the WIFIA Master 
Agreement. 

In connection with Section 11(a) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness of this Agreement) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the undersigned, [__], as 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative, does hereby certify on behalf of the Borrower and not in 
his/her personal capacity, as of the date hereof: 

(a) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vi) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, attached hereto as 
Annex A is an incumbency certificate that lists all persons, together with their positions and 
specimen signatures, who are duly authorized by the Borrower to execute the WIFIA Loan 
Documents to which the Borrower is a party and make the certifications of the Borrower delivered 
in connection therewith, and who have been appointed as a Borrower’s Authorized Representative 
in accordance with Section 25 (Borrower’s Authorized Representative) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement; 

(b) pursuant to Section 11(a)(ii) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the Borrower has 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the Borrower’s Organizational Documents, as in effect 
on the Effective Date, each of which Organizational Documents is in full force and effect; 

(c) pursuant to Section 11(a)(iv) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the Borrower has 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the WIFIA Borrower Resolution, the WIFIA Borrower 
Resolution is in full force and effect, all conditions contained in the WIFIA Borrower Resolution 
that are necessary to the closing of the WIFIA transactions contemplated by the WIFIA Master 
Agreement have been fulfilled, and no further instruments or documents (including any 
resolutions, ordinances, and supplements) are necessary for the Borrower to execute and deliver, 
and to perform its obligations under, the WIFIA Master Agreement and each other WIFIA Loan 
Document to which the Borrower is a party and to consummate and implement the transactions 
contemplated by the WIFIA Master Agreement and each other WIFIA Loan Document to which 
the Borrower is a party; 

(d) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vi)(A) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the 
representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the WIFIA Master Agreement and in 
each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party are true and correct on and as 
of the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to 
an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties were true and correct as of such 
earlier date; and 



 

F-1-2 

(e) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vi)(B) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, no Borrower 
Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be expected to have a 
Borrower Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen since the date of the Application. 

[Signature Page Follows] 

  



 

F-1-3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of the date first 
mentioned above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

F-1-4 

ANNEX A TO EXHIBIT F-1 

INCUMBENCY CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned certifies that he is the Secretary of Palmdale Water District Public 
Financing Authority, a joint exercise of powers agency duly organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of California (the “Borrower”), and as such [she] / [he] is authorized to execute this 
certificate and further certifies that the following person has been elected or appointed, is qualified, 
and is now acting as officer or authorized person of the Borrower in the capacity indicated below, 
and that the signature set forth opposite the name there is the true and genuine signature.  He further 
certifies that the officer listed below is authorized to sign agreements and give written instructions 
with regard to any matters pertaining to the WIFIA Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a 
party on behalf of the Borrower as the Borrower’s Authorized Representative: 

Name Title Signature 
[__] [__] ________________________ 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

 
Capitalized terms used in this certificate and not defined shall have the respective meanings 

ascribed to such terms in the WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among 
the Borrower, Palmdale Water District, and the United States Environmental Protection Agency, 
acting by and through the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of this [__] day 
of [__]. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

F-2-1 

EXHIBIT F-2 

FORM OF CLOSING CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT 

[__], 2024 

Reference is made to that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the 
“WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District Public Financing 
Authority, as Borrower (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”), and the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the 
Environmental Protection Agency (the “WIFIA Lender”).  Capitalized terms used in this 
certificate and not defined shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the WIFIA 
Master Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the WIFIA Master 
Agreement, the District is not a borrower with respect to any WIFIA Loan, any WIFIA Note, or 
any WIFIA Loan Agreement and the District has no obligation to make any payment or provision 
for payment of any WIFIA Loan or any WIFIA Note.  No WIFIA Loan Agreement shall constitute 
a contract between the District and the WIFIA Lender by which the District has incurred an 
indebtedness. 

In connection with Section 11(a) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness of this Agreement) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the undersigned, [__], does 
hereby certify on behalf of the District and not in his/her personal capacity, as of the date hereof: 

(a) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vii) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, attached hereto as 
Annex A is an incumbency certificate that lists all persons, together with their positions and 
specimen signatures, who are duly authorized by the District to execute the WIFIA Loan 
Documents to which the District is a party and make the certifications of the District delivered in 
connection therewith, and who have been appointed as a District’s Authorized Representative in 
accordance with Section 26 (District’s Authorized Representative) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement; 

(b) pursuant to Section 11(a)(ii) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the District has 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the District’s Organizational Documents, as in effect on 
the Effective Date, each of which Organizational Documents is in full force and effect; 

(c) pursuant to Section 11(a)(iii) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the District has 
delivered to the WIFIA Lender a copy of the WIFIA District Resolution, the WIFIA District 
Resolution is in full force and effect, all conditions contained in the WIFIA District Resolution 
that are necessary to the closing of the WIFIA transactions contemplated by the WIFIA Master 
Agreement have been fulfilled, and no further instruments or documents (including any 
resolutions, ordinances, and supplements) are necessary for the District to execute and deliver, and 
to perform its obligations under, the WIFIA Master Agreement and each other WIFIA Loan 
Document to which the District is a party and to consummate and implement the transactions 
contemplated by the WIFIA Master Agreement and each other WIFIA Loan Document to which 
the District is a party. 

(d) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vii)(A) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, (i) the District’s 
Federal Employer Identification Number is [95-6004540], as evidenced by the District’s Form W-



 

F-2-2 

9 which is attached hereto as Annex B-1, (ii) the District’s Unique Entity Identifier is [__]25, and 
(iii) the District has registered with, and obtained confirmation of active registration status from, 
the federal System for Award Management (www.SAM.gov), which confirmation is attached 
hereto as Annex B-2; 

(e) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vii)(B) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the 
representations and warranties of the District set forth in the WIFIA Master Agreement and in each 
other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party are true and correct on and as of the 
date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to an 
earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties were true and correct as of such 
earlier date; and 

(f) pursuant to Section 11(a)(vii)(C) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, no District 
Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be expected to have a 
District Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen since the date of the Application. 

[Signature Page Follows] 

  

 
25 Note to Borrower: Please confirm the FEIN and UEIN for the District. 



 

F-2-3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of the date first 
mentioned above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

F-2-4 

ANNEX A TO EXHIBIT F-2 

INCUMBENCY CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned certifies that he is the Secretary of Palmdale Water District, an irrigation 
district duly organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of California (the 
“District”), and as such [she] / [he] is authorized to execute this certificate and further certifies 
that the following persons have been elected or appointed, are qualified, and are now acting as 
officers or authorized persons of the District in the capacity or capacities indicated below, and that 
the signatures set forth opposite their respective names are their true and genuine signatures.  He 
further certifies that any of the officers listed below is authorized to sign agreements and give 
written instructions with regard to any matters pertaining to the WIFIA Loan Documents to which 
the District is a party on behalf of the District as the District’s Authorized Representative: 

Name Title Signature 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

[__] [__] ________________________ 

 
Capitalized terms used in this certificate and not defined shall have the respective meanings 

ascribed to such terms in the WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among 
the District, Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority, and the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the Environmental 
Protection Agency. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of this [__] day 
of [__]. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

F-3-1 

EXHIBIT F-3 

FORM OF PROJECT CLOSING CERTIFICATE OF BORROWER 

[__], 20[__] 

Reference is made to that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the 
“WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District Public Financing 
Authority (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”) and the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator (the “WIFIA 
Lender”) and that certain WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of [__], 20[__] 
(the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA 
Lender.  Capitalized terms used in this certificate and not defined shall have the respective 
meanings ascribed to such terms in the WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the 
WIFIA Master Agreement. 

In connection with Section 11(b) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement) of the WIFIA Master Agreement and Section 11(a) 
(Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the WIFIA Loan Agreement, 
the undersigned, [__], as Borrower’s Authorized Representative, does hereby certify on behalf of 
the Borrower and not in his/her personal capacity, as of the date hereof: 

(a) pursuant to Section 11(b)(vii) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, [the Borrower’s 
Authorized Representative previously designated and such person’s position and incumbency 
previously provided to the WIFIA Lender remain unchanged and in full force and effect] [attached 
hereto as Annex [__] is an incumbency certificate that lists all persons, together with their positions 
and specimen signatures, who are duly authorized by the Borrower to execute the WIFIA Loan 
Documents to which the Borrower is or will be a party, and who have been appointed as a 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative in accordance with Section 25 (Borrower’s Authorized 
Representative) of the WIFIA Master Agreement]; 

(b) pursuant to Section 11(b)(iv) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, attached hereto as 
Annex [__] are copies of each Related Document (to the extent not previously delivered to the 
WIFIA Lender) and Existing Construction Contract to which it is a party with respect to the 
Project, together with any amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, and each such document 
is complete, fully executed, and in full force and effect; 

(c) pursuant to Section 11(b)(vii)(A) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, (i) the 
maximum principal amount of the WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized in 
accordance with the terms of the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement), 
together with the amount of any other credit assistance provided under the Act to the Borrower, 
does not exceed forty-nine percent (49%) of the reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs for 
the Project and (ii) the total federal assistance provided to the Project, including the maximum 
principal amount of the WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized in accordance with 
the terms of the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement), does not exceed 
eighty percent (80%) of Total Project Costs for the Project; 



 

F-3-2 

(d) pursuant to Section 11(b)(vii)(B) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, [the WIFIA 
CUSIP Number is [__]] [the Borrower (i) has maintained the WIFIA CUSIP Number and (ii) 
[confirms that the expiration date of the WIFIA CUSIP Number is no earlier than the Final 
Maturity Date] [has extended the expiration date of the WIFIA CUSIP Number to be no earlier 
than the Final Maturity Date]]; 

(e) pursuant to Section 11(b)(vii)(C) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the 
representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement and in 
each other WIFIA Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party are true and correct on and as 
of the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, except to the extent that such representations and 
warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties 
were true and correct as of such earlier date; 

(f) pursuant to Section 11(b)(vii)(D) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, no Borrower 
Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be expected to have a 
Borrower Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen since the Effective Date; [and] 

(g) pursuant to Section 11(b)(ix) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, no rating in the 
rating letter delivered to the WIFIA Lender pursuant to such Section 11(b)(ix) has been reduced, 
withdrawn or suspended as of the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date[; and][.] 

(h) [any other attachments and provision as may apply to the WIFIA Loan Agreement]. 

[Signature Page Follows] 

  



 

F-3-3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of the date first 
mentioned above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY  

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

F-4-1 

EXHIBIT F-4 

FORM OF PROJECT CLOSING CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT 

[__], 20[__] 

Reference is made to that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the 
“WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority (the 
“Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”) and the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator (the “WIFIA Lender”) and that 
certain WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of [__], 20[__] (the “WIFIA Loan 
Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender.  Capitalized terms 
used in this certificate and not defined shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms 
in the WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

In connection with Section 11(b) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement) of the WIFIA Master Agreement and Section 11(a) 
(Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the WIFIA Loan Agreement, 
the undersigned, [__], as District’s Authorized Representative, does hereby certify on behalf of the 
District and not in his/her personal capacity, as of the date hereof: 

(a) pursuant to Section 11(b)(viii) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, [the District’s 
Authorized Representative previously designated and such person’s position and incumbency 
previously provided to the WIFIA Lender remain unchanged and in full force and effect] [attached 
hereto as Annex [__] is an incumbency certificate that lists all persons, together with their positions 
and specimen signatures, who are duly authorized by the District to execute the WIFIA Loan 
Documents to which the District is or will be a party, and who have been appointed as a District’s 
Authorized Representative in accordance with Section 26 (District’s Authorized Representative) 
of the WIFIA Master Agreement]; 

(b) pursuant to Section 11(b)(iv) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, attached hereto as 
Annex [__] are copies of each Related Document (to the extent not previously delivered to the 
WIFIA Lender) and Existing Construction Contract to which it is a party with respect to the 
Project, together with any amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, and each such document 
is complete, fully executed, and in full force and effect; 

(c) pursuant to Section 11(b)(viii)(A) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, (i) the 
maximum principal amount of the WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized in 
accordance with the terms of the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement), 
together with the amount of any other credit assistance provided under the Act to the Borrower, 
does not exceed forty-nine percent (49%) of the reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs for 
the Project and (ii) the total federal assistance provided to the Project, including the maximum 
principal amount of the WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized in accordance with 
the terms of the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement), does not exceed 
eighty percent (80%) of Total Project Costs for the Project; 



 

F-4-2 

(d) pursuant to Section 11(b)(viii)(B) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the District is 
in compliance with NEPA and any applicable federal, state or local environmental review and 
approval requirements with respect to the Project; 

(e) pursuant to Section 11(b)(viii)(C) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the District has 
maintained (i) the Federal Employer Identification Number provided to the WIFIA Lender as a 
condition precedent to the Effective Date, (ii) the Unique Entity Identifier provided to the WIFIA 
Lender as a condition precedent to the Effective Date, and (iii) active registration status with the 
federal System for Award Management (www.SAM.gov); 

(f) pursuant to Section 11(b)(viii)(D) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, the 
representations and warranties of the District set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement and in each 
other WIFIA Loan Document to which the District is a party are true and correct on and as of the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, except to the extent that such representations and 
warranties expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties 
were true and correct as of such earlier date; [and] 

(g) pursuant to Section 11(b)(viii)(E) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, no District 
Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be expected to have a 
District Material Adverse Effect, has occurred or arisen since the Effective Date[; and][.] 

(h) [any other attachments and provision as may apply to the WIFIA Loan Agreement]. 

[Signature Page Follows] 

  



 

F-4-3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of the date first 
mentioned above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

G-1 

EXHIBIT G 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 

[Letterhead of Borrower] 

[Date] 

United States Environmental Protection Agency 
WJC-E 7334A 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 

Project:  Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] (WIFIA ID – [__]) 

Dear Director: 

This certificate is provided pursuant to Section 20(f)(i)(A) (Reporting Requirements of the District 
– Notices – Substantial Completion) of that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 
2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District Public 
Financing Authority (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”) and the United 
States Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through its Administrator (the “WIFIA 
Lender”). 

Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms in this certificate have the meanings assigned 
to those terms in that certain WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of [__], 20[__] 
(the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender 
or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

I, the undersigned, in my capacity as the District’s Authorized Representative and not in my 
individual capacity, do hereby certify to the WIFIA Lender that: 

(a) on [insert date Substantial Completion requirements were satisfied], the Project satisfied 
each of the requirements for Substantial Completion set forth in the Construction Contracts 
for the Project; 

(b) Substantial Completion has been declared under each of the Construction Contracts for the 
Project and copies of the notices of Substantial Completion under such agreements are 
attached to this certification; and 

(c) Substantial Completion for the Project has been achieved and the Substantial Completion 
Date of the Project is [___]; and 

(d) The total federal assistance provided to the Project, including the maximum principal 
amount of the WIFIA Loan (excluding any interest that is capitalized in accordance with 
the terms of the WIFIA Loan Agreement), does not exceed eighty percent (80%) of Total 
Project Costs. 



 

G-2 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, 
by its authorized representative 

By: _______________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 

 



 

H-1 

EXHIBIT H 
 

FORM OF CONSTRUCTION MONITORING REPORT 

VIA EMAIL 
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
WJC-E 7334A 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 
Email:  WIFIA_Portfolio@epa.gov 

Re:  Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] (WIFIA ID – [__]) 

This Construction Monitoring Report for the period of [insert relevant period] (the “Quarterly 
Period”) is provided pursuant to Section 20(c) (Reporting Requirements of the District – 
Construction Reporting –Construction Monitoring Report) of that certain WIFIA Master 
Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale 
Water District Public Financing Authority (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the 
“District”) and the United States Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the 
Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency (the “WIFIA Lender”).  Unless otherwise 
defined herein, all capitalized terms in this Construction Monitoring Report have the meanings 
assigned to those terms in that certain WIFIA Loan Agreement (WIFIA ID – [__]), dated as of 
[__], 20[__] (the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the District and the 
WIFIA Lender or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

1. Project Status.  Provide a narrative summary of the Project’s construction progress during 
the Quarterly Period, including with respect to the Project components or sub-projects 
where appropriate.  Complete the table in Appendix A to update the Project scope, 
schedule, and costs with the latest information. 

 
 

 
2. Current Projected Substantial Completion Date:  

 
 
If the current Projected Substantial Completion Date differs than the date set forth in the 
Construction Monitoring Report most recently delivered to the WIFIA Lender (or, if no 
such report has yet been provided, the date of the Projected Substantial Completion Date 
set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement as of the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date), 
provide a description in reasonable detail for such projected delay or difference: 

 
 

 
3. Material Problems (if any) 

 



 

H-2 

 
Note any problems encountered or anticipated during the construction of the Project during 
the Quarterly Period that (1) impedes Project completion within the scope, costs, and 
schedule outlined in the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement or (2) 
relates to unforeseen complications in connection with the construction of the Project.  This 
may include commissioning/start-up issues, constructability issues for the Project as 
planned, adverse impacts to Project surroundings, changes in or issues with meeting 
environmental or federal compliance requirements, and unanticipated or abnormal permit 
approval timelines. Include an assessment of the impact and any current plans to address 
the problems.  

 

 
4. Other Matters Related to the Project (if applicable) 

 

 
 
 
Date:  _______________________ PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

 
 

 By:  _______________________________ 
 Name: _____________________________ 
 Title:_______________________________ 



 

H-3 

APPENDIX A TO EXHIBIT H26 
 

 
Project Scope Project Schedule Project Costs 

Project 
Component 

Completed 
(Y/N) 

Contract/ 
Vendor 

Bid 
Advertisem

ent Date 

Contract 
Award Date 

NTP 
Effective 

Date 

Original 
Substantial 
Completion 

Date 

Estimated  
Substantial 
Completion 

Date 

Original 
Contract 
Amount 

Estimated 
Costs to 

Complete 

Costs 
Earned or 

Paid to 
Date 

           
           
Total           

 
 

 
 

 
26 Appendix A summarizes all project components that will be bid on in the next quarter, are currently under 
construction, or have completed construction. It should include a cumulative list of projects that is updated each 
quarter. A Microsoft Excel spreadsheet with similar table format is also acceptable.    



 

I-1 

EXHIBIT I 

FORM OF PUBLIC BENEFITS REPORT 

Pursuant to Section 11(b)(xi) and Section 20(d) of that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated 
as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), by and among Palmdale Water District 
Public Financing Authority (the “Borrower”), Palmdale Water District (the “District”), and the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the 
Environmental Protection Agency (the “WIFIA Lender”), the District is providing this Public 
Benefits Report in connection with Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project [__] 
(WIFIA ID – [__]).  Capitalized terms used in this Public Benefits Report and not defined shall 
have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in that certain WIFIA Loan Agreement, dated 
as of [__], 20[__], by and among the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender or, if not defined 
therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

Reporting Period:  [Prior to the Effective Date][within ninety (90) days following the Substantial 
Completion Date][within ninety (90) days following the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Substantial 
Completion Date] 

(i) The number of total jobs and direct jobs projected to be created by the Project during 
the period between the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date and the Substantial 
Completion Date: 

WIFIA projects that the Project will create [__] total jobs, of which the District projects 
[__] will be direct jobs. 

(ii) Indicate (yes or no) whether the Project will assist the District in complying with 
applicable regulatory requirements, and if yes, describe how the Project assists with 
regulatory compliance: 

Yes ☐ 

If yes, additional description: [___] 

No ☐ 

(iii) The Project will assist the District with the following environmental measure:27 

The amount by which the Project will increase the volume of water recycled, recharged, or 
redirected (measured in MGD capacity at Substantial Completion):  [___] 

 

 
27 Note to Draft:  WIFIA Lender to provide applicable measure. 



 

J-1 

EXHIBIT J 

FORM OF WIFIA PROJECT TERM SHEET 

[To be attached].  
 

 
 

 



 

 L-1 

EXHIBIT K 

FORM OF WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

[To be attached].  

 

  



 

 L-2 

EXHIBIT L 

FORM OF WIFIA IPA 

[To be attached].  

 

 



 

 
  

DATE: May 13, 2024 
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
FROM:  Mr. Dennis Hoffmeyer, Finance Manager/CFO 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION NO. 24-
6 BEING A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A WIFIA 
INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT, WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT, AND WIFIA 
TERM SHEET AND CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN 
ACTS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. (FINANCE MANAGER HOFFMEYER) 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the District Board adopt Resolution No. 24-6 being a Resolution of the 
Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of a 
WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, WIFIA Loan Agreement and WIFIA Term Sheet and 
Certain Other Documents and Authorizing Certain Acts in Connection Therewith. 
 
Alternative Options: 

The Board can choose not to adopt these Resolutions and instruct staff to seek alternative 
financing methods to pay for the capital projects it would like to complete. 
 
Impact of Taking No Action: 

The impact from no action would result in the District’s inability to enter into the WIFIA loans for 
financing the construction of the capital projects it intends to complete. 

Background: 

The District is pursuing multiple financing sources for the $297 million Pure Water Antelope 
Valley project, including cash, grants, bond financing, and loans through the Water Infrastructure 
Finance and Innovation Act (“WIFIA”) program. The District successfully sold and closed its 2024 
Subordinate Bonds at the end of April to fund a portion of the Pure Water Antelope Valley project. 
Under a separate agenda item, the Board considered the adoption of a resolution approving a 
WIFIA Master Agreement to set the framework for the District to enter into additional future 
WIFIA Loans. This agenda item seeks authorization for District staff to enter into a 2024 WIFIA 
Loan under the previously approved WIFIA Master Agreement. 
 
Because of the differences in timing between the Demonstration Facility and the larger Advanced 
Water Purification Facility and to better align with the EPA’s funding practices for WIFIA Loans, 
the District has split the full Pure Water AV project into two, smaller projects: Project 1 is the 
construction of the Demonstration Facility, Well 37 design and project management, and 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.7 

BOARD MEMORANDUM 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Dennis D. LaMoreaux. General Manager    May 13, 2024 
 

Page 2 

additional design and project management for the Advanced Water Purification Facility. Project 
1 has a total estimated capital cost of $27.8 million and will be funded from a combination of the 
bond proceeds from the 2024 Bonds and $14,805,000 from the 2024 WIFIA Loan. The 2024 WIFIA 
Loan will provide the Federal share of Project 1. WIFIA Loans are limited to 49% of total eligible 
project costs, with the remainder coming from a combination of state grants, cash, and bonds. 
 
Pure Water AV Project 2 is the construction of Well 37 and the Advanced Water Purification 
Facility. The funding plan for Project 2 includes WIFIA loan, bonds, grants, and cash contributions 
and Project 2 is expected to commence after the completion of Project 1, with the bond and 
WIFIA financing for Project 2 currently expected in 2026. The District has the option to enter 
additional WIFIA loans in the future to fund the Pure Water AV Project 2, so long as the total 
combined WIFIA Loan amount does not exceed the $145,555,000 maximum for the WIFIA Master 
Agreement. 
 
The proposed 2024 WIFIA Loan will be amortized over a period of 20 years and will be structured 
to “wrap around” the District’s outstanding senior lien debt and the 2024 Bonds. In the graph on 
the next page, the anticipated structure of the 2024 WIFIA Loan is shown in blue, while the 
current structure of the District’s outstanding senior lien debt (i.e., all other debt currently 
outstanding) is shown in grey and the only other outstanding subordinate lien debt (2024 Bonds) 
is shown in the orange series. 
 
While each loan under the WIFIA Master Agreement will comply with the terms and conditions 
outlined therein, each individual WIFIA Loan is a separate and distinct WIFIA loan. The District 
entering into the 2024 WIFIA Loan for an amount up to $14,805,000 does not obligate the District 
to enter into any subsequent WIFIA loans. 
 

 

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

$9,000,000

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
De

bt
 Se

rv
ice

Palmdale Water District
Projected Debt Service & Coverage

 2024 WIFIA Loan

 2024 Bonds

 Total Senior Debt Service



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Dennis D. LaMoreaux. General Manager    May 13, 2024 
 

Page 3 

To minimize rate impact, the principal on the 2024 WIFIA Loan will be repaid from 2035 through 
2045. An all-in interest rate of approximately 4.70% is expected, based on current WIFIA loan 
rates for a loan with a 20-year term (~17 year weighted average life), subject to change until 
anticipated WIFIA Loan closing in mid-June. Once the WIFIA loan closes, the interest rate will be 
fixed for the life of the loan (i.e., not a variable rate loan). 
 
Annual debt service for the 2024 WIFIA Loan will vary due to the “wrap around” structure. Debt 
service is expected to be approximately $715,000 per year through 2034, and then step up to 
$1.85 million per year through 2045. Since the rate study and rate increases approved by the 
Board in 2019 provide sufficient revenue to support both the 2024 WIFIA Loan and the other 
outstanding debt, there will be minimal pressure to raise rates in the near term (other than 
inflationary water rate increases) in order to cover the outstanding debt or the 2024 WIFIA Loan. 
However given the size of the Project, the District will have to implement water rate increases in 
the next 5-year cycle (2025-2029) beyond typical inflationary increases in order to support the 
anticipated debt service on the future debt for the Pure Water AV Project 2. These future rate 
increases will support the debt service on future WIFIA Loans and matching bonds. 
 
The WIFIA financing program has some key benefits when compared to the District’s other 
existing debt obligations. 

First, WIFIA loans are draw-schedule loans. Even though the District is entering into a 
2024 WIFIA Loan agreement for up to $14,805,000, until the District draws money from 
the 2024 WIFIA Loan, the District will not accrue any interest. In this way, the WIFIA loan 
program functions similarly to a line of credit except that unlike some line of credit 
programs, the WIFIA program does not charge any fees for undrawn amounts. This draw-
schedule feature is a key benefit when the timing of construction costs or duration of 
construction may be uncertain. 

Second, the WIFIA program allows for a flexible amortization structure. The WIFIA 
financing for the District will be structured to have their biggest payments after a 
significant amount of the District’s existing obligations have been paid off. The ability to 
structure the WIFIA loans to “wrap around” the District’s existing debt results in a lower 
overall repayment and reduces future pressure on ratepayers. While the 2024 WIFIA Loan 
has a 20-year term, the District expects that the larger, future WIFIA Loan will have a term 
up to 35 years after substantial completion of the project. The 35-year term option for 
WIFIA loans allows the borrower to spread the costs of the asset over its useful life to 
ensure the long-term benefits of the Pure Water AV project are shared between the 
current ratepayers and ratepayers who continue to benefit from the project decades from 
now. 
 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Dennis D. LaMoreaux. General Manager    May 13, 2024 
 

Page 4 

Third, the WIFIA program has flexible payment terms (extended final maturity and 
deferred payments). The District will not be required to make payments until the 
Demonstration Facility project is complete and interest that accrues on the WIFIA loan 
draws will be capitalized and amortized over the life of the loan. 

Fourth, the WIFIA loans will have a fixed interest rate based on the U.S. Treasury rate for 
a comparable maturity of the same weighted average life. This enables the District to 
secure long-term debt at an interest rate similar to the Federal government. The interest 
rate on each loan will be fixed at closing of the loans and is a function of the average life 
of each loan. The WIFIA program offers a one-time interest rate reset to allow the District 
to reduce the WIFIA loan interest rate after closing should the market interest rates go 
down before the District draws from the WIFIA Loan. 

Fifth, the WIFIA financing has very flexible prepayment terms and the Agency has the 
option to prepay all or a portion of the loans on any interest payment date following 
substantial completion of the projects. 

 
The 2024 WIFIA Loan will be issued on a subordinate lien basis, meaning that debt service on the 
2024 WIFIA Loan and other subordinate obligations, such as the 2024 Bonds, will be paid after 
the senior lien debt service is paid each year. Similar to the District’s other outstanding debt, the 
2024 WIFIA Loan requires that the District maintain net revenues equal to 110% of debt service 
in any given year. Additionally, in order for the District to enter into future debt, the District must 
comply with the subordinate lien additional bonds test (which is the same as the additional bonds 
test on the 2024A Bonds). The 2024 WIFIA Loan has slightly different reporting requirements 
from the District’s outstanding debt, but the timing of that reporting aligns with the typical timing 
of the District’s audit and is not expected to be burdensome. 
 
The District’s debt is secured by revenues net of operating and maintenance expenses and certain 
State Water Project related assessments. The District has the capacity, based on current and 
anticipated net revenues, to enter into the 2024 WIFIA Loan under the most recently completed 
five-year cycle of rate increases (2019-2024) and modest future inflationary rate increases. 
However, water rates will need to be adjusted as determined in the 2024 Water Rate Study to 
meet anticipated increases in future operating expenses and debt related to the Pure Water AV 
Project. 
 
Note that for legal reasons, the District’s joint powers authority formed in connection with the 
2013A Bonds, the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority, needs to be involved in the 
transaction. The Installment Purchase Agreement securing the financing is technically a purchase 
by the District of the improvements to be funded by the proposed WIFIA Loan. Consequently, 
there needs to be both a purchaser (the District) and a seller (the Public Financing Authority). 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Dennis D. LaMoreaux. General Manager    May 13, 2024 
 

Page 5 

Otherwise, the Public Financing Authority takes no active role in the financing since it assigns all 
of its rights to receive payments from the District over to the EPA as the WIFIA lender. 
By adopting the attached resolutions, in combination, the District and Authority are taking the 
following steps: 

1. Approval of the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement, this agreement will have the specific 
terms (interest rate, payment amounts, etc.) for the District’s first WIFIA Loan. The 
final interest rate and payment amounts will depend on the market rates the day of 
closing. 

2. Approval of the 2024 WIFIA Term Sheet, which summarizes and outlines the key terms 
for the 2024 WIFIA Loan. 

3. Approval of the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, wherein the District 
makes installment purchase payments (debt service payments) secured by a pledge 
of net revenues (after operating expenses) of the District. This Agreement is between 
the District and the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority. 

4. Authorizing and directing the specified District staff to do any and all things and 
deliver any and all documents which they may deem necessary in order to carry out 
the terms of the resolutions. 

 
Strategic Plan Initiative/Mission Statement: 

This item is under Strategic Initiative No. 1 – Water Resource Reliability and Strategic Initiative 
No. 4 – Financial Health and Stability. 

This item directly relates to the District’s Mission Statement. 
 
Budget: 

The fixed expenses of the District for debt service on the 2024 WIFIA Loan will increase by 
approximately $715,000 per year through 2034, stepping up to $1.85 million per year for 2035-
2045. 
 
Issuance costs for the 2024 WIFIA Loan are typically paid outside of the financing and so these 
costs will come out of the District’s budget in the near term. The current best estimate for these 
costs is approximately $395,000. In the long-term, the District can seek reimbursement for these 
costs by drawing on the 2024 WIFIA Loan, at the District’s discretion. 
 
Supporting Documents: 

 Resolution No. 2024-3 of the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority 
 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement 
 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement 
 2024 WIFIA Term Sheet 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-3 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING 
AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND 
DELIVERY OF A WIFIA INSTALLMENT PURCHASE 
AGREEMENT, WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT, AND WIFIA 
TERM SHEET AND CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND 
AUTHORIZING CERTAIN ACTIONS IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH 

WHEREAS, the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority (the “Authority”), a 
joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the 
Constitution and laws of the State of California, has been requested to assist the Palmdale Water 
District (the “District”) in the acquisition of certain improvements to the District’s water system 
(as more particularly described in the WIFIA Master Agreement referred to below, the “WIFIA 
Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it would be in the best interests of the District 
and citizens of the community to authorize the entry into one or more installment purchase 
agreements (each such installment purchase agreement a “WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement”) with the Authority and the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the 
“WIFIA Lender”) to acquire the WIFIA Project; and 

WHEREAS, in order to fulfill its obligation to the District under the WIFIA Installment 
Purchase Agreements, the Authority proposes to obtain one or more loans under the authority of 
the Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (each a “WIFIA Loan”) from the WIFIA 
Lender pursuant to a master agreement among the Authority, the WIFIA Lender and the District 
(the “WIFIA Master Agreement”) and one or more loan agreements (each a “WIFIA Loan 
Agreement”) among the Authority, the WIFIA Lender and the District; and 

WHEREAS, the terms of the initial WIFIA Loan (the “2024 WIFIA Loan“) are set forth 
in a term sheet (the “2024 WIFIA Term Sheet”) and a WIFIA Loan Agreement (the “2024 WIFIA 
Loan Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the WIFIA Master Agreement, under which the Authority and the District 
would borrow an amount not to exceed $145,555,000, pursuant to the WIFIA Loans, was approved 
separately on the date hereof by this Board of Directors; and 

WHEREAS, this Board of Directors desires to approve the 2024 WIFIA Loan, the 2024 
WIFIA Term Sheet, the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement, the 2024 WIFIA Note (as defined below) 
and the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement (as defined below); and 

WHEREAS, the District has completed its environmental review for and approved the 
projects to be funded by the 2024 WIFIA Loan in accordance with the California Environmental 
Quality Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY as follows: 



 

SECTION 1. Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated into this Resolution by reference. 

SECTION 2. 2024 WIFIA Note, 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement and 2024 WIFIA 
Term Sheet.  The WIFIA Note attached to the WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement (the “2024 
WIFIA Note”), the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A, and the 2024 WIFIA Term Sheet, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
B, in each instance with respect to the portion of the WIFIA Project described in the 2024 WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement, are hereby accepted and approved, subject to such changes, 
insertions and omissions as may be approved by the Chair, the Vice Chair or the Executive Director 
(each an “Authorized Officer” and together the “Authorized Officers”) who are hereby 
individually authorized and directed to execute and deliver the 2024 WIFIA Note, the 2024 WIFIA 
Loan Agreement and the 2024 WIFIA Term Sheet, said execution being conclusive evidence of 
such approval, so long as the total principal amount of the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement does not 
exceed $14,805,000. 

SECTION 3. 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement.  A WIFIA Installment 
Purchase Agreement with respect to the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement (the “2024 WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement”), in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, is hereby 
accepted and approved, subject to such changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by 
any of the Authorized Officers who are hereby individually authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, said execution being conclusive 
evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 4. Good Faith Estimate of Certain Costs. The Board of Directors 
acknowledges that the good faith estimates of certain costs required by Section 5852.1 of the 
California Government Code with respect to the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement (and related 
documents) are disclosed in Exhibit D to this Resolution and are available to the public at the 
meeting at which this Resolution is approved.  

SECTION 5. Reserve Insurance Policy.  Each of the Authorized Officers, acting alone, 
is hereby authorized to execute a commitment for a reserve surety policy from a municipal bond 
insurer (the “Insurer”) and (ii) to finalize the form of such policy and any related debt service 
agreements with the Insurer. 

SECTION 6. Other Actions.  The Authorized Officers, Authority general counsel and 
bond counsel and such other officers and staff of the Authority are authorized and directed, acting 
singly, to do any and all things and to execute, deliver and implement any and all documents which 
such officers may deem necessary or advisable in order to consummate the execution and delivery 
of the 2024 WIFIA Note, the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, the 2024 WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and the 2024 WIFIA Term Sheet (collectively, the “Initial WIFIA Documents”), and 
otherwise effectuate the purposes of this Resolution and the Initial WIFIA Documents, and such 
actions in connection therewith previously taken by such officers and staff are hereby ratified and 
confirmed.   

SECTION 7. Definitions.  Unless otherwise defined herein, all terms used herein and not 
otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to such terms in the WIFIA Master Agreement, 
unless the context otherwise clearly requires. 



 

SECTION 8. Effective Date of Resolution.  This Resolution shall take effect 
immediately. 

ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District 
Public Financing Authority this __ day of May, 2024. 

 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

 
 

  
Kathy Mac Laren-Gomez, President  

 

       
Vincent Dino, Secretary 

 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 

2024 WIFIA INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth 
Draft of 5/7/24 

 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

by and among 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY 

and 

THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

Dated as of __________ 1, 2024 

Relating to 

$__________ 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY 

WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

i 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Definitions ..................................................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1 Representations by the District ................................................................................... 15 
Section 2.2 Representations and Warranties by the Authority ...................................................... 15 

ARTICLE III 
ACQUISITION OF THE WIFIA PROJECT 

Section 3.1 Acquisition and Construction of the WIFIA Project .................................................. 16 
Section 3.2 Purchase of WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project ..................................... 16 
Section 3.3 Title ............................................................................................................................. 17 
Section 3.4 Acquisition Fund ......................................................................................................... 17 
Section 3.5 WIFIA Reserve Fund .................................................................................................. 17 

ARTICLE IV 
WIFIA INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.1 Purchase Price ............................................................................................................. 18 
Section 4.2 WIFIA Installment Payments ..................................................................................... 18 
Section 4.3 Reserve Policy Draws ................................................................................................. 19 

ARTICLE V 
SECURITY 

Section 5.1 Pledge of Water Revenues .......................................................................................... 19 
Section 5.2 Allocation of Water Revenues .................................................................................... 19 
Section 5.3 Additional Senior Obligations for Refunding Purposes Only .................................... 21 
Section 5.4 Additional Subordinate Obligations............................................................................ 21 
Section 5.5 Investments ................................................................................................................. 22 
Section 5.6 Rate Stabilization Fund ............................................................................................... 22 
Section 5.7 WIFIA Debt Service Account ..................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE VI 
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 6.1 Compliance with WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and Ancillary Agreements ........................................................................ 23 

Section 6.2 Against Encumbrances ................................................................................................ 23 
Section 6.3 Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property ........................................................... 24 
Section 6.4 Against Competitive Facilities .................................................................................... 24 
Section 6.5 Maintenance and Operation of the Water System ...................................................... 24 
Section 6.6 Payment of Claims ...................................................................................................... 24 
Section 6.7 Compliance with Contracts ......................................................................................... 24 
Section 6.8 Insurance ..................................................................................................................... 24 
Section 6.9 Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports .................................. 25 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 
 

ii 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Section 6.10 Protection of Security and Rights of the Authority ..................................................... 26 
Section 6.11 Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations ......................... 26 
Section 6.12 Amount of Rates and Charges .................................................................................... 26 
Section 6.13 Collection of Rates and Charges ................................................................................. 26 
Section 6.14 Eminent Domain Proceeds .......................................................................................... 26 
Section 6.15 Further Assurances ...................................................................................................... 27 
Section 6.16 Enforcement of Contracts ........................................................................................... 27 
Section 6.17 Superior Additional Obligations ................................................................................. 27 
Section 6.18 Payments in Connection with the State Water Supply Contract ................................. 27 

ARTICLE VII 
PREPAYMENT OF WIFIA INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 7.1 Prepayment ................................................................................................................. 28 
Section 7.2 Method of Prepayment ................................................................................................ 28 

ARTICLE VIII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY 

Section 8.1 Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities ...................................................... 28 
Section 8.2 Application of Funds Upon Acceleration ................................................................... 29 
Section 8.3 Other Remedies of the Authority ................................................................................ 30 
Section 8.4 Remedies of the Authority Lender .............................................................................. 30 
Section 8.5 Non-Waiver ................................................................................................................. 31 
Section 8.6 Remedies Not Exclusive ............................................................................................. 31 

ARTICLE IX 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.1 Liability of District Limited ........................................................................................ 31 
Section 9.2 Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties ................................ 32 
Section 9.3 Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor ............................... 32 
Section 9.4 Waiver of Personal Liability ....................................................................................... 32 
Section 9.5 Article and Section Headings, Gender and References .............................................. 32 
Section 9.6 Partial Invalidity .......................................................................................................... 32 
Section 9.7 Assignment ................................................................................................................. 32 
Section 9.8 Net Contract ................................................................................................................ 33 
Section 9.9 California Law ............................................................................................................ 33 
Section 9.10 Notices ........................................................................................................................ 33 
Section 9.11 Effective Date ............................................................................................................. 33 
Section 9.12 Execution in Counterparts ........................................................................................... 33 
Section 9.13 Indemnification of Authority and the Authority Lender ............................................. 33 
Section 9.14 Amendments Permitted ............................................................................................... 34 
 
Signatures ................................................................................................................................... S-1 
 
Exhibit A Purchase Price ........................................................................................................... A-1 
Exhibit B Form of Requisition from Acquisition Fund............................................................. B-1 
Exhibit C Form of WIFIA Note ................................................................................................ C-1 



 

 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, made and entered into and dated as of 
__________ 1, 2024, by and among PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, an irrigation district duly 
organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “District”), 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint powers authority 
duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the 
“Authority”), and the UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, a federal 
agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency (the 
“Authority Lender”) 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the District proposes to finance the acquisition and construction of certain 
improvements, betterments, renovations and expansions of facilities within its Water System (the 
“WIFIA Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Authority has agreed to assist the District in financing a portion of the 
WIFIA Project for the District on the terms and conditions set forth in this WIFIA Installment 
Purchase Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the Authority is authorized pursuant to the Act (defined herein) to assist the 
District in financing the WIFIA Project and to enter into this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

WHEREAS, the District is authorized by Division 11 of the Water Code of the State of 
California, including, but not limited to Sections 22228 through 22231, 22425 and 22426, to acquire  
and construct facilities such as the WIFIA Project for its Water System; 

WHEREAS, the Authority, the District and the Authority Lender, have entered into (a) a 
WIFIA Master Agreement dated as of _____, 2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”) and (b) a 
WIFIA Loan Agreement dated as of _____, 2024 (the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”), secured, inter 
alia, by the payments to be made by the District to the Authority under this WIFIA Installment 
Purchase Agreement, to finance such portion of the WIFIA Project; 

WHEREAS, the Authority Lender is a party to this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement 
for the purpose of establishing its right to draw on the Reserve Policy (as defined herein) when 
permitted hereunder; 

WHEREAS, the District and the Authority have duly authorized the execution of this WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement; 

WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required by law to exist, to have happened and to 
have been performed precedent to and in connection with the execution and delivery of this WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and 
due time, form and manner as required by law, and the parties hereto are now duly authorized to 
execute and enter into this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. 



 

2 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THESE PREMISES AND OF THE 
MUTUAL AGREEMENTS AND COVENANTS CONTAINED HEREIN AND FOR OTHER 
VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, THE PARTIES HERETO DO HEREBY AGREE AS 
FOLLOWS: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this 
section shall for all purposes hereof and of any amendment hereof or supplement hereto and of any 
report or other document mentioned herein or therein have the meanings defined herein, the 
following definitions to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of any of the 
terms defined herein.  All capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the 
meanings ascribed thereto in the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Acquisition Fund 

The term “Acquisition Fund” means the fund by that name established by the District 
pursuant to Section 3.4. 

Act 

The term “Act” means the Marks-Roos Local Bond Pooling Act of 1985, commencing with 
Section 6584 of the California Government Code and all laws amendatory thereof or supplemental 
thereto. 

Assumed Interest Rate   

The term “Assumed Interest Rate” means the amount of interest calculated in accordance 
with the following provisions: 

(A) Generally.  Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (B) below with 
respect to Variable Interest Rate Contracts, in subparagraph (C) below with respect to Contracts or 
Bonds with respect to which a Payment Agreement is in force, and in subparagraph (D) below with 
respect to Balloon Contracts, interest on any Contracts or Bonds shall be calculated based on the 
actual amount of interest that is payable under such Contracts or Bonds; 

(B) Interest on Variable Interest Rate Contracts.  Interest deemed to be payable on 
any Variable Interest Rate Contract for periods when the actual interest rate can be determined shall 
be the actual Variable Interest Rates and for periods when the actual interest rate cannot yet be 
determined shall be calculated on the assumption that the interest rate on such Variable Interest Rate 
Contract would be equal to (i) the average rate that accrued on such Variable Interest Rate Contract 
over the preceding 12 months, or (ii) if the Variable Interest Rate Contract has not been accruing 
interest at a variable rate for 12 months, the average interest rate that accrued on an outstanding 
Variable Interest Rate Contract of the District for which interest is computed on substantially the 
same basis during the preceding twelve month period, or (iii) if no such comparable Variable Interest 
Rate Contract was outstanding during the 12 months preceding the date of calculation, then (x) if the 
interest on such Variable Interest Rate Contract is excluded from gross income for purposes of 



 

3 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Federal income taxation, 90% of the average rate of interest for The Bond Buyer Revenue Bond 
Index over the preceding 12 months, or, if that index is no longer published, a similar index selected 
by the District and acceptable to each credit enhancer providing credit enhancement for an 
outstanding Contracts or Bonds, or, if the District fails to select a replacement index, an interest rate 
equal to 80% of the yield for outstanding United States Treasury bonds having an equivalent maturity 
as the Variable Rate Interest Contract, or if there are no such Treasury Bonds having equivalent 
maturities, 80% of the lowest prevailing prime rate of any of the five largest commercial banks in the 
United States, ranked by assets, and (y) if interest on such Variable Interest Rate Contract is not 
excluded from gross income for purposes of Federal income taxation, 110% of the yield for 
outstanding United States Treasury bonds having an equivalent maturity as the Variable Rate Interest 
Contract, or if there are no such United States Treasury Bonds having equivalent maturities, 110% of 
the lowest prevailing prime rate of any of the five largest commercial banks in the United States, 
ranked by assets; 

(C) Interest on Obligations with respect to which a Payment Agreement is in 
Force.  Interest deemed to be payable on any Contracts or Bonds with respect to which a Payment 
Agreement is in force shall be based on the net economic effect on the District expected to be 
produced by the terms of such Contracts or Bonds and such Payment Agreement, including but not 
limited to the effects that (i) such Contracts or Bonds would, but for such Payment Agreement, be 
treated as an obligation bearing interest at a Variable Interest Rate instead shall be treated as an 
obligation bearing interest at a fixed interest rate, and (ii) such Contracts or Bonds would, but for 
such Payment Agreement, be treated as an obligation bearing interest at a fixed interest rate instead 
shall be treated as an obligation bearing interest at a Variable Interest Rate; and accordingly, the 
amount of interest deemed to be payable on any Contracts or Bonds with respect to which a Payment 
Agreement is in force shall be an amount equal to the amount of interest that would be payable at the 
rate or rates stated in such Contracts or Bonds plus the Payment Agreement Payments minus the 
Payment Agreement Receipts, and for the purpose of calculating as nearly as practicable the Payment 
Agreement Receipts and the Payment Agreement Payments under such Contracts or Bonds, the 
following assumptions shall be made: 

(1) District Obligated to Pay Net Variable Payments.  If a Payment 
Agreement has been entered into by the District with respect to Contracts or Bonds resulting in the 
payment of a net variable interest rate with respect to such Contracts or Bonds and Payment 
Agreement by the District, the interest rate on such Contracts or Bonds for future periods when the 
actual interest rate cannot yet be determined shall be assumed (but only during the period the 
Payment Agreement is in effect) to be equal to the sum of (i) the fixed rate or rates stated in such 
Contracts or Bonds, minus (ii) the fixed rate paid by the Qualified Counterparty to the District, plus 
(iii) the lesser of (A) the interest rate cap, if any, provided by a Qualified Counterparty with respect 
to such Payment Agreement (but only during the period that such interest rate cap is in effect) and 
(B) the applicable Variable Interest Rate calculated in accordance with paragraph (B) above; and 

(2) District Obligated to Pay Net Fixed Payments.  If a Payment 
Agreement has been entered into by the District with respect to Contracts or Bonds resulting in the 
payment of a net fixed interest rate with respect to such Contracts or Bonds and Payment Agreement 
by the District, the interest on such Contracts or Bonds shall be included in the calculation of 
Payments (but only during the period the Payment Agreement is in effect) by including for each 
Fiscal Year or twelve (12) calendar month period an amount equal to the amount of interest payable 
at the fixed interest rate pursuant to such Payment Agreement; 



 

4 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

(D) Interest on Balloon Contracts.  If any outstanding Contracts or Bonds 
constitute Balloon Contracts (and such Contracts or Bonds do not constitute Short-Term Obligations 
excluded from the calculation of the Payments pursuant to clause (E), below) or if Contracts or 
Bonds proposed to be incurred would constitute Balloon Contracts (and such Contracts or Bonds 
would not constitute Short-Term Obligations excluded from the calculation of the Payments pursuant 
to clause (E), below), then such Balloon Contracts shall be treated as if the principal amount of such 
Contracts or Bonds were amortized from the date originally incurred in substantially equal 
installments of principal and interest over a term of 30 years (provided, however, that the full 
principal amount of such Balloon Contract shall be included in making such calculation if such 
principal amount is due within 90 days of the date such calculation is being made); and, if interest 
accrues under such Balloon Contract at other than a fixed rate, the interest rate used for such 
computation shall be (x) if the interest on such Contracts or Bonds is excluded from gross income for 
purposes of Federal income taxation, 90% of the average rate of interest for The Bond Buyer 
Revenue Bond Index over the preceding 12 months, or if that index is no longer published, a similar 
index selected by the District and acceptable to each credit enhancer providing credit enhancement 
for outstanding Contracts or Bonds, or if the District fails to select a replacement index, an interest 
rate equal to 80% of the yield for outstanding United States Treasury bonds having an equivalent 
maturity as the Contracts or Bonds on the date incurred, or if there are no such United States 
Treasury bonds having equivalent maturities, 80% of the lowest prevailing prime rate of any of the 
five largest commercial banks in the United States, ranked by assets, and (y) if the interest on such 
Contracts or Bonds is not excluded from gross income for purposes of Federal income taxation, the 
rate equal to 110% of the yield for outstanding United States Treasury bonds having an equivalent 
maturity as the Balloon Contract, or, if there are no such United States Treasury Bonds having 
equivalent maturities, 110% of the lowest prevailing prime rate of any of the five largest commercial 
banks in the United States, ranked by assets; 

(E) Exclusion of Certain Short-Term Obligations.  If any outstanding Contracts or 
Bonds constitute Short-Term Obligations or if Contracts or Bonds proposed to be incurred would 
constitute Short-Term Obligations, and such Short-Term Obligations are or will be payable only out 
of Revenues of the Fiscal Year in which such Short-Term Obligations are incurred, then such Short-
Term Obligations shall be disregarded and not included in calculating Payments; 

(F) Credit for Accrued and Capitalized Interest.  If amounts constituting accrued 
interest or capitalized interest have been deposited with a third party trustee, then the interest payable 
from such amounts with respect to the Contracts or Bonds shall be disregarded and not included in 
calculating Senior Payments or Subordinate Payments. 

Authority 

The term “Authority” means Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority, a joint 
exercise of powers agency duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 
California. 

Authority Lender 

The term “Authority Lender” means the United States Environmental Protection Agency, 
acting by and through the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency. 



 

5 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Balloon Contract 

The term “Balloon Contract” means Contracts or Bonds 50% or more of the principal of 
which matures or is payable on the same date and which is not required by the instrument pursuant to 
which such Contracts or Bonds were incurred to be amortized by payment or redemption prior to 
such date. 

Balloon Installment Payments   

The term “Balloon Installment Payments” means any Senior Payments or Subordinate 
Payments designated as such in any Balloon Contract. 

Bonds 

The term “Bonds” means all revenue bonds or notes of the District authorized, executed, 
issued and delivered by the District, the payments of which are on a senior or parity basis with the 
WIFIA Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge of and lien on the Water Revenues, 
including but not limited to, the District’s 2020 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds (Federally 
Taxable).  The term Bonds does not include bonds heretofore or hereafter issued required by law to 
be paid by the District from taxes or assessments which are not Water Revenues.   

Budgeted Transfers 

The term “Budgeted Transfers” means, for any Fiscal Year, lawfully available amounts, 
including in the Rate Stabilization Fund, as of the last day of such Fiscal Year, in each case, (a) 
which may be lawfully used to pay the Installment Payments and (b) that have been transferred to the 
Water Revenue Fund, pursuant to a budget process where such amounts have been budgeted and 
approved by the Board of Directors of the District (and which removal from the Water Revenue Fund 
would require a separate budget and approval process by the Board of Directors of the District prior 
to any such removal), for application solely to the Water System. 

Burns-Porter Assessments 

 The term “Burns-Porter Assessments” means those assessments levied for the benefit of the 
District in connection with the State Water Supply Contract under and pursuant to the Burns-Porter 
Act of 1959, also known as the California Water Resources Development Bond Act. 

Contracts 

The term “Contracts” means this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, and any 
amendments and supplements hereto, and all contracts of the District authorized and executed by the 
District, the Installment Payments or payments under which are on a senior or parity basis with the 
WIFIA Installment Payments and which are secured by a pledge and lien on the Water Revenues, 
including but not limited to, the 2018 Installment Purchase Agreement, the 2020 Installment 
Purchase Agreement, the 2021 Installment Purchase Agreement, the 2021A Installment Purchase 
Agreement, the 2022 Installment Purchase Agreement and the 2023 Installment Purchase Agreement.  
The term “Contracts” does not include the contracts with the State of California for the State Water 
Project, including the State Water Supply Contract.   



 

6 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Date of Operation 

The term “Date of Operation” means, with respect to any uncompleted Project, the estimated 
date by which such Project will have been completed and, in the opinion of an engineer, will be 
ready for commercial operation by or on behalf of the District. 

Debt Service 

The term “Debt Service” means, for any period of calculation: 

(i) the interest required to be paid during such period on all outstanding Bonds, 
assuming that all outstanding serial Bonds are retired as scheduled and that all outstanding term 
Bonds are redeemed or paid from sinking fund payments as scheduled (except to the extent that such 
interest is capitalized or is reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United 
States of America pursuant to Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the 
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted 
February 17, 2009)), or any future similar program); 

(ii) those portions of the principal amount of all outstanding serial Bonds maturing in 
such period (but excluding Excluded Principal); 

(iii) those portions of the principal amount of all outstanding term Bonds required to be 
paid in such period (but excluding Excluded Principal); and 

(iv) those portions of the Contracts that are required to be paid during such period, 
(except to the extent that the interest that is evidenced and represented thereby is capitalized or is 
reasonably anticipated to be reimbursed to the District by the United States of America pursuant to 
Section 54AA of the Code (Section 1531 of Title I of Division B of the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Pub. L. No. 111-5, 23 Stat. 115 (2009), enacted February 17, 2009)), or 
any future similar program and excluding Excluded Principal); 

but less the earnings to be derived from the investment of moneys on deposit in debt service reserve 
funds established for Bonds or Contracts; 

provided that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts bearing or comprising interest at other than a fixed 
rate, the rate of interest used to calculate Debt Service shall, for all purposes, be assumed to be a 
fixed rate equal to the higher of: (1) the then current variable interest rate borne by such Bonds or 
Contracts plus 1%; and (2) the highest variable rate borne over the preceding 3 months by 
outstanding variable rate debt issued by the District or, if no such variable rate debt is at the time 
outstanding, by variable rate debt of which the interest rate is computed by reference to an index that 
is comparable to that to be utilized in determining the interest rate for the debt then proposed to be 
issued;  

provided further that if any series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts have twenty-five percent 
(25%) or more of the aggregate principal amount of such series or issue due in any one year (and 
such principal is not Excluded Principal), Debt Service shall be determined for the period of 
determination as if the principal of and interest on such series or issue of such Bonds or Contracts 
were being paid from the date of incurrence thereof in substantially equal annual amounts over a 
period of twenty-five (25) years from the date of calculation; and 



 

7 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

provided further that, as to any such Bonds or Contracts or portions thereof which bear no interest 
but which are sold at a discount and which discount accretes with respect to such Bonds or Contracts 
or portions thereof, such accreted discount shall be treated as interest in the calculation of Debt 
Service; and  

provided further that the amount on deposit in a debt service reserve fund on any date of calculation 
of Debt Service shall be deducted from the amount of principal due at the final maturity of the Bonds 
and Contracts for which such debt service reserve fund was established and, to the extent that the 
amount in such debt service reserve fund is in excess of such amount of principal, such excess shall 
be applied to the full amount of principal due, in each preceding year, in descending order, until such 
amount is exhausted. 

District 

The term “District” means the Palmdale Water District, an irrigation district organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of California. 

Engineer’s Report 

The term “Engineer’s Report” means a report signed by an Independent Engineer. 

Event of Default 

The term “Event of Default” means an event described in Section 8.1. 

Excluded Principal 

The term “Excluded Principal” means each payment of principal of any Bond or Contract for 
which there is on file with the Authority Lender (i) a certificate of an Independent Municipal 
Consultant to the effect that such Bond or Contract is commercial paper or otherwise of a short term 
or revolving nature and has a maturity of less than 60 months and (ii) a certificate of the Manager to 
the effect that the District intends to pay such principal from the proceeds of Bonds or Contracts, 
Subordinate Obligations or other bonds, notes or other obligations of the District.  No such 
determination shall affect the security for such Bonds or Contracts or the obligation of the District to 
pay such Bonds or Contracts from Net Water Revenues. 

Fiscal Year 

The term “Fiscal Year” means the period beginning on January 1 of each year and ending on 
the last day of December of the next succeeding year, or any other twelve-month period selected and 
designated as the official Fiscal Year of the District. 

Independent Certified Public Accountant 

The term “Independent Certified Public Accountant” means any firm of certified public 
accountants that is appointed by the District, and each of whom is independent pursuant to the 
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 1 of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 



 

8 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Independent Engineer. 

The term “Independent Engineer” means any registered engineer or firm of registered 
engineers of national reputation generally recognized to be well qualified in engineering matters 
relating to water delivery systems, appointed and paid by the District, and who or each of whom – 

(1) is in fact independent and not under the domination of the District; 

(2) does not have a substantial financial interest, direct or indirect, in the operations of 
the District; and 

(3) is not connected with the District as a director, officer or employee of the District, but 
may be regularly retained to make reports to the District. 

Independent Municipal Consultant 

The term “Independent Municipal Consultant” means a municipal advisor or firm of such 
municipal advisors appointed by the District, and who, or each of whom: (1) is in fact independent 
and not under domination of the District; (2) does not have any substantial interest, direct or indirect, 
with the District; (3) is not connected with the District as an officer or employee thereof, but who 
may be regularly retained to make reports thereto; and (4) is registered as a “municipal advisor,” as 
defined in Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Installment Payment Date; WIFIA Installment Payment Date 

The term “Installment Payment Date” means any date on which Installment Payments are 
scheduled to be paid by the District under and pursuant to any Contract.  The term “WIFIA 
Installment Payment Date” means as more particularly set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, (a) with 
respect to the payment of interest, the tenth (10th) day prior to each April 1 and October 1 and (b) 
with respect to the payment of principal, the tenth (10th) day prior to each October 1. 

Installment Payments; WIFIA Installment Payments 

The term “Installment Payments” means the payments scheduled to be paid by the District 
under and pursuant to the Contracts, including the WIFIA Installment Payments.  The term “WIFIA 
Installment Payments” means the Installment Payments scheduled to be paid by the District under 
and pursuant hereto. 

Law 

The term “Law” means the Water Code of the State of California and all laws amendatory 
thereof or supplemental thereto. 

Manager 

The term “Manager” means the General Manager of the District, or any other person that is 
designated by the General Manager to act on behalf of the General Manager. 



 

9 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Maximum Annual Debt Service 

The term “Maximum Annual Debt Service” means the highest Debt Service for any Fiscal 
Year or twelve (12) calendar month period through the final maturity date of all Contracts and 
Bonds; provided, however, for purposes of such calculation, the interest on all Contracts and Bonds 
shall be computed by the District at the applicable Assumed Interest Rate. 

Net Proceeds 

The term “Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation 
award, the gross proceeds from such insurance or condemnation award, paid with respect to the 
Water System, remaining after payment therefrom of all expenses incurred in the collection of such 
gross proceeds. 

Net Water Revenues 

The term “Net Water Revenues” means, for any Fiscal Year, the Water Revenues for such 
Fiscal Year less the Operation and Maintenance Costs for such Fiscal Year. 

Operation and Maintenance Costs 

The term “Operation and Maintenance Costs” means the reasonable and necessary costs paid 
or incurred by the District for maintaining and operating the Water System of the District, 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, including any water 
purchase costs (exclusive of any recovered amount from the State of California’s Department of 
Water Resources in accordance with the State Water Supply Contract) and all reasonable expenses of 
management and repair and other expenses necessary to maintain and preserve the Water System of 
the District in good repair and working order, and including all administrative costs of the District 
that are charged directly or apportioned to the maintenance and operation of the Water System of the 
District, such as salaries and wages of employees, overhead, insurance, taxes (if any) and insurance 
premiums, and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of the District or charges required 
to be paid by it to comply with the terms of this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and other 
Bonds and Contracts, such as compensation, reimbursement and indemnification of the trustee with 
respect to any Bonds and Contracts; excluding in all cases depreciation, replacement and 
obsolescence charges or reserves therefor and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping 
entries of a similar nature, all capital charges, and any contract payments due under the State Water 
Supply Contract paid from the proceeds of any Burns-Porter Assessments. 

Payment Agreement   

The term “Payment Agreement” means a written agreement for the purpose of managing or 
reducing the District’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rates or for any other interest rate, 
investment, asset or liability managing purposes, entered into either on a current or forward basis by 
the District and a Qualified Counterparty as authorized under any applicable laws of the State in 
connection with, or incidental to, the entering into of any Contracts or Bonds, that provides for an 
exchange of payments based on interest rates, ceilings or floors on such payments, options on such 
payments or any combination thereof, or any similar device. 



 

10 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Payment Agreement Payments   

The term “Payment Agreement Payments” means the amounts periodically required to be 
paid by the District to all Qualified Counterparties under all Payment Agreements. 

Payment Agreement Receipts   

The term “Payment Agreement Receipts” means the amounts periodically required to be paid 
by all Qualified Counterparties to the District under all Payment Agreements. 

Policy Costs 

The term “Policy Costs” means the annual amount due with respect to any policy or surety 
bond, including the Reserve Policy, in lieu of depositing cash in the WIFIA Reserve Fund or any 
reserve fund established for any Bonds or Contracts. 

Purchase Price 

The term “Purchase Price” means the principal amount plus interest thereon owed by the 
District to the Authority under the terms hereof as provided in Section 4.1. 

Qualified Counterparty 

The term “Qualified Counterparty” means a party (other than the District or a party related to 
the District) who is the other party to a Payment Agreement and (1) (a) who is rated at least equal to 
the ratings assigned by each of the Rating Agencies to the obligations secured by Senior Payments or 
Subordinate Payments (without regard to any gradations within a rating category), but in no event 
less than a rating of “A” from Fitch, “A2” from Moody’s and “A” from S&P, (b) whose senior debt 
obligations are rated at least equal to the ratings assigned by each of the Rating Agencies to the 
obligations secured by Senior Payments or Subordinate Payments (without regard to any gradations 
within a rating category), or guaranteed by an entity so rated, (c) whose obligations under the 
Payment Agreement are guaranteed for the entire term of the Payment Agreement by a bond insurer 
or other institution which has been assigned a credit rating at least equal to the ratings assigned by 
each of the Rating Agencies to the obligations secured by Senior Payments or Subordinate Payments 
(without regard to any gradations within a rating category), but in no event less than a rating of “A” 
from Fitch, “A2” from Moody’s and “A” from S&P, or (d) whose obligations under the Payment 
Agreement are collateralized in such a manner as to obtain a rating at least equal to the ratings 
assigned by each of the Rating Agencies to the obligations secured by Senior Payments or 
Subordinate Payments, and (2) who is otherwise qualified to act as the other party to a Payment 
Agreement under all applicable laws of the State. 

Rate Stabilization Fund 

The term “Rate Stabilization Fund” means the fund by that name described in Section 5.5 
herein. 



 

11 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Reserve Insurer 

The term “Insurer” means Build America Mutual Assurance Company, or any successor 
thereto or assignee thereof. 

Reserve Policy 

The term “Reserve Policy” means the municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy 
issued by the Reserve Insurer and deposited in the WIFIA Reserve Fund to satisfy the Reserve 
Requirement. 

Reserve Policy Agreement 

 The term “Reserve Policy Agreement” means that certain _____ by and between the District 
and the Reserve Insurer that governs the terms of the Reserve Policy. 

Reserve Requirement 

 The term “Reserve Requirement” means, with respect to the WIFIA Loan Agreement, as of 
any date of calculation, an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) Maximum Annual Debt Service, 
(ii) 125% of average Annual Debt Service, or (iii) 10% of the initial principal amount borrowed 
under the WIFIA Loan Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Reserve 
Requirement exceed $_________, the initial Reserve Requirement. 

Senior Obligations 

The term “Senior Obligations” means all Contracts and Bonds of the District which are 
secured by a pledge of and lien on the Water Revenues on a senior basis to the pledge of and lien on 
Water Revenues securing this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and any other Subordinate 
Obligations and payable from the Senior Payments. 

Senior Payments   

The term “Senior Payments” means all installment payments and other debt service payments 
scheduled to be paid by the District under all Contracts or Bonds on a basis that is senior to payments 
due on Subordinate Obligations, including payments due under the 2018 Installment Purchase 
Agreement, the 2020 Installment Purchase Agreement, the 2020 Bonds, the 2021 Installment 
Purchase Agreement, the 2021A Installment Purchase Agreement, the 2022 Installment Purchase 
Agreement and the 2023 Installment Purchase Agreement. 

Short-Term Obligations 

The term “Short-Term Obligations” means Contracts or Bonds having an original maturity of 
less than or equal to one year and which are not renewable at the option of the District for a term 
greater than one year beyond the date of original incurrence. 

State Water Supply Contract 

The term “State Water Supply Contract” means that certain contract between the State and 
the District by which the District obtains water from the State Water Project, as well as any other 



 

12 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

contract or agreement by which the District obtains water from the State Water Project and pursuant 
to which the District is entitled to levy assessments for the purpose of paying costs in connection 
therewith, including the Burns-Porter Assessments. 

Subordinate Obligations 

The term “Subordinate Obligations” means all Contracts and Bonds of the District which are 
secured by a pledge of and lien on the Water Revenues on a parity with the pledge of and lien on 
Water Revenues securing this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. 

Subordinate Payments   

The term “Subordinate Payments” means all installment payments and other debt service 
payments scheduled to be paid by the District under all Contracts or Bonds on a parity basis with the 
payments due under this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. 

Termination Payments 

The term “Termination Payments” means any payments due and payable to a Qualified 
Counterparty in connection with the termination of a Payment Agreement. 

Treasurer 

The term “Manager” means the Chief Financial Officer of the District, or any other person 
that is designated by the Chief Financial Officer to act on behalf of the Chief Financial Officer. 

2018 Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “2018 Installment Purchase Agreement” means that certain Installment Purchase 
Agreement by and between the Authority and the District, dated as of June 1, 2018. 

2020 Bonds 

The term “2020 Bonds” means the Palmdale Water District 2020 Water Revenue Refunding 
Bonds (Federally Taxable) issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of November 1, 2020 
by and between the District and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 

2020 Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “2020 Installment Purchase Agreement” means that certain Installment Purchase 
Agreement by and between the District and Western Alliance Business Trust, dated as of May 1, 
2020.   

2021 Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “2021 Installment Purchase Agreement” means that certain Installment Purchase 
Agreement by and between the Authority and the District, dated as of July 1, 2021.   



 

13 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

2021A Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “2021A Installment Purchase Agreement” means that certain Installment Purchase 
Agreement by and between the District and Sterling National Bank, dated as of August 1, 2021.   

2022 Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “2022 Installment Purchase Agreement” means that certain Installment Sale 
Agreement by and between the District and Municipal Finance Corporation, dated as of October 10, 
2022.   

2023 Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “2023 Installment Purchase Agreement” means that certain Installment Purchase 
Agreement by and between the Authority and the District, dated as of September 1, 2023.   

Variable Interest Rate 

The term “Variable Interest Rate” means any variable interest rate or rates to be paid under 
any Contracts or Bonds, the method of computing which variable interest rate shall be as specified in 
the applicable Contracts or Bonds, which Contracts or Bonds shall also specify either (i) the payment 
period or periods or time or manner of determining such period or periods or time for which each 
value of such variable interest rate shall remain in effect, and (ii) the time or times based upon which 
any change in such variable interest rate shall become effective, and which variable interest rate may, 
without limitation, be based on the interest rate on certain bonds or may be based on interest rate, 
currency, commodity or other indices. 

Variable Interest Rate Contracts 

The term “Variable Interest Rate Contracts” means, for any period of time, any Contracts or 
Bonds that bear a Variable Interest Rate during such period, except that no Contracts or Bonds shall 
be treated as a Variable Interest Rate Contract if the net economic effect of interest rates on any 
particular Senior Payments or Subordinate Payments or such Contracts or Bonds and interest rates on 
any other Senior Payments or Subordinate Payments of the same Contracts or Bonds, as set forth in 
such Contracts or Bonds, or the net economic effect of a Payment Agreement with respect to any 
particular Senior Payments or Subordinate Payments, in either case is to produce obligations that 
bear interest at a fixed interest rate, and any Contracts or Bonds with respect to which a Payment 
Agreement is in force shall be treated as a Variable Interest Rate Contract if the net economic effect 
of the Payment Agreement is to produce obligations that bear interest at a Variable Interest Rate. 

Water Revenue Fund 

The term “Water Revenue Fund” means the Water System Revenue Fund described in 
Section 5.2 hereof. 

Water Revenues 

The term “Water Revenues” means, for any Fiscal Year, all income, rents, rates, fees, charges 
and other moneys derived from the ownership or operation of the District’s Water System, including, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (1) all income, rents, rates, fees, charges, business 



 

14 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

interruption insurance proceeds or other moneys derived by the District from the sale, furnishing and 
supplying of the water or other services, facilities, and commodities sold, furnished or supplied 
through the facilities of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Water System, plus 
(2) proceeds of the District’s share of the County’s 1% property tax received by the District, if any, 
plus (3) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of such income, rents, rates, fees, 
charges, or other moneys, including District reserves and any reserve funds, plus (4) the proceeds of 
any stand by or water availability charges collected by the District, but excluding in all cases 
customer deposits or any other deposits or advances subject to refund until such deposits or advances 
have become the property of the District, and excluding any proceeds of any taxes or assessments 
required by law to be used by the District to pay bonds heretofore or hereafter issued and any Burns-
Porter Assessments, plus (5) money withdrawn from the Rate Stabilization Fund in such Fiscal Year. 

Water Service 

The term “Water Service” means the water distribution service made available or provided 
by the Water System. 

Water System 

The term “Water System” means the entire water supply, treatment, storage and distribution 
system of the District, including but not limited to all facilities, properties and improvements at any 
time owned, controlled or operated by the District for the supply, treatment and storage of water to 
residents of the District and adjacent areas, and any necessary lands, rights, entitlements and other 
property useful in connection therewith, together with all extensions thereof and improvements 
thereto at any time acquired, constructed or installed by the District. 

WIFIA Amount 

The term “WIFIA Amount” means the amount equal to the total disbursements of the WIFIA 
Loan with respect to the District’s WIFIA Project under the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

WIFIA Debt Service Account 

The term “WIFIA Debt Service Account” means the account identified by account number 
[_____], created and maintained by the District in accordance with Section 5.6 hereof and the WIFIA 
Loan Agreement. 

WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement 

The term “WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement” means this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement, by and between the District and the Authority, dated as of _____ 1, 2024, as originally 
executed and as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented in accordance herewith. 

WIFIA Loan Agreement 

The term “WIFIA Loan Agreement” has the meaning provided in the fifth “Whereas” clause 
herein. 



 

15 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

WIFIA Master Agreement 

The term “WIFIA Master Agreement” has the meaning provided in the fifth “Whereas” 
clause herein.  

WIFIA Project 

The term “WIFIA Project” has the meaning ascribed to the term “Project” in the WIFIA 
Loan Agreement, as such WIFIA Project may be modified in accordance with any modification to 
the definition of “Project” in the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

WIFIA Reserve Fund 

The term “WIFIA Reserve Fund” means that fund established by Section 3.5 hereunder. 

WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project 

The term “WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project” means the portion of the WIFIA 
Project financed by the Authority from the proceeds of the WIFIA Loan, which portion shall be not 
more than 49% of the Eligible Project Costs (as defined in the WIFIA Loan Agreement) of the 
WIFIA Project. 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1 Representations by the District.  The District makes the following 
representations: 

(a) The District is an irrigation district duly organized and existing under and 
pursuant to the laws of the State of California. 

(b) The District has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder, to carry out and 
consummate all other transactions contemplated by this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, and 
the District has complied with the provisions of the Law in all matters relating to such transactions. 

(c) By proper action, the District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and 
due performance of this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. 

(d) The District has determined that it is necessary and proper for District uses 
and purposes within the terms of the Law that the District acquire and construct the WIFIA Project in 
the manner provided for in this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement in order to provide essential 
services and facilities to persons residing in the District. 

Section 2.2 Representations and Warranties by the Authority.  The Authority makes 
the following representations and warranties: 

(a) The Authority is a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and in 
good standing under the laws of the State of California, has full legal right, power and authority to 



 

16 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

enter into this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and to carry out and consummate all 
transactions contemplated by this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and by proper action has 
duly authorized the execution and delivery and due performance of this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement. 

(b) The execution and delivery of this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement 
and the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated will not violate any provision of law, 
any order of any court or other agency of government, or any indenture, material agreement or other 
instrument to which the Authority is now a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is 
bound, or be in conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default (with due notice or the 
passage of time or both) under any such indenture, agreement or other instrument, or result in the 
creation or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon 
any of the properties or assets of the Authority. 

(c) The Authority will not take or permit any action to be taken which results in 
interest paid for the installment purchase of the WIFIA Project under the terms of this WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement being included in the gross income of the Authority or its assigns 
for purposes of federal or State of California personal income taxation. 

ARTICLE III 
 

ACQUISITION OF THE WIFIA PROJECT 

Section 3.1 Acquisition and Construction of the WIFIA Project.  The Authority 
hereby agrees to cause the WIFIA Project and any additions or modifications thereto to be 
constructed, acquired and installed by the District as its agent.  The District shall enter into contracts 
and provide for, as agent for the Authority, the complete design, construction, acquisition and 
installation of the WIFIA Project in accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement and all applicable 
laws.   

The District hereby agrees that it will cause the construction, acquisition and installation of 
the WIFIA Project to be diligently performed. The District agrees to deposit the WIFIA Amount (or 
the relevant portion thereof) (other than any funds to be applied to the prepayment or redemption of 
any interim financing with respect to the WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project) into the 
Acquisition Fund, upon satisfactory completion of design work and compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act and approval by the Board of Directors of the District, and that it will use 
its best efforts to cause the construction, acquisition and installation of the WIFIA Project to be 
substantially completed by _____, 20__, unforeseeable delays due to the occurrence of any 
Uncontrollable Force (as defined in the WIFIA Master Agreement) only excepted.  It is hereby 
expressly understood and agreed that the Authority shall be under no liability of any kind or 
character whatsoever for the payment of any cost of the WIFIA Project and that all such costs and 
expenses (including the cost of the WIFIA Project not paid from the WIFIA Amount) shall be paid 
by the District. 

Section 3.2 Purchase of WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project.  In 
consideration for the WIFIA Installment Payments, the Authority agrees to sell, and hereby sells, to 
the District, and the District agrees to purchase, and hereby purchases, from the Authority, the 
WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project at the purchase price that is specified in Section 4.1 



 

17 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

hereof and otherwise in the manner and in accordance with the provisions of this Installment 
Purchase Agreement. 

Section 3.3 Title.  Each component of the WIFIA Project shall vest in the District 
immediately upon acquisition or construction thereof.  Such vesting shall occur without further 
action by the Authority or the District, and the Authority shall, if requested by the District or if 
necessary, to assure such automatic vesting, deliver any and all documents which are required to 
assure such vesting. 

Section 3.4 Acquisition Fund.  The District shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a 
separate fund designated as the “Acquisition Fund.”  The moneys in the Acquisition Fund shall be 
held by the District in trust and applied by the Treasurer of the District to the payment of the costs of 
acquisition and construction of the WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project and of expenses 
incidental thereto. 

Before any payment is made from the Acquisition Fund by the Treasurer, the Manager, 
acting as agent of the Authority, shall cause to be filed with the Treasurer a certificate of the District 
and the Authority in the form set forth in Exhibit B to this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement.  

Upon receipt of each such certificate, the Treasurer will pay the amount that is set forth in 
such certificate as directed by the terms thereof or disburse funds to the District for such payment as 
directed by the District in such certificate.  The Treasurer need not make any such payment if it has 
received notice of any lien, right to lien, attachment upon or claim affecting the right to receive 
payment of any of the moneys to be so paid, which has not been released or will not be released 
simultaneously with such payment. 

When the WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project shall have been constructed and 
acquired in accordance with this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, a statement of the District 
stating the fact and date of such acquisition, construction and acceptance and stating that all of such 
costs of acquisition and incidental expenses have been determined and paid (or that all of such costs 
and expenses have been paid less specified claims which are subject to dispute and for which a 
retention in the Acquisition Fund is to be maintained in the full amount of such claims until such 
dispute is resolved), shall be delivered to the Treasurer and the Authority Lender by the Manager.  
Upon the receipt of such statement, the Treasurer shall transfer any remaining balance in the 
Acquisition Fund which is not needed for Acquisition Fund purposes (but less the amount of any 
such retention, which amount shall be certified to the Treasurer by the Manager) to the Authority 
Lender for deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service Account. 

Section 3.5 WIFIA Reserve Fund.  The District shall establish and hold in trust the 
“WIFIA Reserve Fund.”  The District shall cause the Reserve Policy to be deposited in the WIFIA 
Reserve Fund and the Authority Lender shall have the ability to draw upon the Reserve Policy in 
accordance with the Reserve Policy Agreement. 



 

18 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

ARTICLE IV 
 

WIFIA INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.1 Purchase Price. 

(a) The Purchase Price to be paid by the District hereunder to the Authority is the 
sum of the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder plus the interest to accrue on the 
unpaid balance of such principal amount from the date hereof over the term hereof, subject to 
prepayment as provided in Article VII. 

(b) The principal amount of the installment payments to be made by the District 
hereunder is set forth in Exhibit A hereto. 

(c) The interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount shall be 
equal to the interest payable with respect to the principal portion of the WIFIA Loan as provided in 
the WIFIA Loan Agreement, and shall be paid by the District as and constitute interest paid on the 
principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder, as set forth in Exhibit A hereto. 

(d) The Authority and the District acknowledge and agree that the WIFIA 
Installment Payments set forth in Exhibit A hereto are initially equal to the payments of principal and 
interest set forth on the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule in Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization 
Schedule) to the WIFIA Loan Agreement in all respects, other than with respect to the relevant 
payment dates.  The Authority and the District agree that (i) upon any modification to Exhibit A 
(WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) to the WIFIA Loan Agreement, Exhibit A hereto shall be 
deemed modified mutatis mutandis, (ii) the District will provide to the Authority a revised Exhibit A 
which the Authority and the District agree will replace the then current Exhibit A (such replacement 
being a ministerial act and not an amendment or supplement to this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement), (iii) no modification to Exhibit A hereto shall otherwise be made without the consent of 
the Authority Lender, and (iv) the District’s failure to provide or delay in providing the Authority 
with such revised Exhibit A shall not affect the modifications deemed to be made thereto or the 
obligation of the District to make the WIFIA Installment Payments as so modified. 

Section 4.2 WIFIA Installment Payments.  The District shall, subject to its rights of 
prepayment provided in Article VII, pay the Authority the Purchase Price in installment payments of 
interest and principal in the amounts and on the WIFIA Installment Payment Dates as set forth in 
Exhibit A hereto. 

Each WIFIA Installment Payment shall be paid to the Authority in lawful money of the 
United States of America.  In the event the District fails to make any of the payments required to be 
made by it under this section, such payment shall continue as an obligation of the District until such 
amount shall have been fully paid and the District agrees to pay the same with interest accruing 
thereon at the rate or rates of interest then applicable to the remaining unpaid principal balance of the 
WIFIA Installment Payments if paid in accordance with their terms. 

The obligation of the District to make the WIFIA Installment Payments is absolute and 
unconditional, and until such time as all of the WIFIA Installment Payments have been paid in full 
(or provision for the payment thereof shall have been made pursuant to Article IX), the District will 
not discontinue or suspend any WIFIA Installment Payments required to be made by it under this 



 

19 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

section when due, whether or not the Water System or any part thereof is operating or operable or has 
been completed, or its use is suspended, interfered with, reduced or curtailed or terminated in whole 
or in part, and whether or not the WIFIA Project has been completed, and such payments shall not be 
subject to reduction whether by offset or otherwise and shall not be conditional upon the performance 
or nonperformance by any party of any agreement for any cause whatsoever. 

Section 4.3 Reserve Policy Draws.  In the event that the District or the Authority fails to 
pay the entirety of a WIFIA Installment Payment to the Authority Lender when due, the Authority 
Lender shall have the option to draw on the Reserve Policy up to an amount equal to the outstanding 
amount of such WIFIA Installment Payment in accordance with the terms of the Reserve Policy 
Agreement.  The District shall be obligated to reimburse the Authority Lender for any such draws, in 
the form of Policy Costs, in accordance with the terms of the Reserve Policy Agreement. 

ARTICLE V 
 

SECURITY 

Section 5.1 Pledge of Water Revenues.  All Water Revenues and all amounts on deposit 
in the Water Revenue Fund and the Rate Stabilization Fund are hereby irrevocably pledged to the 
payment of the WIFIA Installment Payments as provided herein, and the Water Revenues shall not 
be used for any other purpose while any of the WIFIA Installment Payments remain unpaid, other 
than as set fort forth herein; provided that out of the Water Revenues and amounts on deposit in the 
Water Revenue Fund there may be apportioned such sums for such purposes as are expressly 
permitted herein including the senior or parity claim of any Bonds or Contracts.  This pledge, 
together with the pledge created by all other Contracts and Bonds, shall constitute a first lien on and 
security interest in the Water Revenues and the Water Revenue Fund and all amounts on deposit 
therein as permitted herein and subject to the application of Water Revenues in accordance with the 
terms hereof, which lien shall be (a) subordinate to the liens created by the Senior Obligations and 
(b) pari passu with the liens created by the other Subordinate Obligations. 

The Acquisition Fund and all amounts that are on deposit in the Acquisition Fund and the 
WIFIA Debt Service Account and all amounts on deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service Account, are 
irrevocably pledged to the payment of the WIFIA Installment Payments. This pledge shall constitute 
a first and exclusive lien on the Acquisition Fund and the WIFIA Debt Service Account for the 
payments of the WIFIA Installment Payments. 

Section 5.2 Allocation of Water Revenues.  In order to carry out and effectuate the 
pledge and lien contained herein, the District agrees and covenants that all Water Revenues shall be 
received by the District in trust and shall be deposited when and as received in the “Water Revenue 
Fund” which fund the District has previously established and agrees and covenants to maintain and to 
hold separate and apart from other funds so long as any Installment Payments, Contracts or Bonds 
remain unpaid.  Moneys in the Water Revenue Fund shall be used and applied by the District as 
provided in this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. 

The District shall, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs (including amounts reasonably required to be set aside in contingency reserves 
for Operation and Maintenance Costs, the payment of which is not then immediately required) as 
such Operation and Maintenance Costs become due and payable.  All remaining moneys in the Water 
Revenue Fund shall be set aside by the District at the following times in the following respective 



 

20 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

special funds in the following order of priority and all moneys in each of such funds shall be held in 
trust and shall be applied, used and withdrawn only for the purposes hereinafter authorized in this 
Section: 

(a) Senior Obligations.  On or before the payment of principal or interest is due 
with respect to any Senior Obligations, the District shall from moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, 
transfer to the applicable trustee or payee for deposit in the applicable payment fund, without 
preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without 
discrimination or preference, payment on such Senior Obligations, in accordance with the provisions 
of such Senior Obligations. 

(b) Senior Obligation Reserve Fund.  On or before each payment date required 
pursuant to the provisions of any Contract or Bond that constitutes a Senior Obligation, or any 
resolution or indenture related thereto, the District shall, from the remaining moneys in the Water 
Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference of priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, transfer to the applicable trustee for 
deposit to any reserve fund or account for such Bonds or Contracts the amount, if any, needed to 
increase the balance in such fund or account to the amount required to be deposited therein and to 
pay any Policy Costs then due. 

(c) Subordinate Obligations.  On or before each WIFIA Installment Payment 
Date, the District shall, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, transfer to the WIFIA Debt 
Service Account a sum equal to the WIFIA Installment Payment coming due on such WIFIA 
Installment Payment Date.  The District shall also, from the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund, 
transfer to the applicable trustee or payee for deposit in the applicable payment fund, without 
preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of such moneys ratably without any 
discrimination or preference, any other Debt Service or payments in accordance with the provisions 
of any Contract or Bond constituting a Subordinate Obligation, or any resolution or indenture relating 
thereto. 

No deposit need be made in the WIFIA Debt Service Account as WIFIA Installment 
Payments if the amount in the WIFIA Debt Service Account is at least equal to the amount of the 
WIFIA Installment Payment due and payable on the next succeeding WIFIA Installment Payment 
Date. 

(d) Subordinate Obligation Reserve Fund.  On or before each payment date 
required pursuant to the provisions of any Contract or Bond constituting a Subordinate Obligation, or 
any resolution or indenture related thereto, the District shall, from the remaining moneys in the Water 
Revenue Fund, thereafter, without preference of priority, and in the event of any insufficiency of 
such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, transfer to the applicable trustee or 
appropriate party for deposit to any reserve fund or account for such Bonds or Contracts, including 
the WIFIA Reserve Fund, the amount, if any, needed to increase the balance in such fund or account 
to the amount required to be deposited therein and to pay any Policy Costs then due 

(e) Surplus.  On the last day of each month, moneys on deposit in the Water 
Revenue Fund not required to make any of the payments required above may be expended by the 
District at any time for any purpose permitted by law, including but not limited to the deposit of 
amounts in the Rate Stabilization Fund in accordance with Section 5.5. 



 

21 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Section 5.3 Additional Senior Obligations for Refunding Purposes Only.  From the 
date hereof, the District will not execute any Contract or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, 
payable from Net Water Revenues on a basis that is senior to the claim thereon of the Series 2024A 
Installment Payments due under the Installment Purchase Agreement other than for the purpose of 
refunding existing or future Senior Obligations.  Such additional Senior Obligations may only be 
issued if: (i) they mature or terminate no later than the Bonds or Contract being refunded, and (ii) 
Debt Service in each Fiscal Year after the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued or Contracts 
executed is not greater than 105% of the Debt Service which would have been payable in each such 
Fiscal Year prior to the issuance of such Bonds or execution of such Contracts. 

Section 5.4 Additional Subordinate Obligations.  The District may at any time execute 
any Contract or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, payable from Net Water Revenues on a parity 
with the WIFIA Installment Payments due hereunder; provided: 

 (a) The Net Water Revenues for the last audited Fiscal Year of the District, or for 
any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding 
the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the 
issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such Contract, as the case may be, as 
evidenced by a special report prepared by an Independent Certified Public Accountant or 
Independent Municipal Consultant on file with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at 
least one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Debt Service and one hundred percent (100%) of any 
Policy Costs for such Fiscal Year or other twelve month period; 

 (b) The Net Water Revenues for the last audited Fiscal Year of the District, or for 
any consecutive twelve calendar month period during the eighteen calendar month period preceding 
the date of adoption by the Board of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the 
issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such Contract, as the case may be, including 
adjustments to give effect as of the first day of such Fiscal Year or other twelve month period, to 
increases or decreases in rates and charges with respect, or applicable, to the Water System approved 
and in effect as of the date of calculation, as evidenced by a special report prepared by an 
Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent Municipal Consultant on file with the 
District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Debt 
Service and one hundred percent (100%) of any Policy Costs for such Fiscal Year or other twelve 
month period, plus the Debt Service which would have accrued on any Contracts executed or Bonds 
issued since the end of such Fiscal Year or other twelve month period, assuming that such Contracts 
had been executed or Bonds had been issued at the beginning of such Fiscal Year or other twelve 
month period, plus the Debt Service which would have accrued had such proposed additional 
Contract been executed or proposed additional Bonds been issued at the beginning of such Fiscal 
Year or other twelve month period; and 

 (c) The estimated Net Water Revenues for the then current Fiscal Year and for 
each Fiscal Year thereafter, including (after giving effect to the completion of all such uncompleted 
improvements to the Water System) an allowance for estimated Net Water Revenues for each of such 
Fiscal Years arising from any increase in the income, rents, fees, rates and charges estimated to be 
fixed and prescribed or received for the Water Service and which are economically feasible and 
reasonably considered necessary based on projected operations for a period of not to exceed five 
years, as evidenced by a certificate of the Manager on file with the District, shall produce a sum 
equal to at least one hundred ten percent (110%) of the estimated Debt Service and one hundred 
percent (100%) of any estimated Policy Costs for each of such Fiscal Years, after giving effect to the 



 

22 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

execution of all Contracts and the issuance of all Bonds estimated to be required to be executed or 
issued to pay the costs of completing all uncompleted improvements to the Water System within such 
Fiscal Years. 

 (d) For purposes of this Section 5.4, the amount of Water Revenues yielding Net 
Water Revenues may be increased by Budgeted Transfers (measured as of the last day of the 
immediately preceding Fiscal Year), such amount to be no greater than ten percent (10%) of Debt 
Service payable in the applicable Fiscal Year. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds issued or Contracts executed, on a parity basis with 
the WIFIA Installment Payments due hereunder, to refund Bonds or prepay Contracts may be 
delivered without satisfying the conditions set forth above if Debt Service in each Fiscal Year after 
the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued or Contracts executed is not greater than 110% of the 
Debt Service which would have been payable in each such Fiscal Year prior to the issuance of such 
Bonds or execution of such Contracts. 

Section 5.5 Investments.  All moneys held by the District in the Water Revenue Fund, 
the Acquisition Fund, the WIFIA Debt Service Account and the Rate Stabilization Fund shall be 
invested in Permitted Investments and the investment earnings thereon shall remain on deposit in 
such fund, except as otherwise provided herein.  All investment earnings on amounts in the Rate 
Stabilization Fund shall be transferred to the Water Revenue Fund upon receipt thereof.   

Section 5.6 Rate Stabilization Fund.  The District has previously established a special 
fund designated as the “Rate Stabilization Fund” to be held by the District in trust and the District 
agrees and covenants to maintain and to hold such fund separate and apart from other funds so long 
as any Contracts or Bonds remain unpaid.  Money transferred by the District from the Water 
Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund in accordance with Section 5.2(d) shall be held in the 
Rate Stabilization Fund and applied in accordance with the terms hereof. 

The District may withdraw all or any portion of the amounts on deposit in the Rate 
Stabilization Fund and transfer such amounts to the Water Revenue Fund for application in 
accordance with Section 5.2 hereof or, in the event that all or a portion of the WIFIA Installment 
Payments are discharged in accordance with Article IX hereof, transfer all or any portion of such 
amounts for application in accordance with said Article. 

Section 5.7 WIFIA Debt Service Account.  The District, as agent of the Authority, shall 
establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate general ledger account within the District’s debt 
service group of funds/accounts, which account shall be designated as the “WIFIA Debt Service 
Account” and as of the Effective Date is numbered [_____].  Such account number may change as 
the District designates from time to time provided that the District must promptly notify the 
Authority Lender in writing of any such change.  Moneys in the WIFIA Debt Service Account shall 
be held by the District in trust and applied to the payment of the WIFIA Installment Payments 
hereunder in accordance with Section 8(a)(i) and Section 17(i) of the WIFIA Master Agreement.  
Any investment earnings thereon shall be transferred by the District to the Water Revenue Fund no 
later than the last day of the District’s Fiscal Year. 



 

23 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

ARTICLE VI 
 

COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 6.1 Compliance with WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and Ancillary Agreements.  The District will punctually pay the WIFIA Installment 
Payments in strict conformity with the terms hereof, and will faithfully observe and perform all the 
agreements, conditions, covenants and terms contained herein required to be observed and performed 
by it, and will not terminate this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement for any cause including, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any acts or circumstances that may constitute failure 
of consideration, destruction of or damage to the WIFIA Project, commercial frustration of purpose, 
any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America or of the State of California or 
any political subdivision of either or any failure of the Authority to observe or perform any 
agreement, condition, covenant or term contained herein required to be observed and performed by it, 
whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or connected herewith 
or the insolvency, or deemed insolvency, or bankruptcy or liquidation of the Authority or any force 
majeure, including acts of God, tempest, storm, earthquake, war, rebellion, riot, civil disorder, acts of 
public enemies, blockade or embargo, strikes, industrial disputes, lock outs, lack of transportation 
facilities, fire, explosion, or acts or regulations of governmental authorities. 

The District will faithfully observe and perform all the agreements, conditions, covenants and 
terms contained in the WIFIA Loan Agreement required to be observed and performed by it, and it is 
expressly understood and agreed by and among the parties to this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement that, subject to Section 10.6 hereunder, each of the agreements, conditions, covenants and 
terms contained in this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement is an essential and material term of 
the purchase of and payment for the WIFIA-Financed Portion of the WIFIA Project by the District 
pursuant to, and in accordance with, and as authorized under the Law. 

The District will faithfully observe and perform all the agreements, conditions, covenants and 
terms required to be observed and performed by it pursuant to the WIFIA Loan Agreement and all 
other outstanding Contracts and Bonds as such may from time to time be executed or issued, as the 
case may be; provided that nothing herein shall obligate the District to pay the principal of or interest 
with respect to the WIFIA Loan or the WIFIA Note, which obligation is solely the responsibility of 
the Authority as borrower under the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Section 6.2 Against Encumbrances.  The District will not make any pledge of or place 
any lien on Water Revenues or the moneys in the Water Revenue Fund or the Rate Stabilization Fund 
except as provided herein and subject to the restrictions agreed to by the District in the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  In addition, the District may at any time, or from time to time, issue Bonds or incur 
Contracts for any lawful purpose which are payable from and secured by a pledge of and lien on 
Water Revenues or any moneys in the Water Revenue Fund or the Rate Stabilization Fund as may 
from time to time be deposited therein (as provided in Section 5.2) on a senior or parity basis with 
the pledge and lien securing this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement in accordance with 
Sections 5.3 and 5.4 hereof and the WIFIA Loan Agreement. The District will not make any pledge 
of or place a lien on the Acquisition Fund (including the moneys on deposit therein) or the WIFIA 
Debt Service Account (including the moneys on deposit therein) except as set forth in the WIFIA 
Master Agreement. 



 

24 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Section 6.3 Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District will not enter 
into any agreement or lease which materially impairs the operation of the Water System or any part 
thereof necessary to secure adequate Water Revenues for the payment of the WIFIA Installment 
Payments, or which would otherwise materially impair the rights of the Authority hereunder or the 
operation of the Water System.  Any real or personal property which has become nonoperative or 
which is not needed for the efficient and proper operation of the Water System, or any material or 
equipment which has become worn out, may be sold if such sale will not materially impair the ability 
of the District to pay the WIFIA Installment Payments and if the proceeds of such sale are deposited 
in the Water Revenue Fund. 

Nothing herein shall restrict the ability of the District to sell any portion of the Water System 
if such portion is immediately repurchased by the District and if such arrangement cannot by its 
terms result in the purchaser of such portion of the Water System exercising any remedy which 
would deprive the District of or otherwise interfere with its right to own and operate such portion of 
the Water System. 

Section 6.4 Against Competitive Facilities.  The District will not, to the extent permitted 
by law, acquire, construct, maintain or operate and will not, to the extent permitted by law and within 
the scope of its powers, permit any other public or private agency, corporation, district or political 
subdivision or any person whomsoever to acquire, construct, maintain or operate within the District 
any potable water system competitive with the Water System. 

Section 6.5 Maintenance and Operation of the Water System.  The District will 
maintain and preserve the Water System in good repair and working order at all times and will 
operate the Water System in an efficient and economical manner and will pay all Operation and 
Maintenance Costs as they become due and payable. 

Section 6.6 Payment of Claims.  The District will pay and discharge any and all lawful 
claims for labor, materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a lien on the Water Revenues 
or the funds or accounts created hereunder or under the WIFIA Master Agreement or on any funds in 
the hands of the District pledged to pay the WIFIA Installment Payments or which might impair the 
security of the WIFIA Installment Payments. 

Section 6.7 Compliance with Contracts.  The District will comply with, keep, observe 
and perform all agreements, conditions, covenants and terms, express or implied, required to be 
performed by it contained in all contracts for the use of the Water System and all other contracts 
affecting or involving the Water System, to the extent that the District is a party thereto. 

Section 6.8 Insurance. 

(a) The District will procure and maintain or cause to be procured and 
maintained insurance on the Water System with responsible insurers in such amounts and against 
such risks (including accident to or destruction of the Water System) as are usually covered in 
connection with facilities similar to the Water System so long as such insurance is available from 
reputable insurance companies at reasonable rates. 

In the event of any damage to or destruction of the Water System caused by the perils 
covered by such insurance, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied to the reconstruction, repair or 
replacement of the damaged or destroyed portion of the Water System.  The District shall begin such 



 

25 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

reconstruction, repair or replacement promptly after such damage or destruction shall occur, and shall 
continue and properly complete such reconstruction, repair or replacement as expeditiously as 
possible, and shall pay out of such Net Proceeds all costs and expenses in connection with such 
reconstruction, repair or replacement so that the same shall be completed and the Water System shall 
be free and clear of all claims and liens. 

If such Net Proceeds exceed the costs of such reconstruction, repair or replacement 
portion of the Water System, and/or the cost of the construction of additions, betterments, extensions 
or improvements to the Water System, then the excess Net Proceeds may, at the option of the 
District, be applied in part to the prepayment of WIFIA Installment Payments as provided in 
Section 7.1 and in part to such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for the 
retirement of Bonds and Contracts in the same proportion which the aggregate unpaid principal 
balance of WIFIA Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such 
Bonds and Contracts.  If such Net Proceeds are sufficient to enable the District to retire the entire 
obligation evidenced hereby prior to the final due date of the WIFIA Installment Payments as well as 
the entire obligations evidenced by Bonds and Contracts then remaining unpaid prior to their final 
respective due dates, the District may elect not to reconstruct, repair or replace the damaged or 
destroyed portion of the Water System, and/or not to construct other additions, betterments, 
extensions or improvements to the Water System; and thereupon such Net Proceeds shall be applied 
to the prepayment of WIFIA Installment Payments as provided in Section 7.1 and to the retirement of 
such Bonds and Contracts.   

(b) The District will procure and maintain such other insurance which it shall 
deem advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the Authority, which 
insurance shall afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are usually covered in 
connection with municipal retail water systems similar to the Water System. 

(c) Any insurance required to be maintained by paragraph (a) above and, if the 
District determines to procure and maintain insurance pursuant to paragraph (b) above, such 
insurance, may be maintained under a self-insurance program so long as such self-insurance is 
maintained in the amounts and manner usually maintained in connection with municipal retail water 
systems similar to the Water System and is, in the opinion of an accredited actuary, actuarially sound. 

All policies of insurance required to be maintained herein shall provide that the Authority or 
its assignee shall be given thirty (30) days’ written notice of any intended cancellation thereof or 
reduction of coverage provided thereby. 

Section 6.9 Accounting Records; Financial Statements and Other Reports. 

(a) The District will keep appropriate accounting records in which complete and 
correct entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the District, which records shall be 
available for inspection by the Authority, including agents and assignees of and lenders to the 
authority (including the Authority Lender) at reasonable hours and under reasonable conditions.   

(b) The District will prepare and file with the Authority or its assignee annually 
within two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each Fiscal Year (commencing with the 
Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2023) financial statements of the District for the preceding Fiscal 
Year prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, together with the report 
of a certified public accountant thereon. 



 

26 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

(c) As long as there are any outstanding financial obligations of the District (in 
excess of $100,000), the District will notify the Authority or its assignee within ten (10) days 
following the date of any event that has the potential to have a material impact on the financial 
condition of the District. 

Section 6.10 Protection of Security and Rights of the Authority.  The District will 
preserve and protect the security hereof and the rights of the Authority  and the Authority Lender to 
the WIFIA Installment Payments hereunder and will warrant and defend such rights against all 
claims and demands of all persons. 

Section 6.11 Payment of Taxes and Compliance with Governmental Regulations.  The 
District will pay and discharge all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may 
hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Water System, or any part thereof or upon the Water 
Revenues or amounts on deposit in the Water Revenue Fund, the Acquisition Fund, the Rate 
Stabilization Fund or the WIFIA Debt Service Account when the same shall become due.  The 
District will duly observe and conform with all valid regulations and requirements of any 
governmental authority relative to the operation of the Water System, or any part thereof, but the 
District shall not be required to comply with any regulations or requirements so long as the validity 
or application thereof shall be contested in good faith. 

Section 6.12 Amount of Rates and Charges.   

(a) The District, to the fullest extent permitted by law, shall fix, prescribe and 
collect Water Revenues for Water Service which will be at least sufficient to yield during each Fiscal 
Year Net Water Revenues equal to one hundred ten percent (110%) of Debt Service and one hundred 
percent (100%) of Policy Costs.  The District may make adjustments from time to time in such Water 
Revenues and may make such classification thereof as it deems necessary, but shall not reduce the 
Water Revenues then in effect unless the Net Water Revenues from such reduced Water Revenues 
will at all times be sufficient to meet the requirements of this section. 

(b) For avoidance of doubt, the failure of Net Water Revenues to meet the 
thresholds set forth in clause (a) of this section at the end of a Fiscal Year shall not constitute a 
default or an Event of Default so long as the District has complied with in clause (a) of this section at 
the commencement of the immediately succeeding Fiscal Year. 

Section 6.13 Collection of Rates and Charges.  The District will have in effect at all 
times by-laws, rules and regulations requiring each customer to pay the rates and charges applicable 
to the Water Service and providing for the billing thereof and for a due date and a delinquency date 
for each bill. 

Section 6.14 Eminent Domain Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Water System shall be 
taken by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows:  

(a) If (1) the District files with the Authority and the Authority Lender a 
certificate showing (i) the estimated loss of annual Net Water Revenues, if any, suffered or to be 
suffered by the District by reason of such eminent domain proceedings, (ii) a general description of 
the additions, betterments, extensions or improvements to the Water System proposed to be acquired 
and constructed by the District from such Net Proceeds, and (iii) an estimate of the additional annual 
Net Water Revenues to be derived from such additions, betterments, extensions or improvements, 



 

27 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

and (2) the District, on the basis of such certificate filed with the Authority and the Authority Lender, 
determines that the estimated additional annual Net Water Revenues will sufficiently offset the 
estimated loss of annual Net Water Revenues resulting from such eminent domain proceedings so 
that the ability of the District to meet its obligations hereunder will not be substantially impaired 
(which determination shall be final and conclusive), then the District shall promptly proceed with the 
acquisition and construction of such additions, betterments, extensions or improvements substantially 
in accordance with such certificate and such Net Proceeds shall be applied for the payment of the 
costs of such acquisition and construction, and any balance of such Net Proceeds not required by the 
District for such purpose shall be held by the District and shall be treated as Water Revenues. 

(b) If the foregoing conditions are not met, then such Net Proceeds shall be 
applied by the District in part to the prepayment of WIFIA Installment Payments as provided in 
Section 7.1 and in part to such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for the 
retirement of Bonds and Contracts in the same proportion which the aggregate unpaid principal 
components of the WIFIA Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal amount 
of such Bonds and Contracts. 

Section 6.15 Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any 
and all further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper to 
carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance hereof and for the better assuring and 
confirming unto the Authority and the Authority Lender of the rights and benefits provided to the 
Authority and the Authority Lender herein. 

Section 6.16 Enforcement of Contracts.  So long as and WIFIA Installment Payments are 
outstanding, the District will not voluntarily consent to or permit any rescission of, nor will it consent 
to any amendment to or otherwise take any action under or in connection with any contracts 
previously or hereafter entered into which contracts provide for water to be supplied to the District 
which will reduce the supply of water thereunder (except as provided therein) if such rescission or 
amendment would in any manner impair or adversely affect the ability of the District to pay the 
WIFIA Installment Payments. 

Section 6.17 Superior Additional Obligations.  The District shall not execute any 
Contracts or issue any Bonds, as the case may be, that are payable from or secured by a pledge of and 
lien on Water Revenues and any money in the Water Revenue Fund superior to the pledge securing 
the WIFIA Installment Payments. 

Section 6.18 Payments in Connection with the State Water Supply Contract.  The 
District shall apply to the payments due for any Fiscal Year under that certain Water Supply 
Contract, by and between the District and the State of California Department of Water Resources, as 
amended, all amounts the District collects through the levy and collection of the Burns-Porter 
Assessments. 



 

28 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

ARTICLE VII 
 

PREPAYMENT OF WIFIA INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 7.1 Prepayment. 

(a) The District may or shall, as the case may be, prepay from the Net Proceeds 
as provided in Sections 6.8 and 6.14 herein on any date all or any part of the unpaid WIFIA 
Installment Payments or the WIFIA Loan Agreement in whole, or in part, on any date in the order of 
payment as directed by the District, at a prepayment price equal to the sum of the principal 
components prepaid plus accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment.  Any such prepayment 
shall occur substantially concurrently with the prepayment of the WIFIA Loan by the Authority 
pursuant to the terms of Section 9(a) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

(b) The District shall prepay the WIFIA Installment Payments on the same dates 
as the Authority makes optional prepayments of the WIFIA Loan in accordance with the WIFIA 
Loan Agreement and shall not optionally prepay the WIFIA Installment Payments at any other time; 
provided, however, that any such prepayment shall be in a minimum principal amount of $250,000 or 
any integral multiple of $1.00 in excess thereof. 

Notwithstanding any such prepayment, the District shall not be relieved of its obligations 
hereunder, including its obligations under Article IV, until the Purchase Price shall have been fully 
paid (or provision for payment thereof shall have been provided to the written satisfaction of the 
Authority). 

Section 7.2 Method of Prepayment.  Before making any prepayment pursuant to 
Section 7.1, the District shall, within five (5) days following the event permitting the exercise of such 
right to prepay or creating such obligation to prepay or a determination to prepay, give written notice 
to the Authority and the Authority Lender describing such event and specifying the date on which the 
prepayment will be paid, which date shall be not less than ten (10) nor more than thirty (30) days 
from the date such notice is given. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE AUTHORITY 

Section 8.1 Events of Default and Acceleration of Maturities.  If one or more of the 
following Events of Default shall happen, that is to say -- 

(1) if default shall be made by the District in the due and punctual 
payment of any WIFIA Installment Payment or any Contract or Bond when and as the same shall 
become due and payable; 

(2) if default shall be made by the District in the performance of any of 
the agreements or covenants required herein or in connection with any Contract or Bond to be 
performed by it, and such default shall have continued for a period of sixty (60) days after the 
District shall have been given notice in writing of such default by the Authority; 



 

29 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

(3) if the District shall file a petition or answer seeking arrangement or 
reorganization under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of 
America or any state therein, or if a court of competent jurisdiction shall approve a petition filed with 
or without the consent of the District seeking arrangement or reorganization under the federal 
bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law of the United States of America or any state therein, or 
if under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors any court of competent 
jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the District or of the whole or any substantial part of 
its property;  

(4) if payment of the principal of any Contract or Bond is accelerated in 
accordance with its terms; or 

(5) if an “Event of Default” (as defined in the WIFIA Master Agreement) 
under the WIFIA Loan Agreement or the WIFIA Master Agreement shall have occurred; 

then the Authority shall immediately notify the Authority Lender of an Event of Default and follow 
any written directions of the Authority Lender, which may include a direction to declare the entire 
principal amount of the unpaid WIFIA Installment Payments and the accrued interest thereon to be 
due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become immediately due 
and payable, anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding; provided that the unpaid 
Purchase Price shall automatically become due and payable without the action of the Authority or 
any other person if the unpaid principal amount of the WIFIA Loan shall have become immediately 
due and payable.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Authority shall not 
have the right to (i) declare the unpaid Purchase Price immediately due and payable or (ii) exercise 
any other rights or remedies hereunder following the occurrence of an Event of Default in each case 
without the prior written direction of the Authority Lender.  This section, however, is subject to the 
condition that if at any time after the entire principal amount of the unpaid WIFIA Installment 
Payments and the accrued interest thereon shall have been so declared due and payable, but before 
any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered, the 
District shall deposit with the Authority an amount that is sufficient to pay the unpaid principal 
amount of the WIFIA Installment Payments referred to in clause (1) above due prior to such 
declaration and the accrued interest thereon, with interest on such overdue installments, at the rate or 
rates applicable to the remaining unpaid principal balance of the WIFIA Installment Payments if paid 
in accordance with their terms, and the reasonable expenses of the Authority, and any and all other 
defaults known to the Authority (other than in the payment of the entire principal amount of the 
unpaid WIFIA Installment Payments and the accrued interest thereon due and payable solely by 
reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or cured to the satisfaction of the Authority or 
provision deemed by the Authority to be adequate shall have been made therefor, then and in every 
such case the Authority, with the prior written consent of the Authority Lender, may rescind and 
annul such declaration and its consequences by written notice to the District; but no such rescission 
and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or shall impair or exhaust any 
right or power consequent thereon. 

Section 8.2 Application of Funds Upon Acceleration.  Upon the date of the declaration 
of (or automatic, as applicable) acceleration as provided in Section 8.1, all Water Revenues thereafter 
received by the District shall be applied in the following order -- 

First, to the payment of the fees, costs and expenses of the trustee with respect to any Bonds 
or Contracts, in carrying out the provisions of this article, including reasonable compensation to its 



 

30 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

accountants and counsel and any outstanding fees and expenses of such trustee, and then to the 
payment of the fees, costs and expenses of the Authority, the Authority Lender, any agents and 
assignees of each of the foregoing as the case may be, if any, in carrying out the provisions of this 
article, including reasonable compensation to its accountants and counsel; 

Second, to the payment of the Operation and Maintenance Costs; 

Third, to the payment of Senior Obligations in accordance with the terms thereof; and 

Fourth, to the payment, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency 
of such moneys ratably without any discrimination or preference, of the entire principal amount of 
the unpaid WIFIA Installment Payments and the unpaid principal amount of all Subordinate 
Obligations and the accrued interest thereon, with interest on the overdue installments at the rate or 
rates of interest applicable to the WIFIA Installment Payments and such Subordinate Obligations if 
paid in accordance with their respective terms; and 

Fifth, to the payment of any obligations secured by Water Revenues on a basis that is 
subordinate to the Subordinate Obligations in accordance with the terms thereof. 

Section 8.3 Other Remedies of the Authority.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default, the Authority shall have the right (but only following the prior written direction of the 
Authority Lender): 

(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to 
enforce its rights against the District or any director, officer or employee thereof, and to compel the 
District or any such director, officer or employee to perform and carry out its or his duties under the 
Law and the agreements and covenants required to be performed by it or him contained herein; 

(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things which are unlawful or violate the 
rights of the Authority; 

(c) by suit in equity upon the happening of an Event of Default to require the 
District and its directors, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust; 

(d) to apply the Default Rate to the unpaid balance of the Purchase Price; or 

(e) suspend or terminate all of its obligations hereunder with respect to the 
allocation of any undisbursed amount of the WIFIA Loan. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, other than as expressly provided herein, the 
Authority shall have no security interest in or mortgage on the WIFIA Project, the Water System or 
other assets of the District and no default hereunder shall result in the loss of the WIFIA Project, the 
Water System, or other assets of the District. 

Section 8.4 Remedies of the Authority Lender.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default, the Authority Lender, as assignee of the Authority pursuant to the WIFIA Master 
Agreement, shall be entitled and empowered to institute any actions or proceedings at law or in 
equity against the District for the collection of any sums due to the Authority from the District and 
unpaid hereunder, and may prosecute any such judgment or final decree against the District and 
collect in the manner provided by law the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable, may take such 



 

31 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

other actions at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to collect all amounts payable 
by the District to the Authority under this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement then due and 
thereafter to become due, or to enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or 
covenant of the District under this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement.  Notwithstanding 
anything herein to the contrary, the Authority Lender shall not have the authority to accelerate 
payments under any other Bonds or Contracts. 

Section 8.5 Non-Waiver.  Nothing in this article or in any other provision hereof shall 
affect or impair the obligation of the District, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the WIFIA 
Installment Payments to the Authority at the respective due dates or upon prepayment from the Net 
Water Revenues, the Water Revenue Fund, the Rate Stabilization Fund and the other funds herein 
pledged for such payment, or shall affect or impair the right of the Authority or the Authority Lender, 
which is also absolute and unconditional, to institute suit to enforce such payment by virtue of the 
contract embodied herein. 

A waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the Authority or the Authority 
Lender shall not affect any subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or impair any rights or 
remedies on any such subsequent default or breach of duty or contract.  No delay or omission by the 
Authority or the Authority Lender to exercise any right or remedy accruing upon any default or 
breach of duty or contract shall impair any such right or remedy or shall be construed to be a waiver 
of any such default or breach of duty or contract or an acquiescence therein, and every right or 
remedy conferred upon the Authority or the Authority Lender by the Law or by this article may be 
enforced and exercised from time to time and as often as shall be deemed expedient by the Authority 
or the Authority Lender, as applicable. 

If any action, proceeding or suit to enforce any right or exercise any remedy is abandoned or 
determined adversely to the Authority, the District and the Authority shall be restored to their former 
positions, rights and remedies as if such action, proceeding or suit had not been brought or taken. 

Section 8.6 Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to 
the Authority is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each such remedy shall be 
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter 
existing in law or in equity or by statute or otherwise and may be exercised without exhausting and 
without regard to any other remedy conferred by the Act or any other law.   

ARTICLE IX 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.1 Liability of District Limited.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein, 
the District shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other 
than the Net Water Revenues, the Water Revenue Fund, the Rate Stabilization Fund and the other 
funds provided herein for the payment of the WIFIA Installment Payments or for the performance of 
any agreements or covenants required to be performed by it contained herein.  The District may, 
however, advance moneys for any such purpose so long as such moneys are derived from a source 
legally available for such purpose and may be legally used by the District for such purpose. 

The obligation of the District to make the WIFIA Installment Payments is a special obligation 
of the District payable solely from such Net Water Revenues and other funds described herein, and 



 

32 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

does not constitute a debt of the District or of the State of California or of any political subdivision 
thereof within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction. 

Section 9.2 Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties.  Nothing 
contained herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the District, the 
Authority or the Authority Lender any right, remedy or claim under or pursuant hereto.  Each of the 
Authority and the District agrees that the Authority Lender shall be a third party beneficiary to this 
WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and any agreement or covenant required herein to be 
performed by or on behalf of the District, the Authority or the Authority Lender shall be for the sole 
and exclusive benefit of the other parties.   

Section 9.3 Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor.  
Whenever the District, the Authority or the Authority Lender is named or referred to herein, such 
reference shall be deemed to include the successor to the powers, duties and functions that are 
presently vested in the District, the Authority or the Authority Lender, and all agreements and 
covenants required hereby to be performed by or on behalf of the District, the Authority or the 
Authority Lender shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors thereof whether so 
expressed or not. 

Section 9.4 Waiver of Personal Liability.  No director, officer or employee of the 
District shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the WIFIA Installment 
Payments, but nothing contained herein shall relieve any director, officer or employee of the District 
from the performance of any official duty provided by any applicable provisions of law or hereby. 

Section 9.5 Article and Section Headings, Gender and References.  The headings or 
titles of the several articles and sections hereof and the table of contents appended hereto shall be 
solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof, 
and words of any gender shall be deemed and construed to include all genders.  All references herein 
to “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions or clauses are to the corresponding articles, sections, 
subdivisions or clauses hereof; and the words “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herewith” and 
other words of similar import refer to this WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement as a whole and 
not to any particular article, section, subdivision or clause hereof. 

Section 9.6 Partial Invalidity.  If any one or more of the agreements or covenants or 
portions thereof required hereby to be performed by or on the part of the District or the Authority 
shall be contrary to law, then such agreement or agreements, such covenant or covenants or such 
portions thereof shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining agreements 
and covenants or portions thereof and shall in no way affect the validity hereof.  The District and the 
Authority hereby declare that they would have executed this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement, and each and every other article, section, paragraph, subdivision, sentence, clause and 
phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more articles, sections, paragraphs, subdivisions, 
sentences, clauses or phrases hereof or the application thereof to any person or circumstance may be 
held to be unconstitutional, unenforceable or invalid. 

Section 9.7 Assignment.  This WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and any rights 
hereunder may be assigned by the Authority, as a whole or in part, to the Authority Lender without 
the necessity of obtaining the prior consent of the District.  On each WIFIA Installment Payment 
Date, the District, as agent of the Authority, shall transfer to the Authority Lender on the Authority’s 



 

33 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

behalf the WIFIA Installment Payments hereunder from the WIFIA Debt Service Account in 
accordance with the terms of the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Section 9.8 Net Contract.  This WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement shall be deemed 
and construed to be a net contract, and the District shall pay absolutely net during the term hereof the 
WIFIA Installment Payments and all other payments required hereunder, free of any deductions and 
without abatement, diminution or set-off whatsoever. 

Section 9.9 California Law.  THIS WIFIA INSTALLMENT PURCHASE 
AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. 

Section 9.10 Notices.  All written notices to be given hereunder shall be given (a) in the 
case of the Authority Lender, by email to its email address set forth below and (b) in the case of the 
Authority and the District, by mail to the party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at 
such other address as such party may provide to the other party in writing from time to time, namely: 

If to the District: Palmdale Water District 
2029 E. Avenue Q  
Palmdale, California 93550 
Attention:  General Manager 

If to the Authority: Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority 
2029 E. Avenue Q  
Palmdale, California 93550 
Attention:  Executive Director 

If to the Authority Lender: Environmental Protection Agency 
WJC- E 7334A 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
Attention:  WIFIA Director 
Email:  WIFIA_Portfolio@epa.gov 

Section 9.11 Effective Date.  This Installment Purchase Agreement shall become effective 
upon its execution and delivery, and shall terminate only when (a) the Purchase Price shall have been 
fully paid and (b) the WIFIA Loan Agreement shall have terminated in accordance with its terms. 

Section 9.12 Execution in Counterparts.  This WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement 
may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 9.13 Indemnification of Authority and the Authority Lender.  The District 
hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Authority, the Authority Lender and the assigns 
and officers and directors thereof if and to the extent permitted by law, from and against all claims, 
advances, damages and losses, including legal fees and expenses, arising out of or in connection with 
the acceptance or the performance of their duties hereunder or to the extent provided in the WIFIA 
Loan Agreement, under the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 



 

34 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Section 9.14 Amendments Permitted.  This WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement and 
the rights and obligations of the Authority, the District and the Authority Lender, may be modified or 
amended at any time by an amendment hereto which shall become binding only following the 
execution and delivery of such amendment by the Authority, the District and the Authority Lender. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 

 



 

S-1 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this WIFIA Installment Purchase 
Agreement by their officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first written above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

By:   
General Manager 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY 

By:   
Executive Director 

 

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY 

By:   
Authorized Officer 

 

 



 

A-1 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

EXHIBIT A 

PURCHASE PRICE 

1. The principal amount of the installment payments to be made by the District 
hereunder is $__________. 

2. The installment payments of principal and interest are payable in the amounts and on 
the WIFIA Installment Payment Dates as follows: 

WIFIA Installment 
Payment Date 

Amount Attributable 
to 

Principal 

Amount Attributable 
to 

Interest Total 

Tenth Day Prior To:    
   $   $  
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    



 

A-2 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

WIFIA Installment 
Payment Date 

Amount Attributable 
to 

Principal 

Amount Attributable 
to 

Interest Total 

Tenth Day Prior To:    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
          

TOTAL  $   $   $  
 



 

B-1 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF REQUISITION FROM ACQUISITION FUND 

$______ 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY  

WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 
 

REQUISITION NO. _ FOR 
DISBURSEMENT FROM ACQUISITION FUND 

Each of the undersigned, to the extent applicable, hereby states and certifies: 

(i) that the undersigned is the duly appointed, qualified and acting General Manager of 
the Palmdale Water District, an irrigation district that is organized and existing under the 
Constitution and laws of the State of California (the “District”), and as such, is familiar with the facts 
herein certified and is authorized to certify the same with respect to the District; 

(ii) that the undersigned is the duly appointed, qualified and acting Executive Director of 
the Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority, a joint exercise of powers agency that is 
duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the 
“Authority”), and as such, is familiar with the facts herein certified and is authorized to certify the 
same with respect to the Authority; 

(ii) that, pursuant to Section 3.4 of that certain Installment Purchase Agreement, dated as 
of _____ 1, 2024 (the “WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement”), by and among the Authority, the 
District and the United States Environmental Protection Agency, the undersigned each hereby 
requests the Treasurer to disburse this date the following amounts from the Acquisition Fund 
established under the Installment Purchase Agreement relating to the above-captioned obligations, to 
the payees designated on the attached Exhibit A; 

(iii) that each obligation mentioned herein has been incurred by the District and is a 
proper charge against the Acquisition Fund; 

(iv) that any approval required under the California Environmental Quality Act, as 
amended (Division 13 of the California Public Resources Code), prior to the expenditure of such 
amount for the purpose set forth on the attached Exhibit A has been received and is final; and 

(v) that there has not been filed with or served upon the District or the Authority notice 
of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting the right to receive payment of, any of 
the moneys payable to any of the payees named on the attached Exhibit A, which has not been 
released or will not be released simultaneously with the payment of such obligation, other than 
materialmen’s or mechanics’ liens accruing by mere operation of law. 

  



 

B-2 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Dated:    , 20__ 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

By:   
___________, General Manager 

 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY 

By:   
___________, Executive Director 



 

B-3 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

EXHIBIT A 

ACQUISITION FUND DISBURSEMENTS 

Item 
Number Payee Name and Address Purpose of Obligation Amount 

    
 
 



 

C-1 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF WIFIA NOTE 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY 
 

WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 
 

(WIFIA ID – ________) 
WIFIA NOTE 

Maximum Principal Amount:  $________ (______________ Dollars) (excluding capitalized 
interest) 

Effective Date:  ________, 2024 

Interest Rate Per Annum:  ____% 

Due:  October 1, ____ 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint powers 
authority duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California (the “Borrower”), for 
value received, hereby promises to pay to the order of the UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY, acting by and through the Administrator of the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency, or its assigns (the “WIFIA Lender”), the lesser of (x) the 
Maximum Principal Amount set forth above and (y) the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all 
disbursements (the “Disbursements”) made by the WIFIA Lender (such lesser amount, together with 
any interest that is capitalized and added to principal in accordance with the provisions of the WIFIA 
Loan Agreement (as defined below), being hereinafter referred to as the “Outstanding Principal 
Sum”), together with accrued and unpaid interest (including, if applicable, interest at the Default 
Rate, as defined in the WIFIA Loan Agreement) on the Outstanding Principal Sum and all fees, costs 
and other amounts payable in connection therewith, all as more fully described in the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  The principal hereof shall be payable in the manner and at the place provided in the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement in accordance with Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) to the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement, as revised from time to time in accordance with the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of _______, 2024, by and among the 
Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), until paid in full 
(which Exhibit A, as modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and the WIFIA Master Agreement, is incorporated in and is a part of this WIFIA Note).  
The WIFIA Lender is hereby authorized to modify the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule included 
in Exhibit A to the WIFIA Loan Agreement from time to time in accordance with the terms of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement to reflect the amount of each 
disbursement made thereunder and the date and amount of principal or interest paid by the Borrower 
thereunder.  Absent manifest error, the WIFIA Lender’s determination of such matters as set forth on 
Exhibit A to the WIFIA Loan Agreement shall be conclusive evidence thereof; provided that neither 
the failure to make any such recordation nor any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner 
the Borrower’s obligations hereunder or under any other WIFIA Loan Document (as defined in the 
WIFIA Master Agreement). 



 

C-2 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

Payments hereon are to be made in accordance with Section 8(e)Error! Reference source 
not found. (Payment of Principal and Interest – Manner of Payment) and Section 36 (Notices) of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement as the same become due.  Principal of and interest on this WIFIA Note 
shall be paid in funds available on or before the due date and in any lawful coin or currency of the 
United States of America that at the date of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 
private debts.  If the Substantial Completion Date occurs on any date prior to _________, the due 
date of this WIFIA Note shall be deemed to be amended to the Principal Payment Date immediately 
preceding the date that is thirty-five (35) years following such Substantial Completion Date without 
any further action required on the part of the Borrower or the WIFIA Lender and such amendment 
shall in no way amend, modify or affect the other provisions of this WIFIA Note without the prior 
written agreement of the WIFIA Lender.  Any such amendment shall be reflected in a revised WIFIA 
Loan Amortization Schedule. 

This WIFIA Note has been executed under and pursuant to that certain WIFIA Loan 
Agreement (WIFIA ID – ________), dated as of the date hereof, among the WIFIA Lender, the 
Borrower and the District (the “WIFIA Loan Agreement”) and is issued to evidence the obligation 
of the Borrower under the WIFIA Loan Agreement to repay the loan made by the WIFIA Lender and 
any other payments of any kind required to be paid by the Borrower under the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement or the other WIFIA Loan Documents referred to therein.  Reference is made to the 
WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement for all details relating to the Borrower’s 
obligations hereunder.  All capitalized terms used in this WIFIA Note and not defined herein shall 
have the meanings set forth in the WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA 
Master Agreement. 

This WIFIA Note may be prepaid at the option of the Borrower in whole or in part (and, if in 
part, the principal installments and amounts thereof to be prepaid are to be determined in accordance 
with the WIFIA Loan Agreement; provided such prepayments shall be in principal amounts of at 
least $250,000 or any integral multiple of $1 in excess thereof), from time to time, but not more than 
annually, without penalty or premium, by paying to the WIFIA Lender all or part of the principal 
amount of the WIFIA Note in accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

This WIFIA Note shall be subject to mandatory prepayment on the terms and conditions set 
forth in the WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Payment of the obligations of the Borrower under this WIFIA Note is secured pursuant to the 
WIFIA Master Agreement and the WIFIA Loan Agreement. 

This WIFIA Note is a limited obligation of the Borrower, payable solely from the Borrower’s 
Water Revenues, and does not constitute a debt of the State or any of its political subdivisions 
(including the District), except the Borrower.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in 
this WIFIA Note, the District is not a borrower with respect to this WIFIA Note and the District has 
no obligation to make any payment or provision for payment of this WIFIA Note.  This WIFIA Note 
does not constitute a contract between the District and the WIFIA Lender by which the District has 
incurred an indebtedness.   

Any delay on the part of the WIFIA Lender in exercising any right hereunder shall not 
operate as a waiver of any such right, and any waiver granted with respect to one default shall not 
operate as a waiver in the event of any subsequent default. 



 

C-3 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and laws of the State to happen, 
exist, and be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this WIFIA Note have happened, exist 
and have been performed as so required.  This WIFIA Note is issued with the intent that the federal 
laws of the United States of America shall govern its construction to the extent such federal laws are 
applicable and the internal laws of the State shall govern its construction to the extent such federal 
laws are not applicable. 

 

[Signature Page Follows]  



 

C-4 
4858-3340-8880v8/022741-0015 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING 
AUTHORITY has caused this WIFIA Note to be executed in its name and its seal to be affixed 
hereto and attested by its duly authorized officer, all as of the Effective Date set forth above. 

(SEAL)  
 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY, 
by its authorized representative 
 
 
By ______________________________ 

Name: _________  
Title: __________ of the Palmdale Water 
District Public Financing Authority 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Secretary 

 

 

 

 
 

 



 

EXHIBIT B 

2024 WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Norton Rose Fulbright 
Draft of May 6, 2024 

 

UNITED STATES 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

for up to $14,805,000 

with 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY and 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

for the 

PURE WATER ANTELOPE VALLEY MASTER PROGRAM – PROJECT 1 
(WIFIA ID – N22112CA) 

Dated as of [__], 2024 

 

 



 

 i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ..........................................................2 

Section 1. Definitions....................................................................................................2 
Section 2. Interpretation ................................................................................................4 

 THE WIFIA LOAN ................................................................................................4 

Section 3. WIFIA Loan Amount ...................................................................................4 
Section 4. Disbursement Conditions .............................................................................4 
Section 5. [Reserved] ....................................................................................................4 
Section 6. Interest Rate .................................................................................................4 
Section 7. [Reserved] ....................................................................................................4 
Section 8. Payment of Principal and Interest ................................................................4 
Section 9. Prepayment ..................................................................................................5 
Section 10. Fees and Expenses .......................................................................................5 

 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT .............................................................................5 

Section 11. Conditions Precedent ...................................................................................5 

 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ...................................................6 

Section 12. Representations and Warranties of the Borrower ........................................6 
Section 13. Representations and Warranties of the District ...........................................6 
Section 14. Representations and Warranties of WIFIA Lender .....................................7 

 COVENANTS .........................................................................................................7  

Section 15. Covenants of the Borrower ..........................................................................7 
Section 16. [Reserved] ....................................................................................................7 
Section 17. Covenants of the District .............................................................................7 
Section 18. [Reserved] ....................................................................................................7 
Section 19. [Reserved] ....................................................................................................7 
Section 20. [Reserved] ....................................................................................................8 

 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ......................................................................................8  

Section 21. Events of Default and Remedies ..................................................................8 

 MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................................8 

Section 22. Governing Law ............................................................................................8 
Section 23. Effectiveness ................................................................................................8 
Section 24. Survival ........................................................................................................8 
Section 25. Miscellaneous ..............................................................................................8 



ii 

SCHEDULES 

SCHEDULE I – Project Budget 

SCHEDULE II – Construction Schedule 

SCHEDULE III – Project 

SCHEDULE 13(m) – Existing Construction Contracts 

 

EXHIBIT 

EXHIBIT A –WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule 

 



 1 

WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

THIS WIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of [__], 2024, is by 
and among PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint 
exercise of powers agency duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California 
(the “State”), with an address at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale, California 93550 (the 
“Borrower”), PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, an irrigation district duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State, with an address at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale, California 
93550 (the “District”), and the UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY, an agency of the United States of America, acting by and through the Administrator 
of the Environmental Protection Agency, with an address at 1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, 
Washington, DC 20460 (the “WIFIA Lender”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Congress of the United States of America enacted the Water Infrastructure 
Finance and Innovation Act, § 5021 et seq. of Public Law 113-121 (as amended, and as may be 
further amended from time to time, the “Act”), which is codified as 33 U.S.C. §§ 3901-3915; 

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the WIFIA Lender to enter into agreements to provide 
financial assistance with one or more eligible entities to make secured loans with appropriate 
security features to finance a portion of the eligible costs of projects eligible for assistance; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the District and the WIFIA Lender entered into that certain 
WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), pursuant 
to which the parties thereto have set forth certain common terms and conditions applicable to each 
WIFIA Loan and Project under the Master Program; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the WIFIA Master Agreement, the District, as agent of the 
Borrower pursuant to the WIFIA IPA (as defined below), has requested that the WIFIA Lender 
make the WIFIA Loan (as defined below) in a principal amount not to exceed fourteen million 
eight hundred and five thousand Dollars ($14,805,000) (excluding interest to be capitalized in 
accordance with the terms hereof and of the WIFIA Master Agreement) to be used to pay a portion 
of the Eligible Project Costs for the Project; 

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Administrator has approved WIFIA financial 
assistance for the Project to be provided in the form of the WIFIA Loan, subject to the terms and 
conditions contained herein and in the WIFIA Master Agreement; 

WHEREAS, based on the Application, the WIFIA Master Agreement and the 
representations, warranties and covenants set forth herein and therein, the WIFIA Lender proposes 
to make funding available to the Borrower through the purchase of the WIFIA Note (as defined 
below) to be issued by the Borrower, upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the 
WIFIA Master Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower has entered into that certain Installment Purchase Agreement, 
dated as of [__], 2024 (the “WIFIA IPA”), with the District for the WIFIA Loan, pursuant to 
which (i) the Borrower agrees to purchase the Project from the District in exchange for the 



 2 

provision of funds, in the amount of the WIFIA Loan, and (ii) the District agrees to purchase the 
Project from the Borrower in exchange for the payment of WIFIA Installment Payments by the 
District to the Borrower, such payments being secured by the Pledged Collateral; 

WHEREAS, the Borrower agrees to repay any amount due pursuant to this Agreement and 
the WIFIA Note in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the WIFIA Master 
Agreement and the WIFIA Note; and  

WHEREAS, the WIFIA Lender has entered into this Agreement in reliance upon, among 
other things, the information and representations of the Borrower and the District set forth in the 
Application, the WIFIA Master Agreement, and the supporting information provided by the 
Borrower and the District (as the case may be). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the premises being as stated above, and for good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged to be adequate, and intending 
to be legally bound hereby, it is hereby mutually agreed by and among the Borrower, the District 
and the WIFIA Lender as follows: 

 
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

Section 1. Definitions.  Each capitalized term used in this Agreement (including in the 
recitals hereto) and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to such term in 
the WIFIA Master Agreement.  Any term used in this Agreement (including in the recitals hereto) 
that is defined by reference to any other agreement shall continue to have the meaning specified 
in such agreement, whether or not such agreement remains in effect.  In addition, as used in this 
Agreement (including in the recitals hereto), the following terms have the following meanings: 

“Act” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 

“Agreement” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Construction Schedule” means (a) the initial schedule or schedules on which the 
construction, design and planning timetables for the Project are set forth, attached as Schedule II 
(Construction Schedule), and (b) any updates thereto included in the Construction Monitoring 
Report most recently submitted to the WIFIA Lender in accordance with Section 20(c)(ii) 
(Reporting Requirements of the District – Construction Reporting – Construction Monitoring 
Report) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

“Debt Service Payment Commencement Date” means the earliest to occur of (a) October 
1, 2026; (b) if the Capitalized Interest Period ends pursuant to Section 8(b) (Payment of Principal 
and Interest – Capitalized Interest) of the WIFIA Master Agreement due to the occurrence of an 
Event of Default, the first Payment Date immediately following the end of the Capitalized Interest 
Period; and (c) the Payment Date falling closest to, but not later than, the fifth (5th) anniversary of 
the Substantial Completion Date. 

“Development Default” means (a) the District abandons work related to the Project or 
fails, in the reasonable judgment of the WIFIA Lender, to diligently prosecute the work related to 



 3 

the Project or (b) the District fails to achieve Substantial Completion of the Project within twelve 
(12) months following the Projected Substantial Completion Date set forth in this WIFIA Loan 
Agreement as of this WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date. 

“Final Maturity Date” means the earlier of (a) October 1, 2045 (or such earlier date as is 
set forth in an updated Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) pursuant to Section 8(f) 
(Payment of Principal and Interest – Adjustments to WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule) of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement); and (b) the Principal Payment Date immediately preceding the date 
that is thirty-five (35) years following the Substantial Completion Date. 

“Interest Only Period” means the period commencing on the Debt Service Payment 
Commencement Date and ending on April 1, 2035 (or on such earlier date as all amounts due or 
to become due to the WIFIA Lender under this Agreement and the WIFIA Master Agreement have 
been irrevocably paid in full in cash). 

“Interest Payment Date” means each April 1 and October 1. 

“Principal Payment Date” means each October 1. 

“Project” means the Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project 1, located in 
Palmdale, California, which consists of the construction, design and planning for the Pure Water 
Antelope Valley Project, as described in further detail in Schedule III (Project). 

“Project Budget” means the budget for the Project attached to this Agreement as Schedule 
I (Project Budget) showing a summary of Total Project Costs with a breakdown of all Eligible 
Project Costs and the estimated sources and uses of funds for the Project. 

“Projected Substantial Completion Date” means September 13, 2025, as such date may 
be adjusted in accordance with Section 20(c)(ii) (Reporting Requirements of the District – 
Construction Reporting – Construction Monitoring Report) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

“WIFIA IPA” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 

“WIFIA Loan” means the secured loan made by the WIFIA Lender to the Borrower on 
the terms and conditions set forth herein, in the WIFIA Master Agreement and in the WIFIA Note, 
pursuant to the Act, in a principal amount not to exceed fourteen million eight hundred and five 
thousand Dollars ($14,805,000) (excluding interest to be capitalized in accordance with the terms 
hereof and of the WIFIA Master Agreement) to be used in respect of Eligible Project Costs with 
respect to the Project. 

“WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date” means the date of this Agreement. 

“WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule” means the loan amortization schedule reflected 
in Exhibit A (WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule), as amended from time to time in accordance 
with Section 8(f) (Payment of Principal and Interest – Adjustments to WIFIA Loan Amortization 
Schedule) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

“WIFIA Master Agreement” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 



 4 

“WIFIA Note” means the note issued and delivered by the Borrower in substantially the 
form of Exhibit A (Form of WIFIA Note) to the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

Section 2. Interpretation. 

(a) Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the rules of interpretation 
set forth in Section 2 (Interpretation) of the WIFIA Master Agreement shall apply herein, mutatis 
mutandis, as if set out in this Agreement in full (and as if each reference therein to “this 
Agreement” were a reference to this Agreement, and each reference to any “WIFIA Loan” or any 
“WIFIA Note” were a reference, respectively, to the WIFIA Loan or the WIFIA Note as such 
terms are defined in this Agreement). 

(b) This Agreement is one of the WIFIA Loan Agreements referenced in the 
WIFIA Master Agreement. 

 
THE WIFIA LOAN 

Section 3. WIFIA Loan Amount.  The principal amount of the WIFIA Loan shall not 
exceed fourteen million eight hundred and five thousand Dollars ($14,805,000) (excluding interest 
to be capitalized in accordance with the terms hereof and of the WIFIA Master Agreement).  
WIFIA Loan proceeds available to be drawn shall be disbursed from time to time in accordance 
with Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) hereof and Section 11(c) (Conditions Precedent – 
Conditions Precedent to Disbursements) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

Section 4. Disbursement Conditions.  The WIFIA Loan shall be disbursed in 
accordance with Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

Section 5. [Reserved]. 

Section 6. Interest Rate.  The interest rate with respect to the Outstanding WIFIA Loan 
Balance for the WIFIA Loan shall be [__] and [__] hundredths percent ([__]%) per annum.  Interest 
will accrue and be computed on the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance from time to time pursuant 
to, and otherwise in accordance with, Section 6 (Interest Rate) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

Section 7. [Reserved]. 

Section 8. Payment of Principal and Interest. 

(a) Payment of WIFIA Debt Service.  Payments of WIFIA Installment 
Payments under the WIFIA IPA shall be made by the District on each Installment Payment Date 
occurring on or after the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date in accordance with Section 
8(a) (Payment of Principal and Interest – Payment of WIFIA Debt Service) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement.  Payments of WIFIA Debt Service shall be made by the Borrower on each Payment 
Date occurring on or after the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date in the amounts and 
manner and on the Payment Dates as set forth in the WIFIA Loan Amortization Schedule and 
otherwise in accordance with Section 8(a) (Payment of Principal and Interest – Payment of WIFIA 
Debt Service) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 



 5 

(b) WIFIA Note.  As evidence of the Borrower’s obligation to repay the WIFIA 
Loan, the Borrower shall issue and deliver to the WIFIA Lender, on or prior to the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement Effective Date, the WIFIA Note, having a maximum principal amount of fourteen 
million eight hundred and five thousand Dollars ($14,805,000) (excluding interest to be capitalized 
in accordance with the terms hereof and of the WIFIA Master Agreement). 

(c) Interest Only Period. During the Interest Only Period, the WIFIA Debt 
Service payable by the Borrower shall consist of one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of 
interest then due and payable on the Outstanding WIFIA Loan Balance, and no payment of 
principal will be due and payable. 

Section 9. Prepayment.  The WIFIA Note shall be prepaid in accordance with Section 
9(a) (Prepayment – Mandatory Prepayment from Insurance Proceeds or Eminent Domain 
Proceeds) of the WIFIA Master Agreement.  The Borrower may prepay the WIFIA Loan in 
accordance with Section 9(b) (Prepayment – Optional Prepayments) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement. 

Section 10. Fees and Expenses.  The District shall pay, on behalf of the Borrower, to 
the WIFIA Lender, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with Section 10 (Fees and 
Expenses) of the WIFIA Master Agreement: 

(a) a one-time Servicing Set-Up Fee equal to $[__]; 

(b) an annual Construction Period Servicing Fee equal to $[__] per annum; 
provided that the initial Construction Period Servicing Fee shall be in a pro-rated amount equal to 
$[__] in accordance with Section 10(a)(ii) (Fees and Expenses – Fees) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement;  

(c) an Operating Period Servicing Fee equal to $[__] per annum; and 

(d) any other applicable fees, costs, charges and expenses pursuant to, and 
otherwise in accordance with, Section 10 (Fees and Expenses) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

 
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

Section 11. Conditions Precedent. 

(a) Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness.  The effectiveness of this Agreement 
is subject to the satisfaction, or the WIFIA Lender’s written waiver, as determined by the WIFIA 
Lender in its sole discretion, of each of the conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this 
Agreement set forth in Section 11(b) (Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness of Each WIFIA Loan Agreement) of the WIFIA Master Agreement (each of which is 
incorporated by reference herein, mutatis mutandis, as if set out in this Agreement in full and as if 
each reference therein to (a) any “Project,” (b) any “WIFIA IPA,” (c) any “WIFIA Loan” or 
“WIFIA Loan Agreement,” or (d) any “WIFIA Note” were a reference, respectively, to (i) the 
Project, (ii) the WIFIA IPA, (iii) the WIFIA Loan or this Agreement, or (iv) the WIFIA Note (as 
such terms are defined in this Agreement)). 



 6 

(b) Conditions Precedent to Disbursements.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, the WIFIA Lender’s obligation to make any disbursement of the 
WIFIA Loan to the Borrower (including the initial disbursement hereunder) is subject to the 
satisfaction or the WIFIA Lender’s written waiver, as determined by the WIFIA Lender in its sole 
discretion, of each of the conditions precedent to disbursements set forth in Section 11(c) 
(Conditions Precedent – Conditions Precedent to Disbursements) of the WIFIA Master Agreement 
(each of which is incorporated by reference herein, mutatis mutandis, as if set out in this Agreement 
in full and as if each reference therein to (a) any “Project,” (b) any “WIFIA IPA” or (c) any “WIFIA 
Loan” or “WIFIA Loan Agreement” were a reference, respectively, to (i) the Project, (ii) the 
WIFIA IPA or (iii) the WIFIA Loan or this Agreement (as such terms are defined in this 
Agreement)). 

 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 12. Representations and Warranties of the Borrower.  The representations and 
warranties set out in Section 12 (Representations and Warranties of the Borrower) of the WIFIA 
Master Agreement shall be made on the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date and as of each 
date on which any disbursement of the WIFIA Loan is requested or made, except as otherwise 
expressly provided in Section 12 of the WIFIA Master Agreement.  Each such representation and 
warranty is incorporated by reference herein, mutatis mutandis, for the benefit of the WIFIA 
Lender as if set out in this Agreement in full (and as if each reference therein to “this Agreement” 
were a reference to this Agreement and as if each reference therein to (a) any “Project” or the 
“Master Program,” (b) any “WIFIA IPA,” (c) any “WIFIA Loan” or (d) any “WIFIA Note” were 
a reference, respectively, to (i) the Project, (ii) the WIFIA IPA, (iii) the WIFIA Loan or (iv) the 
WIFIA Note (as such terms are defined in this Agreement)).  The Borrower acknowledges that it 
makes such representations and warranties with the intention of inducing the WIFIA Lender to 
enter into this Agreement and the other WIFIA Loan Documents and to advance the WIFIA Loan 
to the Borrower, and that the WIFIA Lender has entered into this Agreement and the other WIFIA 
Loan Documents on the basis of, and in full reliance on, each such representation and warranty. 

Section 13. Representations and Warranties of the District.  The representations and 
warranties set out in Section 13 (Representations and Warranties of the District) of the WIFIA 
Master Agreement shall be made on the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date and as of each 
date on which any disbursement of the WIFIA Loan is requested or made, except as otherwise 
expressly provided in Section 13 of the WIFIA Master Agreement.  Each such representation and 
warranty is incorporated by reference herein, mutatis mutandis, for the benefit of the WIFIA 
Lender as if set out in this Agreement in full (and as if each reference therein to “this Agreement” 
were a reference to this Agreement and as if each reference therein to (a) any “Project” or the 
“Master Program,” (b) any “WIFIA IPA” or (c) any “WIFIA Loan” or “WIFIA Loan Agreement” 
were a reference, respectively, to (i) the Project, (ii) the WIFIA IPA or (iii) the WIFIA Loan or 
this Agreement (as such terms are defined in this Agreement)).  The District acknowledges that it 
makes such representations and warranties with the intention of inducing the WIFIA Lender to 
enter into this Agreement and the other WIFIA Loan Documents and to advance the WIFIA Loan 
to the Borrower, and that the WIFIA Lender has entered into this Agreement and the other WIFIA 
Loan Documents on the basis of, and in full reliance on, each such representation and warranty. 



 7 

Section 14. Representations and Warranties of WIFIA Lender.  The representations and 
warranties set out in Section 14 (Representations and Warranties of WIFIA Lender) of the WIFIA 
Master Agreement shall be made on the WIFIA Loan Agreement Effective Date, mutatis mutandis, 
for the benefit of the Borrower and the District as if set out in this Agreement in full (and as if each 
reference therein to any “WIFIA Loan” were a reference to the WIFIA Loan (as such term is 
defined in this Agreement)). 

 
COVENANTS 

Section 15. Covenants of the Borrower.  The Borrower covenants and agrees, until the 
date the WIFIA Loan and all of the obligations of the Borrower under the WIFIA Loan Documents 
with respect to the WIFIA Loan or the Project (other than contingent indemnity obligations) have 
been irrevocably paid in full in immediately available funds and the WIFIA Lender no longer has 
any commitment to make disbursements under this Agreement to the Borrower, unless the WIFIA 
Lender waives compliance in writing, to comply with each of the covenants set forth in the WIFIA 
Master Agreement, including Section 15 (Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower), Section 16 
(Negative Covenants of the Borrower) and Section 19 (Reporting Requirements of the Borrower) 
of the WIFIA Master Agreement, which covenants are incorporated by reference herein mutatis 
mutandis as if fully set forth herein (and as if each reference therein to “this Agreement” were a 
reference to this Agreement and as if each reference therein to (a) any “Project” or the “Master 
Program,” (b) any “WIFIA IPA,” (c) any “WIFIA Loan” or “WIFIA Loan Agreement,” or (d) any 
“WIFIA Note” were a reference, respectively, to (i) the Project, (ii) the WIFIA IPA, (iii) the WIFIA 
Loan or this Agreement, or (iv) the WIFIA Note (as such terms are defined in this Agreement)). 

Section 16. [Reserved]. 

Section 17. Covenants of the District.  The District covenants and agrees, until the date 
the WIFIA Loan and all of the obligations of the Borrower and the District under the WIFIA Loan 
Documents with respect to the WIFIA Loan or the Project (other than contingent indemnity 
obligations) have been irrevocably paid in full in immediately available funds and the WIFIA 
Lender no longer has any commitment to make disbursements under this Agreement to the 
Borrower or the District, unless the WIFIA Lender waives compliance in writing, to comply with 
each of the covenants set forth in the WIFIA Master Agreement, including Section 17 (Affirmative 
Covenants of the District), Section 18 (Negative Covenants of the District) and Section 20 
(Reporting Requirements of the District) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, which covenants are 
incorporated by reference herein mutatis mutandis as if fully set forth herein (and as if each 
reference therein to “this Agreement” were a reference to this Agreement and as if each reference 
therein to (a) any “Project” or the “Master Program,” (b) any “WIFIA IPA,” (c) any “WIFIA Loan” 
or “WIFIA Loan Agreement,” or (d) any “WIFIA Note” were a reference, respectively, to (i) the 
Project, (ii) the WIFIA IPA, (iii) the WIFIA Loan or this Agreement, or (iv) the WIFIA Note (as 
such terms are defined in this Agreement)). 

Section 18. [Reserved]. 

Section 19. [Reserved]. 



 8 

Section 20. [Reserved]. 

 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

Section 21. Events of Default and Remedies. 

(a) Each Borrower Event of Default set out in Section 21(a) (Events of Default 
and Remedies) of the WIFIA Master Agreement shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder, 
except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 21(a) (Events of Default and Remedies) of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement.  

(b) Each District Event of Default set out in Section 21(b) (Events of Default 
and Remedies) of the WIFIA Master Agreement shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder, 
except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 21(b) (Events of Default and Remedies) of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement.  

(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of Default 
hereunder, the WIFIA Lender shall have each of the rights and remedies to which it is entitled as 
provided in and with the same effect as described in Section 21 (Events of Default and Remedies) 
of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 22. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the federal laws of 
the United States of America, if and to the extent such federal laws are applicable, and the internal 
laws of the State, if and to the extent such federal laws are not applicable. 

Section 23. Effectiveness.  This Agreement shall be effective on the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement Effective Date. 

Section 24. Survival.  The indemnification requirements of Section 37 
(Indemnification) of the WIFIA Master Agreement, as incorporated herein, the reporting and 
record keeping requirements of Sections 15(j) (Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower – Access; 
Records) and 17(p) (Affirmative Covenants of the District – Access; Records) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement, as incorporated herein, and the payment requirements of Section 10 (Fees and 
Expenses) shall survive the termination of this Agreement as provided in such sections. 

Section 25. Miscellaneous.  Article VII (Miscellaneous) of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement (other than Sections 30 (Governing Law), 39 (Effectiveness) and 40 (Survival) of the 
WIFIA Master Agreement) shall be incorporated in this Agreement, mutatis mutandis, as if set out 
in this Agreement in full (and as if each reference therein to “this Agreement” were a reference to 
this Agreement and as if each reference therein to (a) any “Project” or the “Master Program,” (b) 
any “WIFIA Loan” or (c) any “WIFIA Note” were a reference, respectively, to (i) the Project, (ii) 
the WIFIA Loan or (iii) the WIFIA Note (as such terms are defined in this Agreement)). 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank; signature pages immediately follow.] 



 9 

 



[Signature Page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project 1 
(Palmdale Water District) – WIFIA Loan Agreement] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first 
written above. 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC 
FINANCING AUTHORITY, by its authorized 
representative 
 

By:    
Name:  
Title: 

 

 
 



[Signature Page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project 1 
(Palmdale Water District) – WIFIA Loan Agreement] 

 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT, by its 
authorized representative 

By:  ______________________________ 
Name:   
Title:



[Signature Page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project 1 
(Palmdale Water District) – WIFIA Loan Agreement] 

 

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY, acting by and through 
the Administrator of the Environmental Protection 
Agency 

 

 

By:    
Name: Michael S. Regan 
Title:   Administrator 

 
 



Schedule I-1 

SCHEDULE I 

PROJECT BUDGET1 

SOURCES OF FUNDS AMOUNT ($ USD) PERCENTAGE (%) 
WIFIA Loan $14,805,000 49% 
Matching Bonds $[14,012,757] [__]% 
Previously Incurred Eligible 
Costs  

$[1,122,041] [__]% 

Grant Funding  $[1,165,000] [__]% 
Total Sources of Funds $[31,104,798] 100% 
USES OF FUNDS AMOUNT ($ USD) PERCENTAGE (%) 
Construction $[14,128,695] [__]% 
Design $[2,688,867] [__]% 
Land Acquisition $[255,780] [__]% 
Other Capital Costs $[8,249,060] [__]% 
Contingency $[2,726,395] [__]% 
Total Capital Costs $[28,048,798] [__]% 
Financing Costs $[1,175,000] [__]% 
WIFIA Loan Reserve Fund  $[2,736,000] [__]% 
Total Uses of Funds $[__] [__]% 
Total Eligible Project Costs $[__] [__]% 
Total Project Costs $[__] 100% 

 
 

 
1 Note to Draft: Borrower to provide in coordination with the EPA team. 



Schedule II-1 

SCHEDULE II 

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE2 

Projected Substantial Completion Date:  September 13, 2025. 

Project Component Design Start Design End Construction 
Start 

Construction 
End 

     
     
     

 
 

 
2 Note to Borrower: Please complete this Schedule. 



Schedule III-1 

SCHEDULE III  
 

PROJECT 

The Project is the Pure Water Antelope Valley Master Program – Project 1, located in Palmdale, 
California, which consists of the following Project components for a regional recycled water 
program: 

(a) construction of a small-scale advanced purification demonstration facility to 
conduct testing and inform design criteria for a full-scale advanced purification 
facility; 

(b) planning and program management of the design of a full-scale advanced water 
purification facility for direct groundwater injection through new injection wells; 
and 

(c) design of a new groundwater production well. 

 

 
 
 
 



Schedule 13(m)-1 

SCHEDULE 13(m) 

EXISTING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS3 

 

Contract Name Effective Date Construction 
Contractor 

Amount Description 

     

     

     

 
3 Note to Borrower: Please complete the table. 



Exhibit A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

WIFIA LOAN AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE4 

[See attached] 
 

 
4 Note to Draft:  EPA and Borrower to provide on closing day to account for the interest rate. 



 

EXHIBIT C 

2024 WIFIA TERM SHEET 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Execution Version 

 

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

[__], 2024 
Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority  
2029 E. Avenue Q 
Palmdale, California 93550 
Attention: Executive Director 
 
Palmdale Water District  
2029 E. Avenue Q 
Palmdale, California 93550 
Attention: General Manager 

RE: WIFIA Loan Term Sheet for Pure Water Antelope Valley Program – Project 1 with 
Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority and Palmdale Water District  
(WIFIA ID – N22112CA) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

This WIFIA Loan Term Sheet (this “Term Sheet”) constitutes (a) the approval of the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency, acting by and through the Administrator of the 
Environmental Protection Agency (hereinafter, the “USEPA”), of the application for credit 
assistance of the Borrower (as defined below) received on October 18, 2023 (the “Application”) 
and (b) the agreement of USEPA to provide financing for the above-referenced project (as further 
described below, the “Project”) in the form of a secured loan (the “WIFIA Loan”), pursuant to 
the Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (“WIFIA”), § 5021 et seq. of Public Law 
113-121 (as amended, and as may be amended from time to time, the “Act”), codified as 33 U.S.C. 
§§ 3901-3915, subject in all respects to (i) the terms and conditions contained herein, (ii) the terms 
and conditions contained in that certain WIFIA Master Agreement, dated as of [__], 2024, by and 
among the WIFIA Lender (as defined below), the Borrower and the District (as defined below) 
(the “WIFIA Master Agreement”), and (iii) the execution and delivery of the WIFIA loan 
agreement with respect to the Project to be entered into on or after the date hereof (the “WIFIA 
Loan Agreement”) on terms and conditions acceptable to USEPA contained therein.  Capitalized 
terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the 
WIFIA Loan Agreement or, if not defined therein, the WIFIA Master Agreement. 
 

By executing this Term Sheet, the District, on behalf of the Borrower, confirms its 
agreement to reimburse USEPA for any and all fees and expenses that USEPA incurs for legal 
counsel, financial advice, and other consultants in connection with the evaluation of the Project 
and the negotiation and preparation of the WIFIA Loan Agreement and related documents whether 
or not any such agreement is ultimately executed. 

 
This Term Sheet shall be governed by the federal laws of the United States of America if 

and to the extent such federal laws are applicable, and the internal laws of the State of California, 
if and to the extent such federal laws are not applicable.  This Term Sheet, and any amendments, 
waivers, consents or supplements hereto may be executed in any number of counterparts and by 
the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be 



 

 2 

deemed an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument.  Electronic delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page shall be effective 
as delivery of an original executed counterpart. 
  



 

 3 

INDICATIVE TERMS OF THE WIFIA LOAN 

WIFIA LENDER United States Environmental Protection Agency, an agency of the 
United States of America, acting by and through the 
Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency (the 
“WIFIA Lender”). 

BORROWER Palmdale Water District Public Financing Authority, a joint 
exercise of powers agency duly organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of California (the “Borrower”). 

DISTRICT Palmdale Water District, an irrigation district duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of California (the “District”). 

PROJECT The “Project” means the Pure Water Antelope Valley Program 
Project 1, located in Palmdale, California, which consists of the 
(i) construction of a small-scale advanced purification 
demonstration facility to conduct testing and inform design 
criteria for a full-scale advanced purification facility; (ii) planning 
and program management of the design of a full-scale advanced 
water purification facility for direct groundwater injection 
through new injection wells; and (iii) design of a new groundwater 
production well, as further described in Schedule III (Project) to 
the WIFIA Loan Agreement and Schedule I (Master Program) of 
the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

WIFIA LOAN AMOUNT A maximum principal amount (sum of disbursements) not to 
exceed fourteen million eight hundred and five thousand Dollars 
($14,805,000); provided that (a) the maximum principal amount 
of the WIFIA Loan, together with the amount of any other credit 
assistance provided under the Act, shall not exceed forty-nine 
percent (49%) of reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs for 
the Project, (b) the total federal assistance for the Project, 
including but not limited to the maximum principal amount of the 
WIFIA Loan and all federal grants, shall not exceed eighty 
percent (80%) of Total Project Costs for the Project, and (c) such 
maximum principal amount does not include any interest that may 
be capitalized in accordance with the WIFIA Master Agreement 
and added to the principal amount of the WIFIA Loan. 

INTEREST RATE The WIFIA Loan shall bear interest at a fixed rate, calculated by 
adding one basis point (0.01%) to the rate of securities of a similar 
maturity (based on the weighted-average life of the WIFIA Loan) 
as published, on the execution date of the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement, in the United States Treasury Bureau of the Fiscal 
Service’s daily rate table for State and Local Government Series 
(SLGS) securities. 

The WIFIA Loan shall also bear default interest at a rate of two 
hundred (200) basis points above the otherwise applicable interest 



 

 4 

rate, at such times and upon such terms as provided in the WIFIA 
Master Agreement. 

PAYMENT DATES Pursuant to the WIFIA Loan Documents, not later than the tenth 
(10th) business day prior to each interest payment date occurring 
on or after the debt service payment commencement date (each 
such date, an “Installment Payment Date”), the District shall 
make installment payments of interest and principal scheduled to 
be paid by the District to the Borrower (“WIFIA Installment 
Payments”), which shall be assigned by the Borrower to the 
WIFIA Lender. 

Principal of the WIFIA Loan shall be repaid in annual installments 
on October 1 each year, beginning on October 1, 2035. 

Interest on the WIFIA Loan shall be paid in arrears on April 1 and 
October 1 of each year, beginning on October 1, 2026.   

The debt service payment commencement date shall in no event 
be later than five (5) years after the Substantial Completion Date 
of the Project. 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the WIFIA Loan 
Agreement and the WIFIA Master Agreement, no principal or 
interest shall be paid during the Capitalized Interest Period. 

During the Interest Only Period, the WIFIA Debt Service payable 
by the Borrower shall consist of one hundred percent (100%) of 
the amount of interest then due and payable on the Outstanding 
WIFIA Loan Balance, and no payment of principal will be due 
and payable. 

FINAL MATURITY DATE The earlier of (a) October 1, 2045 and (b) the Principal Payment 
Date immediately preceding the date that is thirty-five (35) years 
following the Substantial Completion Date. 

PROJECTED 
SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION DATE 

September 13, 2025. 

DEDICATED SOURCE OF 
REPAYMENT FOR WIFIA 
INSTALLMENT 
PAYMENTS 

The dedicated source of repayment for the WIFIA Installment 
Payments shall be Water Revenues (as defined below) in 
accordance with the terms of the WIFIA IPA and the WIFIA 
Master Agreement. The Acquisition Fund, the WIFIA Debt 
Service Account and the WIFIA Reserve Fund, and all amounts 
on deposit in such funds and accounts, are also pledged to the 
payment of the WIFIA Installment Payments. 

“Water Revenues” means for any District Fiscal Year, all 
income, rents, rates, fees, charges and other moneys derived from 
the ownership or operation of the District’s Water System, 
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (1) all 



 

 5 

income, rents, rates, fees, charges, business interruption insurance 
proceeds or other moneys derived by the District from the sale, 
furnishing and supplying of the water or other services, facilities, 
and commodities sold, furnished or supplied through the facilities 
of or in the conduct or operation of the business of the Water 
System, plus (2) proceeds of the District’s share of the county’s 
one percent (1%) property tax received by the District, if any, plus 
(3) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of 
such income, rents, rates, fees, charges, or other moneys, 
including District reserves and any reserve funds, plus (4) the 
proceeds of any stand by or water availability charges collected 
by the District, but excluding in all cases customer deposits or any 
other deposits or advances subject to refund until such deposits or 
advances have become the property of the District, and excluding 
any proceeds of any taxes or assessments required by law to be 
used by the District to pay bonds heretofore or hereafter issued 
and any Burns-Porter Assessments, plus (5) money withdrawn 
from the Rate Stabilization Fund in such District Fiscal Year. 

“Net Water Revenues” means, for any District Fiscal Year, the 
Water Revenues for such District Fiscal Year less the Operation 
and Maintenance Costs for such District Fiscal Year. 

“Operation and Maintenance Cost” means the reasonable and 
necessary costs paid or incurred by the District for maintaining 
and operating the Water System of the District, determined in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
including any water purchase costs (exclusive of any recovered 
amount from the State of California’s Department of Water 
Resources in accordance with the State Water Supply Contract) 
and all reasonable expenses of management and repair and other 
expenses necessary to maintain and preserve the Water System of 
the District in good repair and working order, and including all 
administrative costs of the District that are charged directly or 
apportioned to the maintenance and operation of the Water 
System of the District, such as salaries and wages of employees, 
overhead, insurance, taxes (if any) and insurance premiums, and 
including all other reasonable and necessary costs of the District 
or charges required to be paid by it to comply with the terms of 
the WIFIA IPA and other Bonds and Contracts, such as 
compensation, reimbursement and indemnification of the trustee 
with respect to any Bonds and Contracts; excluding in all cases 
depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves 
therefor and amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping 
entries of a similar nature, all capital charges, and any contract 
payments due under the State Water Supply Contract paid from 
the proceeds of any Burns-Porter Assessments. 



 

 6 

“Water System” means the entire water supply, treatment, 
storage and distribution system of the District, including but not 
limited to all facilities, properties and improvements at any time 
owned, controlled or operated by the District for the supply, 
treatment and storage of water to residents of the District and 
adjacent areas, and any necessary lands, rights, entitlements and 
other property useful in connection therewith, together with all 
extensions thereof and improvements thereto at any time 
acquired, constructed or installed by the District. 

SECURITY OF WIFIA 
LOAN 

The WIFIA Loan shall be secured by a pledge and assignment by 
the Borrower for the benefit of the WIFIA Lender of (a) all of the 
Borrower’s right, title and interest to receive the Borrower 
Revenues (as defined below), (b) all of the Borrower’s rights to 
receive amounts from the District from the WIFIA Debt Service 
Account, the Acquisition Fund and the WIFIA Reserve Fund 
(including any Reserve Policy, as defined in the WIFIA IPA) and 
the proceeds thereof, and (c) all of the Borrower’s rights and 
remedies to enforce the WIFIA IPA upon an event of default 
under the WIFIA IPA.  

“Borrower Revenues” means (a) the WIFIA Installment 
Payments received or receivable by the Borrower pursuant to or 
with respect to the WIFIA IPA and (b) all interest or gain derived 
from the investment of amounts in any of the funds or accounts 
established under the WIFIA IPA or the WIFIA Master 
Agreement. 

The debt obligation of the Borrower under the WIFIA Loan shall 
be evidenced through the issuance by the Borrower of the WIFIA 
Note. 

SECURITY AND LIEN 
PRIORITY OF WIFIA 
INSTALLMENT 
PAYMENTS 

The obligation of the District to make the WIFIA Installment 
Payments under the WIFIA IPA shall (a) be secured by the Liens 
on the Pledged Collateral (as defined below) (subject to payment 
of Operation and Maintenance Costs as they become due and 
payable), (b) be subordinate in right of payment and in right of 
security to the Lien on the Pledged Collateral for the benefit of the 
Senior Obligations, and (c) be pari passu in right of payment and 
right of security to the Lien on the Pledged Collateral for the 
benefit of the Parity Obligations.   

The obligation of the District to make the WIFIA Installment 
Payments under the WIFIA IPA constitutes Parity Obligations 
under the WIFIA Master Agreement and “Contracts” under the 
WIFIA IPA.  

“Pledged Collateral” means (a) the Water Revenues and all 
associated amounts on deposit in the Water Revenue Fund, (b) the 
Acquisition Fund and all amounts on deposit in the Acquisition 



 

 7 

Fund, (c) the WIFIA Debt Service Account and all amounts on 
deposit in the WIFIA Debt Service Account and (d) the WIFIA 
Reserve Fund and all amounts on deposit in the WIFIA Reserve 
Fund.  

PREPAYMENT The WIFIA Loan shall be subject to mandatory prepayment, 
without prepayment premium, from and in the amount of any 
prepayments of the WIFIA Installment Payments received from 
the District pursuant to the WIFIA IPA and Section 9(a) 
(Prepayment – Mandatory Prepayment from Eminent Domain 
Proceeds) of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

After the Final Disbursement Date, the Borrower may prepay the 
WIFIA Loan in whole or in part, from time to time, but not more 
than annually, without penalty or premium; provided that any 
such prepayment shall be made in a minimum principal amount 
of two hundred fifty thousand Dollars ($250,000) or any integral 
multiple of one Dollar ($1.00) in excess thereof, and otherwise in 
accordance with the WIFIA Loan Agreement and the WIFIA 
Master Agreement. 

RATE COVENANT (a) The District, to the fullest extent permitted by law, 
shall, at all times, fix, prescribe and collect Water Revenues for 
Water Service which shall be at least sufficient to yield during 
each District Fiscal Year Net Water Revenues equal to one 
hundred ten percent (110%) of Debt Service and one hundred 
percent (100%) of Policy Costs (the “Rate Covenant”). 

(b)     For the purpose of computing the amount of Net 
Water Revenues for any District Fiscal Year under the Rate 
Covenant described above, (i) amounts transferred from the Water 
Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund during such District 
Fiscal Year shall be included and (ii) amounts transferred from 
the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Water Revenue Fund shall not 
exceed ten percent (10%) of Debt Service payable in the 
applicable District Fiscal Year; provided that no amounts 
transferred to or from the Rate Stabilization Funding during such 
District Fiscal Year shall be double-counted for purposes of such 
computation. 

(c) In accordance with Section 6.13 of the WIFIA IPA, 
the District will have in effect at all times by-laws, rules and 
regulations requiring each customer to pay the rates and charges 
applicable to the Water Service and providing for the billing 
thereof and for a due date and a delinquency date for each bill. 

ADDITIONAL 
OBLIGATIONS OF THE 
DISTRICT 

(a) The District shall not create, incur or suffer to exist 
(i) any Additional Senior Obligations (provided that Refunding 
Senior Obligations may be issued for the purpose of refunding any 
Senior Obligations then Outstanding so long as the issuance of 



 

 8 

such Refunding Senior Obligations shall not result in (i) an 
extension of the final maturity date of the Senior Obligations to 
be refunded or (ii) an increase in annual debt service in any year 
by more than five percent (5%)); (ii) any obligations, all or a 
portion of the proceeds of which are or will be applied at any time 
to fund all or any portion of Total Project Costs of any Project, 
that are secured by a Lien on any assets or property of the District 
other than the Pledged Collateral; or (iii) any obligations, all or a 
portion of the proceeds of which are or will be applied at any time 
to fund any purchase, construction, condemnation, acquisition or 
expansion of the Water System, that are secured by a Lien on the 
Pledged Collateral or payable from the Pledged Collateral except 
in either case, Parity Obligations, or obligations so secured on a 
basis subordinate to the Parity Obligations.  While an Event of 
Default relating to a Payment Default or a Bankruptcy Related 
Event has occurred and is continuing, the District shall not incur 
any indebtedness of any kind payable from, secured or supported 
by the Pledged Collateral without the prior written consent of the 
WIFIA Lender. 

(b) The District may incur Additional Parity 
Obligations in accordance with the terms of the WIFIA Master 
Agreement; provided that: 

(1)     the Net Water Revenues for the last audited 
District Fiscal Year, or for any consecutive twelve (12) 
calendar month-period during the eighteen (18) calendar 
month-period preceding the date of adoption by the Board 
of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the 
issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such 
Contract, as the case may be, as evidenced by a special 
report prepared by an Independent Certified Public 
Accountant or Independent Municipal Consultant on file 
with the District, shall have produced a sum equal to at least 
one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Debt Service and 
one hundred percent (100%) of any Policy Costs for such 
District Fiscal Year or other twelve (12) month-period; 

(2)     the Net Water Revenues for the last audited 
District Fiscal Year, or for any consecutive twelve (12) 
calendar month-period during the eighteen (18) calendar-
month period preceding the date of adoption by the Board 
of Directors of the District of the resolution authorizing the 
issuance of such Bonds or the date of the execution of such 
Contract, as the case may be, including adjustments to give 
effect as of the first day of such District Fiscal Year or other 
twelve (12) month-period, to increases or decreases in rates 
and charges with respect, or applicable, to the Water 



 

 9 

System approved and in effect as of the date of calculation, 
as evidenced by a special report prepared by an 
Independent Certified Public Accountant or Independent 
Municipal Consultant on file with the District, shall have 
produced a sum equal to at least one hundred ten percent 
(110%) of the Debt Service and one hundred percent 
(100%) of any Policy Costs for such District Fiscal Year or 
other twelve (12) month-period, plus the Debt Service 
which would have accrued on any Contracts executed or 
Bonds issued since the end of such District Fiscal Year or 
other twelve (12) month-period, assuming that such 
Contracts had been executed or Bonds had been issued at 
the beginning of such District Fiscal Year or other twelve 
(12) month-period, plus the Debt Service which would have 
accrued had such proposed additional Contract been 
executed or proposed additional Bonds been issued at the 
beginning of such District Fiscal Year or other twelve (12) 
month-period; and 

(3)     the estimated Net Water Revenues for the then 
current District Fiscal Year and for each District Fiscal 
Year thereafter, including (after giving effect to the 
completion of all such uncompleted improvements to the 
Water System) an allowance for estimated Net Water 
Revenues for each of such District Fiscal Years arising 
from any increase in the income, rents, fees, rates and 
charges estimated to be fixed and prescribed or received for 
the Water Service and which are economically feasible and 
reasonably considered necessary based on projected 
operations for a period of not to exceed five (5) years, as 
evidenced by a certificate of the Manager on file with the 
District, shall produce a sum equal to at least one hundred 
ten percent (110%) of the estimated Debt Service and one 
hundred percent (100%) of any Policy Costs for each of 
such District Fiscal Years, after giving effect to the 
execution of all Contracts and the issuance of all Bonds 
estimated to be required to be executed or issued to pay the 
costs of completing all uncompleted improvements to the 
Water System within such District Fiscal Years. 

(c)     For the purpose of computing the amount of Net 
Water Revenues for any District Fiscal Year under the Additional 
Parity Obligations test described above, the amount of Water 
Revenues yielding Net Water Revenues may be increased by 
Budgeted Transfers (excluding amounts transferred from the 
Water Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund) (measured as 
of the last day of the immediately preceding District Fiscal Year), 



 

 10 

such amount to be no greater than ten percent (10%) of Debt 
Service payable in the applicable District Fiscal Year. 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds issued or 
Contracts executed, on a parity basis with the WIFIA Installment 
Payments due under the WIFIA IPA, to refund Bonds or prepay 
Contracts may be delivered without satisfying the conditions set 
forth above if Debt Service in each District Fiscal Year after the 
District Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued or Contracts 
are executed is not greater than one hundred ten (110%) of the 
Debt Service which would have been payable in each such District 
Fiscal Year prior to the issuance of such Bonds or execution of 
such Contracts. 

RESTRICTED 
PAYMENTS AND 
TRANSFERS 

The District shall not permit Water Revenues or any funds in any 
other fund or account held by or on behalf of the District with 
respect to the Water System, to be paid or transferred or otherwise 
applied for purposes that would violate the terms of Section 5.2 
of the WIFIA IPA. 

WIFIA LOAN 
DOCUMENTATION 

The WIFIA Loan shall be subject to the preparation, execution 
and delivery of the WIFIA Loan Agreement, the WIFIA IPA, the 
WIFIA Note and any other loan documentation required by the 
WIFIA Lender in connection therewith, in each case acceptable 
to the WIFIA Lender, the Borrower and the District, which will 
contain certain conditions precedent, representations and 
warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, events of default, 
in each case, with respect to the Borrower and the District, and 
other provisions as agreed among the WIFIA Lender, the 
Borrower and the District, in each case in accordance with the 
terms of the WIFIA Master Agreement. 

GOVERNING LAW Federal laws of the United States of America, if and to the extent 
such federal laws are applicable, and the internal laws of the State 
of California, if and to the extent such federal laws are not 
applicable. 

[Signature pages follow] 



 

[Signature page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Program – Project 1  
(Palmdale Water District) – WIFIA Term Sheet (N22112CA)] 

If the foregoing terms are acceptable, please countersign this letter in the space indicated 
below. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION AGENCY, acting by and 
through the Administrator of the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency 
 
 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: Michael S. Regan 
Title: Administrator 
 

  



 

[Signature page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Program – Project 1  
(Palmdale Water District) – WIFIA Term Sheet (N22112CA)] 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED: 
 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY,  
by its authorized representative 
 
 

By: _______________________________ 
Name:  
Title:  
 
  



 

[Signature page to Pure Water Antelope Valley Program – Project 1  
(Palmdale Water District) – WIFIA Term Sheet (N22112CA)] 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED: 
 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT,  
by its authorized representative 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name:  
Title:  
 

 



 

EXHIBIT D 

GOOD FAITH ESTIMATES PURSUANT TO 
GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 5852.1 

The good faith estimates set forth herein are provided with respect to the 2024 WIFIA Loan 
and the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement in accordance with California Government Code Section 
5852.1. Such good faith estimates have been provided to the Palmdale Water District Public Financing 
Authority (the “Authority”) by NHA Associates, Inc., the Authority’s municipal advisor in connection 
with the execution of the 2024 WIFIA Loan Agreement (the “Municipal Advisor”). 

Principal Amount. The Municipal Advisor has informed the Authority that, based on the 
Authority’s financing plan and current market conditions, its good faith estimate of the aggregate amount 
of the 2024 WIFIA Loan is expected to be $15,857,459 (reflecting a draw of $14,805,000 and capitalized 
interest of $$1,052,459). 

True Interest Cost of the 2024 WIFIA Loan. The Municipal Advisor has informed the Authority 
that based on the expected interest rates prevailing at the time of preparation of such estimate, their good 
faith estimate of the true interest cost of the 2024 WIFIA Loan, which means the rate necessary to discount 
the amounts payable on the respective principal and interest payment dates to the amount received by the 
Authority under the 2024 WIFIA Loan, is 4.72%. 

Finance Charge of the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement. The Municipal Advisor has 
informed the Authority that, assuming that the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement is executed, 
their good faith estimate of the finance charge for the 2024 WIFIA Installment Purchase Agreement, which 
means the sum of all fees and charges paid to third parties (or costs associated with the 2024 WIFIA 
Installment Purchase Agreement), is $395,000. 

Amount of Proceeds to be Received. The Municipal Advisor has informed the Authority that based 
on estimated interest rates prevailing at the time of preparation of such estimate, their good faith estimate 
of the amount of proceeds expected to be received by the Authority under the 2024 WIFIA Loan, less the 
finance charge of the 2024 WIFIA Loan, as estimated above, and any reserves or capitalized interest paid 
or funded with proceeds of the 2024 WIFIA Loan, is $14,805,000. 

Total Payment Amount. The Municipal Advisor has informed the Authority that based on interest 
rates prevailing at the time of preparation of such estimate, their good faith estimate of the total payment 
amount, which means the sum total of all payments the Authority will make to make payments under the 
2024 WIFIA Loan, plus the finance charge for the 2024 WIFIA Loan, as described above, not paid with 
the proceeds of the 2024 WIFIA Loan, calculated to the final maturity of the 2024 WIFIA Loan, is 
$27,054,016 which excludes any reserves funded with proceeds of the 2024 WIFIA Loan (which may offset 
such total payment amount).  

The foregoing estimates constitute good faith estimates are based on information provided in the 
draft 2024 WIFIA Loan at the time of preparation of such estimates. The actual principal amount of the 
2024 WIFIA Loan issued and sold, the true interest cost thereof, the finance charges thereof, the amount of 
proceeds received therefrom and total payment amount with respect thereto may differ from such good faith 
estimates due to (a) the actual date of the entering into the 2024 WIFIA Loan being different than the date 
assumed for purposes of such estimates, (b) the actual principal amount of 2024 WIFIA Loan sold being 
different from the principal amount, (c) the actual amortization of the 2024 WIFIA Loan being different 
than the amortization assumed for purposes of such estimates, (d) the actual interest rates at the time of 
execution of the 2024  WIFIA Loan being different than those estimated for purposes of such estimates, (e) 
other market conditions, (f) alterations in the Authority’s financing plan, or a combination of such factors. 
The actual date of execution of the 2024 WIFIA Loan and the actual principal amount of the 2024 WIFIA 
Loan will be determined by the Authority based on the timing of the need for proceeds of the 2024  WIFIA 



 

Loan and other factors. Factors such as the final payment schedule, any changes to the interest rate and 
timing of the execution of the 2024 WIFIA Loan may be affected by factors beyond the control of the 
Authority, or the Municipal Advisor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS - MAY 13, 2024
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.3
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.4
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.1
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.2
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.3
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.4
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.5
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.6
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.7

	Recording requested by name: 
	statements to name and address 1: 
	statements to name and address 2: 
	statements to name and address 3: 
	statements to name and address 4: 
	DOCUMENTARY TRANSFER TAX: 
	EXEMPTION RT CODE: 
	EXPLANATION 1: 
	QUITCLAIM DEED: 3008-011-011
	For a valuable consideration receipt of which is hereby acknowledged: Palmdale Water District, who acquired title as Palmdale Irrigation District, a District organized and existing  
	Disclaiming Partyies: under the California Irrigation Act
	hereby quitclaims to: Robert L Taylor Trust
	Property Owners: 
	County of: Palmdale 
	the following real property in the City of: Los Angeles
	Property Owners1: Respective owners of the property hereinafter described, all right, title and interest of Palmdale Water
	Property Owners2: District arising under provisions contained in those certain deeds recorded November 10, 1949 in Book
	Property Owners3: 31445, Page 89 of Official Records as shown on Exhibit B attached hereto and made part hereof
	Property Owners4: 
	Date: 
	Typed or written name of declarant: 
	Date_2: 
	Typed or written name of declarant_2: 
	county: 
	date: 
	text: 
	1: All In One Electric
	2: Shook Bldg Systems
	3: Weber Water Resources
	4: Team West Contracting
	5: Quality Rebar
	6: Nat'l Coating & lining
	7: Hardy & Harper
	8: 
	9: 
	10: 
	11: 
	12: 
	13: 
	1_2: 493060
	2_2: 283001
	3_2: 970199
	4_2: 934352
	5_2: 818593
	6_2: 886430
	7_2: 215952
	8_2: 
	9_2: 
	10_2: 
	11_2: 
	12_2: 
	13_2: 
	1_3: Newhall, CA
	2_3: Corona, CA
	3_3: Jurupa Valley, CA 
	4_3: Bloomington, CA
	5_3: Poway, CA
	6_3: Murrieta, CA
	7_3: Lake Forest, CA
	8_3: 
	9_3: 
	10_3: 
	11_3: 
	12_3: 
	13_3: 
	Work 1: 
	Work 2: 
	Work 3: 
	Work 4: 
	Work 5: 
	Work 6: 
	Work 7: 
	Work 8: 
	Work 9: 
	Work 10: 
	Work 11: 
	Work 12: 
	Work 13: 
	1_4: Electrical
	2_4: Pre-Fab Mtl Bldg.
	3_4: Well Pump 
	4_4: CL Fence & Gates
	5_4: Rebar
	6_4: Paint & Coatings
	7_4: AC Paving
	8_4: 
	9_4: 
	10_4: 
	11_4: 
	12_4: 
	13_4: 
	Spec Section 1: 
	Spec Section 2: 
	Spec Section 3: 
	Spec Section 4: 
	Spec Section 5: 
	EquipmentManufacturer 1:              NONE
	EquipmentManufacturer 2: 
	EquipmentManufacturer 3: 
	EquipmentManufacturer 4: 
	undefined: 
	1#1: 
	2#1: 
	3#1: 
	4#1: 
	5#1: 
	1_2#1: 
	2_2#1: 
	3_2#1: 
	4_2#1: 
	5_2#1: 
	render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection 1: Sergio Montes attended mandatory job walk on 
	render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection 2: March 11th @ 11am. 
	render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection 3: 
	render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection 4: 
	render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection 5: 
	render this Proposal informal or nonresponsive and may result in its rejection 6: 
	in its rejection 1: Seetheattachedlistofreferences.
	in its rejection 2: 
	in its rejection 3: 
	in its rejection 4: 
	in its rejection 5: 
	in its rejection 6: 
	in its rejection 7: 
	Specification NoRow1: 13 34 19
	EquipmentMaterialRow1: Pre-Eng Metal Bldg
	ManufacturerSupplierRow1: Shook Bldg Systems
	Delivery Time weeksRow1: 10-12 Wks ARA
	Specification NoRow2: 43 20 00
	EquipmentMaterialRow2: Well Pump & Mtr.
	ManufacturerSupplierRow2: Flowserve c/o Weber Resources
	Delivery Time weeksRow2: 30 Wks ARA
	Specification NoRow3: 13 34 23
	EquipmentMaterialRow3: Well Pump Enclosure
	ManufacturerSupplierRow3: RPS Industires
	Delivery Time weeksRow3: 10 Wks ARA
	Specification NoRow4: 
	EquipmentMaterialRow4: 
	ManufacturerSupplierRow4: 
	Delivery Time weeksRow4: 
	Specification NoRow5: 
	EquipmentMaterialRow5: 
	ManufacturerSupplierRow5: 
	Delivery Time weeksRow5: 
	Specification NoRow6: 
	EquipmentMaterialRow6: 
	ManufacturerSupplierRow6: 
	Delivery Time weeksRow6: 
	Specification NoRow7: 
	EquipmentMaterialRow7: 
	ManufacturerSupplierRow7: 
	Delivery Time weeksRow7: 


